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Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are
orepared under iFRS where the Group s
interests i joint ventures and funds are
shown as a single line item on the ncome
statement and balance sheet and all
subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%.

Management considers the business
principally on a proportionally consolidated
basis when setling the strategy, determining
annual prionfies, making investment

and hnancing decisions and rewewing
performance Tiws includes the Group's
share of joint ventures and funds

on a line-by-line basis and exctudes
non-controlling interests in the Group's
subsidianes. The knancial key performance
indicators are also presented on this

basis Referto the Financial review for

a discussion of the IFRS results.

We supplement our IFRS figures with
non-GAAP measures, which management
uses mternally B-HS measures are
labelied as such See our supptementary
disclosuras which start on page 179 for
reconcillations, and the glossary found

at briishland com/glossary.

Underlying Profit

£340m

2018 €£380m

IFRS profit/(loss) before tax

£(319)m

2018: £501m

Dividend per share

31.00p

2018 3008p

IFRS net assets

£8,689m

2018- £9.506m

Carbon intensity
reduction versus 2009

64%

2018: 54%

Bright Lights skills and
employment programme

393

people supported with work
2018 288

Integrated reporting

We integrate social and environmental
information throughout this Rapert in

iine with the Internatronal Integrated
Reporting Framework This reflects

how sustainability is integrated into our
placemalking strategy. governance and
bustness aperations Cur industry-leading
sustainability strategy 1s & powerful tool to
deliver lasting vatue for atl our stakeholders



BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

Who we are

We are a leading UK property company. We create and manage
places that reflect the changing needs of the people who work,
visit or live in and around them.

Vistt britishland.com to learn more about our business

Our business

Our portfolio is increasingly focused on mixed use places.
Our campus-focused Offices portfolio and Canada Water are located
in central London and our Retail assets are around the country.

Campus-focused London Offices

Our three office-led
campuses are located

in central London. They
are well-connected and
engaging places to work
and spend time, with the
right mix of world class
offices, retail, leisure and
dining. helping our occupiers
attract the best talent for
their business.

Offices comprise
%

51%

of the portfolio

Learn more about our London
portfolie on pages 1210 13
and 37 to 38

Canada Water

At Canada Water our
masterplan includes office,
retail, residential, leisure
and public spaces to create
an exciting new urban centre
for London

53

acres

Learn more about the Canada
Water development on pages
14 to 15 and 43

Paddington

11 acre office-led campus
close to Paddington Station

We are delivering a wide
and vared dining offer

with new sigrungs including
Lords of Paké whose story
we tell on page 12

Regent's Place
13 acre office-ted campus in

the West End, close to Euston,
Great Portland Street and Warren
Street stations

Its proximiy to the Knowledge
Quarter of academuc institutions
is increasing the prohle of the
area Read more about our
accupier, Dentsu Aegis Netwark,
on page 13



Our five-year vision

We have set out a clear strategic plan to build an increasingly mixed
use business. It will comprise three core elements; our London campuses,
a smaller Retail portfolio and a residential business.

Learn more about our long term strategy on page 7

Broadgate Teesside Meadowhall

32 acre office-led campus adjacent to Leading regional retail centre in 1.5m sq ft superregional retail centre
Lwerpoaol Straet staton the North East with 280 units

Dn site with three magor developments Hotel Chocolat have opened their second Rock Up and Joe Browns were amongst the
with pre-lettings to global advertising group store with British Land at Teesside, with 2 businesses that toek space at Meadowhall
McCann, technology company Mimecast and third planned at Fort Kinnaird, Edinburgh lotlowing our £60m refurbishment, Read
ltalian marketplace Eataly Read more sbout Read more about this on page 16 more abowt them on pages 14and 17

this on page 12, 3B and 41

Retail

Our retail places are around
the country and reflect the
changing way people shop.
Increasingly we are focused
on multi-let locations within
or close to urban areas
which best complement an
omni-channel retai strategy.

S

Canada Water
53 acre development
apportunity in zone 2

Cannecting with local

education and families 0
through the Paper Garden 45 A

and supporting London's

poets through the Moetry of the portfolio
School whose story we tell
on page 14
pag Portfolio breakdown includes Learn more abayt our
Canada Water 3% Retail portfolio on pages 3¢

Resgidentiat 1% to 40




OUR INVESTMENT CASE

Four compelling reasons
to imvest in British Land

The scale and quality
of our portfolio

Our 23m sq ft portfolio of high quality

assets s underpinned by our resilient

balance sheet and financial strength

- £16pn of assets under management (E12 3bn owned]

- Increasingly rmixed use at aur London campuses and
high quality retait nationwide

- Loan to value [LTV] 15 appropriate at 28 1% and cost
of finance 1s low 5t 2 9%

British Land owned assets

£12.3bn

Learn more on pages 810 ¢

Our operational expertise
and customer insight

Our deep expertise of managing and leasing

our assets, based on our understanding

of the customer, drives tncrementat value

for British Land and our stakeholders

- lnvesting in our places to deliver more attractive
and engaging environments

- Targeting the right mix of occupiers (o make
our places successiul

- Understanding the needs of our customers as
they evolve

Visitor surveys completed in the last year

¢.26,500

Learn more on pages 3010 11

QOur distinctive business
model and clear strategy

We are increasing our focus on mixed

use places and on a five-year view will be
growing our London campuses and burlding
a residential business while refining

our Retail business

~ Enhancing our campuses ihrough development

- Masterplanning a 53 acre development opportunity
at Canada Water

- Delivering a smalter, more focused Retail business
theough asset sales

Residential homes envisaged in our
Canada Water masterplan

3,000

Learn mare on pages 18 and 1%

A well-positioned
development pipeline
Our development pipeline is aligned

to our strategy and provides visibrlity on
future earnings

- 1.6m sqg ft of high quality, design-led builldings
focused on our campuses

~ Developments delivering £63m of fulure rents
adding 4 5p to EPS

- De-risked by pre-letting space to lock in
{uture income

Committed and recenty completed
developments pre-let or under offer

16%

Learn more on pages 22 to 23

British Land | Annuai Report and Accounts 2019



LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Another year of good progress

In my final year as Chairman I leave the business

well positioned for the future.

Our business has continued to make good progress this year
agamnst an uncertain economic and pobitical backdrop. We saw the
effect of the particularty chatlenging retad enviconment i vatuaiion
declines but delivered a robust earmings performance with good
progress on our skrategy

Our Office leasing performance has once agan been excellent
Across our London office business, we have (eased over Im sq ft
of space, to world class businesses including McCann, Facebaok
and Mitbank The quality of the buldings we are delivering and
our campus approach are really paying off. A broader range of
bustnesses than ever before are taking space at our campuses,
at attractive rental levels, and our recently completea and
committed pipeline of new buildings 1s now 76% pre-let or under
ofter, tocking in significant future income for aur business This
1s 3 resounding endorsement of cur campus strategy and our
decesion to commit to development over recent years

Our three London campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Central and
Regent's Place represent British Land at its best Hawing recently

John Gitdersleeve, Non-Executive Chairman
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visited Broadgate with the Board in March, it 1s no exaggeration

to say that the neighbourhaod has been transformed We are
delivering world ciass, modern office space alongside some of the
best retail. leisure and restaurants in London, all integrated within
central London’s largest pedestnanised environment And there's
more to come, during the

year we were delighted to

receive planning permigsion 149

for 1-Z Broadgate,

which will represent the
carnerstone of the next phase
of Broadgale's transformation,

British Land is taking the
right steps ta postfion its

Storey, our flexible office portfolio for the long term

business, 15 now operational
across atl of our campuses.

it 15 additive to our overall ’,
olter and we ve been pieased

swrdth nir lasein nrnnroce
f Fivgross

FErEtF Ui AT 3 o
We've signed new types of
businesses as well as existing
occupiers looking for space In
which to expand, project space
or space on more flexsbie
terms as their needs change
There 15 no gquestion that demnand for increased flexibility 1s &
theme that's here to stay in the office market. We recognised this
early and responded appropriately, meaming that our offices offer
remains relevant to as many petential occupiers as possible.

Dividend per share

31.00p

2018 3008p

Last year | wrote that the retaill sector was experiencing 2 period
of chatlenge and rapid change. H anything these challenges have
beceme more proneunced this year Fundamental structural
changes driven primanily by the internet have been compaunded
by short term headwinds wncluding subdued consurner confidence,
cost pressures and changes to business rates In this context, we
remain focused on prowiding the kind of space modern retailers
need to succeed We know that long term, only the best qualiy,
best located and most accessible retail space will continue

to thrive To maximise occupancy and support rents, we also
know our relail places need to be located in areas with strong
demographics. affordable to retaiters and the nght size to underpin
good demand tension for the space

Again, this 1s something we have been focused on for some time
and we have a clear view of the long term role retail wilt play within
British Land as a smaller, more focused part of our porticio. This
year we made further gooad progress towards that, disposing of
E646m of retad assets, meaning we have now sold nearly £3bn

i the last five years.



Al the same time, the team have remained focused on the
operauonal performance of our Retail business. We have leased
1.6m sq K of retail space this year, and dealt well with the impact
of company voluntary arrangements [CVAl and administrations.
There s no doubt that the retail market will continue to evolve in
the future and not all of that change wilt be easy. 1 am conhident
however that building on the significant progress we've already
made, British Land s taking the right steps t positton its porifolio
to succeed over the long term

The NAVY discount in our share price. which increased after the
EU referendum, persisied across the year This was ane of the
factors we look to account when deciding to extend tne share
buyback by E200m following the sale of 5 Broadgate in June We
have now bought back £500m of shares over the last twa years,
all kinked to ssigriicant disposals Given our confidence in the
quatity of our assets, we believe the ability {o reinvest sales
proceeds (nto that portfolio at a sigmficant discount, through
buyp.ng oul e SRSTES, represents anelfiach
The robust financial performance we have delivered in the year,
the strength of our balance sheet and the future income we have
secured through pre-letiing developments mean that the Board
believes 1 1s appropriate to recommend & 3% increase in the
divdend for 2020

Everything we do at British Land 15 with a view 1o the long term
We want to create enduring vatue n a sustainable way. Through
our respensible approach to development, we reuse existing
building mater:als where possible, significantly reducing carbon
emissions assaciated with construction. We also incorporate
efhciency innovations and wetibeing improvements that cut
cccuplers’ energy consumption and support the health and
productvity of thewr teams for years to come We have a strong
track record of connecting with our local communities from an
early stage and minimising any imgpacts of construction on our
customers and on people wha work or lwve lacally Nowhere 1s
this more evident than at Canada Water. Find out mare about
what we are doing on pages 67, 115 and 185,

ez af rasisl
5= (B (g

in March we announced that | will step down after the AGM n July,
having served over 10 years on the Board, including the (ast six

as Chairran. When | look back at what our business has achieved
over thss time, | do 50 with 2 great deal of pride There s no doubt
we've faced challenges, and our operating emvironment and the
way we do business have changed substantially in a range of
difterent ways. But | am confident that | teave with 8ritish Land
welf positioned, with the right strategy and team to succeed long
term | am delighted that Tum Score will be succeeding me as
Charrman Hawng served an the Board for five years Tim has got
10 know our business well, especialty during his time as Chair of

Creating
Places People
Prefer

At British Land, our purpose is to manage
outstanding places to deliver pasitive outcomes
for all our stakeholders on a sustainable basis.

We do this by understanding the evolving needs
of the people and organisations who use our
places every day and the communities who live
in and around them. The changing way peopie
choose to work, shop and live 1s what shapes
our strategy, enabling us to drive enduring
demand for our space and value over the

long term

the Audit Committee, and 15 the ideal candidate to take our business
forward. He will lead a Board which has the nght mux of talent,
experience and expertise ta deal with the fast changing and complex
world in which British Land, ke all busiesses, must aperate.

Finally, | would like to place on record my thanks te the British
Land team Everyone in our business from Chris, Simon, the
Executive Commuttee and throughout plays a criticat role every
day in debivening the exceptional places and results that drive
sustainable, long term benefit for our customers, shareholders
and all stakeholders They have been a pleasure 1o work alongside
and | wish thern all well for the future

.

John Gildersleeve
Non-executive Chairman

Far the Chairman s governance review, see page 72

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 3



CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Delivering against
a clear plan

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

4 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



Introduction and strategy: building the specialist

in mixed use

Thus has been another year of good strategic anu aperational
pregress in an uneven market as retail rernained challenging, but
the London offices market conninued to be healthy We have leased
2 7rn sq ftacross our business - more than any of the last five years,
continyred to invest nto our campuses, progressed developments
on a carefully nsk managed basis and further reshaped our Retail
portfolio Tius operational outperformance and our robust financial
results are due to the fact that we are delivering high quahty places
that reflect the evotving needs of our customers

Gur long term strategy is clear to build an increasingly mixed use
business comprising three core elements - our London campuses,
a smaller Retail portfolio and residential By prowiding the right
mux of uses at each of our places, we drive enduring demand

for our space, support rental growth and create long term
sustainable value

Leasing and operational performance

Qur {easing performance was again excellent Across our London
business our leasing actvity covered 1 1m sq ftof space, further
de-nsking our developments - which are now 76% pre-let or under
oifer - and securing £48m pa future rental iIncome We again let space
to a broad range of accupiers, refleceng the modern Landon economy
and improving the dwersity and quality of our rental income Key
lettings this year included global advertising agency McCann, Peel
Hunt, Facebook and law firm Milbank and momentum remains good,
we are currently in negotiations on a further 479,000 sq ft

The retait market remained challenging, but we continue to
cutperform footfall and sales benchmarks and our leasing
performance was stroag, al 1.6m sq ft Retailers continue to

face the chaltenge of fundamental structural change, compounded
thus year by short term operational headwinds As a resull, we have
seen further CVAs and administrations from troubled operators
and, although fanng better than the market overall, we have not
been immune, the annuabised rental impact from CVAs and
adminstrations that have eccurred over the last two years was
£16.9m, including £0.9m at properties which have subsequently been
sold We have been facused on mitigating this for some time. Ot the
£10 9m rent on stores subject to closure, £6 Sm has already been
let or 1s I negobiation

This year, we comiined our Offices and Retail businesses into

one real estate tearm under single leadership, to better abign

our operattons to our strategy and further enhance our custorner
service Operational pregress this year included the turther rollout
of our flexible workspace business, Storey, at all three campuses
and the launch of Storey Club at Paddingten, providing fugh quatity
meeting and events space to our occuplers We established a
Smart Places teamn, to work alongside cur Data and tnsights
function and Commercialisation teams as we think more broagly
about the ways in which we ¢an continue Lo support our occupiers
and understand and respond to their changing needs.

We submitted our planning application for the Canada Water
masterplan including a detaited application for the first three
Luildings and, together with our partners at Scuthwark,

are targeting a July planning meeting Our plans envisage
the development of a new urban cenire for London, including
commercial, office and community space as well as around
3,000 new homes, so wilt represent a core part of our plan

to grow scale in residential,

Capital allocation and investments

We have continued o allacate capital thoughtiully We sold 5
Broadgate for £500m (our sharel in fune and £446m of Retail
assets since April 2018 - overall ahead of book value. This
continues our strong sales track record- standalone superstore
exposure 1s down frem 11% 1n 2014 to 1% today and overall Retait
15 now under half of the business, down from 66% 1n 2010. Lookmng
ahead, we expect Retail to comprise around 30-35% of assets

in five years, so we will continue to sell assels However, we are
patient and opportunusiic in our approach and have a clear view of
the vawe of cur assels so wili conlinue 10 oniy make sales whih
deliver value and progress our long term strategy We have used
sales proceeds to progress developrents and reinvest in our
own portfolio through a £200m share buyback, meaning we have
bought back £500m of shares i two years Given the discount
implied by the current share price, we centinue to believe that
reinveshing sales proceeds into our portfolio through buying cur
shares represents an efficient use of capital, so we are extending
the buyback by up to £125m

Outlook

Looking ahead, reta:l s likely to remain chaltenging as structural
change continues, but there are early signs on parts of our
porifolio, that some of the short term operatianal headwinds
impacting retailters are easing We expect the Londan market to
remarn active, as occupler demand for the highest quality space
continues to be hirm and supply 1s relatively constrained. We are
mindful of the ongoing Brexit uncertainty, but our business s well
positioned and bnanoatly strong We remarn focused on delivering
operationally and being thoughtfut and commercial in what we do
every day while at the sare lime progressing our tong term
strategic goals.

Chris Grigg
Chuef Executive

To read mere fram Chrs, visit britishland.cam/CEOblog

British Land | Annual Repaort and Accounts 2019 5



IN CONVERSATION WITH CHRIS GRIGG

Facing the future

The questions our stakeholders are asking...

Why ave you changing the
shape of your business?

We have outlined a clear long term
ptan to ensure our business best
reflects the changing way people use
space. Increasingly people want ta be
able to combine their work and leisure
time 1 & single place and that's why
we're specialising in mixed use

Our Longan carnpuses are the obvious
place to start Here we are increasing
the mux of yses with a broader retail,
leisure and diming oiter alongside world
ctass offices, including Storey, our
flexible offer

At Broadgate, we are well advanced,
our newest developments inglude
Tiore shaps, restaurans and & Cidma,
and our long term plans will create

a 350.000 sq ft cultural hub, driving
footfalt from a wider area, and providing
places for people to soctalise outside
the efhice

Residential is anmportant and
complementary part of our approach,
as well as being a fast growing market
in 1ts awn right With scope for aver
3,000 hemes across our porttolio, this
represents a real opportumity for us.
particularly at Canada Water, where

we ¢an develop at scale and curate the
environment to deliver attraclive returns
over the long term.

At the same time, we think the total
amount of physical space retaiers
require wikl be less so we're reducing
our overall exposure to retaill, although
it witl remain core to our mixed

use propositon.

Why have you combined your
Retail and Offices businesses
under a single leadership?

We announced in January that we
would be combining our Retail and
Othces businesses under the single
leadership of Darren Richards

These businesses have always been
highly complementary, particularly as
we have sought to increase the mix of
uses on our campuses For example the
knowledge and experience we have on
the retail side of the business was gne
reason we ve been able to expand the
mix ol uses on the offices side We've
adged hugh quality retail and leisure,
enhancing the appeal of our campuses
and helping us teo sign a much broader
range of occupters than ever belore

As we progress our strategy to burld an
increasingly mixed use business, there
are important benehts to be achieved
tn tombining the two leams under 3
single leadership, We can more
efficientty transfer {earnings from one
side ol the business to the other - for
exarnple our use of dala and insights,
which is relatively more advanced in
retail than in our campus business -
and there are functions that are
common to both where we can
generate scale efficiencies.

Darren, who has a broad spread of
experience across our business, brings
a fresh perspective that wall help align
our approach and accelerate our focus
on muxed use

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

How do you explain your
gender pay gap?®

Cur gender pay gap 1sn't what we'd like
it to be and it's a complex 1ssue We are
taking steps to reduce the gap but this
will take tyme Qur 5 Aprd 2019 snapshat
shows that we are moving 1n the right
direction, with a further reduction of

5 7% 1n our medtan pay gap

Women are of course paid the same as
their male cotleagues for the same job
however therg are maore men in senor
roles and more wormen in lower pad
roles We need to address both of these
structural issues As m many sectors, it
1s largely a legacy 1ssue and change will
take tirme Real estate has historicatly
been male dominated and, as an
induslry, we have not done enough (o
encourage women to be part of it But
that's changing, and I m pleased that
British Land are taking the lead in that

We have a very active and successful
Women's Committee, which has
pioneered changes in the way we

work Today we encourage people (o
work Hexibly in terms of their hours and
their location, we Intraduced shared
parental teave 1n 2017, and we provide
mentars and coaching for wornen
returming to work after having chddren

| m pleased we have a number of very
Senior women In our organisation, and
now 33% of the Executive Cormmiltee
are women We also recognise that
change must happen outside British
Land a5 well and that gender balance
1s only part of the 1ssue we need

to address.

{ am personally very focused on butiding
a more diverse and inclusive culture at
British Land and we have set out some
of the things we're deing more widely on
our website and on pages 30 to 31.

Read more at bntrshiand.com/
gender-pay-gap and our employee
gender split can be seen on page 112



RESHAPING OUR PORTFOLIO

Building an increasingly
mixed use business

—————eeee.

How our business has changed

Since 2010 we have shifted the balance of our partfatio towards our
campus-focused London offices business, which now accounts or
31% of our assets. We have invested significantly in this business
through scquisiion and devefopment Over recent years, this has
included the redevetopments of 199 Bishopsgate and 1 Finsbury
Avenue at Broadgate and 10-30 Brock Street at Regent's Place;

as well as the acquisition of Paddington Central, our third London
campusn 2013, where we recently redeveloped 4 Kingdom Street

Through a series of acquisitions we have also assembled a
urique development opportunity at Canada Water covering

53 acres Here our masterplan envisages a development of our
fourth myxed use campus

Althe same me we have 3150 been proactwely reshaging oL
Retad porttalio so that it ceflects retaiters’ fecus on the highest
guality and the best located space. Over the last five years we have
sold £2 Ybn of retail assets, improving the overalt quality of our
portfolio which 15 now focused on multi-let space

Portfolio split by asset type

Our five-year vision

Looking forward, we are working 1o buld an increasingly mixed
use business This reflects the changing way peaple use real
estate, with the boundaries between work and leisure increastngly
blurred We currently have a recently completed and committed
development pipeline of 1 4m sq ft acrass aur campuses, which
we continue to enhance with the nght mix of uses including retatt,
tersure and dining We will atso further expand Storey, which
could become up to 10% of our Offices portfolio

At Canada Water we have plans to develop a muxed use urban
centre with a compeliing commercial and retaif offer alongside a
range of public and lersure spaces and up to 3,000 homes. We have
opportunities across our portfolio to devetop a significant number
of future hornes, so residential wilt play an increasingty important

rote in the business, potentiaily comprising up o 0% of our
partfolie an a five-year view

We will continue to refine our Retalt portfolio to deliver a smaller,
more focused business, primarty cemprising high quality, welt
located muiti-let assets with mixed use potenhal

British Land { Annual Report and Accounts 2019 7



OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

o The scale and quality of
our portfolio

Over 80% of our assets are located within our campuses or multi-let
retail environments, which cater for a broader mix of uses reflecting
the evolving needs of our occupiers and their customers.

Campus-focused London offices

Qur three aoffice-led London campuses are located in central
London They are well-connected and engaging places to
work and spend time, with the sight mux of world class offices,
retail, lewsure and diruing, helping our occuprers attract the
hest talent for their business

SSoabﬂ

assets under management

46,000

people work across our campuses

Becoming the specialist in
mixed use

Why mixed use?

We recognise that the way people use real estate 15 changing and
that the most effective way to drive endunng demand for our space
1s Lo evolve aur offer 1n Line with those trends Central to this is the
blurring of boundanes between work and leisure twne. Increasingly
people expect ta e able to sacalise, exercise or be entertained
conveniently to the othce. They want to work in places which are
pleasant, sale and easily accessible from where they tive These
factors underpin people’s decrsions around which companies they
work for, the places they shop and spend time. It helps businesses
attract and reiain talent and supports their productimty and effectiveness

8 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



Canada Water

At Canada Walter our masterplan envisages office, retait,
residential, teisure and public spaces to create an exciting
new urban centre for Londen

5 3 acre

development opportunity

3,000

new homes, ineluding
affordable housing

How are we delivering it?

A year aqo, we outhined the future shape of British Land,
comprising three core, complementary elements as part of
an mcreasingly mixed use business.

- Campus-focused London offices: with a blend of core and
flexible space, including the further burdd out of Storey,
integrated alongside a world class retail and leisure offering

- Asmaller, more focused Retail portfolio: hugh quality. well

located asseis focused on a smaller number of on average
{arger, mylti-let places, especially those with mixed use potential

- Residential, principally Build to Rent: 3.000 homes at Canada
Water with further opporiumities within our portfolio

Retail

Qur retait centres are around the country and reflect the
changing way people shop Increasingly we are focused on
multi-let locations within or close te urban areas which best
complement an omni-channel retail sirategy

4 .5bn

assets under management

61%

of the population falls within
the catchment of our portfolio

How does it deliver value?

A successful mixed use strategy delivers long term sustainable
value by driving rental growth, maintaining occupancy and
increasing the value of cur assets By aligrng our business to
the evolving needs of our customers, and the people who use
our places, we drive enduring demand for our space, enabling
us {o grow rents and add resilience to our future iIncome
streams The nature of our campuses and multi-let spaces
means that we conirol not just the buildings, but the spaces
between them As such, investment we make into the broader
environment has a posttive rmpact on the value of our assets for
the long term We also have more flexibibity to re-allocate uses
within gur paces over time to better rellect the needs of our
customers as they change, and therefare to ensure that we make
the best use of our bulldings over the long term

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

° Our operational expertise
and customer insight

Our expertise in managing and leasing our assets, based i
on our understanding of the customer, drives incremental
value for British Land and our stakeholders.

Asset management

As gur business bacomes mare
cperalional, managing our space well is
a key advantage. We have the benefit of
ourn-house property management team
who focus exclusively on Brittish Land
properttes, This year we moved the team
into cur head office, to foster cross-team
collaboration and deiwver efficiencies

Leasing

Delivering the right rmix of occupiers
at our London campuses and at our
multi-let retail spaces 1s an important
part of making our places successful

Insight

We engage with businesses and people
who vistt and work in and around our
places o understand what they want
from real estate. We use research

and dala to understand when and how
our occuplers and customers use our
spaces. This helps us aliocate the night
mix of space and ensures our occupiers
utilise their space more efficiently. We
collect data on which brands and

Based on our understanding of the
customer, we are (avesting n our assets
to delwer maore attractive and engaging
places This ncludes a high quatity public
realm, a wide-ranging pragramme of
events and actmties and best in class
customer services

Our leasing teams are specialists in their
fietds but draw upon expertise across the
business. Gur network of contacts on the
retail side 1s helping us build a dwerse
retaill and dining offer at aur campuses.
and we have significantly strengthened
our marketng experuse, better enabling
us to showcase space, partcularly when
in development.

services people engage with and which
they would like to see more al.

This research and data generates
insights which support our asset
managernent and leasing decisions, tor
example, shaping the way we allocate
space between a range of uses as weill
as the occupiers we target.
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This year, we established a Smart
Places team, to deliver placemaking
at a digital level We are equipping
gur burldings with the functionality

to measure how space 15 used to
enhance efficiency and are developing
the capabiities ta autormaticatly
personatise the working environment

Storey, our flexible workspace business,
1s enabling us to serve new customer
segrnents This includes providing project
space to our existing customers as well
as smalier scale businesses. The shorter
nature of Storey leases means we benefit
more quickly from rental growth than we
otherwise would

Over the longer term view, this
understanding provides valuable insight
inta which of our assets are performing
well, so we can make more informed
investment and divestmant decisions to
allocate capitai efhiciently as we align our
portfolio to benefit from long term trends
to drive value for our stakeholders.



At Paddington Central we have invested nearty £100m

inte the transformation of the campus, ncluding the
development of 4 Kingdomn Street and a stgnificant upgrade
to the public realm. We have successiully launched Storey
at 4 Kingdom Street, including Storey Club which provides
the highest quabity meeting and events space for campus
accupiers We have added 10 new retailers, sigruficantly
changing the lock and feel of the campus Fhese range from
Flykick, a kick-boxing inspired exercise studio, lo Vagabond
Wines, a wine ba~, and the Grand Duchess, cur secand
floating restaurant

This year we have leased more than Tm sq ft in offices,
including good progress on our campus developments which
are now 76% let or under offer At Broadgate we fet 739,000
sq ft of space in the year to a range of occupiers, including
global advertising agency McCann, law firm Milbank and
Product Madness, an online gaming platform This was in
addition to knanciat occupiers such as TP ICAP and Peel Hunt,
who have made long term commitmants with us

At Canada Water, we have been engaging with the lecal
commumly far many years through a range of imuiatives,
building up a clear picture cf local needs. In addition, we have
undertaken a detailed modelling exercise to project the Lkely
needs of the community as our developments progress and
this 1s helping to shape our offer 1n terms of the amount of
cefail, leisure and community space required and how we
position and market this space to the nght markets and
customers This model burtds an the expertise we have
developed across our campuses and retatl centres, leveraging
our knowledge of the mndmwdual seciors but also developing
our understanding of the interdependencies and benefits of
a1mix of uses

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 11



London
campuses

A wider mix of uses,
to reflect changing
London lifestyles

Our three office-led mixed
use campuses are located

in some of London’s best
connected and most vibrant

neighbourhoods.

Across Broadgate, Paddington Centrat and Regent’s Place
we manage more than 50 acres of central London, providing
wibrant and diverse places with excetient connactivty and
waorld class public space.

Qur campuses are a unigue competitive advantage for us,
here we controb nat just the buitdings but the spaces
benween tham, allownn us o dalwer eruronments that

reflect the evolving needs of modern, London lLifestyles
Today’'s businesses are focused on operating 1n buildings
and locations which enable them to attract and retain the
best latent Environments and connectivly are key benefits
our campuses deliver, each providing access 1o at least four
underground bines and Broadgate and Paddington Centrat
have Crossrait stations immedhately adjscent.

tacreasingly our customers are focused on Hesubality Within
our buildings and across our campuses we offer a broad
range of space in terms of size, type and level of service

In June 2017 we launched Storey, our flexible office brand.
catering te srnaller ‘scale up’ businesses of around 45
peopie and prowiding additional space ta existing occupiers
on mare flexible terms to facilitate expansion or house
project teams Storey has quickly become an important
part of our campus offer, enabling us to attract a broader
range of businesses to our places.

Reflecting growing demand for buildings which

promate heatth and productivity, our developrments

and refurbishments incorporate wellbeing principles by
design. These include 3 focus on active design, air quality
and spaces where peaple can socialise and enjoy time
outside the office.

We recognise that businesses need to use space efhciently,
combining personal and collaberative workspace, so our
designs thoughtfully balance this mix of demands. We also
loek beyond our campuses, we invest in local communities
and our events and actwities bring people together and
enliven our space for everyone who uses it
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“Opening a place in London where peoptle can buy, eat
and learn is a very important and exciting milestone
for us. Being able to bring our model into a place that
is so significant stimulates us to create in Londan a
wonderful multi-functionat experience.”

Luca Baffige, CEQ, Eataly

“Paddington has been a great place to grow our
business! From a food truck, we upgraded ta a small
kiosk and now we have opened our flagship store here,
all within two years, Footfall is high and we think the
area has great potential - that long term vision is
incredibly impaortant to us. It's been a steep learning
curve, but we've felt very supported by British Land
and the Paddington team and we're really excited that
they're part of our journey.”

Marty Sykes and Tom Greenhill, Co-Founders
of Lords of Poké

[t was important for us to find a workplace partner
that can help our organisation to scale, rather than
just another office provider, who would work with
us to bring our vision to life. The Storey team continue
to play an important part in helping our organisation
be successful.”

Billy D"Arcy, CEO, BAl Communications




British Land has really
transformed Regent's
Place in the cight yvears
that we've been there

19

Stmilarly, our business
has evolved significantly
in that time, and will
confinue to do so. As
such, it’s great to work
with a partner that
understands owr needs
and is developing «
collaborative space for
our people and clients
that will also help us
work more efficiently in a
thriving London location.

99 Richard Sexton,
Director of Change
Management Office,
Dentsu Aegis Network
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Canada
Water

A new urban
centre for London

At Canada Water we are
masterplanning a Sm sq ft
mixed use scheme across
53 acres of central London.

The site s located between London Bridge and Canary
Wharf on the Jubilee ine and has access to the London
QOverground making it is easily accessible to Canary Wharf,
the West £nd, Shoreditch and South West London. bt will
also benelit significantly from the opeming of Crosarail,
which will reduce pressure an the Jubilee ine between
Canary Wharf and Bond Streel

Here, our ambition is to create a sustanable, new urban
centre for London, that supports the existing community
and attracis new people to the area lo delwver a real sense

[

T o T AL A I P YL R ) Sy e
(%1 i’lEIgi TO00UTToUS ¥V figve COnsuUatu C‘AIEI‘I‘JiVC!y Wit oL at
people and community groups and thew views have helped
to shiape our plans

Gur partner, the London Borough of Southwark, has the
opportunity to co-invest in sach phase on an individual basis,
closely aligming our interests

Wellness and sustamnability are at the centre of our plans
Smartly designed builldings will be set around water and
green public spaces, together creating a vibrant destination
where peaple can bive, work and be entertained throughout
the day and into the evening Our design draws on the
heritage of the local area to provide a mix of space including
retad, office and leisure with capacity for ¢.3,000 hemes
across a range of tenures and affordability

Residential wilt play a key role in the regeneration of
Canada Water and will be an increasingly impartant part
of our business as we seek to focus an mixed use places.
Owning and managing people’s hames comes with a real
respansibitity which will be at the farefront of our approach
as we build this business,

{dCanadaWaterMasterplan

canadawatermasterplan.com
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“We appreciate the interest and respect British Land
have for what we do. They have a long term vision and
we're part of that, it's like we've been brought into the
subscit and it's wonderful to be part of the conversation
around how this place comes tagether.”

Jane Riddiford, Co-Founder, Global Generation

"Canada Water is a great ptace for us to work ~ the
location is perfect for our students and tutors who
are delighted with cur new home. We've found this
incredible space, and have really behefitted from
British Land’s knowledge of the area and interaction
with the tocal community. We have lots of exciting
plans and look forward to growing with the
development and reaching more people who live here.”

Sally Carruthers, Executive Director, The Paetry School

"Delivering our masterplan is a hugely complicated and
{ong term project. it will absolutely transform the locat
area, so we have areal responsibility to engage closely
with local residents. We've done that at every stage
and we're thrilled with the tevel of local support our
plans are generating.”

Emma Cariaga, Head of Operations at Canada Water,
British Land




The area is changing and
the masterplan builds on
that momentum...

(19

What we look for is great
space, high footfall and

a catchment we think
would engage with

Pissa 1889. British Land
immediately understood
what we were (rying

to achieve here and

have a really strong
understanding of how
retail is evolving and the
role we can play within
that. The area has seen so
many changes in terms of
the environment and the
demographics and the
masterplan really reflects
where it's heading.

9% Dan Southwell,
Founder and CEQ,
Pizza 1889
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Retail

Convenient and
engaging places

supporting a modern
approach to retail

In a rapidly-changing
market, only the best quality
space in the right locations

will succeed.

Our Retail partfolio 1s facused on places which supporlt
modern retarlers with an amm-channet strategy to drive
demand for cur space

in an evolving market, physical store networks remain
important to successful retailers, but their role 1s changing
Increasingly, the true vatue of physical stores s as a
showroom or logistics network to support fulfilment of an
online sale.

Larger, regional centres best support the showrcoming
function They tend to olfer a broad range of teisure and
entertainment activities, altracling customers from a wide
catchment for a whole day, and generating high footfall
This enables people to touch and try things on, baosting
sales even if they subsequently make the purchase online.

A physical netwark can support fulfilment in several ways
Weil-connected stores, or those with the capacity to hold
stock, can support a ship from store’ approach, mimimising
delwvery times for consumers who increasingly expect
purchases to arrive iImmedhately Centres with parking
widely available, or which are locaied near transport
interchanges, are also 1deal for click and collect. Our data
shows that click and coliect customers are hughly valuable,
spending on average nearly twice as much as a non-click
and cotlect customer

Looking forward, we are facusing our portfolic on assets
which beneht from these characterstics, but we recognise
that the gverall guantity of space that retailers require will
reduce, with onty the best quality space in the nght locations
being viable long term Therefore on a five-year view,

we will be reducing our exposure to retail such that it
camgrises ¢.30-35% of our total portfolio, down from 45%
today. We have already made substantal progress, with

£2 9bn of asset sales over the last five years.

However, our focus on mixed use places means that

retail will remain an integral part of our offer Qur campus
developments and our plans at Canada Water incorporate a
significant retail allocation as we seek to create places that
reflect today's Ufestyles.
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"We opened our first centre at ohe of British Land’s
shopping centres in 2014, when there was a much
more limited leisure offering in shopping tentres, But
British Land were very forward thinking, they saw the
way retail was evolving and it was a great success for
both of us. We've since opened two more with British
Land. Meadowhall has high footfall, a strong catchment,
an excellent occupier line up and a wide range of
facilities, so it was an ideal destination for us, and the
support we received from British Land both pre and
post opening has been fantastic.”

Heidi Duckworth, Executive Chairman, Rock Up

“To soar in today's crawded market, your brand must
stand out, connecting emotionally with consumers and
offering them something special. It can be challenging
to do that if you're an online-only business. Opening
stores was a step-change for Hotel Chocolat, enabling
us to not only diversify into things we coulda’t have
done before but also to create a real sense of chocolate
theatre, adding an immersive experience that atlowed
us to interact with guests.”

Peter Harris, Co-Founder and Development Director,
Hotet Chacolat which has a store at Meadawhall and
Teesside, and commng soon to Fort Kinnard, Edinburgh

“We work with a Lot of landlords, but two things set
British Land apart. First, they really understand the
customer. They ¥now who and how people shop across
the estate and that's a real advantage. Second, they
understand that creating a great environment and
getting the service right is absolutely key. We're really
excited about opening at Meadowhall. It will bring us
closer to our customers and their feedback is what
really helps develop the brand.”

Mike Rich, Head of Relail, Skopes




We opencd a physical
store because that's what
our customers wanted

(19

Ome of the main reasons
we opened a physical
store was that our
customers started asking
Sfor it. Meadowhall could
guarantee high footfall,
so it ficked a lot of boxes
Jor us. British Land

are a forward thinking
landlord who understaod
our passion for creafing
something different.

The wider business is
Sflourishing — sales are up
20%, that'’s not all down
to Meadowhall, but the
store has given us extra
credibility and really
raised our profile in the
press and social media,
so we'll definitely be
opening more.

9% Darren Abbott
Director, Joe Browns
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

Our distinctive
business model

Our business model is designed to deliver positive long term
outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Our inputs: what makes our model work

Relationships Operational expertise Our finance
Our customers and partners Qur expert people Appropriate leverage for current
The communities who live and work Culture of collaboration enabling and future plans
n and around our assets effectwe working across teams Dverse, efficient and flexible finances
) from a range of sources
Our suppliers and contractars Jata and analysis tools providing
insight Into customer needs Partnerships which mitigate risks,

add expertise and help finance projects

Activities: what we do

Investing and
developing
Creating development
opportunities in our portfolio

Identifying new opportunities

Allocating capital to deliver
growth and returns

Places
People
Prefer

Managing
our space
Enhancing the rmix of uses
and occupiers at our places ta
create diverse neighbourhoods

Placemaking

Connecting to local communities

Design-ted places in tune
with modern lifestytes

World class property management

Erhancing and enlivening our space
to create a positive experience

Smart and sustainable buildings
refleching what matters to
our occupiers and the
people who use
our places

Our outputs: what we deliver

Customers Communities Employees Partners Shareholders
High qualdy inclusive places Supportive and Participation Sustainable and
environments which create inclusive culture 11 high quality responsibie (ong
which help our apportuntties and where peaple can projects, benefiting term mcome and
customers succeed make a positive feel supported and from our scale value creatian
locatl contributicn empowered lo and expertise
develop their skills
and experience
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...and clear focus

We invest in long term themes to create vibrant
mixed use places for our stakeholders.

Customer Orientation - Responding to changing lifestyles

Our business is focused on our customers who are the how people use our space which informs our approach to
arganisations which have taken space at our assets. We also managing our assels and guides our investment actwity This
consider carefully the needs of the people who work, shop at or means we are always focused on the custorner and deliver
wisit our places and the communihies who live in the surrounding places that are successful and susiainable long term.

nesghbourhoods We have developed a deep undersianding of

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Wellbeing — Create places that promote health, improve praductivity and
increase enjoyment

Right Places — Creating great environments

Our insight into the customer helps us ([dentify places which can same principles 1o our retail spaces, which are around the
succeed long term, This underpins cur focus on our London country in ptaces that are easily accessible from strong
campuses, where we can manage the environment to deliver a catchrnent areas. Qur 53 acre scheme at Canada Water,
groader mix of uses enabling people to combine {heir work and whrch will be YHX&a uSE oM Ihe 5151, 15 the besi diusiFation
lersure time, reftecting modern London lifestyles We apply the of this approach.

Aligned to our sustainahbility pillar: Community — Make a positwe contribution {ocally and behave so our places are
considered part of their local community

Capital Efficiency — Thoughtful use of capital

We are thoughtful in our approach to capstal allocation and We balance this against acquisition opportunities we see (n the
carefully evaluate investment opportunities 10 suppart income markel and investing sn our own portfolio by buying back shares.
and returns for our shareholders. We have created opgortumties Al the same time, we monitor aur leverage in the context of

for development within our portfolio, which typically deliver wider decisions made by the ausiness

stronger returas, although with inherently higher risk

Aligned to our sustainability pitlar: Futureproofing — Protect and enhance asset value through enviranmental stewardship,
inctuding energy generation and efficiency, matenals innovation and Hood resk reduction

Expert People — Changing the way we work

Our people strategy focuses on creating a team which can and i creating a working environment that supports wellbeing
delwer Places People Prefer. We do this by attracting and and inclusion. We also recognise the importance of investing in
retaining people with a broad range of skills and experience and tomorrow s workforce for our custorners, suppliers and local

a diversity of backgrounds. We recognise that to keep peopte partners We take action on this through Bright Lights, our skills
engaged (n our business, we must invest in their development and employment programme.

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Skitls and opportunity — Bevelop skitls and opportunities to help local pecple and
businesses grow

Detail on our achievemenis and progress can be found within the KP review on pages 20 to 21

British Land | Aanual Report and Accounts 2019 19



DUR STRATEGY

Delivering on our strategy

Focus area Achievements Priorities for the year ahead
Customer Continued investment in technology driven ~ Develop our Smart Places product and roll cut
Orientation innovations and insights across the Offices portfolio
- Smart Places team established and strategic vision - Launch Storey Club and slandalone Storey offer
to delwer digital placemaking set out .
. ¢ ' tes data rolled out - Continue to manage the integration of British Land
- Digetal platform capluring sales data rolled out to Property Management with Britist Land
¢.1,000 retal occuprers providing further insight inta
the custemer and the performance of cur assets - Leverage our data and insights to develop
. . our office offer
Strengthened our operational expertise
- Storey now operationat across 141,000 sq i, prowding
flexible space for existing occupiers and attracting new
otcupiers to our campuses
Right Refine and refacus our Retail business - Continued Retail sales, progressing our
Places - £&46m sales of non-core or solus assets strategic plan to deliver a smaller, more focused
Retaill business
Progress developments, focusing on
London campuses - Continued investment in campus development
- T Finsbury Avenue completed and continved good ~ Achieve planning at Canada Water and
leasing progress across davelopment pipeline, now commence development
76% pre-let or yndec olfer - Progress gppartunity at Norton Folgate
- Achieved planning on 1-2 Broadgale
. . - Commence refurbishment of Royal Victona Place,
Progress residential business Tunbridge Welis
- Planring application subrmtted at Canada Water with
potential for 3,000 homes i our masterplan
Capital Recycle capital to improve returns - Continue to take capital allocation decisions based
Efficiency - £500m sale [our share] ot 5 Broadgate on relative value
- £359m residential sales and £646m retal sales - Mamtain appropriate leverage
- £200m extension to share buyback completed
- £125m further extension to buyback announced
- Repayment of £223m of debt in the Broadgate JV
releasing buldings for potential development
Maintain appropriate leverage
- LTV remains low at 28.1%
- Fiexibie finance £t 4bn new debt finance arranged
Expert Encourage cross-team collaboration - Integrate gur asset management and leasing teams
People and shared learnings 10 act as a single busmess across Reta and Offices

- Office and Retai asset management and leasing
restructured under single leadership

Enhance diversity across the business
- Fop 10 pertarmer in Hampton Alexander Review
- Successful year across our networks

Embed new corparate vatues
- Value-focused events and activities through the year

- Reduce our gender pay gap
- Launch of EnaBle, our disabitity network

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainabte long term value

Total accounting return is our overall measure of performance It 1s the dividend paid plus the change

in EPRA NAV per share
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Performance

Risk indicators

Customer satisfaction

We extensively survey our customers and other users of our places to assess our performance

and identify opportunties for improverment.

Out of 10

Total property returns

We have underperformed the tPD benchmark

this year by 550bps, refleciing the continued strength
of industrials where we have no exposure.

Loan to value [LTV} - proportionally
consalidated

We manage our LTV through the property cycle
such that cur financial position would remain robust
in the event of a significant falt in property values

Employee engagement score
75% employee engagement score, 5% higher
than the United Kingdom benchmark.”

* Culture AMP 2018

Speculative development commitment

Development supports value and future mcome growih,

but adds risk. We keep our committed development
exposure at less than 15% of our investrmeni portfolic,
with a maximum of 8% develaped speculatively.

9% of standing investments

Weighted average interest rate -
proporiionally consolidated

Our low cost of finance at 2 9% has contributed
to reducing our interest cost, supporting our
financial performance

Busing the year we formally combined our British
Land and British Land Property Management
businesses into our York House head office so the
2019 employee engagement score relates to the
combined business, while listoric figures relate to
Briish Land onily For 2019, employee engagement
at Brtish Land was 78%

Consumer confidence

Employment lorecasis
for relevant sectors

Markel ietting risk
[vacancies, expiries,
speculative development

Property capital return
2nd ERV growth forecasts

Totat development exposure

Progress of develapments
aganst plan

Speculatve development
expnsure

Financiai covenant
headroom

Period untit refinancing
15 requtred

Percentage of debt with
interest rate hedging

Execution of debt financings

Unplanned executve
departures

Thus year our TAR was [3 3|% comprising a
dividend increase of 3 0% to 31 pence per share
offset by a fall in EPRA NAV of 6.4% to 905 pence
per share.

tinks ta remuneration:

Long-Term incentive Plan

Annual incentive Award

Forecast GDP

The margin between
property yields and tong
term borrowing costs
Property capital growth
and ERV growth forecasts

Read mare on pages 100 10 103
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

| o A well positioned
| development pipeline

Qur significant development pipeline positions
us well to capitalise on future market opportunities

in a thoughtful and risk managed way.

1.6m sq ft

Committed and recently
completed developments

Delivering

£63m

Future rent

716%

Pre-let or under offer

Completed

1 Finsbury Avenue

Office-led refurbishment at our
Broadgale campus providing a mix

of space including a cinemna, cafés

and flexible workspace alongside
convenhional office space. The butlding
is 58% let or under offer with technotogy
companies Mimecast and Product
Madness among those taking space

287,000 sq ft

PC Q12019

Committed

1 Triton Square
Office led develepment
at Regent’s Place, fully
pre-tet to Jentsu Aegis
Network, an existing
occupier on the
campus At 310,000 sq
ft thus was the largest
West End pre-let in
more than 20 years

366,000 sq ft

PC Q4 2020

135 Bishopsgate

Office-led development at our
Broadgate campus The bulding 1s
90% pre-let or under offer with future
occupiers wncluding italian marketplace
Eataly, global advertising agency
McCann and interdealer broker
TRPICAP.

335,000 sq ft

PC Q32017
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100 Liverpool St

Office-led development adjacent

to Lverpoo! Street station with

70,000 sq ft of retait and leisure space
56% pre-let or under ofler to accupiers
including hinancial services firms
SMBC Europe and Peel Hunt and

law firm Milbank

521,000 sq ft

NC Q1 2020



Near term
pipeline

1-2 Broadgate

Gffice-led development on cur
Broadgate campus which includes
153.000 sq ft of retail connecting
Finsbury Avenue Square with retail
at 100 Liverpoot Street and the
Broadgate Circle to create 3 350,000
sq ft retai, leisure and dining hub

Norton Folgate

Otfice-led redevetopment in
Shoreditch, integrating 258,000 sq
ft of office space alongside retail
and residentizl to create a mixed
use space that draws on the
historig fabric of the area.

335,000 sq ft

Medium term pipeline

5 Kingdom Street Canada Water, Phase 1a
Office-led devetopment at the western Three buildings delivering a mix of

end of Paddington Centrat, with 80,000 office, retail, leisure and resdential with
sq ft of space avadable for a bronader 24% homes planned across a range of
mux of uses including retanl, dining and tenures and affordability

events space

429,000 sq ft 576,000 sq ft

Sustainable development

We understand that, as a developer, we have a real responsibility to manage our
environmental and sacial impacts In many cases, our first decisions are around
how much of the existing siructure we can retain, which reduces our embodied
carbon ermissions. We always focus on minimising disruption for aur custemers
and locai community and we work with partners to create a lasting positive
tegacy, opening up opportunities for local schoolchildren, students, jobseekers
and businesses

For more information on our approach see case studies on 1 Triton Sgquare page 67,
100 Lverpool Stree! page 115 and 1 Finsbury Avenue page 185.

Queen’s Award for Enterprise

This was our third year holding the Queen’s Award lor Enterprise,
the UK's highest business accolade, recogmsing our eConorie,
social and environmental achievements on our developmentis and
across our managed poctiolio
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UNIQUE MARKET INSIGHTS

Understanding our markets

Our insight into our customers underpins our understanding
of the key trends driving our markets.

Economic uncertainty/

Brexit

The UK economic environment

has been uncertain since the EU
referendum 0 20156. When the terms
of exit are agreed, we will enter a pew
chapter in our relationshup with the
EU and key lrading partners to which
1t will take tume to adapt

Ta gate, the economy has proved
more resilient than many expected,
with unemployment remaining low,
particularly sn London Businesses
have continued to take space - an
important sign of confidence, and
overseas investors have continued
ta acquire London real estate

In financial services, the shift of
personnel to Europe has been much
lecs than expected and 1 longon
the technology sector is thriving with
investment of £4.5bn} more than
France and Germany combined

Leading glohal cities for
office investment 2018 (Sbn)

24

Cyclical and structural
challenges in retail

There have been profound structurat
changes in the way we shop, with the
growth of ealine sales, which now
represent nearly 20% of the totat and
we estimate that could grow (o 40%
This chatlenge, coupled with cyclical
pressures, including rising costs and
an uncertain economic outlook, has
put pressure on retailers to adjust
their operating models Many have
not adapied quickly enough. resulting
i a gertes of high profie fadures

Some retailers are adapting
successtully and many new, primarily-
online pperators also recogmise the
key role that physical can ptayin an
emni-channel approach

However, the gverail volume of retail
space required will Likely decrease, as
retaiters focus their physicat networks
on high guality, diflerentiated space
that complements their customers’
broader needs.

Internet sales as a percentage
of total retail sales (%)
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Technology as a disruptor
and enabler

Technelogy 1s driving real change
in the way we use real estate
Businesses can track the way
workspace 1s used to make more
informed dectsions about thewr
requiremenis. We have the ability
to personalise light and temperature
or to make tt respond fo the climate
outside People can work remotely,
so they no longer need to be in the
office, and prefer to wark more
collaboratively when they are there

Technology has already revolutionised
the way we shop and profoundly
changed the way retasders interact with
their customers Retaiters increasingly
manitor footfall, website chicks within

2 store ratchment and sorial media tn
dentify which sites work best as they
refine their physical footprint

Technology presents a real opportunity
across the sector for operators who
can leverage its potenbial

Real estate tech global
financing history



Growth of flexible
workspace

Demand for flexible ang co-working
space Is increasing driven by the
growth of small and medium sized
businesses which now employ more

than 50% of the workfotce ? Typically,

these occupiers cannot make large
or long term comritments, creating
a2 clear market for smaller floor
plates on mare flexible terms, with
the benefit of pocled facilities Like
meeting rooms, kitchens and gyms

Large occupiers also see a rete for
maore flexible space to accommodate

project teams or temparary overilow,

with 41% of large occupiers also
expected to use {lexible o¥fice space
within three years ®

Flexibie office space represents jusi
4%? of total rental stock, but (s the
fastest growing component of affice
take up

Flexible office take up, Central
London (% of total)

The war for talent

in London

Londen offers a unigue cluster of
skitled labour across technotogy,
finance, meda, creative industries
and the law as well as access to
capital and cross-sector regulation
This co-tocation of some of the most
important inpiits for new businesses
has underpinned London’s success
as a leading global oty

Today it ts the knowledge economy,
specifically technology, which is drving
thal suCCess, 50 aCCess (0 [3lent 1S key
Businesses from banking to fashion are
competing for people with the same
skill sets At the same ume, employees
increasingly value the opportunity to
tive, work and soctalise (n a way that
suits them, o employers must do

more to atlract the best people

This means the quablty of the
environment, the vibrancy of the
public realm and the mix of amenities
are increasingly what set bustnesses
apar! as a place to work

UK Unemployment rates
(aged 16 years and over)
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Focus on wellbeing

and sustainability

increasingly, people are choosing to
work, shop or spend ttme n places
which have a positive impact on their
wellbeing. Peopte want space to work
cellaboratvely, to socialise and to
incorpocate exercise into their day
This has implications for the sort of
facilittes employers need to provide
and the sort of environments retailers
need to offer to drive footfall, as a
resuit, the ability to controt the area
2round 2 butlding s a key advantage

Perseonalising the environmeni 1s one
of the newest ways o differentate
space Gwving people mare control
over light and terperature and
optimistng air quality premotes
wellbeing and enhances nroductaty

At the same time, employees want
to work in buildings with strong
environmental credentials, and to
waork for businesses that take their
envirenmental responsibitities
seriously

Top reasons for green building
in the UK (%)



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Shaping our thinking

We engage with a wide range of stakeholders to inform our
thinking. It takes a diversity of perspectives to deliver outstanding

places and positive outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Key issues

Why we engage

How we engage

Customers The way people work, shop Undersianding the We undertake ¢.26,500 visitor
and live 1s changing and their businesses and the people surveys each year. We have
expectations for places where who use pur space helps us built a digital platform that
they spend time and the provide places which meet enables data sharing with
standard of services they awider range of needs, our retail ocgupiers and
receive are INCreasing driving long term demand we leverage social media

for our space to keep our custarmers
infarmed across the business

Communities Social chatlenges around We thrive when our Cur Local Charter guides
equality, health, skilis, communtties prosper. how we engage with tocal
in-wark poverty, affordabte Understanding our people and partrers to
housing and social cchesion, commumities helps us make a positive difference.
as well as environmental create successtul, inclusive it1g integrated inta all our
concerns and local issues places that contnbute to placemaking ptans and

the prosperity 0f ihe wider actvities, mnciuding
neighbourhood and are community consultalion
aliraciive {o customers and parinership projects

Emplovees Attracting and retamning talent To understand how we We encourage open and
In a competitive market can best prowde a constructive discussions

supportive workplace throughout the business;
with career opportunities employees can feed back n
that ennich experience, the annual company survey,
develop skill sets and at regular town hall meetings
promate wellbeing or through a range of
employee networks

Partners Promoting our ethical and To help us {everage the range As an expert pariner, we
corporate governance of expertise across existing believe that aligning interests
standards across joint venture and potential suppliers, jont ¢reates greater mutual
partners and suppliers venture pariners and debt benefit We have shared aur
Engaging with debt investars, providers to support us i strateqy and expeciations
enabling them to better delivering outstanding places at suppler conferences and
understand our husiness assign key contacts to buitd

close working relationships

Shareholders Delvering income and capital We have a clear responsibibity We offer key shareholders

growth over the long term
ini the context of broader
market uncertainty

to engage with shareholders
as the awners of our business
and their views are an
wnportant driver of

our strategy

the opportunity (o meet

with management on 3
ane-to-one basis and engage
more broadly thraugh investor
events, A range of information
frorn financiat performance to
blogs from our CED ts also
available on our website
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We respond to these stakeholder issues through our strategy

Through our strategy we also
help address global challenges

Customer Orientation
Responding to changing

Wellbeing
Create places that

lifestyles premote health, improve
productivity and increase
enjoyment

Right Places Community

Creating great Make a positive

enviranments contribution locally

and behave so0 our
places are considered
part of their tocal
community

Capital Efficiency
Thoughtfut use of capital

Futureproofing

Protect and enhance
asset value through
environmental
stewardship, including
energy generation and
efficiency, materiats
innovation and flood risk
reduction

Expert People

Changing the way we work

For mare tnformation on our
corparale strategy see page 19

Skills and
opportunity

Devetop skills and
opportunities to help
local people and
businesses grow

For more information on
our sustainability strategy
see pages 28 to 29

Our sustainability focus areas
support the UN s Sustainable
Development Goats (S0GsE

Learn more on pages 28 o 29

We are committed to adopling the
recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-related Financiat
Disclosures and have established

a Steering Commutiee to progress
towards TCFD alignment

Learn maie on pages 62 to 64

Non-finaneial

reporting statement

Cur non-financial reporting includes
environmentatl maiters, employees,
human rights, socisl matters and
anti-bribery and corruption

See our statement on page 44
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OUR 2020 SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

Our 2020

sustamability strategy

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
economic and environmental trends to create value for our

stakeholders and the business.

Briush Land has been a signatory to the UN Globat Compact
since 2009 and our sustainability focus areas support several
of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). as outlined
here. Goal 17, on Partnerstups, underpiis all our actuties.

Next year will be the final reporting date for our 2020 targets
We have made excelient progress against many, while facing
challenges with others. More information can be found 1n our
Sustainability Accounts and on our website

We are currently engaging with people across our business,
key stakeholders and external experts to develop our post 2020
suslainability sirategy, which we wilt launch next year.

Qur performance on sustainability indices
We use industry-recognised indices to track our
sustainability performance

Global Reat Estate Sustainability
Benchmark 2018: Green Star

COP 2018: MSCI ESG Leaders index™
A- scare 2018: AAA raling
FTSE4Good Index 2018: D.JS1 World 2018

Top 96* percentile Top 92" percentile

= MSC disclaimer available a1
brishland.com/sustainabilay/performance/benchmarks
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Qur focus areas

Wellbeing Community

Supporting UN Sustainable Development Goals

2019 progress on 2020 targets includes

- Developed our e qualily - 92% progress soour Locs
framework, engaged with Charter at our places [2020
stakeholders on pedestrianisation target- 100%l, investing
opportunities and partnered £1 8m to make a tasting

with City Air Tech to pilot an positive difference to our

ar purifying green wall (2020 tocal communities.

target pilot three interventions 17% employee skdls-based

to imprave air qualityl volunteers,) up from 16% in
Published Design for Life’ 201812020 targe! 20%),' as
research on the potentiat we partner with CASS Business
econornic benehts of School to develop and support
placemaking for wellbeing, skilled volunteers, maxumising
partnering with WP| Economics socielat impact

(2020 target achieved early)

- Subenitted evdence for WELL
certification at 100 Liverpool
Street, where we are targeling
Gold, working with our suppliers
to design for wetlberng and
productivity (2020 target
deliver WELL certifred office]

- B81% employee volunteering
{2020 target. 90%) ' Although we
continue to offer colleagues up
to four days’ paid time off work
for volunteering each year, we
recognise that greater value is
created through skills-based
volunteering, so this 1s where
we are increasingly facusing.

1. Volunleenng figures currently exclude our property management team, forrnerly
Broadgate Estates Lid, which was brought m-house this year



For more sustainabdity performance data, including progress on cur 2020
targets and EPRA indicators, see pages 195 la 197 of this Report

For gur full sustainabiity performance data, se¢ our Sustainabitity Accounts

2019 britshland com/data

To find out where we report on the key areas of the Nan-Financiat Reporting

Directive, see page 44

Futureproofing

Skills and oppeortunity

embedied carban ermissions
versus concept design on our
major developments (2620

target. 15% reduction] Thus
bullds on a decade of work on
embodied carbon, commussioning
and publistung studies and
partnering with our supply cham
to improve performance

44% reduction in tandlord energy
intensity acress our portfolio
versus cur 2009 baseline, through
our efficiency programme, working
with property teams and partners
(2020 target 55% reduction,

index scored}

94% of electricity purchased from
renewable sources (2020 target
100%) and installation of the UK's
largest shopping centre solar array
at Meadowhall.

02 !
thraugh Bright Lights, our skills and
empleyment programme, bringing
the total to 1,232 since 2016,
warking with suppliers, custorners
and local partners 2020 target
1,700/ Building on the success

of Starting Out in Retait pre-
employment course, we launched
Starting Out in Burlding Services
and pitoted Retramn in Retail

Since the launch last year we

have signed up 34/64 strategic
suppliers to our new Supplier Code
of Conduct [2020 target 100%). and
overall 774 suppliers are signed up

2 4% of our prioritised suppleers’
UK workforce are apprentices
(2020 target 3%]. With
unemploymeni at a record low,
changes to education funding and
other external factors, our focus is
increasingly on upskiling people
and supporting pecple who face
barrers to employrment into work

Partnerships
for the goals

Through our award-winning partnecship
with the National Literacy Trust, we have
hosted fun literacy events for over 40,000
chudren and given miore than 120,000 free

books since 2012, changing Lives.

Hear from some of our

partners, as we work together

to make a greater difference.

“Research shows that children who
enjoy reading, read more and go on
to have better opportunities in life.
British Land takes us to the heart of
many communities that we want to
reach. Qur collaboratiaon is the
largest and longest partnership
between a business and charity to
improve literacy in the UK. The results
show how businesses can transform
educational outcomes,”

Jonathan Douglas of the Nationat
Literacy Trust

“The Recruitment & Skills Centre
at Fort Kinnaird contributes to
Edinburgh’s economic strategy,
supporting jobseekers into jobs and
reducing in-work poverty by helping
people progress in their careers.
When the public and private sectors
share common geoa's and work together,
we can achieve so much.”

Rhana McLinden of Capital City
Partnership, Edinburgh
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EXPERT PEOPLE

Changing how we work
to deliver our strategy

Our culture is evolving in line with our increasing focus on mixed use.

As we progress this strategy, we are focused on Lthe needs of the
businesses, peaple and communities who live, work and visit our
places. ODur warkforce s made up of people who understand and
represent customers’ needs ang perspectives and reflect thisin

their daily work to create Places People Preler

Our vatues {below] define our ways of working at British Land and

connect us every day to our wiswon, purpase and strategy

We have identified four key themes of workplace culture which
support our business strategy, to become mare inctusive, more
flexiple, more creative and more responstble

Bring your whole self

- Feel free to be ourselves and
hetp others leet the same

- Bring all out passion
and energy to what we do

~ Be open and inclusive

Listen and understand

- Take the ime to listen
and feed back

- Listen with respect
and without judgement

- Base our actions on what
we learn

Be smarter together
- Bring together the
right team

- Own our responsibilities

-~ Support each other
1o succeed

Build for the future

- Anticipate needs and
lead with courage

- Grow pur expertise and
{earn lrom our expenence

- Be accountable for
the legacy we leave

Read mare about our inclusive cutlure and
dwersity at britishland corm/inclusivesculture
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More inclusive

At Briish Land we celebrate inclusiwity as part of our corporate
culture Many initiatives are led by groups of employees Above all
our workplace is a place where employees can be themselves.

Cur CEO Chris Grigg 1s at the forefront of this change and

for the fourth consecutive year was ranked in the top 30 of

Ally Execulives by OUTstanding and the Financial Times. He

1 supporcted by Darren Richards, our Head of Real Estate and
Executive Commuttee member, who heads our Inclusive Culture
Steening Committee A Corporate Social Responsibibity Committee
of the Board which has recently been established. chaired by
Non-Executive Director Alistair Hughes, also has oversight of the
development of our culture

We have well-estabbished networks and forums which are led
by employees both at work and outside the office. These have
continued ta thrive, hosting a total of 29 events this year.

We recogitse our role in supporting the welibeing and mental
health of our employees. Qur Wellbeing Comittee has trained 47
employees as Mental Health First Aders The team have created a
Weltbeing Room to provide people with a calm retreat which can
be used by employees during the working day

In February we hosted an event for our occupiers at 201 Bishopsgate
alongside Lord Hotmes to launch a Women's network for the building

We remasn in the top 10 best performers in the Hampton Alexander
review with over 33% womnen {the recommended amount] in the
combined Executive Commitiee and Direct Reporis. We are in the
Top 50 Social Mability Employer index up from position 85 and are
Just outside the top 100 for the Stonewall UK Equality index

We conlinue to recogmise that it will be a long and steady path to
reduce our gender pay gap and we remain {ncused on this with aur
Executive team who have a joint management objective to reduce
the gap progressvely Our gender pay gap Is discussed in the
conversation with Chris Grigg on page 6 and mare information can
be found at bniishland.com/gender-pay-gap. Qur gender spbil can
be found on page 112.

Building a more inclusive workforee tor the future, our summer
internship programme recruits from a variety of backgrounds, and
for the sixth consecutive year, we have supported the Pathways

1o Property programme Across cur portfolio, over 36,000 peaple
benefitted trom our skills, employment and educational inttiatives
in the year




More flexible

Like our custormers, many of our employees wish to work more
flexibly, to better balance their personal and professional ives
To accommodate this, we ensure that all employees have the
technalogy te work flextbly and are pleased that 15% do soon a
fermat basis

Te keep our people engaged in therr work, we invest in training
and development, enabling them to work across different projects,
developing new skitl sets and building their expertence This year
we Invested more than £600,000 to train and develop our people

We work with Cambridge University ta run a Leadership in

Real Estate programme. 75 of our stalf have benefitted from
this programme since it was taunched in 2014, Ahgned with
cultural changes across lhe business, we have delivered the
‘Performance through Pecple programime in parinership with
Ashridge Executive Education te support Bretish Land managers
n their role and we offer a range of online resources to help
employess develop ther shalls

Investing in tamorrow s workforce 1s a key priority for British Land,
our customers and partners, and this means we continuousty need
ta evolve the way we wark to accommaodate the needs of people at
diiferent stages of thew lves This includes reviews of our palicies
and benefils, as well as the way we recruit, hire and train.

More creative

We recognise the impartance of collabaratwe warking practices
to enhance creative ideas and thinking Across our portfalio,

we create places that enrcourage innovation through collaberation
and connection and we take the same approach with our

own workspace

The renovation of our head affice in 2015 better integrated

the different 1eams within our business and provided more
callaborative space Thisyear, we went further, intreducing agple
working so people get to work with different teams on a regular
basis and, in addibion, can work in shared space at our assets,
praviding a realinsight inta the custorner experience We believe
this environment encourages people to be more entrepreneurial
In their thinking.

More responsible

We recogruse that as an owner and manager of space we have

a real responssbility to the people who occupy, visit ar live in

and around it in May 2018 we sald the third party porticlio of
Broadgate Estates, our progerty management business which naw
focuses exclusively on our own portfolio This year, we integrated
this business within British Land and 1t now sits within our head
office This reflects the smpertant rote that customer services
plays in our business as we progress our strateg:c focus on mixed
use places

We encourage zll our peopte to support tocal communities
through volunteering and are pleased that 81% of the British Land
team was involved volunteering this year, including roles as charity
trustees and schoal governors Since 2017, 48 employees have
signed up to the Step on Board pregramme, an external service
that supports employees to volunteer as non-executve directors
and irusiees af chariiies end voluniary orgamnisaiions

Our "Quarterly in Conversation’ [QIC] group of senior managers 1s a forum which facditates discussion across teams, generating new
wdeas and enabling our teams to learn {rom each other s experience. it meets quarterly wath the CEQ and for 3 member of the Board.
prowviding a two-way dialogue that keeps people at every level of the business better informed
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Focused on our strategy

£12.3bn

Portfolio valuation

6.4 years

Weighted average lease length to first break

(0.9)% 97.2%'

Total property return Occupancy rate

(1.6)% (4.8)%

ERV movement Valuation movement

1 Where occupters have entered CVA or administration but are sult lable for rates,
these are treated as occupied. If umis expected to become vacant are treated as
vacan, then the eccupancy rate would reduce Irom 97 2% to 96 9%

Market backdrop

Macro-economic context

The backdrop through the year was dermmnated by the ongoing Brewt
process. The UK recorded only moderate GDP growth and the rate
of growth slowed in the final gquarter Business confidence rermained
fragile and declined overall, with companies stowing investrment
decisians In the context of a possible no deal” scenang, Consumer
sentiiment rernained subdued, albert stable A number of forecasters
including the Bank of England have reduced their growth projections
for the cormung year with the outlook mixed. Unemployment remained
low at under &%, the lowest level since 1975 and real wage growth
strengthened as levels of employment continued at record highs

London market

The London investment market remained good, with £16bn of
transactions in 2018, slightly down on 2017, but more than any
other major city globally Overseas buyers, who accounted for
more than 80% of deals remained active, although the make up

of buyers continued to evolve with demand from China and Hong
Kang eastng, but demand from South Korea, Austrabia and the
Middle East growing There was however a notable pause in the
early part of 2019 as Brexit uncertainty increased and the theme of
polarisation in investment demand continued as activity focused on
hugh quality, well-let or trophy assets, vath less prime properties
pricing below expectations and at generally wider yrelds.

The occupational marke! continued to show resilience with
above average taka up Serviced offices were the largest single
compenent of demand accounting for 17%, with banking and
finance representing 16% Vacancy 15 1n line with the 10 year
average and year-on-year, incentives were largely unchanged,
with prime rents moderately up in bath the West End and the City

32  BritishLand | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Pricing has continued o polarise, with well designad, new or
refurbished space achieving a signiicant premium This is
evidenced by the fact that ¢ 65% of all space under construction for
delivery in 2019 1s already pre-let Suppty has rematined relatively
constrained and some 30% of space previously expecled o te
delivered in 20201s not yet under construction, suggesting
development starts contiiue to be pushed back

Annual house price growth remained relatively subdued at 0 7% in
March 2019 and was weakest in London and the South East, which
reported declining prices The market for prime and super prime
cantinues to be chaltenging, with demand from overseas buyers
reduced partly due to political uncertainty in the UK and globally,
as well as changes to rutes on capial gains tax on property
disposals for overseas investors.

Retail market

Retail investment markets were weak reliecting continued
negative sentiment around the long term role of physical retad.
However, there is robust demand for well-let indwidual assets with
strong occupational characteristics or alternative use potential,
Investment volumes for mult-le! assets have been low and those
that have transacted have oiten been at signiicant discounts to
book value Towards the end of the iinancial year however, it
became apparent that for certain types of multi-let assets,
valuations reached a point where return profiles were attracting
tnterest from a deeper pool of investors

The gcoupational market remained challenging 35 more relaters
have entered CVA or administration, resulting in store closures
All retaders are working to optimise their store netwaorks to have
the night featpnint to succeed 1n an omni-channel environment
They are focused on the optimal number of stores they need and
how much they are witling ta pay for them and key to this 1s the
guality and cannectivity of the locations. As a result, we have seen
polansation trends accelerate with the best quality, best located
retail assets, in the strongest dermnographic locations which are
right s1ized and aftordable to retailers continuing to perform
relatively well whereas secondary locations, or those which

are too big to reflect iocai demand, have struggied.

Despite these challenges, many retailers continue to perform wetl
and successful new entrants continue to emerge - as has always
been the case. However, whilst the key Christmas trading period
was generally stronger than expecled, the market is set to remamn
chatlenging overall. Since the end of our financial year we have
seen a high profile CVA frorm Debenhams.

Campus-focused London offices

At our London campuses, we create and manage some of the best
connected, most accessible space in London, all located 1n wibrant
and exciting neighbourhoods. They provide warld class, modern
and sustamable offices alongside public spaces with all the mix

of amenities people expect of a modern workplace. These unique
campus benefits are the result of speallic investment over many
years and represent a clear attraction to businesses seeking to
hire and retain the best people.



Peopte and businesses are working mora flexibly, and their needs
change over time, driving demand for quakity office space on more
flexible terms Thus 1s what Storey, our flexible workspace offer
provides. it 1s operationat across all three of our campuses and 1s
an integral part of our offering. It is differentiated from other fiexible
office offerings in allowing occupiers to personalise high quabity
office space through their awn branding whilst benefiting from
shared amenities in the building and all the benefits our campuses
offer The average size of our Storey customers s 45 employzes, and
with an average lease length of around two years it complements
our core office offer while attracting a new market segment to
Brush Land relatively new, fast-growing 'scale up businesses,
and specific standalone divisions of targer companies

Retait will continue to play an increasingly prominent role within
our campuses, notably at Broadgate, where our development
pipeline will detwer an additional 395,000 sq ft of non-office space,
focused on retad, teisure and diring space This will predomunantly
be at ground ftoer, so although the totat aliocation will be just 32%.
it makes a highly wisible contribution to the campus, and has been
instrumentat in helping us sign a more diverse range of occupier.

A smaller, more focused Retail portfotio

Structural change in retail 1s fundamental and ongoing Recognising
thrs, we have been refining our Retail partfolio for several years and
have made good progress with £2 $bn of asset sales since 2014

We have a ctear view of the role retail wilt play in our business tong

AE

e, We wih fous on 835818 wihich 578 best placed o suppot the
changing role of physical retail and enable retailers to succeedin

an increasingly omini-channel world. They will be high quality, welt
connected multi-let centres accessible ¢ catchment areas with
attractive dermographics They will have strong market positions, be
affordabie to retailers, appropriately sized to reflect their local market
and have the potenkal to become increasingly mixed use over ime

Leooking forward, we aim to reduce our Retall business to 30-35%
of the total, based an current valuations over the next five years.
This implies further asset sales into a market which 1s currently
more challenging and is likely to remnain so in the short term

In this context, we will remain patient and opportumshic 10 our
approach and only progress disposals at the nght price, which
deliver clear value and progress our long termi sirategy

Residential, principatly Build to Rent

Build 1o Rent ressgential 1s complemeniary to our existing expertise
and additive to our mixed use strategy The market s underpinned by
sound fundamertals, with housing generally undersupplied relative to
demand and ability to buy constrained, rmaking renting an atlraclive
option for a growing number of people Added to this, ownershup 1s
retatively fragmented, creating an opportunity for professionally-
managed, guality space especially in Landon and the South East

More details on the portfolio, property performance, individuat
develogments and assets sold and acquired duning the year can be
found in the detaited supplementary tables on pages 186 to 194

Storey

Storey, our flexible workspace offer, taunched in June 2017
ft1s a debiberately differentiated concept, providing quality
workspace on a shori term basis Occupiers have the abibity
to brand the space thernselves whilst benefitting from the
shared facifities 1a the bulldings and the amenities across
the wider campus It has become integral to our campus
offering. hetping us attract new businesses, typically from
the technalogy or creative sectors, as well as providing
overflow or project space for occupiers on our core space

Twe years i, 1t ss operational across 141,000 sq it and
our plans will more than double this 1o wciude standalone
buldings as well as space of our campuses

Progress on our strategy

Strategic indicative 5-year

prjorrty business mix Progress ]

Campus-  55-40% - Progressing development on our

focused campuses and de-risking through
Of which o

London Storey ¢ 5% pre-tets with 76% of our recently

Offices ¥ ®  compteted and committed

developments now tet or under offer
te a broad range of occupiers

Creating optionswith 2 7msq it
of planaing consents achieved

- Storey operational across
141,000 sq f an ail three
campuses with further 161,000 sq
foidentified fncl standaione locations)
- Smart Places team established
with a clear strategy to deliver chgital
placemaking across our places
Refocused 30-35% ~ £é46m of assets sold since April
Retail 2018, marginally above book value
including & mix of selus, teisure and
rmulhi-tet assets
Residential ¢ 10% - Further good progress at Ctarges
principally Mayfair, with 23 uruis completed in
Build to the year, bringing total completed
Rent urnts to 25, & further two exchanged
and three under offer

- Canada Water planning application
subrtted including 3,000 homes

- Further opportunities across
our portfolo
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Business review

(1.6)%

ERV movement

£239m

Acquisitions

Lettings and renewals

+0.4%

Portolio performance

2.7m sq ft

Total

Yatuation ERV Yiedld nrnper:y

Yaluation movement growth shift return

At 31 March 201% Em % % bps %
Offices 6,308 11 14 +2 49

Retail 5.577 {11} (38 +37 {68l

Residential 128 14 4] na na {16l
Canada Water 303 {G.8i na na 3.1

Total 12,316 {4 8) (18] +19 09

The portiolio value was down 4 8% overall, with Retail valuations
down 11.1% Offices were 1.1% ahead, driven by developrments
which were up 11.3% The Offices portiolio saw positive ERV

nred acrpes the City and Weet End with yields

gre
broadly flat In Retail, nvestor sentiment remained negative
with CVAs and admmistrations putiing further pressure on rents,
driving yield expansion and ERV decline These difficulties were
most pronounced in department stores and smaller multi-let
centres in areas with weaker demographics

Qffices performed in ltne with the London Ofhce benchmark
although underperformed All Otfices by 100bps due to the strength
of regionat offices within the Index Retail underperformed the
Retai benchmark, which saw vatues down overall. Multi-let centres
in weaker demographic locations which were disproportionately
impacted by CVAs underperformed overall compared to the
benchmark which includes leng let assets which were typically
less impacted As 3 result and reflecting the continued sirength of
industrials where we have no exposure, the portfolio underperformed
the 1PD all property totat return ingdex by 550 bps over the penod

(19

£1.5bn

Lettings and renewals ahead of ERV

Capital activity

Canada

Offices Retasl Residential Water Total
From 1 April 2018 £m im £m £m £m
Purchases 129 110 - - 239
Sates' (5000 (646} 1359 - [1,505]
Development
Spend 212 3t 1 21 275
Capital Spend 20 33 - - 53
Net investment (139) (4720 {348} 21 (938}
Gross Investment 841 820 370 21 2,072

On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group's share af joint
ventures and funds

. oo o - =4 EY12ana

ripneled i the

£
ainsbury s superslores which
exchanged post year end lor E194m Includes Clarges residential sales of
£359m, of which £253m exchanged prior to FY19 and completed in the year
and £ 18m exchanged post year end

We have completed or exchanged on £1 5bn of asset disposals
since 1 April 2018, bringing the total gross value of our investment
aclivly since 1 Apeit 2018 to £2 thn. In Retall, we made sales of
£646m, comprising a mix of non-core multi-tet centres and
standalone retall or leisure assets. Overall, sales were marginally
ahead of book value, with mulls-let centres generally transacting
at a discount, and solus assets, particularly these with good
alternative use potential, generally achieving a premium to book
value, We acquired Royal Victona Place in Tunbridge Wells at

the start of the year for £92m; the centre offers good mixed use
potenttai and i1s well located in London's commuter belt.

We love being part of the Storey community. Before moving into our space in Appold Street we were part

of a co-working office, but with our team growing, we were at the stage where we had to get something of our
own. We needed something flexible, but representative, and we definitely found exactly the right fit. Storey
has been absolutely brilliant not only in helping us find the ideal office, but also in making sure everything
runs smoothly for our team every day. The Storey team are a delight to work with, and I'm excited to see

how the community grows in the future.

99 Chris McCullough, CEO & Co-Founder, Rotageek
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in Offices, the most significant transaction in the period was the
sale of 5 Broadgate for £1bn four share £500m) in Uine with book
vatue. Overall, this development generated a total property return
of 18% per annum for British Land.

At Clarges, our prime residential-led development :n Mayfarr,

we completed on the sale of 23 units in the year for £335m,
bringing total completed units to 25 with receipts totalling £359m.
We have exchanged an two further uriis, bringing completed and
exchanged sales to £383m with seven urits remaiming, of which
three are under offer Clarges has been a highty successiul
scheme far us, having delivered total profits of £200m to date
with £34m sales to go, excluding those already under offer.

Data and insights

We are continuing to leverage our insight into our places, which
15 grounded in the data we coallect across the pertfolio on the
peogpte who work at, visit and live around our centres and
campuses This data shows how users inleract with our spaces,
for exampte how they choose to spend their tume and money,
which brands they engage with and what they think of cur
fzcilihies and servcas Our understanding is informing
development strategy at our campuses and providing valuable
evidence i leasing disCuSSIONS 1N an environment where brands
are very focused on taking the right physical space

This year, we rolied cut a new data and analytics platform, whereby
nearly 1,800 retailers, representing two-thirds of our portfolio
contribute sales data in exchange for reports and benchmarking,
providing our occupiers with a real insrght 1nto their custormer base
and helping us build a clear preture of which accupiers and centras
are performing well, Over tirme, this information guides our asset
management and our investrment activity, helping us allocate
capital efficiently.

Al Canada Water, we have used insight to project the Ukely needs
of the cormmunity as the scheme progresses and this is shaping
the amount of retail, leisure and community space in our plans
This modelling builds on the expertise we have developed across
our campuses and retail centres by factoring in the benehts of 3
rrux of uses for placemaking.

Sustainability

Suslainabiily 1s integral ta how we manage our business

Qur activittes have a real impact on the environment, our
customers and local communtities and we recognise our
responsibility to manage thase impacts This year we published
Oesign for Life’ research quantifying the petential economic
benefits and indwidual boost of putting wellbeing at the heart

of urban design, which s core to creating Places People Prefer
Suystasnabslety 1s integrated mio the standard tools we use across
our bustness, fram our Sustainabitity Brief for Developments,
now in its 15" year, ta our Local Charter, which sets out five ways
we make a lasting positive difference (o our local communities.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

At 100 Liverpool Street, our largest on-sue development around
half of the orginal structure and foundations were retained,
saving 7.200 tonnes of embodied carbon, with a further 4,100
tonnes set to be saved through carbon-efficient design and the
use of low-carbon matenals We have worked hard to mimimise
the impact of thas development for custemers, for example by
using an off-stte consolidation ¢entre 1o combine deliveries,

we achieved a 20% reduction i trucks comung to the site

We also worked closely with Londen transport partners ta
ensure that transport connections were unaffected and wrth
local shops and businesses who lost no trading days

Across our Broadgate devetoprnents, we are working 1n
partnershyp with our mawn contractor, Sir Robert McAlpine, to
creste a positive tlocal legacy. Over 3,300 people have benefitied
from our Broadgate construction leam’s cormmunity acivities
over the last twa years, including local schoolchildren, jobseekers
and peopte affected by homelessness. Over 60 apprentices

and trainees have developed thew skills through our Broadgate
construction aclwity over the same period. We are also ensuring
that our projects directly beneht local businesses For example,
58% of construction spend at 160 Liverpool Street so tar (£59ml
has been spent in the City and neighbouning boroughs.

At our managed assets, we continue to support people inlo work
through Bright Lights, our skilts and employrnent programme. At Fort
Kinnaird, Edinburgh, the Recruitrment & Skilts Centre celebrated its
fifth annwersary this year. Winner of the Estates Gazette Collaborators
Award Z078, our innovative collaboration nvoives councils in £asi
Lothian, Cty of Edinburgh and Midlothian and partners such as the
Capital City Partnership, Department of Work and Pensions and Skills
Developrnent Scolland. Since opening, the Centre has trained 2.663
people and hetped 3,585 people into work, supporting around 160
employers each year, including our customers This improves
opporturities for pecple in surrounding neighbourhoods and creates
the skilled worklorce that our customers value

[

We just wanted to serve really good wine and

Ash — British Land gave us an opportunity to do
something really special, and people seem to really
enjoy that. We get a lot of positive feedback on the
area, particularly from people who remember it
decades ago and they're amased by how nach

it’s come together with the canal at its heart,

and it's getting better and better.

’, Harry Lobek, Directar, L.ondon Shetl Co
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Our strong sustainability performance 1s reflected i our rankings
on external ESG indices, including a green star rating for the
ninth consecutive year in the Global Real Estate Sustainability
Benchmark [GRESS], COP A- score [2017. B) and inclusion tn the
FTSE4Gond and Dow Jones Sustamability Indices 2018 This year,
while we maintained our strong absotute performance in GRESB,
our relative ranking reduced to 4-stars. We have established a
Steering Comrmuttee te progress meeting the recommendations
of the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures and
conhinue ta reduce carbon and energy 1ntensity across the
portiobio, this year achieving 64% and 44% reductions, respectively,
against our 2009 basetine.




Campus-focused London Offices

Operational and financial highlights

- Portfolio value up 1.1%, with the City up 1 9%
and West End up 0.7%

- Yelds flat in the City, with moderate expansion
in the West End +3bps

- ERV growth of 1 4% across the porticlio

- Actvity generating Like-for-like income growth
of 4 9%

- Leasing activity covering 1.1m sq ft, adding
£21m to future rents

Campus operational review

80% of our Offices are located on our three central London
campuses, each benehtting fram excelient iransport connecimvty
and vibrant local nesghbourhoods which are an important part of
their appeal Across these spaces we have made good progress
on our strategy to expand the mix of uses, whech 1n the context
of aur campuses means an enhanced leisure, dining and
entertainment offering

Broadgate

Mare than half our leasing actwvity this year has been at Broadgate,
where we made 739,000 sq i of letings and renewals and agreed
rent reviews on a further 152,000 sq ft of space, overall 4 5% ahead
of ERV The most signdicant included McCann, one of the world 5
teading advertising agencies and TP ICAP, the global interdealer
broker wha signed for 127,000 sq ft and 123,000 sq ft respectively
at 135 Bishopsgate, both for a 13 year term

At 100 Liverpool Street. Mitbank. a leading international law hrm.
has commutted to over 70,000 sq It and despite the uncertain
poltical backdrop, hnancial services firm Peel Hunt has signed far
40.000 sq ft We have made good progress leasing on the retail
side, with space {et or under offer to Watches of Switzertand, Gant,
Kiehis and Neomn Orgarucs alongside several high quabity grab and
qo operators These are typically smatler letings, ranging from
300 to 6,000 sq ft, but are located an the station concourse or at
lower ground floar level, where the rent achieved can be more than
double that on the office space {on a per sq ft basis).

At 1 Finshury Avenue, which has reached praclical completion,

we are building a premsum foad offering, with space let or under
offer 1o Bar Douro. a Partuguese restaurant specialising 1 small
plates and mdependent, hugh guality grab and go brands Nygkee
and Yolk These join Everyman, the boutique cinema operator

who signed for a three-screen cihema covenng 11,000 sq ft earbier
in the year. These letiings demonstrate significant progress to
create a destination centre for food, retail and culture st Broadgate,
enhancing the appeal of our campus Lo prospective occupiers,
partecularly those from nen-traditional sectors including
technology. The most recent example 1s Product Madness, an
online gaming platform who are takig 31,000 sq #t at t Finsbury
Avenue on 2 ten year term Earlier in the year, technology company
Mmmecast committed to 2n additional 34,000 sq ft bringing their
total occupation to 113,000 sq fit

Under offer on a further 28,000 sq ftand n
negotiations on 3 further 479000 sn ft

investrent lettings and renewals signed 1.2%
ahead of ERV adding £3m to future rents

317.000 sq ft rent reviews agreed 7.1% ahead
of passing rent adding £0.9m to rents

Occupancy increased slightly to 97.7%; Regent’s
Place and Paddington Central virtually full

5 Broadgate sold st book value [our share £500m
generating an 18% pa total property return

Elsewhere on the campus, we let 37,000 sq ft to commodities
broker Marex at 155 Bishopsgate and nearly 40,000 sq {t at
Broadgais Tower, where both Lgudnet and TradeTech expanded
their space We also completad 25,100 sq ft of short term lettings
to tech and prafessional service businesses at 2&3 Finsbury
Avenue inctuding CheckRecipient, Poq, and Tech Nation. This
strong progress across the campus demonstrates Londen’s

enduring appeal as a place 1o do business, despite Brexit,

ke carn

Cversll, the campus 35w & viuaion uphid ¢ :
gains on our development properties and benefiting from
ERV growth of 1 2%

Paddington Central

We have continued to make good progress evelving our retait

and dining offer at Paddinglon Central. This year, we have let
space to Vagabonds Wine and a second canal-boat restaurant,
further entiventng the canal-side as well as Pure, and Department
of Coffee and Sociat Affairs at 2 Kingdom Street and Pail Mall
Barbers in Sheldon Square Total lettings/renewals at the campus
covered 41,000 sq ft. inctuding 20,000 sq ft of lettings through
Starey with rent reviews on 78,000 sq ft of space agreed more
than 10% ahead of passing rent Occupancy across the campus

15 97 2%.

There 1s real momentum buitding across the newghbourhood,

with teasing interest fram a range of sectors reflecting significant
investment and regeneration ahead of Crossrad opening The campus
saw a valuation uplift of 1 %%, benefitting from yreld ghtening of

1 bp and ERY growth of 0.9%.

Regent'’s Place

At Regent's Place, where occupancy 1s 98.7% our leasing activity
covered 250,000 sq ft Our iargest single letting was to Facebook
who are taking 175,000 sq ft on 10 year lease at 10 Brock Street in
the space lo be vacated by Debenhams Thus takes thew occupancy
at the building to 290,000 sq ft and is a strong endersement of the
campus We have also let 12,600 sq ft to Hays at 20 Triton Street
and agreed 34,000 sq ft of rent reviews, ¢ 1% ahead of passing
rent This aclvity supporied ERV growth of 2.2% offsetting mild
yield expansion of 3 bps to deliver an overall valuation upldt

of 1 4%.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

We are planmuing a re-brand of the campus, which we expecl

to launch in the summer and are progressing plans for a
programme of public realm impravements, which will enhance
existing connections with Regent's Park, the residential areas to
the north and the Knowledge Quarter These will iniroduce more
green space and support 3 more diverse range of uses,
experiences and activities throughout the year

Increasing the mix of uses

Non-office leasing at our campuses totalled 68,000 sq ft in the
year, primarily compnising retail, leisure and dining, with the
largest single letting to Everyman cinema at 1 Finsbury Avenue

We have also focused on making smart use of public or shared
spaces through events and activities which enliven our space as
well as successful commercial events which generate income
This year, our campuses hosted 44 major marketing activities
as well as a2 range of seasonal events to mark natienal occasions
such as International Women's Day, Mental Health Awareness
Week and London Pride We were recogmised by REVO tor brand
expertences including Eon's "Shot of Summer” and a Bordeaux
Butterfly Bar, both at Broadgate Qur Adidas experience held
last summer at Narton Folgate comprising sport, music and
“instagramabte” moments generated around £50,000 rent for

a 10-day event.

Storey: our flexible workspace brand

We launched Storey nearly two years ago It «s a deliberately
differentiated fienble workspace concept, p
the opportunity to brand the space themselves whilst benefithng
frormn shared facilities in the building and the advantages our
campuses provide. This year, Storey opened at 2 and 4 Kingdom
Street {Paddington Centrall, and 3 Finsbury Avenue [Broadgatel
as well as at York House, W1 in our standalone portiolo Itis now
operatianal across 141,000 sq ft and 15 90% let or under offer

TN N ey i
FUNIIINIG ULLUREET I viann

Part of the business rationale was the increasingly comptementary
nature of core and more flexible space, so we are pleased that 35%

of Storey occupiers by rent are existing customers of British Land.
It has also been instrumental in building our exposure (o the
growsng technology and creative sectors, which account for

c 40% of space let; recent examples include Tryzens a prowider

of e-commerce solutions and AppDynamics, an application
performance analytics company, who both signed tn the year

Storey continues to achieve attractive premums to ERV of around
30% on total teased space with an average lease length of
23 manths, and average accupier headcount of 45 people

o6

We love the progressive approach to design, the
open space ancd amenities, and crucially, access to
Sutiere talent. We think we ve found the perfect place
Jor Mimecast to grow and continue to succeed

in London.

,’ Neil Murray, Chief Technology Officer, Mimecast
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L.ooking forward, the Storey pipeline is 161,000 sq ft which inctudes
‘Storey Club’ at 4 Kingdom Street, a new concept providing ad hoc
workspace, additional meeting roerns. private dining venues and
event and workshop spaces for Storey occupiers. We have earmarked
more than 60,000 sq fi 11 standalone space at Wells Stin Fitzrovia
and Orsman Road in Haggerston {exchanged in the year|

Smart Places

This year, our Smart Places team have taid out a lang term plan to
delwer digntal placemaking across our Office campuses Thistsan
example of how we are evolving our offer to enhance the experience
for our occupers, differentating our space to drive tong term
demand and deliver rental growth Our Smart strategy focuses

on three core areas

- Tech hardware: ensuring we are putting in place the nght
materials and eguipment in our builldings for the long term -
efficient mechanicat and electrical materiats which are
internet-connected, and can send and recewe insiructions
according to an open-source Briish Land standard for data

- Buitding a data enviranment bringing together data from across
gul spaces and other sources to derive insight, tmprove usage
of space and enable burlding control

- User expereence developing platforms that allow users to
engage seamlessly with their space, heiping them tc be
heaithier, productive and mare engaged in theirr environment

At our head office at York House we have successfully trialled
hardware which measures space utilisation and are working wath
third parties to generate insights from the data we have collected
We have standardised a Smart Buwildings design guide which we
are using across all new developments and have stacted to engage
with occupiers to support them in making the most of our advanced
offece developments, constantly improving our understanding of
what our occupiers want and how we will achieve this



Smaller, more focused Retail

Retail operational and financial highlights

- Total portfolio value down 11.1%, led by smaller
mult-let schemes which were dispreportionately
affected by CVAs and admunistrations

- Yield expansion of 37 bps overalt

-~ ERVsdown 3.8%

- Robust leasing activity with Lettings/renewals
covering 1 ém sq ft, marginally ahead of ERV; strong
retention rate on renewals of 78%

- Further 1.8m sq ft of rent reviews agreed 2 3% ahead
of passing rent

- High occupancy maintained at 97%

Performance review
Leasing

In a chatlenging aperating envirotiment, aur focus this year has
been on the day to day business of (easing and managing our
space Overalt, leasing volumes have been ahead of hustoric levels
at 1.6m sq ft, wath the number of long term deals in ine with

= —-—— . b
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signed this year, demonstrating the way we are evolving our offer
to meet the needs of our occupiers whilst retaiming flexibility in our
estate to respond to new retaillers and concepts

We have had a successful year at Meadowhall, with 22 long term
deals with new {ettings to Skopes, Rock Up and Lacoste, and
upsizings fraom North Face and Fat Face Meadowhall has

seen nine consecuitve months of year on year footfall growth,
demonstrating its strong and growing appeat, post our £60m
refurbishment Building on this, we are on site wilh a new
chifdren’s ptayground and have an upgrade to the Jasis dining
quarter planned far the current year We are piloting changes

in the way we use retail space, Including Meadowhalt Sessions, a
series of everwng classes and a regular arusan market showcasing
the best in Yorkshire produce which beoth launched in the year

Across the portfolig, we have continued to welcome new formats
with Goldsmith's the jewellers opening therr first out of town store
at Fort Kennaird and Emprre cinernas launchang their first new café
and cinema cancept at SeuthGate, Bath We have re-geared leases
with major tenants on a portfolio basis, including Boots at three
schemes totalling 44,000 sq ft at 12 4% ahead of ERV and Argos at
six schemes totatling 61,000 sq 1t broadty in line with ERV. We also
agreed a portfolio deal with New Look covering 11 leases

Annualised rental impact of CVAs and
admimistrations over the last two years of £16 9m;
£0.9m at assets subsequently sold, £5.1m at stores
where rents have reduced and £10.9m s at stores
subject to closure of which £6.5m has already been
tet or in negotiation

Like for like income growth excluding the impact of
CVAs and adrministrations of 0 8%

Footfall down 0.9%, 230 bps ahead of benchmark:
total sales down 0.5%, 160 bps ahead of benchmark

£646m non-core assets exchanged since Apnil 2018

CVAs and administrations

Across cur portfolio, we are addressing the impact of CVAs and
adminsstrations The annuabised impact of CVAs and adrunistrations
over the last two years is £16 9m £0 9m at assets subseguently
sold, £5 1 at stores where rents have reduced and £10.9m s at
stores subject to closure of which £6.5m has already been let or
in negotiation This has disproportionately impacted our smaller
rulti-let centres especially those in weaker demographic locatians,
and are generally assets that do net have a long term role within
our portfolio Paost period end, Debenharms also applted for a CVA,
prior to which we had re-let thewr head office space to Facebook,
and had managed down our retail exposura with the sale of 3
standalone store in Clapham Our exposure to Debenhams now
comprises four standalone and five stores i multi-let centres

11

Broadgate gave us a chance. They trusted in a
new business because they believed in us and the
concept. We have a home now - a base so that we
can serve our food and delicious coffee every day.
It’s the kind of spot we were hoping for and
dreaming of.

99 Nick Philpot, Founder, Yotk
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Operational performance

Footfall was down 0.9% in the year, but we have continued to
outperform the benchmark [230 bps ahead] demaonstrating that
despite changes in the way people shop, our centres are stilt
retatively well placed Total sales, which take nto account our
assel management initiatives, were down 0.5% outperforming the
benchmark by 160 bps, although same store sales, which strips
out these impravements showed decline of 1.5% but was 160 bps
ahead of the henchmark. Both metrics showed an improvement
over the year, and encouragingly, urned positive in the last quarter
of the financial year. These figures only capture instore sales and
exclude online sates where the physical store plays a key role,
including shipping direct from store, an approach mare retailers
are adopting, as welt 3s click and coltect and online purchases first
browsed 1n store

This year eight of our commercialisation events were recognmised at
the REVO awards with three winners including best Pap Up Shop
for our Unicorn Meadow at Meadowhall, best Mali Transformation
again al Meadowhall, recognising the change that our refurbishment
has delivered and best Commercial Event for our Ultra-Violet

Bar at SouihGate, Bath, marking our parinershup with the

Bath Gin Company.

Capital activity

We have 3 clear strategy to refine our Retait portfolio to deliver a
smaller, more {ocused business, cornpnising assets that support
the changing role of physical retail, are right sized for their local
markets and have the potential to become tncreasingly mixed use

In ltne with that, we have made asset sales totalling £646m since

1 Apnit 2018, compnrising smaller, multi-let retail centres, nan-core
leisure assets and standalone retail assets. Dverall sales were 2%
ahead of book value, but multi-let retad has generally sold at or
betow book. while standalene retail and leisure has generally sold
at or above book The most significant transaction was the disposal
of 12 of our Sainshury's superstores for £193.5m {our sharel,
modestly ahead of book value, which exchanged post perwd end,
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Thus brings total retan disposals over the ast five years to £2 9bn
comprising the following core categories

&m % *

saldsince  totalpertfolio tatat portfolic

Asset class April 2014 March 2014 Mareh 2019

Oepartment stores £482m 5% %

Superstores {standatonel £1,203m 11% 1%

Letsure £195m 3% 2%
Nan-core multi-iet retait £790m
Totat £2,870m

1 Pra-forma for post year end exchanged sate of 12 Sainsbury’s superstares

We have a clear view of the value of our assets, and have set out
the incicative shape of aur business in hve years, when we expect
retait will comprise 30-35% of the portfolio, based on current
valuatrons We have the frnanceal capacity to progress our
developments without necessitating asset sates, enabling us to
be patient and opportunistic in cur apgroach, so we benefit from
pockels of demand for particutar asset types as and when they
arise. We will maintain this approach going forward and onty make
desposals which deliver value or signifecantly progress our long
term strateqy We have a strong track record of delivering on aur
strategic goals having reduced our standalone superstore
exposure from 11% in 2014 to 1% today with just six standalone
stores remaining

Retail will remain an important pact of our business long term,
5G W& wail COGhfGE 10 wTeEST 17 (hOSE a858ts winch support the
changing rote of physical retail and have the potential to become
mixed use We have a clear sel of critena in terms of size and
location, the environment, mix of operators and senvices that we
use io evatuate our assets and these factors underpinned our
purchase of Royal Victonia Place in Tunbridge Wells for £91 8m at
the starl of the year Here. we have cornmutted to a refurbishment
covering araund two-thirds of the centre and have plans for a
redevelopment of the remarnung third of the space; longer term,
we see potenttal lo significantly expand the mix of uses

49

PureGym are delighted

to have finally secured
representation on Fort
Kinnaird. It's proved to be

a great decision and was
actually our strongest ever
new site opening since the
business began 10 years and
238 gyms ago!

%9 Duncan Costin, Property Directar,
PureGym



Development

ERY

Current  Cosito let/under

Sqft Value compleie ERY offer

At 33 March 2019 ‘08 £m £m £m Em

Recently compleied 287 153 k| 82 47

Committed 1,330 714 252 35.0 437

Mear term 866 156 404 39.4 -
Medwum term 2.443

Canada Water Phase 1! 1,917

On a propartianally cansolidaled basis including the Group s share of joint
ventures and funds lexcept area which 1s shown at 100%}

1 Totaisie argais Smsqit Phase 1 conmsts of Phase 1z, 1b. ic Detaited planming
submitted for Phase ta (576,000 sq ti), outbne plantung submtted for totat Phase i

Portfolio

Developments are a key etement of our investment case as a
fundamental driver of sustainable vatue and growth fer the long
term. ln the current market we see limited opportuntties to make
accretive acquisittons, so the capacity to develop 1s animportant
competitive advantage Critical to our approach is the flexibitity
and optionality we have created with the majonty of space in

our development pipeline either income producing or held at

low cost, 50 we have attractive options we can progress as and
when appropriate.

We actively manage our development risk and pre-fetting our space
15 an important part of that approach Reflecting our continued
suceessful leasing actvity. 76% of our recently completed and

commuited developments are pre-let or under offer and speculative
exposure remains low at 2.3% of portfolio gross asset value
Including our near term pipeline, this will be 7 4%, below our
internat nsk threshold for speculabive development of 8%

Construction cost forecasts continue to suggest that the rate of
growth has moderated from the level :n recent years However,
there is a risk that the Brexit oputcome increases materials costs
and reduces labour suppty in future years, patentiaily increasing
costinflation ebove the expected 2-4% per annum To mitigate this
risk, 93% af the costs on our commitied development programme
have been fixed

Campus developments: further enhancing the mix

of uses

Oevetopment has been an important driver of vatue over the year
Our successful leasing actrity has supported the rental tone at our
Broadgate campus while the benehit of our 4 Kingdom Street
development {completed in 2018| continues to support rental
grawth at Paddington Central

Completed developments

1 Finsbury Avenue (287,000 sq ft] at Broadgate has reached
practical completion, and we are 58% let or under offer by ERV
following 148,000 sq ft of leasing activity Sigrungs included
Mimecast, Everyman and Product Madness and with four F&B
operators exchanged or under offer. tn addition, we are atlocating
72,000 sq ft to Starey, leaving just 46,000 sq ft availabte to let

19

Our employee buse is
approximately two thirds
under 30. People looking for
work will not only look for

a job now - they will look

at the environment they're
working in and the location
of the building as part of
their overall decision making
process. They are less likely
to choose an employer if they
don’t like what they see.

99 Stephen Guy,
Chief Integration Officer
and Chief of Staff,
McCann Worldwide
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Committed developments

Qur committed development prpeline covers 1.3m sq fi lexcluding
1 Finsbury Avenuel. At 1 Triton Square {Regent’s Placel which is our
largest wholly-owned development covering 366,000 sq ft, the office
space is fully pre-let to Gentsu Aegis Netwoark on a 20-year lease.

A\ Broadgatle, we are on site with two developrnents together
delivering 856,000 sq ft. 100 Liverpool Street {521,000 sq fi} topped
out in the pertod, the facade has now been installed up to level 10
and fit out of the interiors started in April. It will be one of Europe’s
smartest ofhice buldings. with a single digital sptne connecting
systems within the bullding to personalise elements of the working
environment inctuding temperature and light as well as monttor
the use of space We are aiming lor 2 WiredScare platinum

rating for internet connectwily and infrastructure and a Well Gold
certification for wellbeing Sustainability has been integral to the
design and delivery of this building: by retaining as much of the
existing structure as possibte we have saved 7,200 tonnes gf
embodied carbon and are on track to save a further 4,100 tonnes
through carbon-efficient design and use of low-carbor matenials
More than half of the construction spend has been invested in the
City and neighbouring boroughs, ensuring locat people benefit
from our development. Following lettings to Peel Hunt and Milbank
this year, who join Sumitomoe Mitsul Banking Corporation Europe,
the butding 1s now 56% let or under offer by ERV At 135 Bishopsgate
£335.000 sq fi). we are 90% let or under offer, with signings to
McCann and TP ICAP this year, in addition to Eataly, the Itatian
marketplace which s taking £4 000 s Bt an the ground floor
Across both buildings, we are seeing good mnterest in the
remamng space

Near term pipeline

We have increased our near term pipeline to 865,000 sq ft with the
addition of 1-2 Broadgate where we achieved planning permission
during the year This 531,000 sq it scheme nctudes 153,000 sq ft

of retail, teisure and diming space, connecting Finsbury Avenue
Square with retail at 100 Liverpoot Street and the Broadgate Circle,
creating a 350,000 sq fi retail, leisure and dining hub

Al Norton Folgate Ipreviously Blossom Street) we have consent
for a 335,000 sq It scheme comprising 257,000 sq ft of office
space alongside retail and residential space, to create a mixed
use development which ts in keeping with the histanic fabric of
the area. Our plans envisage a mix of Hoarplates, to appeal to
small and growing businesses as well as more established
organisahions, particularly in the technology and creative sectors
and we are already seeing goad interest in the space
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Medium term Pipeline

Our mediim term pipeline includes three office-led schemes
covering more than 1m sq ft i tatal These buildings progress
our mixed use campus vision and support future Income growth,

The most significant scheme 15 2-3 Finsbury Avenue at Broadgate
Covering 563,000 sq f1, the scheme adds 374,000 sq ft 1o the
existing space which generates an mcome through short term,
more flexible {ettings, with 50,500 sq it allocated to Storey. We have
also launched a 1,700 sq ft events space at 3 Finsbury Avenue
whuch regularly hosts thought-leadership events, as wetl as yoga,
pilates and meditation sessions.

At § Kingdom Street, Paddington Central, we have submitted a
revised planning application which would increase our consented
scheme from 240,000 sq ft to 429,000 sq ft The scheme includes
the opportunity to develop a former Crossrail works site which
reverts to Bretish Land en campletion of Crossral, providing 83,000
sq ft of community, retail, leisure and cultural facitities, reflecting
feedback from focus groups and residents who we consulted on
how this space could best be used At the Gateway, we have
consent for a 105,000 sg ft premium hotel

Retail development: enhancing and repositioning
our portfolio for the fufure

In line with our disciplined approach to capitat allocation, we
consistently review our capital spending plans in the current
enviranment we wauld expect the averall level of capitat spend
o aur Retart gortholio (o 5e lower than historcally, Agwever,
we mamntain 3 range of opportunities across our portfolio which
preserve our optionality but would only commit where market
condittons and long term prospects are supportive

Committed developments

At Orake Circus, Plymouth, we are on site with a 108,000 sg it
lersure exdension which will add a 12-screen cinema and 14
restaurants The scheme s 47% let and under offer and we
expect lo reach practical completion in autumn 2019

Medium term pipeline

Our medium term pipeline 1s focused on mixed use opportunittes.
At Ealing Broadway, which will benefit from Crossrail, we are
working up plans for a 292,000 sq ft scheme, and at Eden Walk,
Kingston Gointly owned with USS) our consented mixed use
development plans include 380 new homes, alengside shops,
restaurants and 35,000 sq {t of flexible office space At Meadowhall,
we have consent for 3 333,000 sq ft leisure extension but are
undertaking a review of our plans which s expected to conclude
towards the end of the year We have further opportunthies at New
George Street in Plymouth, adjacent to our Drake Circus cegional
retail centre which caver 43,000 sq {t In each case, our facus will
be on enhancing the mix of uses to best reflect the local market

Read mare about aur development pipeline on pages 22 and 23



Canada Water: 53 acre masterplan for a new urban centre

in Central London

Highlights
- 5m sq ft mixed use development scheme

- Master development agreernent signed with
Southwark Councit 1n May 2018

- Planning application including detailed planning
submission on the first three buildings and cutline
planning for the whole scheme subrrutted May 2018

- Net valuation movement down 0.8% to £303m;
increase in gross vatuation offset by costs incurred
in connection with planning

At Canada Water, we are working with the London Borough of
Southwark to deliver a 5m sq ft mixed use scheme, including 3,000
new homes alongside a mix of commercial, retail and comsmunity
space The site s tecated between Landon Badge and Carary
Wharl on the Jubilee line with access to the Londan Overground,
making it easily accessible from Canary Wharl, the West End,
Shoreditch and South West Londan 1t will also be an indirect
benehciary ot Crossrail. which will signifscantly reduce pressure
on the Jubilee tine between Canary Wharf and Bond Street

It covers 33 acres including the dock area, providing 48 acres

of geveiopabie iand

We slarted engaging on our masterptan proposals in 2014 and
since then have held over 120 public consultations and tacal
oulreach evenis These have attracted over 5,000 individuals who
have inputted at every stage and provided 12,000 comments on

our ptans, enabling us to shape a design that seeks to meet local
needs and aspirations Together with Southwark Councit, we have
alsc developed a Secial Regeneration Charter which caplures local
residents’ prionibes for the benefits of the development, and 1deas
for how these can he delivered

trr May 2018 we signed the Master Devetopment Agreement with
Southwark Council This set out the terms of 3 new headlease
consolidating our holdings nte a single 500-year headlease with
Southwark Council as the Lessor This structure effectively aligns
the pwnershup of these asssts wilh Bobish Land owning 80% and
Southwark Council owning the remaining 20% Southwark Council
can participate in the development of the indnadual plots, up to

a maximum of 20% and returns will be pro-rated accordingly

This headlease becomes effective on fulidment of several conditiens,
rmost importantly achieving outtine plannung consent for the whole
masterplan and detaited planning consent for the first three
bulldings which was aiso submutted in May 2018

Since submission of our application, we have worked constructively
with Sputhwark Councit thraugh the complexities of the planming
process and we are targeting a July planning meeting

The hirst three buildings total ¢ 576,000 sq # and will provide
255 homes of which around 35% will be affordable Building A1
will prowide both residential and warkspace and building A2 will
be facused an warkspace and a new leisure centre, with both
aroviding a srmall amount of retail at ground floor X1 the thied
building wilt be wholly residential.

Patential funding struciures will be explored when we have greater
visthitity on iming, ahead of which we are already seeing interest

it the space from a range of sectors and discussions are underway
on severai buildings. In the meantime, the Printworks has become

an estahlished lwve music venue_ frequently hoshing crowds of up 1o

5,000. Ticket sates and wisitors are now over 80,000 from 23 shows
through the wanter/spring season

The net vatuation movement for Canada Water over the year
showed a marginal decrease, reflecting anincrease in gross value
tc £303m attributabie to progress on planning and design offset by
costs mcurred in masterplanming the scheme

49

Coming to the Paper Garden
means to me... contmunity.

A nice way to come together with
others who have a similar mindset.
A great collaboration of me,
others, and nature. I get to try out
new things, lke free writing and
cooking. It is part of myself,

to come closer to our planet and
unleash my inner self. Coming

to the Paper Garden means
everything to me, everything I do.

99 Andras, friend of the Paper Garden
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Neon-financial reporting disclosure

Regorung requiremant Key palictes wnclude Where infarmation can e lound i this regort oo our umpact and Osks Page
Environmental matters - Sustainability Policy’ - Shapmg our thinking 26
- Sustanability Brief for Developments' - Our 2020 sustainability strategy 28
- Greenhouse gas reporng 45
- Managing risk in delivering our strategy 54
- Task force on climate-related financial 462
disclosures

- Sustainability performance measures 195
Employees - Code of Conduct? - Changing how we work to deliver our strategy 30
- Heatth and Safety Policy? - Managing nisk i delvering our sirategy 54
Human rights - Code of Conduct? - Managwng nisk in delivering our sirategy 54

- Modern Slavery Act Statement’
Social matters - Sustainability Policy’ - Qur 2020 sustainability strategy 28
- Code of Conduct? - Managing risk in delvering our strategy 54

- Local Charter!
Sustainability Brief for Developments'
Health and Safety Policy?

1

1

Anti-bribery and - Anti-Fraud Policy?
corruption - Anu-Bribery and Corruption Palicy?
- Whsstleblowing'
Business model - Our dishnct business model 18
Non-financial KPls - Delwering on our sirategy 20

- Our 2020 sustainability strategy 28

i Avarlabie On DAUSPIANG Lom/policies
2. Emgployee version available through our internal Employee Handbook Supplier version avallable on britishtand com/pelicies

Supply chain

We ask suppliers to work in a way we believe 1s best practice to achieve our social, environmental and ethical standards. The effectiveness of
our policies in this area can be seen in our sustainability performance measures on pages 195 to 197 We set out our supplier obligations in
areas such as heaith and salety, human rights, fair working conditions, anti-bribery and corruption, community engagemen, apprenticeships
and environmental management in our Suppler Code of Conduct.

Human rights

Cur respect for hurman rights 1s embedded in how we do business We are a signatary 1o the UN Global Compact which supparts a
core set of values, including human rights, and have made appropriate disclosures in respect of the Modern Slavery Act We are also

a member of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing across the construction industry For our performance
on aspects including fair wages and diversity, see pages 196 ang 197.

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are commitied to the highest legal and ethical standards in every aspect of our business It 1s our policy to conduct business in a
fair, honest and open way, without the use of bribery ar corrupt practices to obtamn an unfair advantage We prowde clear guidance for
suppliers and employees, including poticies on anti-bribery and corruption, ants-fraud and cur code of conduct. All employees receve
trainmng on these i1ssues apprapniate to their roles and responsibitities
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Greenhouse gas reporting

Emissions intensity

Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 4% portfolio. Scope 2 location based emissions decreased by 26%,
versus our 2009 baseline, achieving our 2020 reduction large! largely due to National Grid decarbonsaiion anc changes i gur
early. through the Mationat Grid decarbonisation and our own portfolio. Scope 2 market based emissions decreased by 22%,
efhicrency umprovernents We also continue ta work towards targely due to reduced electricity use and our commmitment to
100% of electricity from renewable sources as an RE100 partner renewables, including the installation of solar PV at Meadowhall
Despite changes to our Retail and Othices portfobios and increased

reporting across cur Residentiat partfolio, 96% of our power was Absolute emissions Scepe 1 and 2:

procured from certified renewable sources

In 2019, we undertook energy efficiency projects inctuding
ophirusing building management systerns, reptacing light fittings
with LEDs and installing lighting sensars These are expected to
result in annual energy use savings of £1 2m

Absolute emissions

As shown in the Absolute Scope 1 and 2 errussions table below,
total Scope 1 ermissions increased by a net 29% reflecting the
inclusion of gas combustion across our residentiat portiolio for the
first trme However, ayr Retaul and Offices portfolios reduced
combustion of fuel by 13% this year, largely due to changes i our

Scope 1 and 2 emissions intensity' (Tonnes CO.¢e}

Year ended 31 Macch 2019 2018 2009
Otfices: per m? net lettable area 0.044 D055 0118
Retail - enclosed: per m? 0.043 00546 D174
Retait - open air: per parking space 0.049 0062 0105
Tatal managed porttolio: per £m gross rental and retated income? 50.22 58.03 -

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions and associated energy use

Tennes COe MWhH
Year ented 31 March 2018 2018 2009 2019 2018
Scope T Combustion of fuel:
Managed portfolio gas use and fuel use 1in British Land owned vehicies 8,833 6,901 51596 42,946 32,813
Scope 1 Operaticn of facilities: Managed portfolio refrigerant toss from
air conditioning 123 66 - - -
Scop-e 2 Purchase of electricity, heat, steam and Location-based 20,188 27.301 41,186 74,550 80,868
coaoling for our own use: Managed portfolio electricity
use for comman parts and shared services Market-based 1,457 1.875 - - -
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions [location-based) and associated
energy use 29,144 34,268 46,342 117,497 113,481
Proportion that is UK-based 100% 100% - 100% 100%
Absolute Scope 3 emissions — managed portfolio (Tonnes CO,e)
Year ended 31 March 209 2008
Landlord purchased energy: occupier gas and electricily consumption, upstream impacts of all purchased
energy [including the fuels of on-site vehicles) 35,999 46,888
Landlord purchased water: upstream impacts 225 219
Waste management: downstream impacts 40% 437

We have reported on ail emission sources required under the Comparwes Act 2006 {Strategic Repert and Directors’ Reports} Regulations 2013 and the
Compantes [Directors Report] and Limited Liability Partnerships [Energy and Carbon Reportl Regulations 2018 {'the 2018 Requlations ). These sources [all
withen our consolidated financial statements and relate to head oflice activitres and centrolled emisstons from our maraged portiolio Scope | and 2 emissions
cover 73% of our multi-lel managed portiolo by value We have used purchased energy consumplion data, the GHG Protoral Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard {revised edition] and emssion factors from the UK Government s GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2018

2 Gross Rentat Income (GRH from the managed portiolo comprises Group GRI of £482m 12018 £441ml, plus 1% af the GRE genaratad by joint ventures and
funds of €£271m [Zut8 Ldb¥my, less GRI generated assets oulside the managed partfotia of £173m (2018 £235m)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financual performance
for the year was robust

Simon Carter, Chiet Finanaiat Officer
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Year ended )1 March 208 201¢
Underlying earnings per share! 37.4p 34.9p
Underlying Protit*? £380m €340m
IFRS profit {loss} before tax £501m  E(319Im
Dmidend per share 3G 08p 31.00p
Total accounting return'? +8 9% 13.3)%
EPRA net asset value per share*? 967p 905p
IFRS net assels £3.506m £8,689m
LTvies 28 4% 28.1%
Weighted average nterest rate? 2.8% 2.9%

1 See Glossary on website for defimtions
2 See Table B within supplementary disclosure for reconciliabions to
IFRS metrics

3 See Note 2 wathun financial statements for caiculation

4 See Note 17 withen iinancial slatements lor calculation and reconciliatien to
IFRS metrics

% On a properuonally consolidaled basis including the Group s share of joint
ventures and funds

Overview

Financial performance for the year has been robust in the context of
significant sales over the last 2 years, an especially chaitenging retail
enviranment and an unpredictabte UK macroeconomic backdrop
Underlying earrings per share (EPS) are down 6 7% at 34.9p, while
Underlying Profit 1s down 10 5% at £340m, prirnarty reflecting one
oft surrender premia ot E20m recewed 1n the prior year

Setting aside the one-off surrender premia, Underlying EPS 15
marginally down 1% with strong lke-for-like rental growth in Cthices
and the benefits of share buyback mastly offsetting the impact of
sales and CVAs and administrations amongst retailers. Net sales
activity to date 1s expected to reduce EPS next year by 2 4p with
praceeds to be deployed into our develepment programme

The existing committed programme is expecled to deliver 4 5p

EPS accretion once fully let and 1s already 76% pre-tet or under
offer - equwalent Lo £48m pa of future rental iIncome secured.

Valuations have reduced by 4 8% on a proportionally consobdated
basis although this was partially offset by the impact of the £200m
shares bought back in the peried resulting 1n an overall EPRA net
asset value [NAV] per share dectine of 6.4%

Since April 2018, we have completed £2 1bn of gross capitat
actvity This includes £1.1bn sales of income producing assets,
primarily our 50% interest in 5 Broadgate for £0 5bn, which sold
at bock value, representing a net inihial yreid of 4% In addition, we
made Retad sales totating £0.6bn, 2% ahead of book value, at an
average yeld of 5 7% We exchanged or completed an £359m of
residential sales, £253m which exchanged prior to this financial
year and £18m exchanged post year end

We remain thoughtful about the use of proceeds from disposals

As well as continuing to Invest into our development pipeline, we
extended the share buyback programme by £200m followang the
sale of 5 Broadgate, which was completed in the year, at an average
price of 594p per share adding 10p to NAV Given the curreni share
price discount, we continue to believe that reiwesting in our portfolio
through our own shares represents an effective use of capital se,
following further recent retait sates, we are extending the buyback
by up to a further £125m

Qur hingncial positron remains sirong LTV has decreased by

a further 30bps dunng the period to 28.1% despite the valuation
fall The reduction was driven by net sales reducing LTV by 330bps,
partially offset by the share buyback and investment into the
development programme. Our weighted average (nterest rate
remains low at 2 9% We have been active in debt markets, with
£1.4bn of new financing arranged

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under IFRS where
the Group's Interests in jeint ventures and funds are shown as a
stngle kne dem on the income statement and balance sheet and
all subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%.

Management considers the business principaliy on &
proportionally consolidated basis when setting the strategy,
determining annual orioriies. making nvestment and financing
decisions and reviewing performance Thes inciudes the Group s
share of jotnt ventures and funds on a line-by-line basis and
excludes non-controlling interests in the Group s subsrdiarres.
The financial key performance indicators are aiso presented on
thus basis

A summary income statement and summary balance sheet which
reconcile the Group income statement to British Land s interests
on a proportionally consolidated basts are included in Table A
within the supplementary disclosures.

Management monitors Underlying Prohit as this more accurately
reflects the underlying recurring perfarmance of our core property
rental actvity, as opposed to IFRS metrics which inciude the
non-cash valuation mavement on the property portfalio it s based
on the Best Practices Recommendations of the European Public
Real Estate Association |[EPRA] which are widely used alternate
metrics to their IFRS equivalents

Management atso monitors EPRA NAV as this provides a
transparent and consistent basis to enable comparison between
European property companies Linked o this. the use of Tatal
Accounting Return allows management to monitor retucn to
shareholders based on movements tn 3 consistently apphied
metric. being EPRA NAV, and dvidends paid

Loan to value {proportonally consolidated] is also monitered

by management as a key measure of the levet of debt emplayed
by the Group to meet its strategic objectives, along with a
measurement of risk. It alse allows comparison to gther property
campanies wha similarly morlor and report thes measure.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Income statement
1. Underlying Profit

Underiying Profit is the measure thal 1s used internally to a55ess
income performance This s presented below on a proportionatly
consolidated basis No campany adjustments have been made in
the current or prior pericd and therefore this Is the same as the
pre-tax EPRA earnings measure which inctudes a number of
adjustments te the IFRS reported profit or less before tax.

2B 2019
Sectioh tm im
Gross rental tncome 613 574
Property operating expenses 137 [44)
Net rental income 12 576 532
Net fees and ather income 19 10
Admunistrative expenses 13 (83] (81)
Net financing costs 14 [128) na
Underlying Profit 380 340
Mon-controthing interests in
Underlying Proht 14 12
EPRA adjustments’ 107 £671)
IFRS profit/(loss] before tax 2 501 (319}
Underlying EPS 11 37 4p 34.9p
IFRS basic EPS 2 48 70 {30.01p
Owidend per share 3 30 08p 31.60p

EPRA adjusiments consisi of mvestment and development property
revaluations, gains/losses on investment and trading property disposats,
changes in the fair value of inancial instrumenis and associated close out
costs. These items are presented in the "capitat and other column of the
consoldated incormne statement

1.1 Underlying EPS

Underlying £PS 1s 34 ?p, a dectine of & 7% on the prior year

Thts reflects Underlying Profit decline of 10 5%, partially offset by
the impact of share buyback completed in the year which added
1.2p in the period

1.2 Net rental income

The £44m decrease in net rental income 15 primarily & result of the
one-off surrender prermia received 1n the prior year and the impact
of net divestment over the last twg years, The impact of CVAs and

administrations has been more than offset by ike-for-ike growth.
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Net sales of micome producing asselts over the last two years was
aver £2bn. This has reduced net rents by £21m 1n the year, inctuding
£14m from the sale of 5 Broadgate in June 2018, and £3m from

the sale of The Leadenhall Building in May 2017 As well as funding
the £500m of share buybacks we have completed over the (ast

18 months, proceeds from these sates are being reinvested in the
development pipeline, which is expected to detver £63m in rents

in future years and s already 76% pre-let or under offer [£48m|

Occuper CYAS and administrations n the Retai portiolio have
reduced net rents by £14m in the year. Excluding this impact,
Uke-for-like rental growth across the portfolio1s 2 4%, or £15m This
has been driven by 4 9% growth within Offices, resulting from strong
leasing actmity across our campuses, particularly at 4 Kingdom
Street. Retat like-for-like growth 15 up margmnally at 0 8%

1.3 Admimistrative expenses

Administrative expenses have marginatly decreased this year as

a result of lower vanable pay. The Group s operating cost ratso has
increased by 80 bps to 18 7% 12017/18 14 9%) as a result of lower
rental incame tollowing sales activity

1.4 Net financing costs

Financing actvity undertaken over the last two years has reduced
costs by £5m in the year, more than offsetting the impact of
increases in markel interest rates Finanoing actvity includes

the amendment and extension of our {argest syndicated RCF at
£735m, with 12 banks, at an initial margin of 90 bps and matunty
of hive years, as well as the repayment of £223m [E111m our share|
of secured Broadgate bonds This released 1-2 Broadgate and

2-3 Finshury Avenue fram the securnitisation, providing greater
ftexibdity and optionality over these buildings as we continue 1o
progress our wision for Broadgate.

The reduction tn inance costs as a result of proceeds from net
divesiment has been partially offset by development spend and
share buybacks.

We have a nisk managed approach o inlerest rates on debt.
At 31 March 2019, on a spot basis, the interest rate on 87% of
our debt 1s hedged. On average, we are 63% hedged over the
nex! five years, based on curreni commdments.



2. IFRS profit or loss before tax

The marin difference between IFRS prafit or loss before tax and
Underlying Profitis that IFRS includes the valuation movermnent
on investment and development properuies, fair value movements
on financsal instruments and capital financing costs in addition,
the Group’s investments in joint ventures and funds are equity
accounted i the (FRS income statement but are included on

a propartionally consolidated basis withun Underlying Profu

The iFRS loss before tax for the year was £319m, compared with
a profit betare tax far the prior period of £501m. This reflects the
change in valuation mavement en the Group's properties which
was £B34m tess than the prior peniod, and the capitat and other
income result from jont veatures and funds being £115m less
than the prior period, both driven principally by outward yield shift
of 37 bps and ERV decline i the Retad portfolio In addition, the
resuli on disposal of iInvestmenl properties and invesiments was
E346m tower than the prior period These ilems were partially offset
by £78m of addional trading property sale profits, as a result of
the complelion of a number of Clarges unils in the period, sleng
with a3 £117m decrease in capital financing charges.

IFRS basic EPS was (30 Olp per share, compared 1o 48 7p per
share in the prior year, driven principally by the decline in property
vatuations The basic weighted average number of shares in 1ssue
during the period was 971m £2017/18- 1,013m).

3. Dividends

As previously announced, we have increased the dividend by 3 0%
for the year to 31 March 2019 bringeng the full year dwidend to

31 March 2019 1o 31 Op The dwidend pay-out ratio 1s 89% for the
period [2017/18: 80%) Bruish Land witl recommend lo shareholders
a finat dwidend payment for the year ended 31 March 2019 of 7 75p
Subject to approval by sharehalders, payment will be made on

2 August 2019 to shareholders on the register at close of business
on 28 June 2019 The finat dividend will consist of two components:
a Property incarme Distribution of 3 B75 pence and a Non-Property
Income Bistribution of 3 875 pence No SCRIP atternative will

be offered.

Balance sheet

2018 2019

Section £m &m

Properties aj valuation 13.716 12,316
Other non-current assets 185 151
13,5901 12,467
Qther net current babilies {368) 1297)
Adjusted net debt & {3,973 (3,521)
Other non-current kabilitees - -
EPRA net assels 9,560 8,649
EPRA NAV per share 4 967p 905p
Non-contrailing interests 254 21
Other EPRA adjustmenis! (308} 1172}
IFRS net assels 5 9.506 8,689

Proporonatly consolidated basis

1 EPRA net assels exciude the mark-la-markel on denvatives and related
debt adjustments, the mark-to-market on the convertible bonds as well as
delerred taxalion on property and derwative revalualions They ndlude the
trading properties al vatuation {rather than lower of cost and net realisable valuel
and are adjusted for the diluive impact of share oplions. No dilution adyusiment is
made for the £350m 2ero coupon convertible bond maturing in 2020 Detaiis of the
EPRA adjusiments are included in Table B within the supplementary disclosures

4. EPRA net asset value per share

The & 4% decrease in EPRA NAV per share reflects a vatuation
decrease of 4 8% across the portfolto Valuation gatns in the Office
portfolio of 1 1% have been more than offset by an 11.1% fall in
Retaid values as a result of weakening investment sentiment and
a challenging occupational market

Office valuations were up 1 1% dnven by strong leasing at our
developments which were up 10.8%, inciuding 135 Bishopsgale
where values are up 33% with ERY growth nf 1 4% across the
standing invesiments and relatively stable yields This reftects
specific asset lettings we ve completed and the resulting
washover effect

Valuations i Retail are down 11 1%, with outward yield shift of

37 bps and ERV decline of 3 8%, reflecting the impact of CVAs and
administrations on beth the investment and occupational markets,
particularly at our smaller retasl assets outside the South-East and
department stores However, the performance within the portfolio
has been varied, and we continue to see ERY growth at high
quality, well positioned assets with good supply/dernand tension
lavestrment demand remains for long term, secure income assets

While financing activity has decreased NAV by 7p, it will deliver
cost savings and the overall impact 1s NPV neutral it includes the
repayment of higher coupon debt including a partion of secured
Broadgate bonds and terrmination of the associated interest rate
swaps Completion of the £200m share buyback programme
during the year has contributed 10p to EPRA NAV

5. IFRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2019 were £8.689m, a decrease of
E817m from 31 March 2018 This was pnmarily due to IFRS loss
before tax of £319m, along with £298m of dividends paid and
£204m of share purchases under the share buyback programme
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Cash flow, net debt and financing
6. Adjusted net debt’

1 Adjusted net debt s a proportionally consolidated measure, it represenis
the Group net debt as disciosed v Note 17 to the hnanciat sialemenls
and the Group's share of jomt venture and funds net debt excluding the
mark-to-market on derwvalves. related gebt adjustments and non-controlling
interesis A reconcibiation between the Group net debt and adjusted net debt
15 inctuded in Table A wattun the supplementary disclosures

Net sales reduced debt by £970m in the year Comptleted sales
included $ Broadgate for £500m (BL share] and, in bine with our

Q!F:PQAJAF forucinnan
Sifeigy BSOS

£367m BL share} and \hree retad parks {Cheltenham Gallagher,
Leeds Westside and Bath Weston Lock] We have completed
purchases of £233m including Royal Victona Place 1n Tunbridge Welts

HAalnne accote b

We spent £223m on developments and a further £44m on capital
expendiure related to asset management on the standing portfolic
The value of recently completed and commutted developments i1s
£867m, wath £243rm costs to come Speculative development exposure
15 2.3% ol the portiolic There are 864,000 sq ft of developments i our
near term pipeline with anuicipated cost of £404m

7. Financing
Group FPraportionally consclidated

2018 2019 2018 019

Net debt / adjusted

net debt! £3,0446m £2,765m £3973m £3,521m
Principal amount of

gross debt £3.007m €2,881m £4,265m £3,895m
Loan to value 22.1% 22.2% 284% 28.1%
Weighted average

interest rate 2.0% 2.2% 28% 2.9%
Interest cover 53 4.9 40 38

Weighted average

matunty of drawn debt 8.1 years 7.3years B8obyears 8.1years

1 Group data as presented 1 nole 17 of the financial statements The
proporticnally consolidated figures include the Group's share of joint
veniure and funds’ net debt and exclude the mark-to-market on
dervatives and related debt zdjustments and nan-controlling interests
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Qver the year, we completed £1 ébn of financing activity, including
£1.4bn of new financing arranged

This inciudes the amendmeint and extension of our largest
syndicated RCF at £735m, with 12 banks, at an initial margin of

90 bps and matunity of five years We also arranged new bi-lateral
RCFs totalling E140m for S years. Each of these faciliies may be
extended by a further two years at our request and on the relevant
bank’s appreval.

We issued £231m new US Prvate Placement notes to four
investors for 7-10 years [average of 8.2 years], at blended pricing
of 3 month Libor +124bps.

We are pleased with this ongoing suppert irom alt the tenders,
which prowvides liquidity and flexible linance from diverse sources.

We also repaid £223m (€11 1m our share] of secured Broadgate
bonds, releasing 1-2 Broadgate and 2-3 Finsbury Avenue from the
securitisation, providing greater flexibility and optionality over these
buldings as we continue to prograss our wsion for Broadgate

At 31 March 2019, our proportionally consolidated LTV was 28.1%,
down 30 bps trom 28.4% at 31 March 2018 due to net disposals,
offset by share buybacks, development spend and the valuation
decline. Thus postions us well to enable vestment nte our
development pipeline Note 17 of the financiat statements sets out
the calculation of the Group and preportonally consolidated LTV

Our hability and debi management actvity has enabled us o keep
our weighted average mterest rate low at 2 9%. despite the impact
of net divestment and increase in market rates Qur interest cover
has reduced to 3 8 times as a result of proportronately lower
Underlying Profits.

Qur weighted average debt maturrty 1s largely unchanged at
8.1years.

At 31 March 2019. British Land had £1 8bn of commutted unsecured
revolving bank faciibes, £1.5bn undrawn Based on our current
commitments, these facihies and debt matunities, we have no
requirement to refinance until late 2022

The current uncertain environment reinforces the importance
of a strong tatance sheet and we have capatity to progress
oppoertunities when the time is right

Crn

Simon Carter
Chief Financiai Officer i



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

Financial strength and
balanced approach

To deliver our property strategy, we focus on having an appropriate

balance of debt and equity funding.

Leverage

We nanage our use of debt and equity finance io balance the
benefits of leverage aganst the risks, mcluding magrufication

of property returns. A loan to value ratio [ LTV) measures our
leverage, pnimanly on a proportionally consolidated basis
including our share of jont ventures and funds and excluding
nen-controlling interests. At 31 March 2019, our proportionally
canselidated LTV was 28.1% and the Group rmeasure was 22.2%
Our LTV 1s memtored in the context of wider decisions made by
the business. We manage gur LTV through the property cycle
such that our financial position would remain robust 1n the event
of a signiftcant falt tn property vaives This means we do not
adjust our approach o ieverage based only on changes in
property market yields Consequently, qur LTV may be higher

i the low point in the cycle and will trend downwards as market
yields tighten

Debt finance

The scale of our business combined with the quality of our assels
and rental income means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debl providers to arrange finance on attractive terms
Good access te the capitat and debt markets s a competitive
advantage, aliowing us to take advantage of opportumties

when they arise. The Group's approach to debt inancing for
British Land is to raise funds predorminantly on an unsecured
basis with our standard financial covenants (sel out on page 531
This prowides Hexibility and low operational cost Our joint ventures
and funds which choose tg have external debt are each financed
In Ting-tenced’ structures without recourse to Batish Land for
repayrment and are secured on their relevant assets Presented
on the following page are the five guiding principles that govern
the way we structure and manage debt

Monitoring and controlling our debt

We monitor our debt reguirernent by focusing princepally on
current and projecied borrowang levels, avallable facilities,

debl maturdy and interest rate exposure. We underiake
sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of preposed transactiens,
movernents Ininterest rates and changes in property values

on key balance sheet, liquidity and profitability ratios We alsa
consider the risks of a reduction in the availabiley of finance,
including a tempaorary discuption of the debt markets. Based on
our current commitments and available faciities, the Group has
no requirement te refinance until late 2022 Bnush Land's
committed bank facilities total £1.8bn, of which £1 5bn was
undrawn at 31 March 2019

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage our interest rate profile separately fromn our debt,
considering the sensitivity of underlying earnings to movements
tn market rates of interest over a five-year period The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt over that perwod and the longer
term Qur debt finance s raised at both fixed and variable rates.
Derwvatives [primariy interest rate swaps and caps) are used to
achieve the desired interest rate profle across propartianally
consolidated net debt. At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 87% of our debt [spot), and on 63% of aur projected debt on
average over the next {ive years, with a decreasing profite over
{hal perioo Accordingty we have a hugher degree of certainty on
interest costs i the short term and achieve market rate finance in
the medium to longer terrn. The use of derwvatives s managed by
a Derwatives Cameruttee The interest rale management of joint
veniures and funds is considered separately by each entity's board,
takeng into accourd appropriate factors for is business

Counterparties

We monitor the credit standing of our counterparties ta menimise
risk exposure 1n placing cash gepesits and arranging derivatives
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Foreign currency

Qur policy is to have no material unhedged net assets or iabiities
denomimnated in foreign currencies When atiractive terms are
avaitable, the Group may choose to borrow in currencies other
than Sterling, and wall fully hedge the fareign currency exposure
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FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES CONTINUED

Our five guiding principles

1

Diversify our sources of finance

We momitor finance markets and seek to access different sources of finance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable ta meet the needs of our business and. where appropriate, those of our joint ventures and funds. The scale and
quality of aur business enahtes us to access a broad range of unsecured and secured recourse and non-recourse debt. We
develop and maintain long term relationships with banks and debt investors. We aim to avoid reliance on particular sources of
funds and borrow from a targe number of lenders from different sectors in the market across & range of geographicat areas,
with over 25 debt providers 1n bank facilities and private placements alone. We work to ensure that debt providers understand
our business, adopting a transparent approach to provide sufficient disclosures to enable them to evaluate their exposure
within the overall context of the Group. These factors increase gur attractiveness to debt providers, and in the last five years
we have arranged £4 7bn (British Land share £4 2bnl of new financa in unsecured and secured bank lean faciliies, Sterling
bonds, US Private Placements and convertible bonds. In addition we have existing long dated debentures and secuntisation
bonds. A European Medium Term Note programme 1s maintained to enable us to access Sterling/Euro unsecured bond
rmarkets when it is appropriate for cur business

£3.9bn

totai drawn debt [proportionally consclidated)

Phase maturity of debt portfolio

The maturity profile of our debt 1s managed with a spread of repayment dates, currently between one and 19 years, reducing
our relinancing risk in respect of trrung and markel conditions As a resuli of our linancing achiwily, we are ahead of our
preferred refinancing date horizon of not less than two years. In accordance with our usual practice, we expect to refinance
tacilities ahead of thewr maturities

8.1 years

average drawn debt maturity [proportionally consolidated|

Mairtain liquidity

In addition to our drawn debt, we aim always 1o have a good level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving bank facilities
These facilities prowide financial Liquidity, reduce the need to hold resources n cash and deposits, and mimimise costs arising
from the difference batween borrowing and deposit rates, while reducing credit exposure.

We arrange these revalving credit facilities in excess of our commmutted and expected regusrements Lo ensure we have
adequate financing availability to support bustness requirements and new opportunities.

£1.5bn

undrawn revolving credit faciities

Maintain flexibility

Our facilibes are structured o provide valuabte flexibility for investment activity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or assel management imtiatives. Our unsecured revolving creds facilines provide full operational flexibility
of drawing and repayment land cancellation if we require) at short notice without additional cost These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generally have maturities of five years Alongside this, our secured terrm debt
in debentures has good asset security substitution rights, where we have the ability to move assets in and out of the
secunty pool

£1.8bn

total revolving credit faciities

52

Maintain strong metrics

We use both debt and equity inancing We manage LTV through the property cycle such that cur finanaial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values and we do not adjust our approach to leverage based on
changes n property market yields. We manage our nlerest rate profile separately from aur debt, setting appropriate ranges
of hedged debt aver a five-year period and the longer term.

We maintamned our strong senor unsecured credit rating Al and long term DR credit rating I'A-}

28.1% A 3.8x

LTV [proportionally consolidated) senior unsecured credit raing interest cover {proportionally
consolidated)
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Group borrowings

Unsecured financing for the Group includes tilateral and
syndicated revolving bank facilities [with imtial terms usually
of fwe years, often extendabiel; US Private Placements with
maturites up to 2028, the Sterling unsecured bond maturing
in 202%, and the cenvertible bond maturing 1n 2020

Secured debt for the Group (excluding debt in Hercules Unit Trust
which 1s covered under ‘Borrowings i our joint ventures and
funds’] 1s provided by debentures with matunities up o 2035

Unsecured Borrawings and covenants

There are two financral covenants which apply across all of the
Group's unsecured debt. These covenants, which have been
consstently agreed with all unsecured {enders since 2003, are.

- Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrowtngs not to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assets

There are no incomme or interest caver covenants an any of the
unsecured debt of the Group

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subgect to any
security, stood at £6 9 bilbion as at 31 March 2019

Although secured assets are exciuded from Unencumbered Assets
for the covenant calcutations, unsecured lenders benefit fraom the
'] 1

£l 1ot dabd aemd the fean
BT

R

Lam ttes

cash flow from them Buring the year ended 31 March 2019, these
assets generated £16 million of surplus cash after payment of
interest. In additron, while investments in joint ventures do not
form part of Unencumbered Assels, our share of free cash flows

generated by these ventures 1s regularly passed up to the Group.

23

Unsecured financial covenants

s 2816 017 2008 Wiy
At 31 March % % % % %

Net borrowings to
adjusted capital

and reserves 38 34 29 29 29
Net unsecured

borrowings to

unencurnbered

assets 28 29 26 23 21

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land 1s provided by
debentures with tong matunities and bmited amortisation

These are secured against a combined pool of assets with
comman covenanis, the valug of the assels ts required (o cover
the amount of the debentures by a minienum of 1.5 times and net
rental iIncame must cover the interest at least once We use our
rights under the debentures io actively manage the assets in the
security pool, ir ine with these cover ratios We continue to focus
on unsecured finance at a Group levet

Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

External debt for our joint veniures and funds has been arranged
through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, accarding
to the requirernents of the business of each venture.

Hercules Unit Trust has term loan faciliies maturing in 2020 and
2022 arranged for s bustness and secused on property portfotios,
without recourse ta Britsh Land These loans include LTV ratio
fwith maxsmurm levels of 65%] and income based covenants

The securitisations of Broadaate [£1.300m) Meadowhall

|[E613m) and the Sainsbury's Superstores portfolio [E196m),

have weighted average maturwies of 11 0 years, 8.6 years and

5.0 years respectively. The key financial covenant applicable

1S to meet 1nterest and scheduled amortisation [equivalent to

t times cover), there are no LTV covenants These securitisations
have quarterly amortisation with the batance outstanding
reducing io approximaiety 13% (o 30% of (he original amaunt
raised by expected hinal maturity, thus mitigating rehnancing risk
There s no obligation on British Land to rernedy any breach

of these covenants in the debt arrangement of joint venlures

and funds
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MANAGING RISK iN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management
is integral to our objective of
delivering sustainable long

term value

British Land core strengths
- Increasing focus on mixed use piaces as we evolve our
business to reflect the changing way people use space

High quatity commercial portiolio focused on London
campuses and multi-let retait centres around the UK
and building a Residential business

- Long term strategy posittoning the business to benehit
from long term trends

- Customer focused approach to respond to changing lifestyles
- Diverse and high qualety occupier base

- High occupancy

- Well balanced and risk managed devetopment pipeline

- Execution of asset management and development activity
- Ability to sgurce and execute attractive investment deals

- tificient capiial structure with good access (o capital and
debt markets
- Strong sustamnability performance

Our risk management framework

For British Land, effective nsk management 1s a carnerstone

of our strategy and integral to the achievernent of aur abjective

of detivering sustainable long term value We mamtain a
comprehensive risk management process which serves to idenusfy,
assess and respond to the range of inancial and non-hnancial
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten
sotvency and Uguidity, as well as to identify emerging fisks.

Qur approach is nat intended to eliminate risk entirely, but instead
to manage our nsk exposures across the business, whiist at the
same time making the mast of our opportunities

Our integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with
a complementary bottom up operational process outlined in the
diagram on the right

The Board has everall responsibility for risk management

with a particular focus on deterrmiming the nature and extent of
exposure to the principal risks the business is willing to take in
achieving its strategic abjectves. The amount of risk is assessed in
the context of the core strengths of our business (as summarised
above) and the external environment in which we operate - thisis
our risk appetite. I11s integral both to our consideration of strategy
and to our medium term planmng process
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The Audit Commuttee takes responsibility for overseeing the
effectveness of risk management and internal controt systems
on behalf of the Board, and advises the Board on the principal
risks facing the bustness including those that would threaten
its solvency or hiquidity.

The Executve Directors are responsible for delivering the
Company’'s strategy, as set by the Board, and managing risk
Our risk management framework categoreses our risks into
external, strategic and operational nisks The Risk Committee
[comprising the Executive Commuttee and senior management
across the business and chaired by the Chiel Financial Otficerhis
responsiole for managing the principal risks in each category in
order to achieve our performance goals.

Whilst ultimate responsibility for oversight of nsk management
rests with the Board, the effective day-to-day management of nsk
1s embedded within our aperational business units and forms an
integral part of how we work This bottom up anproach allows
potential rsks to be identified at an early stage and escalated

as appropnate, with mitigations put in place to manage such
risks Each business umik maintains a comprehensive risk
register. Changes to the register are reviewed quarierly by the
Risk Commuttee, with sigrificant and emerging nisks escalated

to the Audit Commuttee

To read more ahout the Board and Audit Commuttee’s risk
oversight, see pagés 77, 78 and 84.

Top down Bottom up
Strategic risk Operational risk
management management

BOARD / AUDIT COMMITTEE

//\\\

Assess effectveness of nisk
management systems

Rewew exiernal environment
Robust assessment of principal nsks

Set risk appetite and paramelters -
- Report on principal nsks

Deterrmine strategic action points and uncertaintes

RISK COMMITFEES EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

//’\\—_

Direct delvery of stratege actions in Conssder completeness
Line with nsk appetite of wentlied nsks and ad y ol

mitigating actons

Identdy principal nsks

Monutar key nsk indicators
Consider aggregation
of nsk exposures atross the business

BUSINESS UNITS

Execute strategic aclions Report current and emerging risks
ldentfy, evaluate and mitigate
operational risks recarded in risk
regisier

Report on key risk ndicators

—

—




Our risk appetite

Principal Change in nsk
HHErnal nsks Key nisk indicaters iinclyding current thresholds) appetite in the year
Investment - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals i Line with capial allocation plan [overseen by «
strategy Investment Commuttee]
- Annual IRR process which forecasts prospeciive relurns of each asset
- Percentage of partfolio in nan-core sectars
Oevelopment - Total development exposure <15% of investment portfotio by vaiue PEY
strategy - Speculative development expasure <8% of investment portfolio by value
_ - Progress on executian of key develgpment projects against ptan i )
Capiial - Manage our leverage such that LTV shoutd not exceed a maximum level «f market yields were to rise FEN
structure to previous peaks
- Financial covenant headroom
Finance - Peried until refinancing 1s required of not less than two years &>
Strategy - Percentage of debt with interest rate hedging (spot and aver next five years|
Dzanla - Hnnalonnad = .
CEVETS i N~
- Employee engagement
incorme - Market letting risk ncluding vacancies, upcoming expiries, and breaks and speculative development T

sustainability  _ weghted average unexpired lease term

- Concentration of exposure to indwidual custormers or sectors

Key
Change in risk appetite from last vear

T tncrease €2 No change

Our risk appetite is reviewed annually as part of the strategy review
process and approved by the Board. This evaluation guides the
aclions we take 1n executing our strategy We have identified a
suite of Key Risk Indicators {KRIs) and defined specific tolerances
for each {summanised above). These are reviewed quarterly by
the Risk Comrmuttee, to ensure that the actwvities of the business
rermatn within our risk appetite and that our risk exposure 1s

wetl matched to changes in our business and our markels

These include the most significant judgements affecting our

risk exposure, tncluding our investment and devetoprment
strategy, the leve! of occupational and development exposure,
and our ftnancial leverage

Whilst our appetite for risk walt vary over time and during the
course of the property cycle, in general we maintain a balanced
approach to risk The Board considers our overall risk appetite in
the year 1s broadly unchanged from last year. Having over the last
few years lowered our financial risk we are now prepared to accept
an increase i aur nisk relating to the mare operational nature of
preperty, reflecting market trends and our strategy as we build an
increasingly mixed use business

Gven the backdrop of economic and pabitical challenges, we
have actively managed our incremental risk exposure by

- rmaintairing a lrmited exposure to speculatve development
coupled with our successful pre-letting strategy

- continuing to take a thoughtful approach to capital aliocation,
demonstrated by seliing £1 5bn of mature and off-stralegy
assets, reinvesting partly In our share buyback programme,
selective acquisitions and prafitable development, whilst
reducing our LTV further to 28 1%, despite valuaton falls

- maintaining substantial hnanciat headroom with £1 8bn of
committed unsecured revolving bank facilities, of which £1.5bn
1s undrawn. Based on our current commitments, these factlities
and debt maturities, we have no requirement to refinance
until {ate 2022
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MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Qur risk focus

The general nsk environment in which the Group aperates has
heightened over the course of the year, which is largely due to the
continued level of uncertainty associated with the future impact
af the UK's extt from the EU, the sigmficant deterioration in the
UK retail market and weaker investrment markets

inevitably the risk of a disruptive or 'no deal Brexit has locmed
large and remains an actively managed nisk, supported by a
dedicated risk checkhist White 1t 15 not possible to predict fully
the impact Brexat witl have on our business and our markets,

the Board 1s continuing o monitor external events and s taking
appropnate action ta prepare for short term nsks to ensure gur
business 15 both resiient and responsive in the short term, and
well positioned for the long term. Qur pnimary areas of locus have
been to mutigate risks, where practical, in our construction supply
chain, m our operational day-to-day property management and
our crisis management plans; and we remain alert to potental
uncertainties caused by Brexit which could adversely impact
investment, capital, financial, occuprter and labour markets

Quring the year, the Risk Committee has focused on some
key aperational risk areas across the business including,

- ongoing GOPR pragramme to manage personal
data appropnately

retailer tenant risk and managing our exposure tQ custemers
or sectors in @ more challenging market backdrop

- enhancing aur crisis management strategy including
a simulation exercise undertaken by senior management

- health, safety and envirormnental nisk managerment
Our Health and Safety management system was re-certified
under BS OHSAS 18001

- detailed review of the covenant strength of current and potential
conslruction contractors to mitigate our future exposure

~ climate change including establishung a Steering Committee
to progress towards TCFD atignment

- payment operatians and key hnancal controls

- procurermnent policy and new supplier onboarding process
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Our principal risks and assessment

Our risk management framework 15 structured around the
principal risks facing British Land. The Board contirms that a
robust assessment of the prncipal nsks facing the Company,
ncluding those that would threaten its business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity, was carned out during the year

Whilst we consider there has been no materal change to the
nature of the Group's principal risks, not surprisingly, several
risks are elevated as a result of the challenging external
enviconment, with the increased level of poliicat uncertainty
associated with the UK's departure Irom the EU. alongside the
continued challenging trading conditions i retait (as shown
by the risk heat map opposite].

The risks considered to be elevated since the year end due to
continuing Brexit uncertainty are both the econonuc and political
and regulatory outtack In addrtion, we consider the principat risks
of gceupier demand and investor demand to be elevated since the
year end due to the continued challenging trading conditions in
retatl with several recent high profilte CVYAs and adminuistrations
This could impact our ability to execute our investment strategy
and present an ncreased nsk to income sustainabrlity.

The principal risks are summarised opposite [and detarled on
pages 58 to &1), including an assessment of the potential impact
and Ukelihood and how the risks have changed in the year,
together with how they relate ta our strategic prionities



Our risk assessment

Relaled

Principal risk straieqe priomy Change

External risks

Economic outtook

Poliical and regulatory
outlaok

Commercial property
investor demand

Ceeupier demand
and {enant default
Availabiiily and cost
of hinance
Catastrophic
business event

/r
/I\
T
T
“
&

Internal risks - strategic

lavestment sirategy

Development strategy

Capital structure

T|T|T |~

Finance strategy
internal risks - operational

Peaple

+‘$

Income sustainability

Other Group risks

In addition to our principal risks, there are aiso a number of
ather risks that are largely cperationai in nature and are
managed centrally with appropriate processes and mitigation
plans in place

Likelihood

Risk heat map

Impact

Note The above itlustrates peincipat nsks which by their naturs are these which
have the potential te significantly impact the Group s strategic objectives, financial

posiion or reputatron The heat map highlights net risk, after taking account of
principal mutigations

Key

Strategic prioritiex Change vear an vear
Customer Orientation &3 No change
Right Places 'T Increase
Capstal Efficiency J, Decrease

Experi People

These risks comprise:

Ogerating model including retiance on third parties
Culture

- Information systerns and cyber security

Effective contral environment
Fraud and corruption
Comphance and legal framework
Supply chain management
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Economic outlook

The UK econamic climate and future
movements in interest rates present risks
and epportunities its property and linancing

~ The Risk Committee reviews the economic
environment 1n which we operale quarlerly o assess
whether any changes to the economic sullook pustily

markets and the b of our cust: 5
which can impact both the delivery of our
strategy and our financial perfermance.

are-assessment of the risk appetile of the business,

- Keyindicators sactuding forecast GOP growih,
empioyrnent raies, business and consumer
confidence, nterest rates and inflation/deftation are
considered, as well as central bank guidance and
government policy updates

- Wae stress test our business plan against a dawntiurn
1 econarmuc gutiook ta ensure auyr financal peston s
sufficently flexible and resilient

- Our resilient business moded focuses on a high
quality portioh and secure :ncome sireams and
robust finances

The UK economic pesition has weakened
during the year, largely due to the uncertanly
associated with Brexil logether wilh the weaker
global economy
- InHatron and ntarest rates remasn reiatively

stabte, However, markets fremam sensitve

0 external shacks, particutarly asseciated

with 8rext
- Agamnst this employment s at its lighest

leve! since 1975 and reat wage growth

has strengthened.
- We are mindful of the engoing pelitical and
economic uncertainties, but our focus remains
on conirolting what we can within our business
Looking ahead our business is well possitoned,
hinanoally strong and we have a clear
long term strategy

T -

Political and regulatory outlook

Significant potitical events and regulatory
changes, inctuding the decision te leave the
EU, bring risks principally in three areas:

- reluctance of investars snd businesses
10 make wvesiment and occupational
decisions whilsi the outcome
remains uncertain

- an deterrmination of the sutcome, the
impact on the case for investment in the
UK, and an speciic palicias and reguiation
mtrodiced, parlicularly those which direcily
mpact real estate or our customers

- the patennat for a change ol leadership,
pautical direction, or an early
general election

- Whilst we zre not abie lo inHuence the cutceme of
significant policat events, we do take the uncertamty
related 1o such events and the range of possible
outcomes into account when making sirategic
wnwvestment and hinancing decrstons

- Internalty we review and mortor propoesats and
emerging policy and tegislation to ensure that we
iake the necassary steps 10 ensure complance
applicable Additionally. we engage public affairs
consultants to ensure that we are properly briefed
on the potentiat palicy and regulatory implcations
of pelitical events We also manilor public trust
1 DUSIMEess.

Where appropnaate, we act with other indusiry
participants and representative bedies ta contnbute lo
policy and regulalory debate We moritor and respond
1o social and political reputational challenges relevant
to the industry and apply our own evidence-based
research lo engage in thoughl leadership discussions,
such as wath Design for Lde

The political ermronment remains unstable and
the risk of a disruptive or nodeal Brext has
toomed large, alongside the possibility of 3
general election This he:ghtens both the
economic and potical risk outlook
- Furthermare the global geopoliical and

Irade environments remam unceriain
- Whiist it 15 not possible Lo predict fully the
mmpact Brext will have on our business and aur
markets, we have prepared & Brexit checklist
to dentify and manage the key risks to different
areas of our business and have considered
vartous Brexdt scenanos as part of aur five-year
forecasts

Commercial property investor demand

Reduction in investor demand for UK real
estate may resultin falls in asset valuations
and could arise from variations in:

- e heatth of the UK econorny

- the attractiveness of investrnent in the UK

- avalabiily of inance

- relative attractveness of ather assel classes.

- The Risk Committee reviews the praperty markel
quarterly ko assess whether any changes io the
rmarket outlaok present risks and opportunities which
should be reflected in the execution of our strategy
and our capiat allocation plan The Commuttee
considers indicators such as margin between
propecty yields and barrowing cosis and property
capital growth forecasts, which are considered
alongside the Commitiee members knowledge
and experience of market actwly and trends.

- We focus on pnme assets and sectors which we
believe will be less suscepiible over the medium term
to a reductien in occupier and investar demand.

- Strong relationsiips with agents and direct wiveslors
active in ihe earket

- We stress lest our business plan for the effect of a
change in property yelds

investrment markets have stowed more recently

with lewer transacuons, particutarly in reiail,

reftecting macro-economic uncertainty and

challenges in the retail occupatisnal market

- The London office investment market has
remained robust, continwing to benefit from
demand from overseas invesiers

- The theme of polansaticn has contiued with
activty focused on high quality, well-let assets
walh strong occupatienal charactenstics or
alternative use pelential

« London olfice yields have remained broadly
stable throughout the year, however we
have seen yietd expansion in retad reflecting
weakening invester senuiment, with weaker
locattons the most affected

- Notwithstand:ng this market backdrop we have

continued to be active and have successfully

sotd £1 5bn of assets,

Key
Change year on year
<3 No change

’? Increase

\{, Decrease
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Occupier dernand and tenant default

Underlying income, rental growth and capital
performance could be adversely afected by
weakening occupier demand and occupier
faiiures resulting from variations in the
health of the UK economy and corresponding
weakening of consumer confitence, business
activity and investment.

Changing consumer and business practices
ngtuding the growth of interne! retailing,
flexsble working practices and demand fec
energy efficient bulldings, new technologies,
new leqistatien and alternatwe tocations may
result in earfier than anbicipated obsolescence
of our bulldings «f evolving occupier and
regulatory requirements are not met

The Risk Commuttee reviews indicators of occupier
dernand quadterly including consumer confidence
surveys and empioyment and ERV growth jorecasts,
atongside the Committee members knowledge
and expenence of oocugier plans, trading
performance and leasing activity in quiding
execution of our strategy

We have a high quality. diversihed occumer base
and menitor concentration of exposure to indvidual
scoupiers or sectors We perform r1gorpus occupler
covenant checks ahead of approwng deals and

on an ongoing basis so that we can be proactive

N rmanaging exposure o weaker 0CCUPIErS,
Through gur Key Occupier Account programme,

we work logether waith our customers to find ways
10 best meel their evolving requirements.

Qur sustainability stralegy links action on customer
heaith and wellbeing, energy efhiciency. community
and sustamnable design Lo our business strategy QJur
sacial and environmental targels help us comply with
new legisiation and respond to customer demands.
for example, we expect alt our office developments
to achieve a BREEAM Excellenl raing

T

London offices are continuing to show resitience
with above average take up Retail has been
weak with retailers facing both economic and
sleuclural challenges As such, we have seen
further retaslers enler CVAS or adrumsteation,
resulung in store clasures and rent reductions
In Light of these market dynamics, prime
London rents have been sizble both in the West
End and Cily, however retail has expenenced
rental value declines

Across our markets, we are seeing polarisatieh
of occupier demand continuing with occupiers
focusing on the best quakly assels

In this context, we are focused on delivering
hugh qualily space walh (ke right rax of uses:
we have let or renewed 2 7m sq ft of space
across the porifolio, and occupancy remains
high at 7%

Availabihty'and cost of finance

Reduced availability of finance may adversely - Market borrowing rates and real eslate debil PN Cngomng and increased uncerlainty ahaut
umpact ability to refinance debt and/or drive availability are monitored by the Risk Commuittee Brexit and the 1mpacls of the macro econormic
up cost. These factors may also result in quarterly and reviewed reqularly in erder to guide and political environment are affecting market
weaker investor demand for real estate. our iinancing aclions 1n executing our siralegy. sentiment, and aperations of some lenders
Regulation ang capilat costs of lenders may - ‘We monitor our projected LTV and our debt Debt continues o be available for the ‘right
increase cost of finance requirements using several internally generated transactiens, strong sponsor and quality of
TEFGITS IGCUSET it DOTTOWIG IEvEls, GE0T imaiurity, {rGFERy GTE REY
available fzcilities and interest rale exposure Lenders appetile varies in different debt
- We maintain good long term refationships with markels Theress a more caulious and reduced
our key inancing pariners appetite for retad
- The scale and quabty of our business enables us {0 inferest margins/spreads have increased in
access 3 diverse range of sources of hinance wath a the market recently in some sectors, although
spread of repayment dates We aim always to have overall debt cost sill retatively low
a good level of undrawn, commutled, unsecured Development finance rs difhcult to obtain for
revalving faciliies to ensure we have adequale projects without pre-lets
financing availabiity to support business During the year we have continued Lo be acive
requirements and opportuniites in debl markets_ wih £1 6bn of new hinance
- We work wath indusiry bodies and olher relevant arranged across a variely of Sources
orgamisations to participate in debate on emerging
finance regulabions where our interests and those of
our industry are affected.
Catastrophic business event
An external event such as a civil emergency, - We mamlan a comprehensive crests response plan PN The evaluation of the Likety impact of thes risk

including 3 large-scale lerrorist attack,
cyber crime, extreme weather occurrence,
envirenmental disaster or power shortage
cuuld severely disrupt global markets
lincluding property and finance) and cause
significant damage and disruption to British
Land’s partfelio and operations.,

across all business units as weli as a head office
business canttnutly plan

The Risk Commuitee monitors the Home Ofivce
terronsm threat level and we have access to security
threat mnformatien services

Asset emergency procedures are regularly reviewed,
and scenano lested Physical secunity measures are
n place at properties and development sites.

Qur Sustainabiliy Commutlee continees Lo monsior
environmental rrsks and we have established a TCFO
Steering Camnmuttee o review our management
pracesses lor citmale-related risks and opportunittes
Asset nisk assessments are carried oul to assess a
range of nsks including secunty, flood, enwironmental
and heaith and safety

We have implemented corporate cyber secunty
systems which are supplemented by incident
management, disaster recovery and business
contenuty plans, all of which ace regutarly reviewed
to be able to respond to changes in the threat
landscape and organisational requirements

We also have approprate insurance s place across
the ponfolio,

has nol changed notably since the prior year.
The Home Oliice threal level rom internatignat
terroTism remains ‘Severe’

The wider use and enhancement of digital
technology across the Group increases the
risks assoctated with Inlormation and Cyher
secunty, with an increasing nsk from legacy
system vulnerabililies, social engineering and
phishing During the year, we have conttnued
to enhance pur techmcal securdy position

as well as prowde employee awareness
trainsng on information Secunity and Data
Privacy pnnciples

We have carnied out a cns+s simulabion
exercise and enhanced our procedures
where appropnate
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PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Risks and impacts

How we moanitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Investment strategy

Is order to meet our strategic objectives,

we aim to invest in and exit from the right

properiies at the right tme.

Underperformance could result from

changes in market sentiment as welt as

inappropriate determinatien and execution of

our property investment strategy, including:

- sector selectian and weighting

- uming of investment and divestment
decisions

- exposure to developments

- assel, tenant, reqicn concentration

- co-invesiment arrangements

Qur wwvesiment sirategy Is detarrined to be
consistent with our targel nsk appetite and 1s based
an the evaluation of the external enwironment
Progress against the strategy and continuing
atignment wath our risk appette 1s discussed at
each Risk Commitiee with reference to the groperty
markets and the external economic environment
The Board carrres out an annual review of the
overall corporate strategy Including the current

and prospettive asset portfolio atiocation.

Individual inveclment decisions are subject o
robust risk evalugtion overseen by our Investment
Commuttee including consideraiton of returns relative
to risk adjusted hurdle rates

Review of prospective pedormance of individual
assets and their business plans

We foster collaborative relationships with our
co-nvestors and enter inlo ownership agreements
which batance the interesis of the parties

/l\

)

We have continued 10 altocate capitat thoughtiully
n light of the current market cenditions

Since | April 2018, we have sold 5 Broadgate
for £509m and successfully execuled £64ém of
retail saies - overall marginally ahead of book
value Overall we were a net dwesiar of £0 9an
of assels

The retait markel laces structurai chaltenges
and we have conhinued to refine our Retail
portiolio to detiver a smaller, more focused
business, with total sales of £2 $bn over the last
fwe years.

We remain thoughtful about the use of proceads
from disposals, and are continuing to invest into
our development gigeline and have extended
our share buyback programme

Our portfolio values were down 4 8%, led by
Retail where values were down 11.1% whereas.
Offices values weve up 1 1%

Development strategy

Development prevides an oppertunity for
awmperfermance hut ssuatly brings with it
elevated risk.

This is reflected in our decision-making
process around which schemes to deavelap,
the timing of the develepment, as well as the
execution of these projects,

Development strategy addresses several
daevelopment risks that could adversely

3
22

performance including:

~ development letting exposure

- construction biming and costs lincluding
consiruction costnilatronl

- majsor contractor falure
- adverse plantung judgements

We manage our levels of telal and speculative
development exposure a5 a proportien of the
invesiment porifolio value within a larget range laking
into account associated risks and the impact on key
financial metncs This s monitored quarterly by the
Risk Commmilee along with progress oi developments
against plan

Prior to commutting to a development. a detailed
apprasalis undertaken This includes considerabion
of returns relative le risk adjusted hurdle rates and
15 Qverseen by pur investment Lommiiige

Pre-tets are used to reduce development letting risk
where considered approprate

Compeutive tendering of construction contracts and,
where appropnate, fixed price contracts entered into
Detailed selection and close monitoring of
contractars including cavenant reviews

Expertenced development management team
closely momtors design, construchion and overall
delivery process

Early engagement and strang retationships with
plannung authonties

We achively engage with the communilies in which we
operate, as detasted i our Local Charter, to ensure
that gur develapment activities consider the interests
of all stakehpiders

We manage environmental and social risks across
our development supply chain by engaging with our
suppliers, inclyding thraugh our Supplier Code of
Conduct, Sustanabibty Brief for Developrnents and
Heallh ang Safety Policy.

)

Development is anmportant part of aur
business and has detvvered some of our
strongest returns, bul is mherently higher
risk, particularly when pursued on a
speculative basis. We lirit our development
exposure 1o 15% of the tatat investment
portfolto by value, with a maxirnum of 8%

1o be developed specutatvely

We aclively manage pur development risk and
pre-letling our space is an imporlant part of
inar approach

We have successfully pre-let or under offer
ah 76% of gur completed and committed
developments and speculalive exposure
remams low al 2 3% of portfolio gross asset
value. Atso, 92% of the cosls on our committed
development programe have been fixed

Key

Change year on year
€3 No change

'T increase

.L Decrease
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Capital structure - leverage

Our capita! structure recognises the need
tor balance batween performance, nsk
and flexibiity.
- teverage magmfies property returns,
both pasiiive and negative
- anincrease in leverage increases the
nsk af a breach of cavenanls on borrewing
facilites and may increase finance cosls

- We manage our use of debl and equaty hinance to
baiarice the benefits of leverage agains! the risks

- We aim 10 manage our loan 1a value |LTV] through
the property cycle such that our financial position
would remain rebust in the event of 3 significant fali
in property values This means we do Aol adjusl our
approach to leverage based on changes in properiy
markel yields

- We manage our investrment activity, the size and
teming of which can be uneven, as well as our
developrnent commitments 1o ensure that our
LTV level remains appropriate

« We leverage our equity and achieve benefits of scale
while spreading risk through jont ventures and funds
which are typically partly financed by debt without
recourse to Briish Land

&

= We manage our use of debt and equily finance
lo balance the benelits of leverage aganst the
risks, inciuaing magnificaten of property
valuation movements

- Our financial posthien remams streag, our
proporisonally consolidated LTV has been
reduced by a further 30bps dunng the year
te 28 1%, despite the valuation fatl

- This financial strength prevedes us wath the
capacily lo progress opportunsties including
our development pipeline whitst retaiming
sigruficant headroam (o our covenants.,

Finance strategy

Finance strategy addresses risks bath to
continuing solvency and profits generated.

Falure to manage refinancing requirements
may result in 3 shortage of funds {o sustain the
aperations of the business or repav facitimes as
they tatt due

- Fwe key principles guide our iinancing, employed
together to manage the nsks in this area diversidy
our sources of finance, phase matunty of debt
partiolce, maintain kquedity, maintasn flexibility,
and mainiain strong meirics

- We monitor the period entil hnancing 15 requirea,
which 15 a key determinant of financing actwaty
Debi and camial market copoilions are rewewed
reguiarly {a edently inancing opporiunities that
meel our business requirernents

- Finanaial cavenant headroom s evalualed reguiarty

and in eonjunction wath {ransaclions

We are commitled (o maintaining and enhancing

FEGUIGTISPS ¥ Gui Ky [iNGITCITY Pai IieFSs

- We are mindful of relevant ermerging reguiation
which has the polential ta irmnpacl the way that we
finance the business

- The scate of our business, quality of our assets
and rental income enable us to access a broad
range of debt inance an altractive terms
During the year we have completed E1 4bn
of new financing

- ¥e have [ 1.8on of commiied unsecured,
revolving bank facilities, of which £1 5hn1s
undrawn Based on current CoTMIuiments,
these facthities and debt malurities, we have
no requiremnent to refinance the business until
late 2022

Peaple

A number of critical business precesses and
decisions lie in the hands of a few people,

Failure to recruit, develop and retain staft
and Directors with the nght skilts and
experience may result in signdicant
underperformance or impact the
eltectiveness of operations and decision
making, in tyrn impacting business
performance,

Qur HR strategy s designed to minsmise risk thraugh

- nforened and skilled recrustment processes

- talent performance managerment and succession
planmng for key roles

- highly compehitve compensation and benelis

- people development and traimng.

The risk is rmeasured lhrough emptloyee engagement
surveys, emaloyee turnover and retentien metncs We
moniler this through the number of unplanned executive
departuras in addition to conducting ex:l interviews

We engage with our employees and supphiers to make
clear our requirements in managing key risks incluging
health and safety, fraud and bribery and alher socrat and
environmental risks, as detailed in our policies and
codes of conduct.

- Expert Peopie s one of the four core focus
areas of our strategy and 2 key factor in sur
performance We continue to empower our
people Lo make the most of their potertial
through training and development and are
focused on bulding a supperlve and inclissive
culture for our people

- During the year, we have made several
imporlant changes to encourage cross-lgam
collaborateon and shared {earmings, We have
combined cur Retail and Ofhces businesses
under the single teadership of Darren Richards
and we have also intagrated the property
maragement business wathin the wader
business at a single office site

Income sustainability

We are mindful of maintaining sustainable

income streams which underpin a stable and

growing dividend and provide the platform
from which to grow the business.

We consider sustainability of pur income

streams in:

- execution of investrnent strategy and capital
recycling, notably tming of reinvestment of
sale proceeds

- natyre ang siructure of easing actiwty

~ nature and brming ol assel management
and develspment activity

- We undertake comprehenswe profil and cash flow
farecasting mcorporating scenario analysis to madel
the smpact of proposed transactians.

- We take a proaclive assel management approach lo
maintain 3 strong occupier Une-up. We momitor our
markel letling exposure intluding vacancies,
upcoming expiries and breaks and speculative
development as well as our werghled average
unexpired lease term.

- We have a high quahty and diversified occupier base
and monitor concenlration of exposure to indmdual
ocCuUpIers or sectors

- We are preactive in addressing key lease breaks
and expines 10 minimise periods of vacancy

- We actively engage with the commumilies it which
we operale, as detoiled in our Locat Charier, to
ensure we provide places that meet the needs of all
relevant stakeholders

- We are mindful of the challenges fating the
relaill markel which has seen several more
operators apply fer CVA or administration. We
conlinue Lo actively manior our exposure to
occupers at resk of defaull and administration
and are selective about the seclors and
aperators we targel

- We also recogruse that in delivering our
invesiment strategy and setling some of our
malure assets, we have had to be conscious
of the impact on our income in the short term

- However, our ncome streams are underpinned

by prime assels and 2 high quality, diverse
occupier base wilh tugh occupancy Looking
{orward our developmenl pipeline cffers
siqnificant potential io generate future iIncome
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (TCFD}

Climate change is one of the
most pressing challenges our
world faces today

The Board recognises the systemic threat posed by cimate change
and the need for urgent mitigating action We have a track record
of improving environmental performance and were one of the first
real estzie companies to Iintraduce stretching carbon reduction
targets that go beyond the demands of the Scrence Based Targets
wutiative for Scape 1 and 2 emussians. Far mare informatign, see
our 2019 Sustainability Accounts at briishland com/data

Our focus on rmitigating climate risks and (everaging climate
opportunities has protected value, reduced occupational costs
and enhanced our revenue The TCFD recommendations provide
an excellent framework for us to continue this journey

To progress towards TCFD alignment, in March 2019
we established a TCFO Steering Commuittee, sponsored by our
Chief Financial Otticer, Simon Carter. This Commuitee will-

- undertake long term scenario analysrs of the impact of cimate
change on our business

- recommend adjustments to our strategic and risk management

processes ta lurther integrate climate change tssues tnto cur

day-to-day operations

identdy metrics that translate cimate change rssues into

financial exposure,

The TCFD Steening Commutiee reports to the Risk and
Sustainabrdity Commuttees, both of which meet quarterly Ultunate
oversight is at Board level, with our new Corpcerate Social
Responsibiity Carmmittee playing a role from May 2619 Any
resulting disclosure requires approvat by the Audit Commiutiee.

»>
Board Board of Directors J
A F'
’ i . ag age I
Audit Committee Corporate Social Re_sponsmllity {CSR)
Committee
s ¥ 3
Executive > R . N .
and ut Risk Committee Sustainability Cornmittee
Management
A A
TCFD Steering Committee
> Members include representatives from across the business Asset management, Development, Finance,
Investment, Procuremnent, Praperty management, Risk management, Strategy and Sustanabtlity
Governance

Board oversight of climate-related risks
and opportunities

Our Board Director responsible for cimate-related 1ssues 1s
Sinen Carter, Chief Financial Othcer Sirmon charrs or attends
our Risk and Sustainability Committees, ensuring continuty
and accauntabilty

The Board s updated on chirnate-related issues at least annuatly
and has uttimate oversight of risk management. Significant and
emerging risks are escalated to the Audit Commuttee and climate
nisk is tracked as part of our Catastrophic Business Event risk
caiegory (see page 59}
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Management’s role in assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities

The Board delegates responsibility for anatysing:

- climate-related risks to the Risk Cornrnittee, which consists
of the Executive Committee and teaders frorm business uruls,
including pracuremeant and preperty management Each
business unit maintains a comprehensive risk register, which
15 reviewed quarlerfy by the Risk Commiliee. Climate risks
are wentified through 3 process involving trend analysis and
stakeholder engagement. Identified risks are incorporated
into our risk Iramework and managed by the appropriate
business areas

- climate-related opportunities to the Sustatnabiliy
Commuttee, which will report to our new Corporate Sucal
Responsibility Committee.




Strategy

Impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on our business
We consider cimate-related issues within the time horizons used in our corporate strategy:

Shorl term

Madwm ferm Long lerm

Less than 12 months

1 10 5 years Over § years

To date, we have focused on climate-related risks and opportunities for short and medium term harnzons This work will be expanded to
consider long term horizans through our new TCFD Steering Comrmittee

Examples of climate-related risks

Extreme weather

Short term risks

Higher fload risks could increase insurance costs This could, inturn, Increase service charge costs
for customers.

Inabdity to sell or rent property assets at book vaiue, due to flood nisk

Impact on corporate strategy

Flood risk assessments undertaken for our current portfolia

100% of high-risk assets have flood management plans

Impact on financial ptanning

Flood risk 1s effectively priced into our valuations

Floos risk factored snlo our process for acquisilions ang gevelspments

Energy regulation

Medium term risks

Lease renewsals subject to Miramum Energy Efficiency Standard [MEES] compliance and all leased
properties subject to MEES from Apnil 2023, with few exemptions

Impact on carporate strategy

Through our futureproofing pragramme we manitor the 5% of our portfolio with £ or G Energy
Performance Certificate {EPCI ratings by floor areal. Property Managers will take action on F and
G raied asseis by 1 April 2023

Impact on financial planning

MEES non-compliance would pose a risk of revenue loss and a patential liability from
non-comptiance penatiies

Energy prices

Medium term risks

Energy cost volatility

Impact on corporate strategy

Through our efficiency programme, we reduce our energy consumplion profile and ultimately our
exposure to price fluctuations

Impact en financial planning

Financiat madelling includes the expected occupancy of assets and their associated energy costs.
Procurement manages the financial nsk of volatile energy prices

Examples of climate-related opportunities

Resource efficiency

Shaort term opportunity

Energy savings from the UK Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme [ESOS).

Impact on corporate strategy

As part of camplying with ESOS, we have identilied initiatives representing £6.4m of capex investment
that would save £3 7m annually.

impact on financial planning

The business cases for these capex investments are considered as part of our overarching
financial process.

Energy sources

Short term opportunity

Revenue generated from solar PVinstallations on our assets

Impact on corporate strategy

Installation of solar PV at 10 assets, generating 1,131 MWh 1n 2018/19

Impact on financial planning

The cost savings and revenue from exporting to the grid are factored into aur financiat planning

Products and services

Medium term opportunity

Earning a rental premium from high efficiency buildings with a Design for Performance approach

impact on corporate strategy

Cur Sustainabihity Brief for Developrents sets out our requirernent for detatled energy modelling early
in the design stage to inform design and set operational performance benchmarks

Impact on financial planning

Rental Income for high efficiency and low efficiency assets would be factored into our revenue
forecasts i the medium term, as this would alfect their marketability

The restilence of our strategy
Brinsh Land undertaok an imitial analysis of medum term portfolio risks n 2017 We will carry out TCFD-aligned scenaric analysis in 2020,
including a scenario where globat warming 1s limited to 2°C ar lower
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TASK FORCE QN CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES [TCFD} CONTINUED

Risk management

Clmate-related risks are identified and assessed using our
risk management framewaork, set out on page 54 of this Report
We consider climate change within "External risks Catastroptsc
business event’, which is a principal risk to our business We
define principal risks as those with a substantive financrat or
strategic impact on the business, mgh bkelihood of occurrence
and mediwm/high potential impact on our performance. Gur
integrated spproach combines a top down strategic view with

a complementary boitom up operauonal process.

Identifying and assessing climate-related risks

As part of our top down strateqic view, aur nisk heat mapping
process atlows us to determine the relatwe significance of
principat risks. As a factor within a principal risk category,
chrnate change 1s montored by the Risk Commitiee

Our risk register tracks:

1] Description of the risk (identification|

ul Impact-liketihood rating [evaluation enabling prontisation}
miMiiganis lemgaton)

wiRisk owner {memitoring)

As part of our bottom up operational process, we mamtain Asset
Plans which include prowisions for wdentifying climate-related nisks
and opportunuties, such as fload risk assessments and aud:ts to
identity energy saving opportunities Qur Sustainability Brief lor
Acquisitions sets out our environmental critenia tor acquiring

a new property, including energy efficiency and fiood risk
categones Qur Sustainability Brief for Developments sets out

our environmental criteria for new constructions and renovations,
including reguirements for energy efficiency, flood risk, materrals
choice and embodied carbon reductions.

Managing climate-related risks
GQur pracess for mitigating, accepting and controliing principal

risks, including cimate-related risks, 1s set out an page 54 of
this Report.

We priontise principat risks through our corporate nisk reqister

and risk heat map. The rmpact-lkelithood rating, which 1s evaluated

during risk identification, 1s aur primary metnic for priontising
rnske As a factor within a principal nisk category, climate change
risks are logged in gur ¢corporale risk register and reviewed
quarterly by the Risk Committee, which comprises the Executive
Comrmiitee and semor management The Board 1s uthmately
responstble for and determines the nature and extent of principal
risks it is willing to take to achieve iis strategic objectives.
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Metrics and targets

Through our TCFD Steering Commuittee work, we will guantify our
total cimate-related financial exposure

Below are the climate-related metrics and targets against which
we currently report

Climate-related risks

2019 2018
MEES EPCs rated F or G [% by floor areal 5% 5%
Extreme Portfolic at hrgh nisk of flood 3% 3%
weather (% by valuel
High flood risk assats with flood 100% 100%
managerment plans [% by value}
Climate-related opportunities
2019 018
Resource Scope 1 and 2 carbon intensity 64% 56%

efficiency reduction versus 2009 (2020 target.
55% reduction, index scored]

Landlord energy mtensity &4% 4£0%
reduction versus 2009

(2020 target- 55% reduction,

index scored]

Energy Electricity purchased 96% 7%
sources from renewable sources
12020 target 100%) L
On site renewable energy 1,13 782
generation [MWh) MWh  MWh
Products  Portfolic with green buillding 18% 18%
and ratings [% by floor area)
services  evelopments outperforming 25% 26%

Burding Regulations for carbon
efficiency {% better on average)




Viability
Statement

Assessment of prospects

The Group's annual corporate planning process includes the
completion of a strateqic review, reassessing the Group's risk
appetite and updating the Group's forecasts

The Group's strateqgy provides the focus for our annual prorities
and 1s formally reviewed annually. This process is led by the Chief
Executive through the Executive Committee and includes the active
engagement af the Board Part of the Board s role 1s to consider
whether the sirategy takes appropriate account of the Group's
principal risks The latest updates to the strateqic plan and
Group's risk appelite were approved by the Board in February

and March 2019, respectively

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group's forecasts These
cover a five-year peried and consist of a farecast which includes
committed transactions only, and a forecast which also includes
non-committed transaclions the Board expects the Group to make
1n ling with the Group's strategy A five-year forecast s considered
to be the optimal batance between the Group's long term business
model to create Places Peante Prefer and the fact that property
investment ts @ fong term business [with weighted average lease
lengths and debt maturities in excess of five years), affset by the
progressivety unreliable nature of forecasting in later years,
particularly given the histonically cyclical nature of the UK
property industry

For the reasons outlined above, the period over which the
Directors consider it feasible and appropnate o report on the
Group s viability s the five-year periad to 31 March 2024

The assumptions underpinning these forecast cash Hows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised to explore the
resilience of the Group to the patential impact of the Group's
signitficant risks. or a combination of those nisks

The principal risks table on pages 58 to 61 surnmarises

those matters that could prevent the Group from detivering on

its strategy A number of these principal risks, because of their
nature or patential iImpact, coutd also threaten the Group's ability
lo continue in business in is current form if they were to occur,

The Directors pawd parttcukar attenuon to the risk of a downturn
in economic outtook which could impact praperty fundamentals,
including investor and octupier demand which would have a
negative impact on valuations, cash flows and a reduction in the
availability of finance The remaining principal risks, whilst having
an smpact on the Group’s business model, are not considered by
the Qirectors to have a reasonabte Ukelihood of iImpacting the
Group's wiability over the five-year perod to 31 March 2024

The sensitvities performed were designed to be severe but
plausible, and relate to a single 'downturn scenario’ before
mitigating actions

- downiurn in ecoenomic outlook, key assumptions including
occupancy, void perods, rental growth and yields were
senstlised in the ‘downtura scenarto” to reflect reasonably likety
levels associated with an econormie downturn, including-

- a reduction in occupier dernand reflected by an ERV decline,
accupancy decline, increased void periods and additional
impact of retait CVAs or admuinustrations

- areduction ininvesiment property demand to the level seen in
the last severe dawnturn in 2008/2009, with outward yield shift
1o 8% net intial yreld.

- Restricted availability of finance: based on the Group’s current
commiiments and available facilities there 1s no requirement
ta refinance uatl late 2022 In the normal course of business,
financing is arranged sn advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that additional
or replacement debt facdtties will be put in place In the
‘downturn scenano’, the following sensitivity ef this
assumption was conducted
- areduct o0 inthe avadability of finance, for two years of the

five-year assessment i tandem with the Group s
refinancing date

The outcome of the 'downturn scenario’ was thal the Group’s
cavenant headroom based on existing debt {i e the level by which
tnvestment property values would have to fall before a financial
govonant breach oreurs] decreases from the current B4% fo st

L5FE ZrEes

lowest level, 13%, indicating covenants on existing facilities would
not be breached

In the downturn scenarig’, mitigating actions would be requiced lo
enable the Group to meet its future habilities, including through
assel sates, which would atlow the Group 1o continue to meet its
Liabilities over the assessment perod

Viability statement

Having considered the forecast cash flows and covenant
comphiznce and the impact of the sensitivities 1n combination

in the ‘gdownturn scenaria’, the Directors confirm that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet its habilities as they fall due gver the pertod to
31 March 2024

Going cencern
The Directors also considered 1t appropnate to prepare the

financial statements on the going concern basis, as explained in
the Governance review,

To read more information on going concern, go ta page 78,

The Strategwe Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
and signed on ts behalf by

Chris Grigg
Chief Execute
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1 Triton Square

Excellent environmental stewardship

Large-scale development carrtes a broad responsibility and we are caretul to manage the impact of our
projecis an the environment Ai i Trifan Sguare we worked closely wilh our design tearn and contractor 1o retain
much of the anginal building Smart material reuse and sustainability innoavations mean that the buitding will
produce 33% less carbon in construction and operation than best practice new build equivalents - a reduction
of 35,600 tonnes of CO.e. Thus saving Is greater than the building's operaiional emissions over the next 20 years
and it exceeds the ambitious carbon reduction targets required to meet the UK's commitment to the Paris
Climate Agreement High efficiency equipment, low-carbon matenials and a circular approach to waste are atl

part of our BREEAM Dutstanding sustamnabiity plans for the building



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Driving success

Our Board develops strategy and leads British Land

to achieve long term success.

John Gitdersieeve, Non-Executive Chairman ®

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in Seplember 2008 and as Chairman
v January 2013

Skills and experience

John s deputy chairman of TatkTatk Telecorn Group PLC He was formerty
chairman ot Carphone Warehouse Group, New Look Retail Group, EMI

Group 2nd Gallaher Group. a non-executive directar of Dixons Carphone plc,
Lloyds TSB Bank PLC, Vodafone Group and Pick n Pay Steres {South Alrical,

deputy charrman of Spire Healthcare, and an executive director of Tesco pic

John will be stepping down as Chairman and Irom the Board at the end of
the 2019 AGM

Lynn Gladden, Non-Executive Director ¢ R

Appoinled as 8 Non-Executive Director in March 2015

Skills and experience

Lynn 15 recognised as an authonily in working al the interface of advanced

technology and industry Her critical thinking and analytical skills bring a
unigue dimension {0 the Board

She 1s Shelt Professor of Chemical Engineering at the University of
Cambridge and Executive Chair of the Engineenng and Physicat Sciences
Research Counal She is also a fellow of the Rayal Society and Rayal
Academy of Engineering.
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Chris Grigg, Chief Exerutive

Appointed 1o the Board i fanuary 2009

Skilis and experience

Chris has more than 30 years experience in real estate and inanciat
services industries, in a range of leaderstip roles He brings a strong
track record of dniving growth, delivering strategic plans and a wealth of
experience in corporate linance (o the Board

Until November 2008, Chris was chief executwe of Barclays Commercial
Bank, having joined Barctays in 2005 Prior to that, Chnis spent over 20 years
at Goldman Sachs

Chris 1s a non-executive dwector of BAE Systems plc where he also sits
on the Corporate Responsibilily Commulieg He is a board member of the
European Public Real Estate Association and a member of the Cancer
Research UK Corporate Board.

Alastair Hughes, Non-Executive Director » ©

Appaointed as a Non-Execulive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience

Alastair has proven experience of growing real estate campanies and 15

a feltow of the Royal institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Alastair is a non-executive director of Schroders Real Estate Invesiment
Trust Limited and Tritax Big Box REIT, with over 25 years of experience in
real estate markets. He 1s a former direclor of Jones Lang LaSalle Inc [JLL)
having served as managing director of JLL in the UK, as ctuef execulive for
Europe, Middle East and Africa and then as regional CED lor Asia Pacific



Simon Carter, Chief Financial Qfficer

Appoiated to the Board in May 2018

Skills and experience

Simon has exiensive experience of inance and the real estate

sector He (oined British Land from Logicor, the owner and operater of
Eurapean logistics real estale, where he had served as chief hnancial
oflicer since january 2017

Prior to jomning Legicor, Tram 2015 to 2017 Simon was finance director at
Guintain Estates & Development Plc Simon previousty spent over 10 years
with 8ritish Land, working in a variety of inancial and steateqic foles and
was a member of our Executive Commitiee from 2012 until hes departure
n January 2015 Simen slso previously worked for UBS m fixed income
and qualified as a ehartered accountant with Arthur Andersen

Nicholas Macpherson, Non-Executive Director 2
Appeinted as 3 Non-Executive Director in December 2016
Skills and experience

Nicholas has directed orgamisalions through both hscat and strategic
change managernent and brings this vital experuise {o the Board

He s chairmian of C Hoare & Co and 2 director of The Scottish Amencan
Invesiment Company PLC MNicholas was the Permanent Secretary o the
Treasury for over 10 years from 2005 to March 2014, leading the department
through the financral ¢crisis and the subsequent period of banking reform

He joined the Treasury 1n 1985 and held a number of roles prior Lo his
appointment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an econarmist
and has worked at the CBI and Peat Marwick Consulting

William Jackson, Senior Independent Director ¥ ®
Appoinied as a Non-Execulive Direcler in April 2017 and Senior independent

Duecton wi July 2817

Skills and experience

Wiiliam s experience spans business operatiens and financiat pianning
He 1s Managing Partner of Bridgepoint, one of Europe’s leading private
equily greups, which he has led since 2001 William has served an & wide
range of UK and wmternalional boards during hus career and has exlenssve
property experience

Preben Prebensen, Non-Executive Director R
Appoinled as a Non-Executive Diracter in Septernber 2017
Skills and experience

Preben has 30 years’ experience in driving long terrm growth lor Bnish
banking businesses.

He has been chiel executive of Close Brothers Group plc since 2009. Preben
was formerly chief investment officer at Catlun Group Lumiied and chief
execulive of Wellington Underwriting pic Prior to that he held s number ol
semor positions at JP Morgan
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Tim Score - Non-Executive Director & »
Appointed as a Non-Executive Bhrecior v March 2014,
$kills and experience

Twm has sigmficant experience in the rapidly evelving global technology
landscape and brings years of engagement both with mature economies
and emerging markets to the Board

He 15 a non-execulive director of Pearsen pic and HM Treasury and sits on
the board of trustees of the Royal National Theatre Tun was formerly chuel
financial officer af ARM Holdings PLC and held senior knancial positians at
Rebus Group Limuted, William Baird pic, LucasVanty ple and BTR ple. From
2005 to 2014, he was a non-executve director ol Nahional Express Group
PLC. including tume as interim chairman and six years as senior
ndependent director

Twn has been appointed (o succeed John Gikdersleeve as Chairman from
the end of the 2017 AGM

Rebecca Warthington, Non-Executive Director 2
Appoinied as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018,
Skills and experience

Rebecca has extenswve listed property sector experience and brings key
commercial acumen to the Board

She was formerly group chief operating ofiicer [having previously been
graup chief finance officer] of Countryside Properties PLC and spent

15 years at Quintain Estates and Development PLC, first as finance director
and tatterly as deputy chiel executive. Rebecca was also a non-executive
director and chair of the audit committee al Hansleen Holdings plc until

20 March 2018, and a non-execufive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc
16 Seplember 2015 She qualifeed as a chartered accountant with
Pricewaterhouse Coapers LLP.
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Laura Wade-Gery, Non-Executive Directer R

Appointed as a Non-Exetutve Director in May 2015

Skills and experience

Laura has deep knowledge of digital transformation and cusiomer
experience and brings her experience leading business change
management (o the Board

She 15 a non-execulive director ol John Lewis Partnershup plc ang NHS
Impravement Previously, Laura was executwe director Mutti Channel at
Marks and Spencer Group plc, served in a number of seror positions at
Tesco PLC including chuef executive afficer of Tesco com and was a
non-executive director of Triruty Muror plc

Brona McKeown, General Counsel and Company Secretary
Appointed as General Counsel and Cernpany Secrelary in Janyary 2018
Skills and experience

Before joining Britsh Land, Brona was Generat Counsel and Company
Secretary of The Co-operative Bank plc for four years as part of the
restruckuring executive team Immediately prior to that she was Intenm
General Counsel and Secretary at the Coveniry Building Society Unti
Oclober 2011, Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate division
of Barclays Bank pic, having joined Barclays in 1998 Brona trained and
spent a number of years at a large Ciy law hrm



Directors’ core areas of expertise! Board attendance

Scheduled Ad hac
Director meelings meetings Tolal
John Gildersleeve’ 07 2/2 9/9
Alastar Hughes 717 3/3 10/10
Charles Maudsley? 717 2/2? 9/9
Chris Grigg 77 343 10/10
Laura Wade-Gery* 77 2/3 9/10
Lynn Gladden "7 3/3 10/10
Micholas Macpherson® 717 213 /0
Preben Prebensent 717 2/3 9/10
Rebecca Worthington 7/7 3/3 10/10
Simon Carter?? &/6 212 8/8
Tim Roberts? 717 212 ki
Tim Score' ¢ 1?7 /2 8/9
Wilhiam Jackson® 8/7 3/3 9/10

Board Committee miembership key .
1 Que te their confliets of interest, Tim Scare and John Gildersleeve were not

A Audit Commitiee member invited to attend one ad hoc Board meeting, the sole business of which was
- - Chairman syccession
© Lorporale Sotiar Respoasaniiy Commities memper 2 Dueio inew conflics of interest, Charles Maudsiey Tim Roberis and
" Swnen Carter were not invited to atlend one ad hoc Beard meeting, the sole
Nomunation Committee member business of which was the reorganisation of Executive Director positions
2 3 Simon Carler did not start employment until 21 May 2018 and therefaere did
Remuneration Committee member aot attend one meeting that teok place before he jowned
4 Laura Wade-Gery, Nichelas Macpherson, Preben Prebensen and Tim Score
o Chairman of a Board Commultee each missed one ad hoc meeting that was catled al short notice In each case,

the Qirectors who were unable Lo attend had been separately briefed on the
%] =T

one meeung in January 2019 This was scheduled some ume after the 2019
Board dates had been seitled as a response to the Board evatualion leedback
tha! there was a large gap between the Novemnber and March meetings
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CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Welcome to the Governance
and Remuneration sections

| am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 3t March 2019.

The Board's responsibility for leading the Company and overseeing
the governance of the Group continues to be supparted by a robust
structure which allows for constructive debate and challenge by its
members This approach enables the Directors to make effective
decisions, al the aight time and based on the right infarmation.

As | mention In my statement on pages 2 and 3, our level

of thoughtfut activity and the resihience of our strategy set British
Land apart We take this thoughtfulness and consideration

inta our governance structure and this year a review of our
governance polictes has been carried out. This resulted in
revisions to @ number of our policies including our matters
reserved to the Board, vanous Commuttee terms of reference
and delegated authonties

Governance underpins the way in which the business of the Group
is managed, our behaviour and our corparate culture This year,
we are reporting against the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
{the ‘Code’} available at frc org uk | am pleased to report that the
Boarg has continued to apply good governance and considers that
the Company has complied with the prowsions of the Code
throughout the year

We have also been making preparations for compliance with the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code Qur carnmitment to
engaging with our stakeholders means that we already have in
place several methods of engaging with various stakeholder
groups. To help with reviewing this engagement we have recently
constituted a Board level Corporate Social Respansibility
Committee to assist the Board 1n.

- understanding the views of key stakeholders {including our
employees) of the Company

- understanding the Company's impact on commummty
and environment
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- ensuring that the Beard s aware of the processes and
mechamisms used by the Company te engage with key
stakeholders

ensuring that those processes and mechanisms are it for
purpose and assist In contributing to the wider socrety.

The following Corporate Governance Report, including the reports
of the Audit, Nomenation and Remuneration Commitiees, outlines
how the Campany has applied the Code s principles and provisions.

Board changes

The Board has continued ta evolve during the year Simon Carter
joined in May 2018 as Cheef Financral Officer and Tim Roberts and
Chartes Maudsley stepped down from the Board on 31 March 2019
Charles Maudsley left British Land on that date but Tim Roberis
remains an employee untit 31 July 2019

| would like ta thank both Tvm and Chartes for therr commitment
to British Land Tim jained Briish Land i 1997 and was appointed
to the Board in 2004, since when he has been the Head of Offices
Charles joned Brnitish Land in 2010 and has been on the Board
since thal tume, mast recently as the Head of Retail, Leisure

and Residential.

In addition, | will step down as Chairman and a5 a Director at
the end of the 2019 AGM with Tim Score having been appointed
to succeed me as Chairman at that time.

With the exception of Tin, Chartes and 1, all Directors in role at
31 March 2019 will stand for re-election at the 2019 AGM

This year we carried out an internal evaluation of the Board.
Details of the process undertaken and a summary of the cutcomes
are sel out on page 77. However, | am pleased to report here

that the review conctuded that your Board, its Committees and

its indwidual members continue to operate effectively and with due
ditigence. ft also confirmed that good progress has been made an
the recornmendations of 1ast year's externally facilitated
evaluation The focus lor the coming year will be

- conunuing development of the Board's understanding of cutture
and values,

- conbwueng the development of succession plans, and

- refining agendas and timings to enhance discussion and debate
around important 1ssues

This year's AGM wilt again provide an opportunity for atl
shareholders to hear more about our performance duning the year
and to ask questions of the Board | look forward to welcaming you
on 19 July 2019

e

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman



BOARD ACTIVITY IN 2019

Our core focus areas

The Board meets regularly with people from across the British Land
business and interacts with a range of advisers including corporate
brokers and valuers. Board discussions have covered a wide range
of topics with a significant amount of time spent on the following
strategic topics:

Strategic topic Areas on which the Board has focused during the year

Custonter Orientation - Decision to focus our busmess on three core elements: our London campuses, a smaller
Retal partfolio and Residential which would see campuses increase to 35-60% of the portfolso,
with Retail reducing to 30-35% and Residential increasing to 10% on a five year view

- Smart Places team establshed to fozus on delwening technniogy-enablsd places and the
persenalisation of the working environment

- Contnued roll out of Storey, now operational across 141,000 sq it at our campuses

Right Places - Signed cur Master Development Agreement and submitted our planning application at
Canada Water

Progressing our vision for Broadgate inctuding obtaiing planming permission for the
redevelopment of 1-7 Broadgate

- Overseeing our Retail disposal strategy

Capital Efficiency - Sate of 5 Broadgate for £1bn {BL share £500m]}

- Use of proceeds split between a £200m extension to our share buyback programme and
remnvestment in development

- Recommendation of 31 00p per share w1 diwdends representing a 3% year-on-year increase
- Repayment of £223m of debtn the Broadgate JV releasing buildings for potential development
- Maintenance of appropriate leverage at 28%

Expert People - Combining our Offices and Retall busmesses under the leadership of Darren Richards as Head
of Real Estate

- Appotntment ta the Executive Commitiee* of Emma Cariaga, Head of Operations at Canada
Water and David Lockyer, Head of Broadgale

- Combination of British Land and sur property management business within a single office site,
enabling coliaboration and maximising the efficiency of cur operations

- Rolt aut of agile working, enabling our people to work more flexibly

Sustainability - Establshment of a Board level Corporate Social Responsibility Committee with effect from
Aprd 2019

- Consideration of our approach to sustainabiity for beyond 2020

- Dwersity and inclusion across our business

* Detads of the rembers of our Executrve Commuttee can be found on our website at briiishland com/executive-committes
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GOVERNANCE AT A GLANCE

A strategic enabler

Our governance structure ensures that the right people have access
to the right information. Delegated authorities throughout our
organisation enable effective decision making at appropriate levels.

Board > ( Board of Directors
Corporate Social - .
. . e Nomination Remuneration
Audit Committee Responsibility . .
Committee® Cammittee Committee
—
Executive L Chief Executive
1
Executive Committee Investment Committee Risk Committee ‘
|
I M I r f
anagement Community investment . Sustainability
Committee Health and Safety Committee Committee

* With effect from 1 Aprit 2019

Board gender sptit as at 2019 AGM versus 2018 AGM Average board member age over 3 three-year period
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governance is an integral
part of the way we deliver

our strategy

Leadership

The Board
As at 31 March 2019 the Board comprised the Charrman, ewght

independent Nan-Executive Directors and four Executive Directars.

Biographies of the Directors as at the date of publicaton are set
out on pages &8 to 70 and include details of the skills and
experience each brings to the Board. By the conclusion of the
2019 AGM, the Board will have reduced in size to comprise the
Chairman, seven independent Non-Executive Directors and two
Executwve Directors

Our rgareus and transparent oroceduces for appointing new
Directors are led by the Nomunationt Comrmitiee Non-Executive
Birectors are appointed for specihed terms and all contiusng
Directors offer themselves for election or re-election by
shareholders at the AGM each year provided the Board, on

the recommendation of the Narmination Cammuttee, deems it
appropriate that they do s0

The composition of the Board s fundamental to its success

in providing strong and effective leadership. The Nomenation
Committee 1s responsible for reviewing the compositicn of the
Board and its Committees and assessing whether the balance of
skitls, experience, knowledge and diversity 1s appropriate to enable
themn to operate effectively

We continue to have a strong mix of expenienced mdwduals

on the Board The majority are independent Nan-Executive
Directors who are nol only abie to offer an external perspective
on the business, but also constructively challenge the Executive
Directors, particilarly when developing the Company's strategy
The Non-Executive Direclors scrutirse the performance of
management in meeting thew agreed goais and objectves, and
moniter the reportuing of that performance

The high calibre of debate and the participation of atl Directors,
Executive and Non-Executive, i ts meetings allows the Board to
utilise the expenence and skills of the indvidual Oirectors to thetr
maximum potential and make dectsions that are in the best
ntereslts of lhe Company.

Role of the Board

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approval, including its core responsibilities of setiing the Group's
strategic direction, overseetng the delivery of the agreed strategy,
managing risk and establishing the cullure, vatues and standards
of the Group as a whole. Matters below the financial it set by
the Board are delegated either to the Investment Commuttee [for
propecty and financing 155ues| comprising the Executive Directors,
Head of Strateqy & Investment, Head of Real Estate and Head of
Cevelopment or to an approvals committee of any two of the

Executive Cirectors and General Counsel and Company Secretary
with all decisions taken reported to the next Board meeting.

The Board culture 15 one of openness and constructive debate
The Directors are able to vaice ther opintons in a relaxed and
respectiul environment, allowing coherent discussion When
running Board meetings, the Chairman maintains a collaborative
atmosphere and ensures that afl Directors have the opportunity
to contribute to the debate. The Chairman also arranges mformal
meetings and events throughout the year to help build constructive
relationships between Board members and the senior
management team

The Chairman meets with indwvidual Direciors cutside tormat
Board meetings to atlow for open, two-way discussion about the
effectiveness of the Board, its Committees and its members The
Chairmans therefore able to remain mendful of the views of the
ndwiduat Drectors.

Division of responsibitities

There 15 a clear written division of responsibilities between the
Chairman lwho is responsible for the leadership and effectiveness
of the Beard] and the Chief Executive bwho 15 responsible for
managing the Company s business]

The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day management
of the business to the Chief Executive.

The Executive Oirectors are wolved in, or aware of, atl major
activities and are therefore extremely well placed ta ensure that
any dec:sions align with the Group's agreed stralegy

The Executive Directors make decisions within predefined
parameters delegated by the Board, atthough any proposal

may still be taken to the full Board for consideration and appraoval
where ts s considered appropriate, even if it falls within

those pararmeters.

Three standing Committees have been operaling throughout

lhe year the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees,
to which certain powers have been delegated Membership of
each of these Commuttees 1s comprised solely of independent
Nan-Executive Dirgctors The reports of these three standing
Commuitiees are set oul on pages 80 te 109. The Corporate

Soctal Responsibility Committee had its first meeting 1n May 2019,

Management Committees have also been established to make
recommendations on matters delegated to them by the Board.
Its standing Commuttees or the Executive Directors.

This governance structure !set out on the previous pagel ensures
that the Board Is able to focus on strategic proposals, major
transactions and governance matters which affect the tong term
success of the bustness
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Strategy days

The Board held its annual pffsite strategy event during February
2019. The strategy days are structured to provide the Directors,
and the Non-Executive Directors in particular, with an opportunity
ta focus on the develapment of, and challenge ta, the Group's
corporate strategy.

The Executive Dicectors, semiar executives and external guests
delivered a number of presentations to atlendees providing
in-depth analysis on aspects of the business and the external
enviranment. The days were carefully structured to achieve a
balance between presentations, debale and discussion.

Areas facused on at the 2019 strategy days included corporate
strategy, Canada Water, technology, the flexible workspace markat
and the build to rent market

Board meetings

Regular Board and Commitiee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they allocate sutficient me
to discharge their duties effectively. Occasionally, Board meetings
rmay be held at short notice when Board-level decisions of a
time-critical nature need to be made or for exceptional business.

The Board agenda is set by the Chairman, in conjunchion with

the Chiet Executive and General Counsel and Company Secretary
Each scheduted meeting includes a management repert delivered
by the Chief Executive and regular updates on the activities of
vanous standing and management commuttees. Disrussions also
take place on strategic proposals, major acquisitions, disposals,
developments and legal and governance matters

Care 15 taken to ensure that information 1s circulated in good

tume before Board and Committee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriate level of detail to enable
the Board o discharge s duties All papers are airculated one
week prior to meelings and clearly marked as being ‘For Decision’,
‘For information’” or ‘For Discussion” To enhance the delivery of
Board and Commiltee papers the Board uses a Board portat and
lablets which prowide a secure and efficient process for meeting
pack distribution. Under the direction of the Chairman, the Geperal
Counsel and Company Secretary factitates effective infarmation
flows belween the Board and its Commutlees, and between senior
management and Non-Executive Directors

In March 2019 the Board held s meeting at the recently
redeveloped 3 Broadgate in the City of London. The meeting was
fotlowed by a site visit to the 100 Liverpool Street development
which had recently had its tapping out ceremany

Effectiveness

Board induction

On appointment, all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
receive a comprehensive induction Each new Director 15 nvited to
meal the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
Secretarat to discuss their induction in detail, following which the
programme is tailored specifically to their regquirements and
adapted to reflect their existing knowledge and expenience.

Each induction programme wouid ordinarily inciude

- meetngs with the Chawman, Executive Directors,
Committee Chairmen, external auditor or remuneration
consultants (as appropriate!
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- intormatian an the corpocate strategy, the wvastmeant steategy,
the financial postion and tax matters {including details of the
Comgpany's REIT status)

- an overview of the property porttolio provided by members of
the semor management team

-~ wisits to key assets

- details of Board and Committee procedures and Directors’
responsibilities

- details on the investor relations programme
- nformation on the Company’s approach to sustainability

Al induction documents are made avalable on our secure
electronic Board portal and are theretore avaiiable to Directors
both during and after their nductan.

Training and development

The Chairman and General Counset and Company Secretary
agree whal Board-wide training or development may be
appropnate. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board
considered papers and presentatians on legal and reguiatory
developments including the 2018 UK Carporate Governance
Code and The Reporting of Payment Practices and Performance
Regulations, SMART technalogy, the macro-econamuc environment
and specific 1ssues relating to Brexit, sustainability-related
develepments and briefings on the views of stakeholdecs and
the external enwirenrment.

Directors are aisa entitied to seek independent advice In retation ta
the performance of thewr duties at the Campany s expense, subject
to having first notefied the Chairman or the General Counsel and
Company Secretary

Commitment

Man-Executive Directars’ tetters of appowntraent set aut the ume
commitments expecled from them, Following consideration, the
Nemination Cornmittee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Directors continue to devote sufficient time to discharging thetr
duties to the required high standard

British Land's policy is to atlow Executve Directors io take one
non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to
Board approval External appointments of the Executive Oirectors
are disclosed in their biographies Any fees earned by the
Executive Directors are disclosed on page 106 within the
Remuneration Report.

Contlicts of interest

The Directors are required to avoid a sttuation in which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or indirect conélict with the interests of
the Company. The Board has established a procedure whereby
the Directlars are required to noufy the Chairman and the General
Counsel and Company Secretary of all potential new outside
interests and actual or percewed conllicts of interest that may
affect them in their roles as Directors of British Land Al potential
contflicts of interest are autherised by the Board and the register of
Directors’ interests is reviewed by the full Board at least annually.

The Board also reviews the Qirectors’ Interests Policy an an annual
basis Following the last review in November 2018, the Board
conctuded that the pelicy continued o operate effectively.



Re-election

The Board has reviewed the Nomination Commuttee’s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Director remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circumsiances which are ukely 1o affect, or coulo appear to aflect,
that judgement As a result, the Board as a whoie considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors is independent and s of the
stature and has the required experience to perferm his or her role
as an independent Director The results of the Board evaluation
also confirmn the Board's beliet that each Non-Executive Dwrector
standing for re-election at the 2019 AGM remains commuitled to
their role within British Land and continues to perform effectivety

Board evaluation

The eifectiveness of the Board and its Commuttees is reviewed
annually, with an ndependent, externatly facilitated review being
conducied at (east once every three years The next external review
will be 1in 2021.

tn 2019, an internal evaluation of the Board and its Commuttees
was conducted by the General Counsel and Company Secretary
oy circulahing guestennaires, seeking quantitative and quawative
feedback and reporting the cutcomes to the Board Inadditton

to the formal evaluation, the Charrman met each Non-Executive
Direcior individuatly during the year to discuss thesr centribution
to the Board The Senior Independent Director led the appraisal
of the Chairman s performance by the Non-Executive Directors,
with the wiewe of the Executive Directors alsn heino taken

Into censideraton

The Chairman and Chief Executive presented their appraisals

of the performance of the Chuef Executive and other Executive
Directors respectively These appraisals were taken ito account
when considering the performance of the Board as a whole as
well as in relation to annual and long term incentive awards

The evaluation of the Board and its Commuttees concluded that
the Board and its Committees continued to operate effectively
with a hagh standard of performance throughout the year.

The focus far the corming year will be-

- continuing development of the Board's understanding of culture
and values

- continuing the development of succession plans

~ refining agendas and tmings 1o enhance discussion and debate
around important 1ssues

Accountability

Financial and business reporting

The Board 1s responsible for preparing the Annual Repori and
contirms in the Owrectors’ responsibitity statement set out on

page 113 that 1t believes that the Annual Report, taken as a whole,
15 fair, balanced and understandable, and provides the imformation
necessary o assess Bntish Land's positton, performance,
business model and strategy The basis on which the Company
creates and preserves value over the long term s described in

the Strategic Report

The Audit Committee reviewed the procedure undertaken to
enable the Board io provide the fair, balanced and understandable
confirmation to shareholders Meetings were held between the
Group Financial Controlier, Head of Investor Relations and other
senior employees ta review and document the key considerauens
undertaken and a detailed report was then presented to the

Audit Commitee.

Risk management and internal control

The Board determtnes the extent and nature of the risks it is
prepared to take in order to achieve the Company s strategic
objectwes. The Board has responsibility for the Cempany s
overall approach to nsk management and internal control which
includes ensuring the design and implementation of approprate
risk management and internal control systems. Oversight of the
effectiveness of these systerns is delegated to the Audit Comrmittee
which undertakes regular reviews to ensure that the Group s
wdentifying, considering and as far as practicable mitigating the
risks for the business

The Board confirms that a robust assessment of the principal
rsxs facing the Compary, nciod ng those that would threatent's

business model, future performance, solvency or liguidity, was
carried out during the year

Briish Land's approach to risk, including the roles of the Board
and the Audit Comrmuttee n setting risk appetrte and monitoring
risk exposure, 1s detailed in the Managing risk in delivering our

As well as complying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC ‘Guidance on risk
managerment, internal control and related financial and business
reporting’ and the Company's internat control framework operates
in line with the recommendations set out in the internationally
recogrused COSO Internal Controf Integrated Framework

The Company 1s cammitted to conducting its business inan
ethical manner, with integrity and in line with all relevant laws
and regulations The Group has adapted a number of policies
and procedures including polictes and training on anti-bribery
and corruption and iraud awareness, infarmation security and
GOPR All employees are made aware of the Group's policies
through the Employee Handbook and regular bulleting and also
receive {raining appropriate o their roles and responsibilities.

The Audit Comimittee reviews the eftectiveness of the Group s
system of internal control annually. including the systems of
control for material joint ventures and funds The Group's internal
controk system ts built on the following fundamentat principles,
and 1 subject to review by internal audit

- & defined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board

- adetailed authorisation grecess. no materal commitments are
enlered o without thorough review and approval by an
authonsed persan

- {ormal documentation of all significant transactions

- arcbust system of business and financial planring including
cash tlows and profitabibity farecasting, with scenaro analysis
performed on major corporate, property and financing proposals

- arobust process for property invesiment appraisals

- momtoring of key outcomes, parucularly expenditure and
performance of significant invesiments, aganst budget
and forecast
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

- clearly defined policies and review of actual performance against
policies

- benchmarking of property performance against external
sources such as the Investment Property Databank

- key controls testing
- acomprehensweg property and corporate insurance programme
- aformal whistleblowsng policy

Ouring the course of its review for the year ended 31 March 2019,
and to the date of thus Repart, the Audit Comerultee has not
identified, nor been adwised of, 3 failing or weakness which «t has
determined to be sigmificant.

Going concern and viabitity statements

During the year the Board assessed the appropriateness of using
the ‘going concern basis of accounting in the hnancial staternents
The assessment considered future cash Hows and debt facilities

lto assess the iquid ity risk of the Company) and the availability of
finance (1o assess the salvency risk] The assessment covered the
12-moath penad required by the ‘going concern” basis af accounting

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prospects of the Group over a five-year period, which 1s deemed
appropnate far the viability statement {n preparing the viability
statement the Board considered the principal risks set out on
pages 58 to 61 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
forecasts, all of which are considered to have a reasonable

ikaitinoad of impacong the wabibity of the Company Full detads of
this assessment are set oul on page 65.

Foltowing these assessments the Directors believe that the Group
15 well placed te manage its inancing and other business risks
satisfactorly and have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in eperation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report. They
therefore consider il appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in prepaning the financial statements.

The Board also considers that the Company and the Group will be
able to continue in gperation and meet its Labilities as they fall due
over the periad ending 31 March 2024.

Taxation

Our principles of good governance extend to our respansible
approach ta tax Our tax strategy {'Our Approach to Tax), available
on our website britishland.com/governance, is approved by the
Board and 1s 1n hine with the Group’s long term values, cutture
and strategy.

Remuneration
The Oirectors’ Remuneration Report s set out on pages 88 to 109.

In accordance with the Code. the Remuneration Committee s
recommending a new Rermuneration Policy for approval at the
2019 AGM. The recommended Remuneration Policy is set out
on pages 92 to 94.

Relations with stakeholders

The Board 1s commutted to maintaining open channels of
communication with ail of the Company’s stakeholders. An
important part of this is prowiding a clear explanation of the
Company's strategy and objectives, and ensuring that feedback
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15 acknowledged, considered and, where appropriate, acted upon
Stakeholder feedback i1s essential to the success of our business,
so we ensure the Chairman, Seniar Independent Director and
Executive Dhrectars are avatlable to address any concerns our
stakeholders may wish to raise

Brissh Land aims to be informative and accessible to all
shareholders. Announcements relating to the Group’s financial
results and Key events are provided it a timely manner and are
easily accessible via our website and social media The Group
website also provides detaled information on cur assels, as well
as case studies illustrating our strategy, mcluding our
sustainability activities,

British Land has a dedicated Investor Relations team which (s
available to respond to any questions or concerns nvestors may
have on an ad hoc basis.

All stakeholders are able to contact the Company directly via the
contacts page on our website. bnitishland.com/conlacts

To read mere on our key stakeholders, the 1ssues that matter
to them and how we engage with them, go to page 26

Annual General Meeting

Directors attend the AGM, which provides relail shareholders in
particular with an oppartunity to hear directly from the Board on
the Company's performance over the past year, its strategy and the
abjectives for the year ahead The AGM also provides sharehotders

e gnonrtumhstn ack nupcti
e PRROCURHY 10 38X queslion

The 2018 AGM was attended by approximately 110 shareholders

All resolutions were voted on by way of a poll and passed by the
required majority The resulls of the AGM voling are announced to
the London Stock Exchange as soon as practicabie following the
AGM and also made available on the Company's website

Retail shareholders

Our Shareholders Centre’ on our website bntishtand com/
shareholders-centre includes infarmation on the AGM, dividends,
shareholder communication, how to contact gur registrar, Equinit,
and other useful resources for shareholders

Institutional investors

Institutional investors and analysts receve regular
communications fram the Company, including details of investor
relations events [see the chart to the right}, one-ts-one and group
meetings with Executive Directors, and tours of our major assets,
This year, our investor relations actvity included analyst and
mvestor events comprising presentations and tours of Broadgate
and Canada Water, and o CFO investor dinner in total, the Chief
Executive, Chuel Financial Officer and Investor Relations team met
with representatives from 215 institutions during the year ended
31 March 2019. We periedically commission an independent
investor perception study, which provides feedback on our strategy,
hughlights material concerns from key (nvestors and is presented
to the Board.

The Executive tearn 1s commutted to ensuring that shareholder
views, both positive and negative, are relayed back lo the Board.
The Chief Executive provides a written report at each scheduled
Board meeting which includes direct market feedback on
actwity during the perrod and commentary on any meelings
with majar shareholders



Key investor relations activities

during the year
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- Full year results presentation

- Fullyear results roadshow, Landon

- Investar roadshow, Frankturt

- Investar property conference, Netherlands

~ Analyst & investor presentation
& tour, Canada Water

- |nvestar property conference,
MNew York
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- Investor property conference, London
- Prwvate client investor roadshow, London
- Investor roadshow, Paris

- Analyst & investor presentation & tour,
Broadgate

- AGM
- Private chien! invesicr

breakfast. London AGM
- US roadshow
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Lenders and bondholders
The Board recagruses the contribution made by our
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which helps the Board understand thewr investment
appetite and critena

leaders and bondholders Through our Treasury team, the
Group maintains an apen dislogue with our debt prowders
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Community

British Land recognises that the people who live in and
arcund our assets are essential to creating Places People
Prefer, and therefore to the success of our business
Investing in these communities 1s an Hmportant part of
our approach, and our ‘Local Charter’ detaits how we
build trust by making pasitive contributions locally Our
Community Funding Guidelines’ set oul how we allocate
funding, with a particutar focus on imliatives close to our
assets that provide opportunities to tocal people through
education, emptoyment and training Both documents can
be found on our website at britishland com/policies

Qur approach to social and environmental reporting is set
cut an pages 28 to 29

- Industry dinner

- Half year resutts
Half year results roadshow, London
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Investor roadshow, Edinburgh

i

Investor propertly conference, London
- Investor dinner, London

- Investor roadshow,
Frankfurt & Zunich

- investor property
conference, Miarm

- |nvestor property
conference, London

@
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and
integrity of the financial
reporting and valuation

process

fam pieased to present the report of the Audit Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

In Line with the focus on improved governance and clear,

relevant and concise reporting, this report of the Audit Commutiee
highl:ghts the main 1ssues which arose during the year and

how they were addressed

Role and responsibilities
The prinaipal responsibibties of the Cormmittee are.

Financial reporting - Monitoring the integnity of the Company's
financial statements and any formal annguncements relating to
financial performance, and considering significant financial
reporting 1ssues, judgements and estimates

External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external
auditor, assessing effectiveness and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of, and the policy for non-audit
services provided by, the external auditor

Internal Audit - Monitoring and reviewing reports on the work
performed by the internat auditor and reviewing effectiveness,
including its plans and resourcing

Risk management and internal controls ~ Reviewing the system
of internal control and risk management

Investment and develaptnent property valuations - Conswering

the valuation process and outcome and the effectiveness of the
Company's valuers

80  BritishLand | Annual Report and Accounts 201%

Key areas of focus

Ulumately, the Committee continues to play 2 key rol2 in
overseeing the integnity of the Group's financial statements,
including assessing whether the Annual Report 1s fair, balanced
and underslandable, as well as ensuring that a sound systemn
of nsk management and internal control 15 0 place.

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the process for
dentdication and mdigation of key business risks, challenging
management actions where appropniate The Committee has

also reviewed Lhe appropriateness of the accounting treatment of
significant transactions, including asset acquisitions and disposals,
along with scrutinising the valuatien of the Group's property assets
as well as the effectiveness of the valuers.

The Committee cantinued to monitor the implementation of the
new valuer policy which was approved in 2017, As at 31 March 2019
65% of the partfolio was under new instruction with a further 17%

sanpa vezr The Cammuttes ranhanoe
wng year The Dommutles canhinnes

Ane tn he rotendered the in

to appreciate the professionalism of all its vatuers during the
tender process

Committee composition and governance

There have been no changes to the membership af the Commuittee
during the year to 31 March 2019 The Commuttee continues to

be ¢composed solely of independent Non-Executive Directors with
sufficient financiat expenience, commercial acurnen and sector
knowledge to fullil their respensiilities Members’ attendance at
Commuttee meetings 1s set out in the following table.

Date of yeming
Qirector Posuon the Commiies  Attendance
Tim Score Chairman 20 Mar 2014 3/3
Alastarr Hughes Member { Jan 2018 3/3
Nicholas Macpherson Member 1 Apr 2017 33
Rehbecca Worthington Member 1 Jan 2018 3/3

The Board 15 salislied that the Committee as a whale has
campetence retevant to the real estate secior, For the purposes of
the UK Corporate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed to
rmeet the specific requirement of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience

With effect from the conclusion of the 2019 AGM, Rebecca will
succeed me as Chairman of the Commuttee as | begin my rele as
Chairman of the Group



Members of the senior management team, including the Chief
Financial Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary,
Group Financial Controlter, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of both externat and 1nternal auditors are ynvited
to attend each Commuttee meeting, In addiion, the Chairman of
the Board, Chie! Executive Officer, Head of investor Relations,
Head of Planning and Analysis and other key employees are
invited Lo attend part, or all, of specthic Commuittee meetings.

The Committee meets privately with both externat and internal
auditors alter each scheduled meeting and centinues to be
catighed that neither 1s being unduly influenced by management
As Commuttee Chairman, | additionally hotd regutar meetings
wath the Chief Executive Officer, Chuel Financial Officer and other
members of management to obtamn a good understanding of key
issues affecting the Group and am thereby able 1o identify those
matters which require meaningful discussion at Committee
meetings |also meet the external audit partner, internal audit
partneér and representalives fram each of (e valuers privalely o
discuss any matters they wish to raise or concerns they may have

Committee effectiveness

The Committee assessed its own effectiveness during the

year through an internal guestionnare The Commuttee

reviews 1ts terms of reference on an annual basis and these
have been updated to reflect the requirements of the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code The current terms of reference
were effective from 1 Aprit 2019 and are available an our website
at britishland com/commutiees

The information below sets out i detail the actvity undertaken
by the Commuttee during the year ended 31 March 2019 | hope
that you find it useful 1n understanding our work

{»« Ghors-

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Commuittee

Financial reporting

The Committee continues to review the content and tone of the
preliminary results press release, Annuat Repert and half year
results at the request of the Board Orafts of the Annual Repart
are reviewed by the Commitiee Chairman and the Committee as
a whole grior to formal consideration by the Board, wath sufficient
time provided for feedback

The Commuittee reviewed the key messaging included in the Annual
Report and half year results, paying pariscular attention ta those
matters considered to be important to the Group by wirtue of their
si12e, compiexity, tevel of judgemnent required ana potenual wmpact
on the financial statements and wider business model. Any tssues
which were deemed io be significant were debated openly by the
Commuttee members and other attendees, including management,
externai and internal auditors

Tha Cem

hzs satiched itgelf that the controlg nver the
accuracy and consistency of the information presented in the
Annuat Report are robust The Commitiee thereiore recommended
1o the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
provided stakeholders with the necessary information to assess

the Group s posttion, performance, business modet and sirategy
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

The significant 1ssues considered by the Commtttee in relation te the financial statements duning the year ended 31 March 2019, and the actions
taken to address these 1ssues, are set out in the fallowing table.

Significant issues considered

How these issues were addressed

Going
concern
statement

The appropriateness of preparing
the Group hnancial statements
0n a going concern basis

The Commitiee reviewed management’s analysis supporting the going concern
basis of preparation This included consideration of forecast cash flows, availability
of commutted debt facilities and expected covenani headraem The Commutiee also
recewed a report lram the external auditar on the results of the testing undertaken
on management’'s analysis.

As a result of the assessment undertaken, the Commiitee satisfied iself that the
going cancern basis of preparation remained appropriate

The going concern statement 15 set out on page 78

Viability
statement

Whether the asgessment
undertaken by management
regarding the Group's long term
viability appropriately reftects the

prospects of the Group and covers

an appropriate period of tme

The Cormrruitee considered whether management’s assessment adequately reflecied the
Group’s nsk appetite and principal nsks as disclosed on pages 58 to &1, whether the
period covered by the statement was reasonable given the strategy of the Group and the
environment in which It operates. and whether the assumptions and sensitivities identified,
and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios tn the context of solvency or
liquidity. The Committee also considered a report from the external auditor

The Commuttee concurred with management's assessment and recommended the
viability staternent to the Board.

The viability statement, together with further detaits on the assessmenlt undertaken, Is set
out an page 65

Accounting
for significant

WAIISACUIUES

The accounting trealment of
sigruficant property acguisitions,
na and teasing

dicnmcale fin 13 and
1§ SnC {835ing

L FPIIG T, it re bt
transactions s a recurring risk
for the Group with non-siandard
accounting eniries required,
and in some cases Management

sudgement applied

The Committee reviewed management papers on key judgerents, including those for
significant transactions, as well as the external auditar’s findings on these matiers

In parucular, the Commitiee considered the accounting treatment of the share buyback
programme, the sale of S Broadgate and the treatment of {easing transactions within the
London Offices portfolio

The external auditor confirmed that management's judgements 1n relation to these
transactions were appropniale and reasonable and the Committee agreed with this
conclusion

REIT status

Mamntenance of the Group's REIT
status through comphiance with

certain conditrons has a significant

impact on the Group’s results.

The Committee reviewed the Company’s compliance with the REIT tests. Management
presented detais of the methodology and results of their process for REIT testing, with
any change in long terrn trends, and the tevel of headraom, highlighted The Caommuitee
atso considered the external auditer’s review of the REIT tests performed by management

The Commuttee concluded that the Company's REIT status had been maintained
the year,

Valuation of
property
portfolio

The valuation of investment and

devetopment properties conducted

by external valuers is inherently
subjective as it s undertaken on
the basis of assumptions made by
the valuers which may not prove
ta be accurate.

The outcome of the valuation s

signuficant to the Group in terms
of nvestment decisions, resulis
and remuneration

The external valuers presented their reports to the Commutiee prior to the half year and
fuil year resutts, providing an overview of the UK property market and summansing the
perforrmance of the Group s assets. Significant judgements were alse tighlighted.

The Commuttee analysed the reports and reviewed the valuation outcomes, challenging
assumptions made where thought fit. In particular, with the smplementation of the second
stage of the new valuer appointment policy, the Commuttee paid specific attention to those
assets which were subjec! to a new valuation instruction during the year

The Committee was satisfied wath the valuation process and the effectiveness of the
Company's valuers. The Commuttee also approved the relevant valuation disclosures to be
wncluded in the Annual Report.

Revenue
recognition

For certain transactions,
judgement s applied by
rmanagement as te whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial year.

The Committee and the external auditor separately considered the appropriateness

of the accounting treatment applied by management in relation to revenue recognition.
In particular, the Committee considered the treatment of the sale of third party property
management rights to Savills and the timing of contingent consideration and costs.

The Commitiee considered the scope of the accounting standard and agreed with the
reasonableness of judgements made
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External Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC) was appointed as the Group's
external auditor for the 2019 Annual Report foltowing a formal
competitive tender The Cammuttee will consider the need for a
competitive tender far the rote of externat audsor every five years
and, tn accordance with legistation and its awn terms of reference,
will ensure that a competitive tender takes place at least every

10 years. The Group’s audt engagement partnec 15 John Waters,
who has been in role since PwC’'s appaintment, and as required by
the applicable legislation this Annual Report and Accounts will be
tus final year as audi engagement partner |woutd tike to thank
John for his hard work and diligence over the last five years and,
following a ngorous selection process, welcome Sandra Dowling
as PwC’s new appointment as audit engagement partner.

The Commuttee has also considered the rationate for @ competitive
tender following PwC s fifth year of appointment as external
auditer In our view, given the knowledge, the robustness of
chatlenge and the continuing effectiveness of PwC in their role

as external auditor, the Committee believe it is in the best interests
of shareholders for PwC to remaen as external auditor for the
following financial year The Commuttee will conlinue (o review this
annually ahead of the requirement for a competitive tender waithin
10 years as defined by legislation

There are no cantractual obhigations : place which would restrict
the Commnitlee’s selection of a different audttor

Tha 2

H inn the ralahanshn

.- I
with the external auditar and for censidering their terms of
engagemen!, remuneration, eflectiveness, independence and
continued objectvity The Commuttee annually reviews the audit
requirements of the Group, for the business and in the context of
the external envicenment, placing great iImportance on ensuring
a hgh quality, effective external audit process

Fees and non-audit services

The Comsruttee discussed the audit fee for the 2019 Annuat Report
with the external auditor and approved the proposed fee on behali
of the Board

tn addison, the Group has adopted a policy for the provisien of
non-audi services by the external auditor The policy helps to
safeguard the externat auditor’s sndependence and objectvity The
policy allows the external auditor to provide the foltowing non-audit
services to Bribsh Land where they are considered to be the rost
appropriate prowider-

- audit related seraces mncluding formal reporting relating to
berrowings, shareholder and other circutars and work in respect
of acquisttions and disposals |n some circumstances, the
external auditor 15 required 1o carry cut the work because of
their office In other circumstances, selection would depend
on which firm was best suited to prowide the services required

- sustainability assurance: PwC currently provides an assurance

oprnion 1o the Company over setected sustainability data This
appontment 1s reviewed annually

I addition, the following protocols apply to aon-audi fees

- total non-audit fees are lrmited to 70% of the audit fees in
any one year Addiwonally, the ratio of audit to non-audit fees
15 calcutated in line with the methodology set out in the
2014 £U Regulations

- Commuttee approval is required where there right be queastions
as to whether the external auddor has a conflict of interest

- the Audit Committee Chairman is required to approve in advancs
each additeonat project or incremental fee between £25.000 and
£100.000. and Committee approval 1s required for any additional
projects over £100,000

During the year the engagement relating to sustainability
assurance was appraved by the Audit Committee Chairman on the
basis that PwC were best placed to provide the service and that it
created no conflict of interest with their role as externat auditor

Total tees for non-audit services amounted to £0 'm, which
represents 23% of the total Group audit fees payable for the year
ended 31 March 2019 DBetails of ail fees charged by the externat
auditar during the year are set out on cage 132

The Commuttee ts satisfied that the Company has complied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audsit Services tor Large Companies
Market Investigation [Mandatory Use of Competitive Processes and
Audit Cornmuttee Responsibilities) Order 2014, published by the
Competition and Markets Authonily on 24 September 2014

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evaluation of the external auditor s
performance was undertaken by way of a questionnzaire completed
by key stakeholders across the Group, including senior members
of the Finance team The review took into accouat the quality of
planmng, detivery and execution of the audit including the audit

of subsidiary compantes], the techmical competence and sirategic
knowledge of the audit team and the effectiveness of reporting
and communicaiion between the audit team and management

PwC aiso provide the Comimittee with an annuat report on its
ndependence, objectmty and compliance with statutory, regulatary
and ethical standards. For the year ended 31 March 2019, as for
the prior year, the exiernal auditor confirmed that it continued to
maintain appropriate internal safeguards to ensure its
independence and abjectwity.

The Committee concluded that the quality of the external auditor s
work, and the knowledge and competence af the audit team, had
been mamtained at an appropnate standard during the year,

The Committee therefore recommended io the Board that a
resolution to reappoint PwC as externai audifor of the Company
be put to shareholders at the 2019 AGM
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

internat Audit

The role of nternal Audtt 15 to act as an independent and cbjective
assurance function, designed to improve the effectiveness of the
governance, nsk management and internal controls framework
in miligating the key risks of British Land. Ernst & Young LLP [EY]
continue to provide internat audnt services to British Land and
aitended all Commuttee meetings to present their audit findings
and the status of management aclions

During the year, the Commuitee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan, including constderation of the plan’s alignment
to the principal risks of the Group and its joint ventures Internal
audits completed during the year included those In relation to
cybersecurity, GDPR programme design effectiveness, health and
safety and environmental gevernance, 1ax and crisis management
Overall, na significant control 1ssues were identified although
several process and control impraovements were propased. with
follow up audits scheduted where necessary

Effectiveness

The annual effectveness review of the internal audrtor included
consderation of the Internai Audst charter which detines EY s

role and responsibilities, review of the quality of the audit work
undertaken and the skills and competance of the audit teams

The Committee concluded that EY continued to discharge its duties
as internal audior effectively and should continue in the rote for
the year commencing 1 Apnil 2019

Risk management and internal controls

The Board has detegated responsitility for overseeing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and nternal cantrol
systems to the Committee The Comumuttee has oversight of

the activities of the executive Risk Comimittee, recening mmutes
of ail Risk Committee meetings and discussing any significant
matters raised.

At the full and half year, the Committee reviewed the Group's
principal nisks including consideration of how risk exposures
have changed during the period and any emerging risks in the
Company s risk register. Both external and internal nsks are
reviewed and their effect on the Company's strategic aims
considered. The Commuttee considered the Group s risk appetite,
concluding that it remains set at an appropnate ievel to achieve
the Group’s strategic goals without taking undue nisk. The Board
accepted the Commuittee’s recommendation lor the Group's nisk
appetite, ensurng that it was set at an apprapriate level to achieve
strategic goals without talung undue risk

The Commuttee also reviewed Lthe status of key risk indicators
throughout the year againsi the risk appetite set, focusing on any
which were outside optimal ranges. The Committee gave particuiar
attention to the risks relating to tenant credit risk exposure as well
as continuing and increasing political uncertainty around the UK's
decision to leave the EU
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Half yearly. in conjunction with the internat auditor, management
reports o the Committee on the effectiveness of internal controls,
highlighting control 1ssues identified through the exceptions
reparting process Risk areas identified are considered for
incorporation in the internal Audit plan and the findings of internal
audits are laken inte account when dentifying and evaluating
risks within the usiness Key observations and management
actions are reparied to, and debated by, the Commitee, For the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Committee has not identified,

nor been advised of, a failing or weakness which it has deemed

1o be significant.

At the request of the Remuneration Committee, the Commuttee
considers annually the level of risk taken by management

and whether this affects the performance of the Company. The
Remuneration Committee takes this confirmation into account
when determining incentive awards granted to the Executive
Directors and semor management Taking ilo account reports
received on internal key controls and risk management, and the
results of the internal audit reviews, the Committee concluded
that for the year ended 31 March 2019 there was na evidence of
excessive risk taking by management which ought to be taken
Into account by the Remuneration Commitiee when determining
incentive awards

The Group's whistleblowing arrangements which enable all staff,
including temparary and agency staff, suppliers and accupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing rermained unchanged during
the year Tnese arrangements, which are manitored by the
General Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the
Committee annually, inctude an independent and confidential
whistleblowing service provided by a third party The Committee
receved a summary of all whistleblowing reports recewved
during the year and concluded that each had been dealt

with appropriately

The Commutiee also reviewed the Group's tax strategy which sets
out the Group's appreoach to risk managerment and governance In
relation to UK taxauon, ils attitude towards tax planming, the level
of risk the Group s prepared to accept in relation to tax and

its relationship with HM Revenue & Customs The resulting
decument ['Qur Approach to Tax'] was approved by the

Board and is avaitable cn the Company's website

loriishland com/governancel.

Additional information on the Cornpany’s internat controls systems
15 set outin the Managing risk (n delivering our strategy sectign
on pages 54 to 57



Investment and development property valuations

The external valuation of British Land's property porifolio 15 3 key
determinant of the Group's balance sheel, its performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Birectors and semor management
The Commuttee 1s commutted to the rigarous monitering and
review of the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuation
process itself The Group’s valuers are now CBRE, Knight Frank,
Jones Lang LaSalle {JLL] and Cushman & Wakelield.

The Commuttee reviews the effectiveness of the external vatuers
bi-annually, fecusing on a guantitative analysis of capital values,
yield benchmarking, avaitability of comparable market ewdence
and major autliers {o subsector mavements, with an annual
qualitative review of the level of service recewed {rom each valuer.

The valuers attend Commuttee meetings at which the fult and hatf
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reports which
include details of the valuation process, market conditions and
any significant judgements made The external auditor reviews
the valuations and valuation process, having had full access to
the valuers to determene that due process had been {ollowed

and agprapnate infermation ysed hefore separately reparting is
findings to the Comuttee The valuation process 1s also subject
1o regular review by Internal Audu

British Land has fixed fee arrangements in place with the valuers
i retation to the valuation of wholly-owned assets, in hine with
the recommendations of the Carsberg Committee Report

u s corihieatee af LORE ¥n: nh} \"Hnl,

JLL and Cushman & Wakefield can be found an our websute

at briishland com/reports

Focus for the coming year

During the year ending 31 March 2020 the Cemmittee witl
continue 1o focus on the processes by which the Board identifies,
assesses, monitors, manages and mitgates risk, particularly in
tight of the chatienging condittons within the retail sector. The
Commuttee wilt also continue to monitor key risk areas for the
business, particularly those scheduled for review by Internal Audit
nciuding, but not brmited to, non-development related supplier fisk
management and financiat IT systern upgrades. The Comrruttee
will have parlicular interest in the aew reporting requirerments
arsing from the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and will
describe in the 2020 Annual Repert how they have been mel.
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THE REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee leads
the process for Board

appointments

Welcome to the report of the Nomination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2019%.

Role and responsibilities
The Commuttee’s principal responsibilities rematn:

- reviewing the structure, size and compasitron lincluding the
shills, knowledge and experience and dversityl of the Board
and its Commuttees and recommending changes to the Board

- considering succession plannng for Directors and other
senior executives

- reviewing the independence and time carmumitrnent
requirements of Non-Executive Directors

- making recommendations as to the Directors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM.

Full details of the Commuttee’s role and responsibilities are
set out in 1fs terms of reference avarlable on our website at
prinshland.comf/cornmittees

Committee compuosition and governance

The Commuttee has three members Willam Jackson and

Tirn Scare, both independent Non-Executive Threctars, while |
continue to Chair the Comrmuttee | refer you to the page opposite
for Willlam Jackson's report on the process for appointing my
successor as Chairman, in which | took no part.

Detans of the Comrmutiee’'s membership and attendance at
meelings is set out in the following table and the table an page 87-

Oate of Commuiee

Oirecior Posiion appomiment Attendance
John Gildersleeve Chairman 1 Jan 2013 11
William Jackson Member 11 Apr 2011 1/1
Tim Score Member 1 Apr 2017 11

86  BritishLand | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Diversity

The Cammittee, the Board of Oirectors and British Land as a
whole continue ta pay full regard to the benefits of diversity,
including gender diversity, both when searching for candidates
for Board appointments and when the Company is searching far
candidates for other appomntments

The Committee’s Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy aspires

for women to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020, as
well as having regard to other aspects of diversity when making
recruitment decisions at both Board and senior management tevel

British Lang currently has thres temale Board members Lynn
Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Worthington, all of whom
are Non-Executive Directors. Following Tim Raberts and Charles
Maudsley stepping down from the Board, this represents 27%
fernale Board membership [2018: 25%) Following my departure
after the 2019 AGM., aur target of 30% will have been achieved.

The Board Diversily and Inclusion Policy also sets out 8ntish
Land’s commitment io sirengthen the gender balance on British
tand s ieadership and senior management iesms Further
snformation on diversity within British Land ¢s available on our
website britishland.com/inctusive-culture.

We recently published our gender pay gap report The report
15 available on our website britishland.com/gender-pay-gap
and summarised on page 70

Board membership

The Committtee regularly reviews the structure, size and composiion
of the Board n order 10 ensure it 15 made up of the night people with
the requisite skills and expenence. ncluding diversity of thought and
appraach, who can prowide strong and effective leadership to the
husiness and suppoct delivery of the Campany’s strategy

Succession planning

The Committee 15 responsible for reviewing the succession plans for
the Board, including the Chiet Executive The succession plans tor

the Executive Directors are prepared on immediate, medium and long
term bases while those for Non-Executive Directors reflect the need
to refresh the Board regularly Such plans take account of the tenure
of individual members. The Comimittee’s review of Executive Director
suceession plans includes consideralion of the process for talent
development within the organisation ta create a pipeline to the Boacd

The Chief Executive, with the support of the HR Director, 1s responsible
for developing succession pians for executives and senior management
which are presented to and considered by the Commuttee

A number of 1ssues that would normally be dealt with by the
Committee were discussed at full Board meetings, so as to give
the Board the benefit of hearing the presentations and discussion
first hand. The succession plans for Executive Directors and semior
managers were presented and discussed wath the full Beard in
May 2018 Similariy, the changes to the nurnbers of Executive
Directors on the Board were discussed in January with the Board
(excluding the potentially conilicled Executve Directors)



Appointment of new Chairman

in light of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, fled an
expanded Nomination Committee which met three times to
consider the succession plan for the role of Chairman The
expanded Commuttee included all Non-Executive Directors
with the exception of John Gildersleeve and Tim Score (who
had expressed interest n the rote),

This Committee was assisted by Luke Meynell of Russell
Reynolds Assocrates, who produced a list of 10 external
potential candidates. of whom five were women and two

were fram ethmic mnortties, who were capablte of fulhilbng the
job description, met the persanal characteristics required and
were interested (n the oosttion of a FTSE 100 Chairman Al
were ranked according to the evidence they displayed of
having met the critena reguired in the categories of Board/
listed company expenignce, property exposure, style/cultural
fit and capacity

The Caomrruttee considered the ments of an internal candidate
as opposed to an external candidate taking into account

the prohile and tenure of expenence on the Board. Given the
calibre of the internal candidate, the Commuttee unanimously
agreed that the best interests of the Company would be
served by appainting Tim Score to succeed John Gildersieeve

Director Posiuion Attendance
Witliam Jackson Chairman 3/3
Alastarr Hughes Member 3/3
Nick Macpherson Member 3/3
Laura Wade-Gery! Member 2/3
Lynn Gladden Member 3/3
Preben Prebensen Mermber 3/3
Rebecca Worthington Member 3/3

1 Laura Wade-Gery was unable (o attend one Commitiee meeting that
was called on short police and which was immediately foltowed by
a Board meeung

Witham Jackson

Senior Independent Director
Other than the provision of recruitment consultancy

services Russell Reynolds Assooiates has no connection
with British Land.

Independence and re-election

Prior to recommending the re-appointment of any Non-Executive
Directer to the Board, the Cornmittee assesses their continued
independence, the time commitment reguired and whether the
re-appantment would be 1n the best nterests of the Company
Detailed consideration s gven to each Non-Executive Director’s
contreibution Lo the Board and its Commuttees, together with the
overall balance of knowledge, skitls, experience and diversity

Following its review, the Commitiee 1s of the opiion that each
Non-Executive Director continues to demonstrate commitment
to hus or her role as 2 member of the Board and tis Commuttees,
discharges his ar her duties effectively and that each makes a
valuable rontributian to the leadership of the Company for the
benefit of atl stakeholders Accordingly, the Commuttee
recammended to the Board that resolutians to re-etect each
Non-Execuive Director be proposed as appropriate to the AGM
alongside the resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directors

Therefare, in accordance with the Code, each of the Directors in
role at the date of this Anauat Report, with the exceotion of myself,
will ofter themsetves for re-election Biographies for each Direclor
can be found on pages 6810 70

Committee effectiveness

The Comrmuttee assessed its own effectiveness during the year

as part of the internal Board evaluation and reviews its terms of
reference on an annual basis These have been updated to reflect
the requirements of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code. The
current terms of reference were effectve from 1 Apri 2019 and are
avatable on our website at britishtand com/committees

Focus for the coming year

Hawing overseen significant changes to membership of the Board
and leadership team over the last 12 months, the Commuttee
intends to focus its attenton for the coming year on continuing
the progress an the gender balance of the leadership team

and reviewing the succession plans for the Board and senior
management, iIncluding improving gender and ethnic diversity.

@V%ﬁé}//ﬂf%

John Gitdersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPORT

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives
with our strategy

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2019 which
sncludes sur new Remungration Policy and the Company's Annuat
Report on Rermuneration Qur Directors’ Remuneration Policy was
last appraved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM and as a result 1s
betng presented to shareholders for approvat agan at the 2019 AGM

The Annual Report on Remuneration which describes how the
Committee tmplements the Remuneration Policy is set out on
pages 97 to 109 and s subject to an advisory vote at this year's
AGM The current policy 15 available in the 2016 Annual Report on
our wehsite at britishland.com/commuittees.

Qver the tast year the British Land Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the current Policy in detail to ensure that it1s working
effectively, 15 aligned 1o both shareholders” and other key
stakeholders’ interests and continues to eperate in bne with the
long term business sirategy, the culture and values We have also
reviewed the Policy in hght of the UK Corporate Gavernance Code’s
latest requirements including the five additional tests of stmplicity,
clarity, risk, predictabiity and propartionality

The new Remuneration Palicy 1s subject to a binding vote at thig
year's AGM and | hope to continue 1o have your support for the
Company’s remuneration arrangements
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Committee Membership
Lynn Gladden, Laurs Wade-Gery, Preben Prebensen and | were
members af the Remuneratian Comraiiiee throughout the year.

Board changes

There have been a number of Board changes this year Stmon
Carter joined as Chief Financial Officer on 21 May 2018, Tim
Reberts and Charles Maudsley stood down from the Beard on
31 March 2019 Charles left Briish L.and on that day and Ttm
Roberts remains an employee unul tis scheduled leaving date in
July 2019,

Tim and Charles were both eligible for an annual bonus for the
2018/2019 fimancial year, subject to performance of a combination
of quantitative and strategic objectives Both were considered
‘good teavers’ and, as such, thew cutstanding executive share plan
awards will be pro-rated and treated in line with the good leaver
prowisions for the respectve plan rutes Full detals are provided
on page 105

Remuneration in respect of the yvear ended

31 March 2019

As noted by ihe Campany Chairman, the business has conimnued
to make good strategic and aperationatl pragress over the year
against an uncertan economic and political backdrop. Financral
performance was robust, the Company's financial pesition s
strong and it took iImportant steps for long term value creation.
However, performance i the year to 31 March 2019 measured
by Total Property Return for property investments is expected o
underperform against the benchmark MSC1 Investment Property
Databank {IPD] indices which will be published at the end of May
2019. Thus underperformance agamst [P0 reflects the mux of
assets owned by British Land, which have performed well against
direct comparators but have underperformed relatively against
ather parts of the property market included in the IPD
benchmarks. The Board recognises this short term relative under
performance, but belteves tha! the Company has the right mux of
assets to outperferm in the longer term Rellecting this likely
under performance agamnst IPD, payouts from the annual incentive
plan are expected to fall from last year s level 10 be Circa 36% of
the maximum for the Executive Directors

For the LTIP, we measure performance against targets for Total
Property Return, Total Accounting Return and Total Shareholder
Return over three years relative to the oniginal benchmarks. We
are also forecasting an underperformance against the median of
the benchmarks aver this peried far the reasons stated above and
as a result expect the LTIP maturing this June to lapse in fult This
1$ the last year of awards under the Matching Share Plan which
measures both Rent Roll Growth and Total Shareholder Retwrn
and we expect half of these awards to vest i June this year.



The Remuneration Commutiee and the Board believe that these
outcomes demonstrate the Company’s rermuneration policy 1s
working well In recent vears Annual Bonus and LTIP vesting
have increased during penads of retative outperformance ang
decraased when our asset base has underperformed.

New Remuneration Policy

During the tast year the Committee conducted an extensive review
of the current Policy and conciuded that it 1s generally warking
well as demonsiraied above We are therefore not proposing
subsiantial changes to our policy However, we are recommending
a small number of amendments to both simplify and ensure the
Policy continues to be comptiant both with best gractice and the

Company's current objectives. The Commuttes recogrused that the
recent incentive pay-out levels have been well below the histarical
averages These lower pay-out levels reflect the impact of weaker

shareholder returns in the sector which have been the result of
market uncertainty since the EU referendum and more
chattenging retail markets. This important and strong connaction

between performance and reward 1s fully undeistood by the Board

and executives

The armengments to the Policy and how we will apply it, set outn
detait below, are intended to strengthen further the link between
pay and performance at Baitish Land, alignment to shareholders
and simplify ks operation They will also provide greater clanty to
execuitves an the largels the Soard wishes iem [0 acheve, and
reftect changes recommended under the revised UK Corporate
Governance Code.

} would note that 1n recommending an updated Palicy and how
we intend to operate It to shareholders we are not proposing to
in¢rease remuneration quantum, other than through the annual
review of salary tevels in the context of increases in ling with the
workiorce

The key changes to the Policy and how that Poticy will be operated

are as follows-

- Any salary increases granted witl continue 10 be normaliy no
higher than the average for the wider employee population.

- The maximum pensian contribution for new Executive Cirector
appointments will be at the level for the wider employee
population under the new Policy.

- Under the new Policy there 1s no change to the opportunity
under the Annuat incentive Plan or the Long-Term Incentive
Plan {150% of salary and 300% of salary respectively] The
measures we ntend to use alse remain largely unchanged as
these are key performance indicators of how British Land s
strategy is delivered

- We are proposing to simplify the Annual Incentive Plan and
introduce more specific targets. 70% of the bonus will continue
to be measured on gquantitative measures with the remainder
based on strategic measures. Currentty, we award up to 10%
far individual performance in the year and this s therefore being
consolidated within these two sets of measures The increased
focus on strategic measures reflects the desire to more directly
focus and incentivise management on the achions required to
detwer the long term relative outperformance measured by
the LTIP

- In addiion, the Commuttee has noted that the financial
performance range over which the Annuat lncentive Plan is
currently operated is very narrow, which means that under the
cusrent Pohicy small movements across targeted performance
integers can result in outsized impacts on bonus awards, both
up and down. The Commuttee 1s proposing to widen the target
range for the Annual Incentive Plan at both the top and bottom
end and 1n common with many other companies set the
threshold marginally below the Budget/Index performance for
the year We also intend to reduce the amount earned at the
threshold from a guarter to zero Taken together, these changes
are iniended to be no more favourable s terms of their financial
impact on executives Target bonus witl continue to be set at no
higher than half ¢f the maximum

Total Property Return [TPR], Tatal Accounting Return [TAR} and
Total Shareholder Return (TSR} will continue to be used as the
LTIP perfarmance meltrics We are however increasing the
weighting on TSR from 20% to 40% with a corresponding
decrease in the waighting on TAR Thes reflects the Beard's wich
te focus the Executive team on narrowing fover the long term
the discount 1o NAV at which shares w British Land trade,
somethuing the Board is focused on and reflects the feedback we
have had from many sharehelders who view this as a prierity

We are also significantiy simplifying the LTIP to remove the
opportuntty for executives to exchange Performance Share
awards before they are granted, for market-priced Share
Options [on a 1 for 4 ratio bas:s) in future This follows the
change 1n 2016 of removing Matching Share awards and will
leave British Land with enly the Performance Share award
element in the Long Term incentive Plan

In order to provide a more robust and simple method of
assessing performance under each of the LTIP metrics,
performance will be measured relative to a more taitored
market benchmark. Matching the benchmark witl result in
threshold vesting of 20% lunchanged) of each part of the award,
with the streich [for full veshing] set at an absolute level of
outperformance of the market benchmark The market
benchrnark will, where possible, be tailered to British Land's
asset base and size in order to provide a more robust yardstick
to assess performance

- TPR will continue to be assessed against a sector weighted
MSCHPD Index but st will be simplified by remowing the
additional siretch created when the benchmark grows by
more than 10% pa.

- TAR and TSR will be assessed against market capitalisation
weighted indices rather than a medtan ranked company s
performance This means that the largest REITs, which are
more directly comparable to British Land, will have a greater
wetghting than the smaller enes in the future

The Comruttee feels that these targets will be simpler, fairer and

more akigned to shareholders and other stakehalders.
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

In line with the provisions in the new Code, under the new Policy
the Remuneration Commuttee will be able to averride farmulaic
incentive cutcomes

- Recavery provistans have been toughened in the new Policy so
that bonus and LTIP payments can be recavered in the event of
corporate faliure or reputational damage (in addition to gross
misconduct, musstatement of financial statements and errorin
calculating the pay-outs} These will now apply for 3 years from
the date that performance s calcuiated

- fn line with the new Code, sharehotding guidelines will apply
to Executive Directors following the ¢essation of employment
for 2 years. We have developed these so that they meetinvestor
expectations and have provided the flexibility in the Policy
for them to be adapted between Palicy reviews by the
Commutiee to continue to meet those expectations over ime
The gudetine whitst ernployed will rermain at 225% for the
CE0 and be increased fram 150% to 200% of salary for other
Executive Directors.

Remuneration in respect of the year commencing
1 April 2019

Salary and Fees

The Commuttee has discussed and reviewed the Company's
annual salary review framewaork for all employees. it has also
reviswed the calanes of the Eyerytwe Durectors and concluded that
Chns Grigg's salary will be increased by 2% and Simon Carter s

by 3.1% which 15 below the average increase f{or the wider

employee population

In March, the Company announced that the Chairman would step
down on 19 July 2019. The Commuttee set the new Chairman s
annual fee at £10,000 less than the current Chairman’s at £375,000
as he cames inta hus new role

The Executive Directors also reviewed the fees payable o the
Non-Executive Directors and concluded the basic fee shoutd be
increased from £62,500 to £64.000 The new Corporate Social
Responsibility Chair would receive a tee of £14,000 and the
member £5,000 and the Nomination Commuitee member fee
would be increased from £4,000 to £5,000

Annual incentives

For the corming year, 70% of the annual incentive will continue to he
measured on quantilative measures with the remaining 30% based
on strategic measures Further information 1s provided on page 97.

Long Term Incentives

The Commuttee intends to grant kong term incentive awards during
this coming year at 250% of satary, the same level as last year
Details of the grants, incluchng performance conditions are set out
on page 98. The grants will be delayed until alter the AGM sa that,
if approved, the new Policy will apply to these grants
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CEQ Pension

The Committee has accepted the Chief Executive Officer’s decision
to reduce his pension allowance by 5% of salary annually to brning it
in ine with the employee contribution rate over the next 4 years.
The Commuitee notes that the CEQ's existing scheme 1s @
contractual right agreed on his appointment in 2008 and thanks
twm for volunteering to respond to broader shareholder concern
aver executve pensian cantributians.

Below Board-level incentives

In tine with the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, the
Committee's remit will alse include approving the pay
arrangements for the employees betow the main Board who sit
on the Executive Committee The Rermuneration Commuttee will
cantinue to have oversight of the Group’s remuneration policy
for the wider employze poputation

Gender Pay Gap

The latest gender pay gap for the 5 April 2012 snapshot shows a
fucther reduction in the median pay gap ¢f 5.7% to 34.9% from 40 &%
for Bnush Land. Broadgate Estates, a subsidiary company shows an
increase in the medsan from 31 3% to 37 7% due ta the sale of the
thurd party business and the transfer of a significant number of
employees to Sawlls last year More infarmation can be found at
briishland.com/gender-pay-gap

Recommendation

British Land continues to strive to apply best praciice i its
remuneration polities and to listen carefulty to shareholder
feedback. We therefore hope to see your support for our approach
o remuneration by voting for the Remuneration Policy and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2019 AGM.

Yours sincerely
v AR \/,“/( —

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remunerabion Commitiee



Overview of

Remuneration Policy

Qur Remuneration Policy 1s aligned with the long term business strategy, the culture and the values of the Company The Remuneration
Policy outlined on pages 92 to 96 wikl, subject to shareholder approval, take effect from 19 July 2019. The bar charts below iltustrate the
tevels of remurieration recewable by the Executive Direciors in the hirst year of operation of the propesed Remuneration Policy fer varying

levels of performance.

[lustration of application of Remuneration Policy

Chief Executive

Chief Financial Officer

1 Catculated using (al salaries for the year ending 31 March 2020, fb} benefit vatues for the year ending 31 March 2019, and {c] penston policy as applicable for the year

amd ng 31 Ma-ct 20201 e J0% of salary for the CEQ and 13% of satary for ihe

Executive Directors

Fixed remuneration

The components of hixed remuneration are intended to provide a
base package at a levei that will attract high-cabibre indwviduals,
with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience 1o carry
out thesr rotes to the high standards we require Executive
Directors’ salaries are set taking into account the scope and
responsibilities of the rote and the level of remuneration paid at
companies of broadty similar size, and, 1 add:tion te salary, the
fixed remuneration package includes the provision of benefits, a
pension or pension allowance and the opportunity to take partin
all-emnployee share schemes

Annuat Incentive

The Annual Incentive forms part of the vanable propartion of an
Execuiive Director s remuneration package The {evel of Annual
Incentive award recewved is directly tinked Lo quantitative and
strategic measures which are set annually A proportion of each
Executive Directer s Annual Incentive award is used ta purchase
shares that must be held for three years, providing longer term
alignment with shareholders

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The LTIP 1s the second element of variable remuneration.

The proportion of an LTiP award that is actually released to an
Executive Director 1s dependent on British Land s performance
agamnsi specified performarnce measures over a (hree-year peroag

LTIP award consists of performance shares
with performance measures attached

Performance is
measured over
three years

v

Magnitude of Annual incentive award is
dependent on performance against
Annual Incentive measures over one year

v v

One third [net of tax} is
used to purchase shares,
which must be held
for three years (Annual
Incentive Shares)

Two thirds is paid
as cash en award

The number of performance shares vesting
is dependent on the degree to which the
performance measures have been met

A two-year holding period appties to
LTIP awards foltowing vesting

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Fees paid to the Company Chairman and Non-Executive Qirectors
are sel taking rto account fees pad at campanies of broadly
similar size with the aim of attracting indmiduals with the
appropriate degree of expertise and experience to wark with and
challenge the Executive Directors

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 91




DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Fixed remuneration

Operation

Maximum oppertunity

Performance condtions

Basic salary
To atiract, mativate and retamn talented Executive Directors

The level of basic salary is sel laking into account the scope and
respoensibilibes of the role and the leve! of remuneration paid at
companes of broadly similar size,

Basic salaries are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Commutiee,
with increases usually taking effect on 1 April for the subsequent year
Employment conditions and salary increases throughout the Group
are taken inlo account when basic salaries are reviewed

Changes 1n the scope of an Execulive Oirector’s role may result in a
review of calary

The maximum level of basic salary wiil not be
greater than the current salary as increased,
typically 1ne line with the markel and generat
salary increases throughout the Group

IFan indimiduat i1s appointed at a lowar salary,
for examgple, to reflect mnexperience as a listed
cempany Dicector, larger increases may be
awarded over future years as they prove

thear capability

Not applicable

Car allowance, benefits and all-employee share schemes

To provide a car altowance and sel of benefils which support the Executive Director and encourages participation in the afl-employee share schemes

A car ailowance i1s paid to Executive Qirectors in Liews of the provision
of a company car.
Executive Directors are eligible to receve other taxable and
ron-iaxable benelis, that may mclude
- private medical insurance [covering the Director and familyl
- lle assurance cover
- permanent health insurance
- access lo indecendent actuanial, financial and legal advice

when necessary
- gym membership, subsidised by the Cormpany
- annual medical checks
- relevant professional subscription fees
- ather benefits an substantatly the same basis as ather emplayees
Executive Directers are eligible to participate in British Land s Share
Incentive Plan {5177, Sharesave Scheme and any other fulure pians
on the same basis as other eligible employees
The Company provides Directors” and Olficers Liability fnsurance
and may provide an indemmuty 1o the fyllest extent permilted by the
Companies Act

The maximum car allowance es £20.000
per annum.,

The maximum cest of other taxable and
non-taxable benefns permitied under the Policy
i5 the amount required 1o continue prowding
benefils at a similar level year-on-year

The maxirmum opportunities under the SIP,
Sharesave Scheme and any subsequenl ptans
are set by the rules of the schemes and may be
determined by statutory hmits

Mot applicable

Pensien or pension allowance

To provide an appropriate level of pension in retirement for Executve Direclors

Executive Direclors may receive pension benefits through a
defined contribunion scheme or cash allowance in lieu of pension
contributions or defined benefit scheme {for Direclors who joined
the scheme before it was closed to new members in 2006}

Cash altowances in lieu of pension contributions would typically be
pard at the same level of satary as Company contributions under
the dehned contnbulion arrangement

Accruat rates for Directors recerving benefts through the defined
benefit scheme are deterrmuned by the rules of the scheme and are
dependent on Lhe age al which the Director joined the Company
Beneitts up to the imi perulted by the tax tegislation are provided
in a registered plan Benelits over that Umit are currently provided
n an employer iinanced retirement benelil scheme [EFRBS}
EFRBS participants are currently offered a choice annually as ta
whether they wish Lo accrue benefits in the EFRBS or 1o receve a
cash paymentin bieu.

Emplover pensian contributions 1o Execulive
Directors under the defined contribution
arrangement and cash allowances in bieu of
pension are made at a fixed percentage of salary,
between 15% and 30%

tnder the defined benefil scheme the larget
benefit)s the pension that can be provided by the
31 March 2012 tifetime allowance (€1 Bm. uplifted
by RP from 31 March 2001

The maximum accrual rate for a defined benekit
scheme member 15 that which will give the target
benelit al age 40, subect lo the accrval rate being
no greater than one thirlieth and no tess than ane
sixbieth of salary

Future appointments will not recewve a
coniribution greater than the majority of the
warklarce lcurrently 15% of salary and, unless
already within Lthe delined benehit scheme, will not

be abie to participate in 1t

Not applicabte.
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Variable remuneration

Operation

Maxsmum cpportunity

Perfarmance canditions

Annual Incentive

To reward performance against guantitative and strategic obyectives that are set annually

Annual incentive awards may be granted {o Executive
Directors each year, with the level of award refleciing
guantitative and strategic aims af the Company
Qbjectives are set by the Board and measures set

oy the Remuneraison Commitiee

Awards are granted following the financial year end,
when aciual performance over thal year 15 measured

A porteon of the Annual Incentive Award (s pard i cash
and the resmaining portien [aet of tax] s used to purchase
Briush Land shares on behalf of the Executive Director
{Annuat tncentive Shares)

For the Annuat Incentive Award for the year commencing
t Apnil 2019, one third of any Award will be required to
be used to purchase Annual lncentive Shares

Annual Incentive Shares must be held for three years
fram the date of grant of the Annual Incentive award
before they may be {ranslerred or sold, regardless of
whether or nat the indmdual remains an employee of
British Land throughout ks peniod. Executive Directors
are entitled to the divdends paid m respect of the Annual
Incentive Shares during the holding period

The Arnual incertive award icash and shares! may he
clawed back during the three-year period fallowing
determunation of the award in certamn circumslances

These are set aut on page %6

The maximum level
of Annual [ncentive
which may be granted
1s equivalent Lo 150%
of basic salary.

The objectives are sei by the main Board and the measures by the
Remuneration Commuittee normally at the beginning of the financial
year over which performance will be assessed and foliowing the
end of the financ:al year when performance can be delermined

The Committee has the discrelion io agjust the ouitlurn o ensure

it reflects underlying perfermance

No more than 29% of any part of the award wilt be earned for
threshold performance Up to half of the maximum potentiat award
1S payable for larget performance that s in bne with expectations

If the stretch target 1s met the maximum potential award will

be earned

No further perlormance condilions are attached to the Annual
Incentive Shares during the holding perod

Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP]

To link the level of reward lc Compary performance against specified iong term measures, promoting and rewarding activities that support our strategy

and create sustainable long tarm value for sharehoiders

1)

? 5
Remuneration Commattee to Executive Direclors Awards
may consist of performance shares {canditional rights to
receve shares)

LTIP awards typically vest after three years The
number ol periormance shares vesting 15 dependent
on the deqree 1o which performance condiions
attached to the LTIP have been met gver this three-year
perfermance period The Comwmuttee has the discration
to adjust the oullurn 1o ensure of reflects underlying
performance A payment equivatent 1o the drdends
accrued on vesting perfarmance shares s pard i the
pont of vesting in shares or cash

Onvestung sulficient performance shares may be sotd to
cover any hability 10 income 1ax and National insurance
contributiens and related costs of sale The remaining
performance shares must be held tor two years lollowing
vesting before they are permitied ta be transferred or
sold, regardless of whether or nol the indmdual rermains
an employee of British Land throughout this pericd

LTIP awards may be forleiled andfor clawed back from
the date of grant untit three years afler the determunation
of the vesling leve! of an award in certain aircumstances.
These are sel out on page %6 ¥ tl1s discovered that an
LTIP award was granied or vested on the basis of
materiatly misstated accounts or other data the
Commuttee may require some or all of the performance
shares 1o be forfeited or clawed back during the fve-year
penod lotlowmng the grant date

o 2an;

2 12fles kst
USUY I 82

{using the share price
at the time of award
multiplied by the
number of shares) of
an LTIP award which
may be granted s
equivalent to 300%
of basic satary

}

haosn sha

The | TID serformance randiinns have £ lg
S8 L T DEFLTMEnTE 4NGHINns RaYR L% &

perfarmance that is aigned with British Land s strategy

- lotal property return |TPR) performance 1s assessed relative 1o an
MSCI benchmark. weighted in seclor returns at the property levet

- lotal accounting return ETAR] is assessed relatwe to a market
capitalisation weighted index of the companies within the FTSE 350
property companies that use EPRA accounting

- total sharehotder return [TSR) 15 assessed against both the FTSE
100 and a cornparator group consisting of the compantes within the
FTSE 350 property companies that use EPRA accounting, both en
market capitalisation weighted bases

The relative weighting of the perfermance canditions may be

varied by the Commuttee to ensure the LTIP best supports

Brish Land s strategy and te meet inveslor preferences The
Commuttee currently intends to apply the performance congditions
wath the following weightings 40% of the award will be inked to the
TPR condition, 20% wilk be Iinked to the TAR conditron and 40% witl
be linked 1o the TSR condition, spiit equally between the FISE and
real estate benchrmarks

TPR performance 1s currently assessed against the MSCI IPD UK
Annual Property Index The Committee may amend the comparator
groups of companies during the performance period (f there 1s a
corporate event affecuing any member of the group and may
amend the MSC{ benchmark if a different benchmark 1s deemed
more apprepriate

Performance conditions are challenging, requiring stgnificant
ouiperformance for 100% of the LTIP award to vest 20% of the
award will vest if the minimurn perfermance threshold is achieved,
performance below the minimum thrasheld for a performance
condition will result in the LTIP award in respect of that condition
lapsing Pre-delined levels of stretch performance 10 excess of the
benchmark mus! be achreved against each performance measure
for the enlire award to vest These are | 0% pa far TPR. 2 00% pa for
TAR, 3 00% pa for Real Estate TSR and 5 00% pa for FTSE 100 TSR
over the three-year period
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Operatian

I Maximum opportunity

[ Performance conditrons

Chairman’s fee

To attract and retain an indwidual with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience

The Charrenan s annual lee 15 set by the Remunerat:ion Committee
and reviewed annually, The levet of the Chairman s annual fee

15 sel 1aking 1o account fees paid al companies of broadly
similar size

Typcally increases, if required, will be
in line with markel.

Not applicable

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

To attract and retain Non-Executive Directors with the appropriate degree of expertise and expenience

Remuneration of the Nen-Executive Directors s a matter

for the Executive Directars and Chairman, and fees are reviewed
annuatly. Non-Executve Diractars recerve an annual fee plus
addironal fees if they are members of a Commultee, or «f they
hold the posthion of Senior Independent Director, Chasrman

of a Committee, perform addional roles or have a greater

time cormmitment

The Company’s Policy 15 to deliver 2 total lee at a levet in Line with
similar positions

The Chairman and members fees for the new CSR Committee
will apply for the full year from 1 April 2019

The maximum aggregale amount of basic fees
payable to all Non-Executive Directors shall not
exceed the limi set i the Company’s Articles of
Association, which s currently £900,000

Not applicable

Other arrangements for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors

To suppart the Directors in the fulhlment of their duties

The Campany may reimburse expenses reasonably incurred by
the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors in futfitment of
tne Company 5 business, logether with any taxes thereon

The Caompany provides the Chairman and the Non-Executive
Oirectors with Directors’ and Officers” Liabulity Insurance and

The maximum reimbursement s exgenses
reasonably incurred, together with any (axes thereon
The maximum value of the Directors and Oificers
Liabilty insurance and the Company s indemnity 1s
the cost at the relevant time

Not applicabte.

may provide an indemnity Lo the fullest extent permitted by the
Campanies Acl.

Notes to the Remuneration Policy table

Remuneration Policy for other employees

Salary reviews across the Group are carried out on the same basts
as salary reviews for the Executive Directors, consideration is given
to the indwidual s rale, duties, expenence and performance, along
with consideration of typical satary levels of employees in similar
roles in camparable comaanies, where the dala s avalable
Employees are entitied to taxable and non-taxable benelits, with
executives being entitled to substantially the same benefits as the
Executive Directors.

Executives may be granted Long-Term incentive Plan andfor
Restricted Share awards.

Employees joining the Company after 2006 are eligible Lo take part
in & defined contribution pension arrangement The Company's
all-employee share schemes (the Share incentive Ptan and the
Sharesave Scheme) are also open to eligible employees

Pre-existing obligations and commitments

It 1s a provision of this Policy that the Company can honour all
pre-exishing obligations and commitments that were eatered into
prior to this 2019 Remuneration Policy taking effect The terms of
thase pre-existing obligations and commitments may ditfer from
the terms of the Remuneration Policy and may mnclude [without
lirstation) obligations and commitments under Service contracls,
long term ncentive schemes {including previous Long-Term
Incentive Plans), pension and benefit plans,
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Considerations when setting Remuneration Policy
in drawing up the Remuneratian Policy. the Commiutiee took into
account views expressed by shareholders during meetings and
commurnicated to the Company. The Company engaged with its
shareholders via consultation meetings with investor bodses, and
by wating to us largest shareholders, aftering each a meeting ta
discuss remuneration proposals

Each year the Remuneration Commuttee takes into account the
pay and employment conditions of employees in the Group, neting
the general increase in salary proposed for atl employees and
levels of incentive payments and performance, before setting the
remuneration of the Executive Directors. The Commuttee did not
consult with the Company's employees when drawng up the
Directors” Remuneration Policy



Approach to recruitment remuneration

Executive Directors

Basic salary is set at a level appropriate ta recruit a suitable
candidate, taking 1nte account external market compelitiveness
and internal equity The level of basic salary may initiatly be
posttioned below the mid-market of the chosen comparator group,
with the intention of increasing it to around the mid-market of the
cormparator group after an inittal period of satisfactory service

indmduals will he able to receive a cantribulion ta a pension plan,
or cash in bieu thereof, and the Company contnbution will not be
greater than the majority of the workforce {currently 15% of salaryl

Where a recruit 1s forfeiting incentive awards granted by hes or her
existing employer, compensation in the form of a restricted share
plan [RSP] award or otherwise may be made kn accardance with
Listing Rute 9.4 2}, the maxtmum value of which will be that which
the Commutlee, in its reasonable optnion, considers to be equal to
the value of remuneration lorfeited

Vesting of the shares granted and the value of any dividends
will be subject ta the Dwector completing a murimum period of
qualifying service, so the award will not be released until this
condition has been satisfied The vesting of the award may be
subject lo additional performance measures being met over the
same period The Commuittee will determine the most relevant
measyres (o use at the hme of award, beaning in mind the
respansibilities of the individuat being appomnted and the
Company s strategic priorities at the time.

The Company’s Policy is to give notice periods of no fonger than
12 months

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

On recruitment, the Chairman will be offered an annual fee in
aceordance with the Policy, The levet of the annual fee may inwally
be positioned below the mid-market level, with the intention of
increasing it 10 around the mid-market level of the comparator
group after an witial period of satisfactory service Non-Executive
Directors will be offered Non-Executive Directors fees in
accordance with the Policy

Appointment of internat candidates

if an existing employee of the Group 1s appomted as an Executive
Director, Chairmar or Non-Executive Director, any obligation or
cammitment entered into with that individual prior to as or her
appointment can be honoured in accordance with the terms of
those obligations or commutments, even where they differ from
the terms of the Policy

Policy on loss of office

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors’ service contracts can be lawfully
terrminated by either party giving 12 months’ notice, or by the
Company making a lump sum payment in beu of notice [PILON]
equal to the Executive Director s base salary tor the notice period
Addiionally, when the Company makes a PILON, it may either pay
a lump sum equal 1o the value of any benefits for the notice periad
or centinue to provide bensfits until the notice penod expires or
the Executive Director starts new emptoyment fwhichever is the
garlier}. These lawful termunation mechanisms do not prevent

the Company, In appropriate circumslances, from terrminating

an Executive Director s employment in breach of hus or her
service contract and seeking (o apply mitigation in determening
the damages payable. Where this is achievable in negotiation with
the cutgoing Elirector, settlement arrangements are structured
so that the terrmination paymeni is paid in instalments and the
instatments are reduced by an amount equal to any earnings
recewed from the outgoing Director’s new employment,
consultancy or other paid work

For departing Executive Directors and Executive Birectors

that have leit British Land the Committee may agree to

cash commutation of pension benefits under the defined

benefit scheme {including EFRBS benefis) and other pension
arrangements entered info prior to the adoption of the 2019
Remuneration Policy Any commutation woutd take into account
valuations provided by independent actuarial advisers so as tc be
undertaken on a basis considered by the Commuttee to be cost
neutral to the Company

The circumstances of the loss of office dictate whether the

with the Company s Policy The Remuneration Commuttee uses Its
discretion to form a view taking into account the circumstances.
Good leavers typrcally recewe pro-rata Annual Incentive and long
term ncentive awards, subject to performance measureament,
and other leavers forfeit thewr entitlements In the event of a
change of control the rules of the share plans generally provide
for accelerated vesting of awards, subject where applicablel to
time apporticnment and achievernent of performance targets

The Chief Executive's contract pre-dates 27 June 2017 but does
not contain cantractual prowisions that could impact en the amount
of any payment faor loss of office and which {all outside the Policy
Details of the Executive Directors’ service contracts and notice
perads are given in the table betow

Length of service Date of service Normal notice period to

Drrector: cantract contract be given by erther party
Chnis Grigg 12 months 19 12.08 12 months
Simon Carter 12 months  18.01.18 12 months
Charles Maudsley 12 months 03 1109 12 months
Tirm Roberis 12months 141106 12 months
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The lelters of appaintment of Nan-Executve Owrectars are
subject to renewal on a tnetinial basis. In accordance with the
UK Corporate Gavernance Code, all Directors stand for electron
or re-election by the Company’s shareholders on an annual basis
The Directors’ service cantracts and letters of appointment are
availabie for inspection during normal business hours at the
Company's registered office and at the Annual General Meeting.
The unexprred terms of the Chairman's and Non-Executive
Directors letters of appointment are shown beiow:

Unexpired term

Gate of current of appointment at

Directar: appointment 31 March 2019
John Gildersleeve {Charrmani 01/01/2019 33 months
Lynn Gladden 22/03/2018 28 months
Alastair Hughes 01/01/2018 21 manths
William Jackson 11/04/2017 12 months
Nick Macpherson 19/12/2016 ¢ manths

Preben Prebensen 01/09/2017 17 months
Tim Score 23/03/2017 12 months'
Laura Wade-Gery 13/05/2018 28 months
Rebecca Waorthington 01/01/2018 21 months

1 Timn Score s appointment as Charman does nol take effect unlil the end of the

AGM bemnyg held on 19 July 2019

Although the Chawrman s and Non-Executive Qirectors
appointments are far fixed terms, their appomtments may be
terminated immediately wathout notice if they are not reappamnted
by shareholders or if they are rernoved from the Board under the

Company’s Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-election In addition, their appointments may be

three

{errmingisd by either
months’ written notice of termination lor. for the current
Chairman, six months written natice of terminationl Despiie
these lerms of appointment, neither the Chawrman nor the
Non-Executive Directors are entitled {o any compensation (other
than accrued and unpard fees and expenses for the period up to
the termination} for loss of office save that the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors may be entitled, in certain limited

circumstances, such as carparate transactions, to recetve payment

in hieu of their notice period where the Company has termimated
their appointment with immediate effect.

Policy on shareholdings of Executive Directors

The Coempany has a policy that Executive Directors will be required

to build and retain a level of shareholding in the Company. The

apphication of thns will be contained from time te time in the Anpwal

Report on Rermuneration and 1s currently 225% of salary for the
CEO and 200% of salary for other Executive Directors.
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Malus and Clawback

In relation to both Annual Incentive Plan and LTIP awards under
this Policy, malus and clawback pravisions will apply in the
followtng circumstances:

- discovery of a material misstaternent resulting in an adjustment
in the audited accounts of the Group

- the assessment of any performance condition was based on
error, or inaccurate or misteading Infarmation

- the discovery that any information used to determune cash
or share awards was based on error, or inaccurate or
misleading nfermation

- action or conduct of a participant which amounits to fraud
or gross misconduct

- corporate falure

- events or the behaviour of a participant have led to the censure
of a Group company by a regulatory authority or have had a
significant detnmentat impact on the reputation of the Group.

Discretion

The Committee has discretion in several areas of Policy as set out

in this Report. The Remuneratian Committee may also exercise

operational and adrministrative discrebions under relevant plan
rules approved by sharehoiders as set cut in those rules. In
addition, the Commuttee has discretion to amend the Policy with
regard {o miner or admimstrative matiers where it wouid be, in
the opinion of the Commuittee, disproportionate to seek or awart
shareholder approval,

In addition, the Commuttee retains the discretion to override the
formutaic ouicomes of incentive schemes The purpose of this
discretion 1s to ensure thal the incenlwe scheme outcomes are
consistent with overait Company performance and the iony term
experience of shareholders



How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during

the year commencing
1 April 2019

The following pages set out how the Committee intends to apply
the Remuneration Policy during the coming year, subject to the
new Policy being approved by shareholders at the 2019 AGM.

Executive Directors’ remuneration Pension and benefits

Basic salaries Chrs Grigg has volunteered to reduce the pension contribution he
Basic salaries for our current Directors have been set at the ;:;?tg;?g:ﬂ;ﬁogﬁ'%‘;;%;T;?&'SSD?SZ s:eiurc:é‘ioc;;hﬁj
following levels for the year cconmencing 1 Apnii 2019 !

g e y 9o 30% of salary and thes wili continue to be reduced by 5% of salary per

Birectar Basic “‘"z f"ﬂﬁﬂgunﬂ ;!C!s 31 15% of salary in bne with the currant workiorce

Chrs Grigg BII6 o Benetoval ot 1 bt proaded i Incunth e
X u I

Simon Carter 500,000

policy and inzlude a car allowance, private medical insurance angd
subsidised gym membership

Annual incenuve awards

The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors remains at 150% of salary The performance measures lar the Annual Incentive
awards have been selecied to reftect a range of quantitative and strategic goals that support the Company's key strategic objectives.

The performance measures and weightings for the year commencing 1 April 2019 will be as follows

Proportion of Annual
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximum gpportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return relative to IPD [sector weighted|
0% payout for 25op below IPD nising to 100% payout for 125bp outperformance of IPD 30%
Profit growth relative to budget
0% payout tor 1% below budget rising to 100% payout for 4% sutperformance of budget 30%
Devetopment profit relatve to budget
0% payout for 1% below budget rising ko 100% pavout for 4% outperformance of budget 10%
Strategic measures 30%
Customer Onientation
Right Places

Capual Efficiency
Expert People

The delailed targets that the Committee has agreed are considered to be commercially sensitive and as such the specific targets for the
quantitative measures for the coming year will be disclosed in the 2020 Remuneration Repart In assessing how the Executve Directors
performed during the year commencing T Aprit 2019, the Committee will take into account thewr performance against alt of the measures
and make an assessment in the round 10 ensure that perforrmance warrants the level of award determined by the table above.

As disclosed previously, the Committee agreed that for Annual Incentive awards, the sector weighted IPD March Annual Universe benchmark
[which includes sales, acquisitions and developments and so takes into account active asset management as well as a more representative
peer group] would be most suitable. However, due to timng of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company’s actuat
pertormance agaest IPD metrics 15 unlikely to be known when the 2020 Annual Report is approved by the Board The 2020 Remuneration
Report witl therefere include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Incentive awards for that financial year with the actual awards, based
on the final IPD March Annuat Universe Data, set out in the following Annuak Report {ior the year ending 31 March 2021).
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Long term incentive awards
An LTIP award of 250% of salary will be granted to Executive Oirectors during the year commencing t Apri 2019

The performance measures that apply to this LTHP award will be as follows.

Measure Link to strategy Measured relative to Weighting
Total Property Return (TPR} The TPR measure 1s designed to link TPR performance will be assessed  40%
The change in captal value, less reward lo strong periormance at the against the performance of an IPO

any capital expenditure incurred, gross property level. secior weighted benchmark

plus met income. TPR is expressed as
a percentage of capital employed over
the LTIP performance period angd s
calcutated by IPD

Total Accounting Return [TAR} The TAR measure is designed to link TAR will be measured relative to a 20%
The growth in Britssh Land’s EPRA reward te performance at the net property market capitalisation weighted 1ndex

NAY per share plus dividends per share  level that takes account af geanng and aur of the FTSE 350 property compantes

paid over the LTIP performance penod.  distnibutians to shareholders. that use EPRA accounting

Total Sharehotder Return [TSR] The TSR measure is designed to Half of the TSR measure walt 40%
The grawth in value of a British Land directly correlate reward with the be measured relative t{o the

shareholding over the LTIP performance return delivered to shareholders. performance of the FTSE 100

period, assuming dividends are reinvested and the ather half will be measured

to purchase additonal shares relative to @ market capitatisation

weighted index of the FTSE 350

property companies that use

EPRA accounting.
Performance agamnst the LTIP measures will be assessed over a periad of three years If pecformange against a measure s equal ta
the index, 20% of the proportion attached to that measure watl vest and i performance 1s below index the proportion attached to that
measure will lapse 100% of the proportion of each element of award attached te each measure will vest if Bntish Land’s performance
1s 81 3 sireich tevel. Those stretch levels are TPR 1 00% pa, TAR 2 00% pa, TSR {Real Estate) 3 00% pa and TSR IFTSE 1001 500%pa
There will be straight-tine vesiing between index and stretch performance for each measure
The Committee retains the discretion to overnde the formultaic outcomes of incentive schemes. The purpase of thus discretion s to
ensure that the incentwe schema putcames are consistent with averalt Company performance and the experience of shareholders

Nan-Executive Directors’ fees

Fees paid (o the Chairman and Nan-Executive Directors are positioned around the mid-market with the aim of attracung individuals
with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience. The fee structure set out below incorporates a 2 4% increase to the annual fee
for the Non-Execute Directors for the year commenoing 1 Apri 2019 Upon appomintment as Chatrman of the Company at the 2019 AGM,
Tim Score will receve £375000 p a,

Chairman’s annual fee £375.000°
Non-Executive Director's annual fee £64,000
Senior Independent Director’s annual fee £310,000
Audit or Remuneration Committee Chairman’s annuai fee £20,000
Audit or Remuneration Committee member’s annual fee £8,000
CSR Committee Chairman’s annual fee £14,000
Nomination or CSR Commuittee member’s annual fee £5,000

1. For the new Chairman frem 19 Juty 2019 The current Chairman s fee remamns at £385.000
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How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2019

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors’
Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
the remuneration received by each of the Directors.

Single total fipure of remuneration (audited)
The fellowing tables detail all elements of remuneration recevable by British Land’s Executie Directors in respect of the year ended
31 March 2019 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2018

Other dems in Pension or
the nature of pension Annual Long term

Salaryffees Taxable benefits remuneration 1l intentives' incentrves Totat
2019 017 2019 2019 201% 201¢ e
Executive Directors £00¢ £600 £000 €000 £000 €000 €080
Chns Grigg 857 ril 15 300 460 324 1.977
Stmon Carter [from May 2018) 421 18 599 53 238 - 1,329
Charies Maudsley 455 21 12 &8 251 158 964
Tim Raberts 457 21 12 98 25% 154 991

I 2019 Annual Incentive autcomes are subject {0 the publication of finat IPD resulls
e g e ws 218 218 e
Chris Grigg 840 22 15 294 792 316 2.279
Charles Maudsley 446 22 12 67 406 148 101
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 89 416 157 1,145

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable benefits include car allowance [between £14,495 and £16,800, private medical msurance and subsidised gym
membership The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the higures included above are the grossed up
values,

Other items in the nature of remuneration: include Wfe assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professional
subscriptions, the value of shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any notionat gain on exercise for Sharesave
options that matured during the year. As disclosed tast year, to rep{ace deferred payments forfeited on joining British Land, Simaon Carter
was conditionally awarded £4675.000 of shares (86,196 shares] which have to be held for at least a year, with a value of £592,684

Pensions: Chris Grigg and Charles Maudsley do not participate in any Briish Land pension plan Instead they recesve cash allowances, I
lieu of pension Tim Roberts 1s a member of the British Land Dehined Benefit Pension Scheme Simon Carter 1s a member of the Defined
Contribution Scheme and utilises hus Annual Pension Allowance of £10,000 per annum, the remaiming amaunt of his pension is paid to hurn
i cash, for im to make his own arrangements for cetirernent. Siman Carter 1s also a deferred member of the Brivsh Land Defined Benefrt
Pension Scheme The lable below details the defined benefit pensions accrued at 31 March 2019

Dehned benefit

pension acorued al Normai

31 March 201¢ retirement

Executive Directar £000 aqe
Tim Roberts 98 60
Simon Carter 37 &0

i The accrued pensian is based on service Lo Lhe year end

There are no additional benehits that will became recevable by a Director in the event that a Director retires early
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Annual Incentives FY19

The tevet of Annual Incentive award s deterrmines by the Cornrmitee based on British Land's performance and Executve Directors’
performance against quantitative and strategee targets during the year For the year ended 31 March 2019 the Committee’s assessment
and outcomes are set out below. This year, part of the individual elerment has been allocated across some of the strategic objectives and
alt elements have been scared separately Quantiative measures are a direct assessment of the Company s financial performance and in
the very long term business we operate are a reflection of many of the decisions taken in prior years The delivery of strategic objectives
positions the future performance of the business so payouts under this part of the Annual Incentive Plan will not necessarily correlate with
payauts under the quantitative measures in any year.

Weighting

Range of perlormance between 25% and 100%

50% pay-out
[periormance
in Line wih
expecialions)

25%
payout

100% payout fna

mcreased pay-out
abowe this maimum

pay-out panl

Final Funal
gutcome outcome
{% of max} [% of salaryl

Performanca achieved against
target range

measure

Total property
returns vs PO

42%

0% 0%

Target range of matching
sector weighted index to
outperforming it by %.

TPR of -1%, underperforming
against the estimated
threshold of weighted IPD
index by 1 9%

Prolit

28%

11.76% 17 64%

Target range of matching
the budget target to
outperforming it by 3.5%.
Profit achievement of £340m

Weighiing

0%

Sub-total

11.76% 17 64%!'

t Simon Carter receves
15.23% of salary for thig
element (pro-rata of 129 5%]

Note The above chartis a forecast of the 2019 TPR cutcomes which will depend on performance against IPD figures that will only become
avaitable alter the publication of this report and as suth, represent an estimate of the final figures.

Finhal Final
Performance outcome autcome
Strateg objective Measure Weighting  acheved 1% of max] % of salary}
CHRIS GRIGG
Indwvidual Deuver Corparate 2% Corporate Scorecard delivered 3%
chjective Scorecard ° °
Right Places Planning approval 50, Planning approvat at Canada 3%
at Canada Water ° |Water on track
Cuslomer Simpltify British Brand hierarchy developed and
orientation Land’s brand 5% |implemented 4%
hterarchy
Capital Efficiency Delwer Capital Overall Capital Plan delwered
Plan
Selt Broadgate 10% |Broadgate Estates third party 8% 2%4% 36.00%
Eslales Third business sold successiully
Party Business
Experl People Embed our new New Values Bring your Whole
Values Sell, Be Smarter Together.
Lestens & Understand, Bud for
the Future
7% &%

Reduce Gender
Pay Gap lapnl 19
snapshot data)

Gander Pay Gap median
reduction of 5 7% as at
5 April 2019 and significant

progress on inclusive culture
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Final Finat
outcome outcome
Strategic abjective Measure Weighting Performance achieved {%of max} % ofsalary}
SIMON CARTER
Indwidual objective  Execute Investor Relalions 3% [lnveslor Relations programme delivered 3%
Pragramme
Rught Places Improved management 5% {Managementnfarmation project 4%
information to optimese successlully delivered
new cperational businesses
Cuslomer Drive Financial Systems 5% |Systems project progressing 4% 22 00%
Orientation Enhancements Project successiully in?f "
Capital Efticiency Ocliver Capital Plan Overakl Capital Plan detivered elore
26% pra-
0 raung for
Refinance Requirements 10% [Refinance Delwvered £ 4bn 9% part
Maintained year]'
Expert People Embed our new Yalues New Values. Bring your Whole Self, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Undersiand,
7% Bunld for the Future 6%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
{Apni 19 snapshot datal 5 7% as at 5 April 2019 and sigmificant
progress on mclusive culluie
TIM ROBERTS
Indwidual objective  Diversify Offices Income 6% {OHices sncome diversification plan 5%
achieved
Right Places Expand Storey 5% 1Storey expanding successfully Storey L%
Clubspace open at 4KS
Custamer Broaden Oflice offer Oifce offer brnadenead suscessiully
Ornentation
Deliver Marketing 6% JSMART launched at 100 E.verpaal St 3%
Advantage from Smart
Campus/Buitdings 24%  3600%
Capital Etficiency Deliver Capital Plan 6% |Quiperformance on Office Capital Plan 5%
Expert People Embed our new Values New Values Bring your Whole Seli, Be
Stnarter Togelher, Lislen & Undérstand,
7% Build for the Future 6%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
[Apnil 19 snapshol data) 5 7% as a1 5 Apnl 2019 and significant
progress on inclusve culture
CHARLES MAUDSLEY
Indwedual objective  Oesign and execute Budd to 4% |Strategy designed and commenced 2%
Rent steategy
Right Places Deliver Retail Ins:ighis plan 5% [Prograrmme implemented and rolled out 3%
Customer Deliver Leasing odler 5% [Leasing oifer delivered 5%
Orientation
Capital Plan Detiver Capital Plan 995 [Retad Capital plan delivered . 23% 34 50%
Proactively manage CVAs CVAs successfutly managed 7%
Expert People Embed our new Values Mew Values Bring your Whole Sell, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Understand.
7% Build for the Future &%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
|April 19 snapshot data) 5 7% as a1 9 Aprit 2019 and signsdicant
pregress on incluswve culture
Wetghting 30%
Finat Finat
autcome outcome
Tolal bonus payout 1% af max] (% of salary}
Chsis Grigg 35 74% 53.64%
Simon Carter 3775% 48 88%
Tim Roberls? 36.76% 55.14%
Charles Maudsley? 36 6% 55 14%

2018 comparative; in May 2018, the Comsutiee confirmed that the outperformance of TPR compared to the IPO benchmark was 46 bps
rather than the estimate of 20 bps made tor the purposes of the single total hgure of remuneration table in the 2018 Annuat Report
Conseguently, the actual annual incentive amounis paid increased and are stated in their revised amounts in this year's table at page YY.

1 Swimon Carter joined British Land on 2F May 2018 and as such his maximum bonus opportuntly of 150% of salary has been pro-rated to reflect ime secved and s
therefore 129 5% of salary for the year ended 31 March 2019

2. Includes an additional 1 5% of satary far Tim Reberts and 3% of salary for Charles Maudsley m line woth the refnuneration terms agreed
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Long term incentives

The infarmation in the long term ncentives column in the single total figure of remuneration table [see page 99) relates to vesting of
awards granted under the following schemes, including, where applicable, dwvidend equivalent payments on those awards.

Lang-Term incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive [rrectors on 22 June 2016, and which wilt vest on 22 June 2019, were subject to two equatly werghted
performance conditions over the three-year period to 31 March 2019 The first measured British Land’s TPR relative to the funds in the
December IPD UK Annuat Property index [the Index], while the second measured TAR relative to a comparator group of British Land and
16 or so other property cormparies.

The TPR element 1s expected 1o lapse, based un British Land s adjusted TPR of 3% per annum when compared to the funds i the lndex
The TAR element is also expected to lapse based on British Land's TAR of 8 2%. The actual vesting of the TPR and TAR elemenis can only
be calculated once results have been published by IPD and all the companies within the comparator group respectively. The actual
percentage vesting will be conhirmed by the Comimittee in due course and details provided in the 2020 Remuneration Report.

Increase invalue asa
result of share price

Estimated vaiue of i i
Performance Number of perfarmance award on vesting  equivalent and interest grant and vesting

Executve Drector shares or options. sharesjaptions awarded £000 [4:111] £oon
Chnis Grigg Performance shares 229979 0 g8 Y
Charles Maudslay Performance shares 122174 2 a 0
Tim Roberts Performance shares 61,088 0 0 0

Market value options 244,353 0 0 0

2018 comparative: As set oul in the 2018 Annwal Report, the 2015 LTIP awards lapsed in fuli on 22 June 2018 as expected

Matching Share Plan

The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted on 29 June 2014 were {1l TSR relative to a comparator group af
Briish Land and 14 other property comparies and tu] British Land's gross income grawth [GiG| relative to the IPD Quarierly Universe
[the Universel These performance cenditions are equally weighted. The MSP Maiching awards wilt vest on 29 tune 2019

Korn Ferry has confirmed that the TSR element of the award will lapse as British Land s TSR performance over the period was -5 1%
compared to a median of 9.5% for the comparator group The GIG element 1s expected to vest at 100% as British Land’s annuatised GIG
over the period of 3 4% 15 expected to exceed the expected growih of the Universe by mere than the upper hurdle As a result, 50% of the
MSP Matching awards granted in June 2014 are expected to vest

Estimated vaiue of Estimated dividend

Number of Matching award on vesting equivalent

Executive irector Shares awarded £000 £000
Chnis Grigg 96,718 280 43
Charles Maudsley 47206 137 2
Fimn Roberts 46,006 133 21

2018 comparative: in June 2018, the Committee confirmed that the 2015 MSP Matching awards would vest as to 50% on the vesting
date [being 29 June 2018] The lang tecm incentive igures in the 2018 comparatwes of the single tatal figure of remuneration table have
therefore been updated to reflect the actual share price on vesting 1670 6768 pencel rather than the average for the 90-day period used
in the 2018 Annual Repart of 653 26 pence.

Share scheme interests awarded during the year (audited)

Long-Term incentive Plan ;
The total value of each Executive Director’'s LTIP award tor the year ended 31 March 2019 was equwvalent to 250% of basi¢ salary at grant

At grant each Directar was able to indicate a preference as to the proportion of the award that they wish to recewe as esther performance
shares or market vatue options. The share price used to determune the face value of performance shares and the tair vaiue of options, and
thereby the number of performance shares or options awarded. 1s the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the day

of award. For the award granted in June 2018, no Executive Director elected lo receive market value options and the share price for
determiming the number of pertormance shares awarded was 682.20 pence The performance conditions attached to these awards are sel
outin the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 2016 and summansed on page 98
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Performance shares
Percentage vestmng on

Numpber of End of achievement of minimum

performance Face value perfarmante performance threshold

Executive Director Grant date shares granted €000 period Vesting date Y
Chris Grigg 26/06{18 313,984 2,142 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Simon Carter 26/06/18 177.733 1,213 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Charles Maudsley 24/06/18 166,804 1,138 3103/ 26/06/21 20
Tim Roberts 26/06/18 166,804 1,138 31/03/21 26/06/21 20

Directors’ sharehoidings and share interests (audited)

Directors’ shareholdings at 31 March 2019
The faltowing table shows the Executive Directors’ interests in fully pad ordinary British Land shares, including shares held by connected
persons, MSP Banus Shares, Annual Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan Al interests are beneficial

Holding at 31 March 2019

lor date of departure from Haldng at
Director the Board, if eartier} 31 March 2018
Chris Grigg 1,320,434 1,297.818
Siman Carter 134,185 -
Charles Maudsley 262,557 251,194
Tim Raberts 266 583 265,748

* Inciudes 86,194 shares awarded shartly after jowning to replace deferred payments forfeited at his previous emplayer

Shareholding guidelines

The shareholding gusdelines for Executive Directors have been reviewed by the Committee and have been increased for the year
commencing 1 April 2019 12 200% for Executive Directors other than the Cheef Executve whose guidehire remains 225% of salary In
addition, Executive Diwrectors will normally be reguired to retain shares equal 1o the level of this guidetine [or «f they have not reached the
guideline. the shares that count at that time] for the two years foliowing their departure There is no set mescale for Executive Girectors
to reach the prescribed guideline but they are expected to retain net shares recewved on the vesting of long term incentive awards until the
target 1s achieved Shares that count towards the holding guideline are untetiered and benehicially owned by the Exacutive Chrectors and
their connecied persens, deferred annual incentive shares, MSP Bonus Shares, locked-in SIP shares and all vested awards count towards

the requirement on a net of tax basis All other awards that are still the subject of a perfarmance assessment do not couni

The gutdetine shareholdings for the year ending 31 March 2019 are shown below

Unfeitered

holding as Total hotding as
percentage of apercentage
Gujdeline as Untettered basic salary at Total of basic salary at
percentage of Guideline holding at 31 March 2019 shareholding ai 31 March 2019
Executive Birecter basic satary hatding' 3T March 2019 %} 31 March 2019 %%}
Chris Grigg 225% 327,301 1,258,701t 865 1,320,436 208
Simon Carter 150% 123,54 47,779 58 134,185 163

‘expected a5 al

30 tune 2019
Charles Maudsley 150% 115,919 229.037 296 262,557 340
Timn Raberts 150% 115,919 231,904 300 266,583 345

1 Calcutsted on a share price of 589 pence an 29 March 2019
2 See fhreciors’ shareheldings table above which include MSP Bonus Shares and all shares hetd in the SIP

Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end
The Executive Directors have purchased or been granted the followsng fully paid ordinary British Land shares under the terms of the
partnership, matching and dividend elements of the Share Incentive Plan

Date of purchase
Executve Director or award Purchase price Parinershipshares Mztching shares Dividend shares
Chris Grigg 15/04/19 608.40p 25 50
03/05/19 600.50p 147
14/05/19 564.01%p 27 54
Simon Carter 15/04/19 408 40p 24 48
03/05/19 600.50p 4
14/05/19 564 .01p 27 24

Other than as set out above, there have been no further changes since 31 March 2019
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Unvested share awards

Number Subject to End of

outstanding at perfarmance performance
Executive Diractor Date of grant 31 March 201% measures period Yesting date
Chris Grigg LTIP performance shares’ 22/06/16 229979 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 340,264 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTiP performance shares 26/06/18 313,984 Yes 31/03/21 26/06/21
MSP Matching Shares! 29/06/16 96,718 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19
Simon Carter LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 177,733 Yes 31/03/21 26/06/21
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares' 22/06/14 122,176 Yes 31/03/1% 22/06/19
LTIP perfarmance shares 28/0617 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 166,804 Yes 31/03/21 26/06/21
MSP Matching Shares! 29/06/14 47,206 Yes 31/03/1% 29/06/19
Tim Roberts LTIP performance shares’ 22/06/16 61,088 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/33/20 28/06/20
LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 164 804 Yes 31/03/31 26106/21
M5P Matching Shares’ 29/06/14 46,056 Yes 31/0319 29/06/19

1 The LTIP and MSP awards granted «n June 2014 are also included wathn the 2019 Long term incentives’ column of the single total higure of remuneration table
on page 99, The degree to which performance measures have been or are expected to be achieved, and the resultant proportions of the awards expected to vest, are
detaed on page 102

Unvested option awards [not available to be exercised)
Number Subrectto End of

ocutstanding at Option price performance performance Qate becomes
Executive Dwrector Date of grant 31 March 2019 pence measures period exercisabie Exercisable until
Tim Reberts Sharesave ophons 23/06/14 2,135 57480 No na 01/09/1¢ 29/02/20
LTIP options 22/06/16 244,353 7305 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19 22/06/26

Vested option awards (available to be exercised)
Number

outstanding at Tption price
Sxevutive Irecisr Oetzctfgraat 3 Mook P pewcs  ERsripadsoail
Chnis Grigg LTIP gptions 11/06/10 1,073,825 447 11/06/20
LTIP options 28/06/11 695,652 575 28/06/21
LT!P options 14/09/12 743,494 538 14/09/22

COptions exercised during the year ended 31 March 2019

Market price on

Number Gption price Date dacame date of exercise
Executwe Directer Date of grant exercised pence exercisable Date exercised pence
Tum Roberts  Sharesave options 19706/13 2,348 51160 31/09/18 03/09/18 623 60 20

Payments to past Directors and for toss of office [audited]

As disclosed in the 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report, in October 2017 Lucinda Belt informed the Board of har intention to stand down
from the Board, and following the completion of the search for her replacement, stood dewn from the Board an 19 January 2018 and left

the Company on 4 Apri 2018 The treatment of her remuneration arrangements upon leaving the Company were disclosed i full on page
86 of the 2018 Annual Report. Duning the year ending 31 March 2019 Briish Land has therefore made the fotlowing payments in line with
the treatment disclosed.

- Apaymentn heu of notice for the period from when she {eit the company to the end of her notice pertod totalting £309,895

- Apayment of £27,494 in lieu of untaken holiday and £100 in respect of accepting the terms on leaving

The bonus in respect of the year ending 31 March 2018 whuch totalled £457,702 of which one-third was used to purchase shares which
must be held for 3 years Following the publication of the finat TPR benchmark, the total bonus payout to Lucinda was revised from the
eshimate disclosed in the 2018 Report to c. 93% of salary

- The vesting of the 2014 MSP award which vested at 50% of maximum and had a value of £151.723

On 21 January 2019 we announced that Tim Reberts and Charles Maudsley would be standing down from the Board of the British Land
Company PLC [the Companyl on 31 March 2019, Charles Maudsley ceased to be a Director of the Company and left the Company on

31 March 2019. Tim Raberts ceased to be a Director of the Company on 31 March 2019 and wilt remain an employee until 31 July 2019.
He will continue to be employed on his exisiing terms untit his planned departure date of 31 July 201%. During ths period, he will continue
to receive his salary and employment benefits in full. He wali also be eligible for a bonus on a pro-rated basis whilst actively employed.

Following ceasing emptoyment each will receive monthty payments in lieu of notice for the remainder of thair 12 months notice periods
(to 21 Jonuary 2020].
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{il Tim Roberts

The total amount payable for the pertod toltowing ceasing employment for the remainder of the notice period compnises base salary and
car allowance of £224,696, pension contributions/allowance of £43,381 and the value of other benefils of £1,946 These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employrment secured duning the period untld 21 January 2020

Tim Roberts was also eligible for an annuai bonus for the 2818/19 financial year. This bonus has been estimated to be £250,983 and is

included in the table on page 99 In ine with the terms of the Directors Remuneration Policy, twe-thurds of any annual bonus will be paid
n ¢cash and one-third will be used Lo purchase British Land shares which must be held for a period of three years

Timn Roberts will be treated as a "good leaver” under the Company's Long Term facentive Plan and Matching Share Plan Consequently,

awards [including the value of any dividena equivalentsi wiil cantinue ta vest on the normat vesting dates subject to the extent 16 which

the applicable performance criteria have been met and where relevant any time prorating reduction that the Remuneration Committee

may apply

1 Amaxmum of 61,088 Performance Shares and 244.353 options (with an exercise price of 730 5p per share] may vest under the 2016
LTIP awards and 46,056 shares under the 20146 MSP awards The 2014 LTIP awards are expected to lapse as the expectation is that the
mintmum performance targets will not be met

2. A maximurm of 180,765 Performance Shares ray vest under the 2017 LTIP awards

3 Amaximum of 166,804 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 L7IP awards

Tim Roberts wilt not be eligible to recewve further LTIP awards and, on ceasing o be employed, will cease to participata in the Company s
alt-employee share ptans

A contnbution towards legal fees has been made of £106,000 plus VAT

liil Charles Maudsley
The total amount payable for the pernod foliowing ceasing employment for the rematnder of the notice period comprises base salary and

reduced by the value of any aternative paid employment secured dunng the period untit 21 January 2020

Charies Maudsley was alsc eligible for an annual bonus for the 2618/19 financial year. This bonus has been estimated {o be £250,983 and
is included in the table on page 99 in line with the terms of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annual bonus wilt be paid
in cash and one-third well be used to purchase British Land shares which must be held for a period of three years

Charles Maudsley has been ireaied as a ‘good leaver under the Company s Long-Term Incentwe Plan and Matching Share Plan
Consequenily, awards [incuding the valug of any Givigend equivatenis] wiii continue to ves{ on ine normal vesiing dates subject o ine
extent io which the applicable performance criteria have been met These awards have been reduced by the relevant time pro-rating
reductions that the Remuneration Committee has applied of 8% for the 2016 awards, 42% for the 2017 LTIP awards and 75% for the 2018

LTIP awards

1 A maximum of 111,994 Performance Shares may vest under the 2016 LTIP awards ang 43,272 shares under the 2016 MSP awards
The 2016 LTIP awards are expected to lapse as the expectation 1s that the minimum performance targets witl not be met

2 Amaxmum of 105,446 Perfarmance Shares may vest under the 2017 LTIP awards
3 A maxmurn of 41,701 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 LTIP awards

Other disclosures

Service contracts
All Executive Directors have rotling service contracts with the Company which have notice periods of 12 months on etther side

Narmal notwce pensd Normal notice period
Durector Date of service contract to be given by Company to be given by Directer
Chris Grigg 19/12/2008 12 months 12 months
Simon Carter 18/01/2018 12 months 12 months

In accordance with the Code, att contimuning Directars stand for election or re-election by the Company's shareholders on an annual basis
The Directors’ service contracts are avauable for inspection during normal business hours at the Company's registered office and at the
Annual General Meeling. The Company may terminate an Executive Director’s appointrent with immedrate effect without notice or
payment in lieu of notice under certain circumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director’s service conlract
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up one non-executive directorship at another FTSE company. subject to 8ritish Land Board approval

Chris Grigg was apponted a non-executive directar of BAE Systerns plc on 1 July 2013 During the year to 31 March 2019, Chris receved
a fee of £92,640 including £12,640 of overseas travel alfowances and benefits deemed to be taxablel fram BAE Systems ple, which he
retamed 1 futl (2018 £85.845)

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent on remuneration of alti employees {including Executive Directors) relative to the amount spent
on distributions to shareholders for the years to 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018 The remuneration of employees decreased by 5 88%
relative to the prior year As a result of the share buyback, the totat cost of distributions Lo shareholders decreased by 1% despite a 3%
increase in dividends per share Disiributions to shareholders include ordinary and, where offered, serip dwdends No scrip alternative was
offered during the year ended 31 March 2017

Relative importance of spend on pay

Total sharehotder return and Chief Executive’s remuneration

The graph below shows Brittsh Land s total shareholder return for the 10 years from 1 Aprit 2009 to 31 March 2019 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate lnvestment Trusts [REIT] Total Return ndex for the same period. The graph shows how the totat return on a £100 investment
in the Company made on 1 April 2009 would have changed over the [0-year pertod, compared wath the total return on a £100 investment ia
the FTSE REIT Total Return Index. The FTSE REIT Total Return Index has been selected as a sutable comparator because 1t 1s the index in
which British Lang 5 shares are classihed

Taotal shareholder return
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The base point required by the regulahions governing Remuneration Repart disclosures was close ta the bottem of the property cycle at
1 Aprd 2009. Since Britsh Land’s share price had not fallen as rnuch as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that time,
a higher base pomt for subsequent growth was set.

The table below sets out the total remuneration of Chris Grigg, Chie! Executive, over the same period as the Total Shareholder Return
graph. The quantum of Annuat Incentive awards granted each year and long term incentive vesting rates are given as a percentage of the
maximum opporiunily available.

Chiet Executive 7009/10  2010/11 200312 2012703 2093/14  2004/35  2015/16  2016/17 201718 2018119
Chiet Executive’s single total figure of

remuneration {£000] 2,082 2329 5353 4810 5398 493 3.623 1938 2279 1,977
Annuai Incentive awards against

maximum opportunity {%) 67 83 75 75 90 94 87 33 63 36
Lang term incentive awards veshing rate

against maximum opportunity (%] na na 99 63 98 93 54 5 16 15
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CEQ pay ratio

Whiist the new CEOQ pay ratio regulatiens do not techmicalty apply to the Company untit the 20206 Directors’ Remuneration Repart,

we have prepared and voluntarily disclosed the ratio for 2017/18 and 2018/19 in line with the regulations The ratios are set out in the
table below. In catculating thig information we have used the gender pay gap data calculated ior each employee to provide consistency.
The table below shows that the ratio has fallen since 2017/18 Thus fall is predomunantly due to the lower level of the CEO single frgure
rather than movements In employee pay. The Committee Chairman has prowided an explanation of the relationship between reward and
performance on page 88

CEQ pay ratio M7 201819
Method 8 B
CEO Single figure 2279 1,976
Upper quarule 23 3 161
Median 359 271
Lower quartile 50 1 40.1

The salary and total pay for the \ndviduals dentified at the Lawer quartile, Median and Upper guartie positions in 2018/19 are set
out below:

2018/1% CED pay ratic Salary Total pay
Upper quartile £65,006 £124,266
Median £50,000 £74,225
Lower quartle £48,000 £49,760

Chief Executive's remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The 1able below shows the percentage changes in different elernents of the Chief Executive s remuneration relative to the previous
financial year and the average percentage changes (n those elements of remuneration for employees

Vatue of Chiaf Executiva Vaiue of Chief Executive Change in Chief Executive Average change in remuneratian
Remuneration element remuneration 2019 £000 remunaration 2018 £000 remuneration % of Braish Land emplayees %
Satary 857 840 200 5.60
Taxabte benefits 21 22 -510 -0.32
Annual Incentive 4460 792 -41 96 -4.53

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration [audited]
The table below shows the fees paid to our Non-Executive Oirectors for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018

Fees Taxable benehis® Tolai

2019 2008 19 2018 w19 2018
Chairman and Mon-Execulive Directors €000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
John Gildersleeve [Chawrman] 85 349 &4 43 L49 412
Lynn Gladden il 59 - 1 72 70
Alastar Hughes [from 1 January 2018} 73 17 - - 73 17
Witlham Jackson 105 100 - - 105 160
Nicholas Macpherson 71 69 - - 71 (3
Prepen Prebensen lfrom 1 September 2017) 71 40 - - Kl 40
Timn Score 95 93 - - 95 93
Laura Wade-Gery T 49 1 1 72 70
Rebecca Worthington {frorn 1 January 2018} 73 17 1 - 74 17

1 Taxable benelils include ihe Chairman’s chaulfeur cost and expenses incurred by other Non-Executive Drreclors The Company prowides the ax gross up on these
benelis and the higures shown above are the grossed up values
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Shareholding (audited)

Although there are no shareholding guidelines for NMon-Executive Directors, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land. The
Campany facilitates this by offering Nan-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarterly using their post-tax tees. During the
year ended 31 March 2019, Lynn Gladden, Willam Jackson, Tsm Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each recewved shares n full or part
satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directars’ fees

The table below shows the Non-Executive Direciors’ sharehaldings, including shares held by connected persons, as at year end or the date
of retirement from the Board if earlier-

Halding at Holding a1
Qirector 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
John Gildersleeve 5,220 5,220
Lynn Gladden 18,339 13,950
Alastair Hughes 7,274 1.274
William Jackson 135,115 128,123
Necholas Macphersen 5,600 4,600
Preben Prebensen 20,000 -
Tim Score 43,899 34,134
Laura Wade-Gery 9,585 8,059
Rebecca Worthington 3,000 3,000

In addition, on 5 April 2019, the following Non-Executive Directors were allotted shares at a price of 599.20688 pence per share in full or
part satisfaction of ther fees

Nan-Executive Director Shares allotted
William Jackson 23410
Tim Score 2.286

Cther than as set out above, there have been na further changes since 31 March 2019

Letters of appointment (audited)
All Non-Executive Direclors have a letter of appointment with the Comipany The effective dates of appointmert are shown below

Directar Etfective dale of appainiment

John Gildersleeve [Charmani 1 September 2008 [Non-Executive Oirector], 1 January 2019 {Chairmanj
Lynn Gladden 22 March 2018

Alastair Hughes } January 2018

William Jacksen 11 Aprid 2017

Nichotas Macpherson 19 December 2014

Preben Prebensen 1 September 2017

Tun Score 23 March 2017

Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2018

Rebecca Worthington 1 January 2018

Alt cantinuing Non-Executive Directors stand for elechion or re-election on an annual basis The letters of appointment are available for
inspectien during normal business hours at the Company’s registered office and at the AGM

The appeintment of the Chairman or any Non-Executive Direciors may be terminated immediately without notice if they are not reappointed
by shareholders or if they are removed from the Board under the Company’s Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-election. in addition, appointments may be terminated by either the individual or the Company giving three months
written natice of terrrunation or, for the current Chairman, six months’ written notice of termination

Remuneration Committee membership
There was no change to the Commuittee membership during the year to 31 March

As at 31 March 2019, and throughaut the year under review, the Cammitiee was comprised whoily of independent Non-Executive Directors
The members of the Commuttee, together with attendance at Cammittee meelings, are set outin the table betow.

Date of appaintment

Oirector Pasition {to the Committee] Attenfance
Willtam Jackson Chairman 14 January 2013 717
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 7/7
Preben Prebensen Member 1 September 2017 717
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 717
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, Commuttes meelings were also part attended by John Gildersleeve {Company Chairmanl,

Chris Grigg [Chief Executivel, Simon Carter [Chief Financial Officer}, Charles Maudstey [Executive Director], Bruce James (Head of
Secretariat), Brona McKeown [General Counsel and Company Secretaryl, Ann Henshaw [HR Directorl and Kelly Barry [Head of Reward
ather than for any item relating 1o their own remuneration. A representative from Korn Ferry also routinely attends Committee meetings

The Committee Chairman holds regutar meetings with the Chasirman, Chief Executive and HR Director to discuss all aspects of
remuneration within 8ntish Land He also meets the Carnmuttee’s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each
substantive meeting to discuss matters of governance, Remuneration Policy and any concerns they may have.

How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year
The Comimultee’s rote and responsibilities have remamed unchanged during the year and are set oul 1 full 1nits terms of reference
which can be found on the Company’s website britishtand com/comimittees The Commuttee’s key areas of responsibility are

- selling the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman; reviewing the Remuneratton Policy and strategy
for members of the Executive Committee and other members of executve management, whilst having regard to pay and employment
condettons across the Group

- determining the totat sndmdual remuneration package of each Executwve Director, Executve Comrmuttee member and other members
of management

- monitering perfermance aganst conditions attached to all annual and leng term incentive awards to Executive Directors, Executive
Corruritiee and other members of management and approving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements

- selecting, appoiating and setting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consuliants.

In addition 1o the Committee’s key areas of responsibility, during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Commuttee also considered the

followtng matters

- reviewsng and recommending io the Beard the Rermuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approval

- appraisal of the Chairman’s annual fee, remuneration of the Executive Directors including achieverment of corporate and indmwidual
pertormance, and pay and annual incentive awards betow Board-tevel

- considering the extent to which performance measures have been mel and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual incentive
and long term incentive awards

- granting discretionary share awards, reviewing and setting performance measures for Annual Incentive awards

- considering the impact of the share buyback on incantive plans

s bl 5 x £ b sfarancs
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~ considering gender pay gap reporting requirements

- departure terms for Charles Maudsley

- degarture terms far Tim Raberts

- recewing updates and training on corporate governance and rermuneration matters from the independent remuneration consultant.

For the year ahead, the Commuttee’s terms of reference have been updated to reflect changes in the UK Corporate Governance Code
These mclude ensuning alignment ol the remuneration policy with the Company’s purpose and culture, settng the remuneration for
senior management and considermg alignment of pensien contributions of the worklarce, Executive [hrectors and senior management

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent rernuneration adviser by the Committee on 21 March 2017 foltowing a competitive tender
process. Korn Ferry 1s a member of Lhe Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that group's Code of Conduct. The Committee
assesses the advice given by its adwisers to satisfy itself that it 1s objective and independent The adwisers have privaie discussians with the
Commitiee Charrman at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consultants Group, Fees, which
are charged on @ ime and matenals basis, were £211,298 [excluding VAT Korn Ferry also provided gemeral rernuneration advice to the
Company during the year.

Voting at the Annual General Meeting
The table below shows the voting outcomes of the resolutons put to shareholders regarding the Diwecters Remuneration Report [at the
AGM 1n July 2018] and the Remuneration Policy [at the AGM in July 2014)

Regelution Voles for % for Votes against “hagainst  Tolal votes cast Votes withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report (2018} 718,283,375 95.46 34,197,587 4.54 752,480,962 1,400,399
Directors’ Remuneration Palicy 12016} 722,144,628 97.13 21,494,166 2.87 748,638,804 7,869,489

This Remunerztion Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019

v A e \/o../(\__

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee
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DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Directors present their Report on the aftairs of the Group,
together with the audited hinancial statements and the report

of the audttor far the year ended 31 March 2019 The Directors’
Report 15 also the Management Report for the year ended

31 March 2019 for the purpose of Disclosure and Transparency
Rule 4 1 BR infarmation that is relevant to this Report, and which
1s Incorporated by reference and including information required

in accordance with the UK Companies Act 2006 and or Listing Rute
9 8 4R, can be located in the following sections.

Sectwon in Annual

inlermaton Repert Page

Future developments of the Strategic Report 41023

business of the Company

Risk factors and principal risks  Strategic Report 54 to 61

Financial instruments - Strategic Report 511053

risk management objectives

and policies

Dwdends Strategic Report 49

Sustainability governance Strategic Report 62

Greenhouse gas emissians Strategic Report 45

Viability and going Strategic Report 65and 78

concern statemenis

Governance arrangaments Governance 72 o 109

Employment policies and Strategic Report 301ta 31

employee involvement

Capitalised interest Financial 133 and 141
statements

Additional unaudited Other  184to 194

financial information information

unSunies
UiTFUGTREd

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2019 AGM will be held at 11 00am on 19 July 2019 at
The Montcalm London Marble Arch, 2 Wattenberg Place,
London W1H 7TN

A separate circular, comprising a letter from the Chairman

of the Board, Notice of Meeling and explanatory notes an the
resolutions being proposed, has been circulated to shareholders
and is available on our website britishiand com/agm

Articles of Association

The Company’s Articles of Association [Artictes) may only

be amended by special resclution at a general meeting of
shareholders. Subject to applicable law and the Company's
Articles, the Directars may exercise all powers of the Company

The Articles are available on the Company's website.
britishland.com/governance
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Board of Directors

The names and brographical detaits of the Directors and details

of the Board Committees of which they are members are set out
on pages 48 to 71 and incorporated into this Report by reference
Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of this
Report are set out on page 72 The Company's current Articles
require any new Directar to stand for election at the next AGM
following their appointment. Hewever, int accordance with the Code
and the Company's current practice, ail continuing Directors offer
themselves for election or re-election, as required, at the AGM

Details of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company
and any awards granted to the Executive Directers under any of
the Company s all-employee or executive share schemes are given
in the Directors Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109 The
service agreements of the Executive Directors and the letters of
appointment of the Non-Executve Dicectors are also summarised
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report and are avaitable for
nspection at the Company’s registered office

The appaiatiment and replacement of Birectors 1s governed by
the Company’'s Articles, the Code, the Coempanies Act 2006 and
any related legislation. The Board may appoint any person to
be a Directar so long as the total number of Directors does not
exceed the limit prescribed in the Articles. In addstion to any
power of rermoval canferred by the Companies Act 2004, the
Company may by ordinary resolution remove any Director
befare the expiry of their periad of office

Directors’ interests in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract existed dunng the year in relation to the Company's
business 10 which any Owector was matenizlly interested

The Company's procedures far managing conflicts of interest by
the Directors are sel out on page 76 Provisions are also contained
1n the Company’s Articles which allow the Directors to authorise
potential conflicts of interest.

Directors’ lability insurance and indemnity

The Company mamntains appropriate Directors & Officers bability
insurance caver In respect of any potential legal action brought
against its Directors

The Company has also indemnified each Directar o the extent
perrmifted by law against any lability incurred in relation ta acts

ar gmissions arising 1n the ordinary course of their duties. The
indemnity arrangements are qualdying indemnity provisions under
the Companies Act 2006 and were in farce throughout the year




Share capital

The Company has one class of shares, being ordinary shares
of 25 pence each, all of which are fully paid The rights and
obligations attached to the Company’s shares are set out in the
Articles. There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares
except in relstion to Real Estate Investment Trust restrictions

The Directors were granted authority at the 2018 AGM to allot
relevant securities up to a nominal amount of £81,910,507 as
well a5 an additional authonty to allot shares to the same value
on a rights sssue. This authority will apply unid the canclusion of
the 2019 AGM At this year's AGM, shareholders will be asked to
renew the authorty to allot relevant securities

At the 2018 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareholders to make market purchases of erdinary shares
representing up {o 10% of s issued capital at thal bime, being
98,292,608 ardinary shares. Thus authority will also expire at the
2019 AGM and it 1s proposed that the renewal of the authernity
witl be sought.

In June 2018, the Board decided that following on from the sate
of 5 Broadgate. the strength of the investment market and the
continuing discount in the Company s share price, the best use
of capitat would be te extend the share buyback programme

As a result, during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Cormpany
repurchased 33,672,430 ardinary shares of 25 pence each for an
aggregate consideration of £200m This represents 3 55% of the
issued share capital lexcluding shares held in Treasuryl at that
date. All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled.

The Compaay continued to hold 11,264,245 ordinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 2019 and
to the date of this Report

Further details relating to share capttal, inctuding movernents
during the year, are set out 1n note 20 to the financial statements
on pages 159 {o 161,

Rights under an employee share scheme

Emptoyee Benefit Trusts {EBTs) operate in connection with some
of the Company's employee share plans. The trustees of the £8Ts
may exercise ail rights attached to the Company s ordinary shares
in accordance with their fiduciary duties other than as spacifically
restricked in the documents which govern the relevant employee
share plan

Waiver of dividends

Blest Lirmited acts as trustee [Trustee] of the Company's
discretionary Employee Share Trust [EST] The EST holds and,
from time to time, purchases British Land ordinary shares in
the market. for the benefit of employees, including to satisfy
outstanding awards under the Company's various execulive
employee share plans A dividend wawver 1s in place frem the
Trustee in respect of all dvidends payable by the Company on
shares which it holds i trust

Substantial interests

All noufications made to British Land under the Bisclosure

ang Transparency Rules (DTR 9 are published on a Regulatory
Information Service and made available on the Investors section
of our website

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had been notified of the
foltowing interests in s ordinary shares in accardance with DTR 5.
The information provided s correct at the date of notification

Interesis i Percantage

ordinary holding

shares disclosed %

BlackRock, Inc. 86,740,204 10.00
invesco Ltg. 48,821,013 5.08
Norges Bank 48,606,089 501
GIC Private Limited 41,121,137 399
APG Asset Management N V. 38,039,738 399

No nolifications have been subrmited to the Company since year end

Change of control

The Group's unsecured borrowing arrangements include
provisions that snay enabte each of the lenders or bondholders
to request repayment or have a put at par within a certain perwod
following a change of control of the Company In the case of the
Sterling bond this arises iIf the change of control atsa resutts in
a rating downgrade to helow mvest~eat grade In the case of
the convertible bond there may aiso be an adjustment to the
conversion price applicable for a imited period following 2
change of cantrol.

There are no agreements between the Company and its Directers
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
cmnlmanant that nerire eanedfirally naracen of o takanuser mornsr

mployment that accere spacfaally Bocauss of 3 lakegver, marge:
or amalgamation with the exception of provissons in the Company’s
share plans which could result in options and awards vesting or
becoming exercisable on a change of control Ait appointment
letters for Non-Executive Directors will, as they are renewed,
cantain a provision that allows payment of their notice period In
certain bimited circumslances, such as carporate transactions,
where the Company has termunated their appointment wath
immediate effect

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relabenships te
the overall success of our business We manage dealings wath
suppliers n a fair, consistent and transparent manner. For more
information please wisit the Suppliers section of our website at
www britishland co uk/about-usfsuppliers

Events after the balance sheet date

Details of subsequent events, if any, can be found i note 24
on page 164,

Political donations

The Company made no political donations during the year
(2018 .
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DIRECTORS  REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Our gender split
2019 2018 2017
Male Femate Male Female Male  Female

British Land
Group 266 284 359 338 36 33

of which

are Board 10 3 9 3 10 3

of which are

seniar managers 71 35 71 35 71 30

Figures expressed as full tme equivalent

Inclusive culture

Bribsh Land employees are comsmitied to promoting an
inclusive, positive and collaborative cullure. We treat everyone
equally irrespective of age. sex, sexual orientatian, race, colour,
nationality, ethruc onigin, religion, religious or other philosophical
belief, disabitity, gender idenuly, gender reassignment, marital or
cwvil partner status, or pregnancy or maternity

Community investment

Our financial donations to good causes during the year totalled
£1,424,000 (2018 £1,687.000) Cur Community Investment
Committee appraves all expenditure from our Communtty
lavestment Fund

{n addition, the Company atso supports fundraising and payrotl
giving for causes that matter to staff The support provided for
the year ended 31 March 2019 includes

- 50% uplift of British Land stalf payroll gving condributions
fcapped at £5.000 per person and £50,000 per annum for the
whole organisationl, and

— & c1alf matched funding nledge matching money rarsed for
charity by British Land statt up ta £750 per person per year

Qur community investment 1s guided by our Locat Charter, working

with local partners to make a lasting positive difference-

- connecting with local communities

- supperting educational imtiatives for local people

- supporting local training and jobs

- supporting local businesses

- contributing to local people’s weltbeing and enjoyment
Through our community investmeant and Local Charter activity, we
connect with commumities where we aperate, make posiive local
contnbutions, help peopte tuthl their potential, help businesses

grow, and promote wellbeing and enjsyment. Thrs all supports our
strateqy to create Places Peaple Prefer

Fishing for plastic i the River Thames on a boat made from recycled plasuc,
a progecd run by Hubbub, a behawour change chardy supported by one of our
trustee volunteers
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Health and safety

We have retained forma{ recognition of aur focus on health

and safely through a successiul audit of cur GHSAS 18001
accreditation. We continue to rmprove our approach to health

and safety management to ensure that we consisiently achieve
best practice across all actvities in the business (construction,
managed portfolic and head office] 1o deliver Places People Prefer
to our employees and our custorners.

Talal RIDDDR
incidents injury rale

2019 2018 2019 2018
Construction 4 3 012 013 per 100.060
hours worked
Retait 18 31 0.01 001 per 100,000
foatéall
Offices 4 4 1417 1288 per 100,000
workers
Head Office 0 0 1] 0  per 100,000 tull

time equivaients

* Reporting of Injunies, Diseases and Dangeraus Occurrences Regulations 2013

Auditor and disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
confirms that

- sofar as the Direclor 15 aware, there 1s no relevant audl
information that has not been braught to the attentian of
the auditor

- the Dicectar has taken all steps that he/she shauld have taken
to make himsetf/hersetf aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the Company's aucditor was aware of

that sfarmation,

PwC has indicated 1ts wiliingness to remain in oftice and, an the
recommendatton of the Audit Committee, a resolution to reappomt
PwC as the Company's auditor will be proposed at the 2019 AGM

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Beard an 14 May 2039
and signed an its behal! by

rona MK

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Campany Secrelary
The Bntish Land Company PLC
Company Number 621720



DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
ang the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and requlation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have prepared the Group financial statements 1n accordance with
Iniernational Financial Reperting Standards (IFRSs] as adopted by
the European Unian and the parent Company financial statements
i accordance with United Kingdomn Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdam Accounting Standards, comprising

FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law)

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements untess they are satished that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and

of the profit or loss of the Group and Company far that period.

In prepaning the financial statements, the Directors are

required to

- select suitable accounting palicies and then apply
themn consisiently

- state whether applicabie IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union have been followed for the Group financial statements
and United Ksngdom Accounting Standards, compiising FRS
101. have been followed far the parent Company financiat
statements, subject to any matenial departures disclosed
and explained in the financia! statements

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent

- prepare the inancial statements on the going concern basis
unless it 1s iInapprepriate Lo presume that the Group and
Company will continue in business

The Directors are respenstble for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any hime the financial position of the Group and Company

and enable them 1o ensure that the financiat statements and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Compames Act
2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of
the |AS Regulation,

The Directors are also responsibie for sateguarding the assets of
the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and ntegrity
of the Company's websie. Legistation in the United Kingdom
governirng the preparation and dissemination of inanciat
statements may differ {rom legislation i other jurisdictions

The Directors consider that the Annual Repoert and Accounis,
taken as a whole, 1s fair, balanced and understandabie and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Groug and the Company’s position and performance,
business model and strategy

Each of the (irectors, whose names and functions are listed in the
Board of Directors on pages 68 to 71, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge-

- the Company hinancial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with Unsted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [Unted Kingdem Accounting Standards. comprising
FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework ', and applicable tawl,
gwve a true and fair view of the assets, liabiities, linancial
position and profit of the Company

- the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with iFRSs as adopted by the European Umion, give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabitittes, financial position and
toss of the Group

- the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Repart incluge a fair
review of the development and periormance of the business
and the position of the Group and Company, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertaenties that it faces

By order of the Board

(P

Simon Carter

Chief Financial Officer
14 May 2019
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100 Liwverpool
Street

Reinvesting in East Londen

We have carefully managed the redeveloprment of 180 Lverpool Street
to directly benefit people and businesses in the iocal community. Rather
than purchasing everything nationally, 58% of construction spend so far
- £59m - has been invested withun the City and neighbouring boroughs,
ensuring that this project directly benefits local businesses i financial
terms E43m of the overall construction spend has gone to small and
medium sized enterprises, bocsting growth
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I endent auditors’ rep
ritish Land Company PLC

The

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion

- The British Land Company PLC’s Group hinancial statements and
Company financial statements [the "financial statements™} give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s
affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of the Group's loss and cash flows
for the year then ended;

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with Internaitonal Financal Reporting Standards
(IFRSs] as adopted by the European Union,

- the Company financizal statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with Ureted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
107 "Reduced Discliosure Framewaork”, and applicable law|, and

- the financral statements have been prepared in accordance with

the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the I1AS Regulation.

We have audited the financiat statements, inctuded within the Annuak
Report and Accounts 2019 {the " Annval Report”], which comprise

- the Consclidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2019,
- the Company balance sheet as at 31 March 2019,

- the Consolidated income staternent for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- the Consolidated statement of carnprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2019,

- the Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- the Consolidated statement of changes i equity for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- the Company staterment of changes in equity for the year ended
31 March 2019,

- and the notes to the hinancial statements, which include a
description of the significant accounting policies.

Qur spinion 1s consistent with our reperting to the Audit Commuttee.

Basis for opinion

We canducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK] ["1SAs [UK]") and applicable taw. Qur responsibilities
under iSAs {UK] are further descnbed in the Auditors’ responsibibities
for the audit of the hinancial staternents section of our repert. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as
applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulhbiled our
other ethical responsilities i accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company

Other than those disclosed in noie 5 to the financal statements, we
have prowided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in
the penied from 1 Apnil 2018 to 31 March 2019
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Qur audit approach

Overview

Materiality

- Overall Group materality: £122 5 million {2018 £131.8 mdtioni,
based on 1% of totat assets

- Specific Group materiality £16 ¢ million (2618 €19 6 milion],
which represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profits This is applied
to the underlying profit and toss calumn,

- Overall Company matenality £110 4 mitlion {2018 £119 0 million),
based on 1% of total assets

Audit scoping

- We tatlored the scope of our audit to ensure that we pecformed
enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole. The Group hinancial statements are
prepared on 3 consoiidated basis, and the audit team carres out
an audit over the consolidated Group balances i support of the
Group audit apimion The foltowing joint ventures are atso audited
to Group matertality Broadgate and Meadowhall

Key audit matters

- Valuation of investment and development properties (Groupl

- Revenue recognition (Groupl.
~ Accounting for transactions [Group)
- Taxation (Groupl

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the nisks of matenal misstatement in the hnancial
statemenis. In particular. we looked at where the directors made
subjective judgements, for example in respect of stgmificant
accounling estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud
Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified
that the principal nsks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to compliance with the Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT]
status section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and the UK

and European requlatory principles, such as those governed by

the Financial Conduct Authgrily. and we considered the extent to
which non-compliance rmight have a2 matenal effect an the hnancial
statermnents of the Group and Company

We also considered those Iaws and regutations that have a

ghrect inpact on the preparation of the financial statements

such as the Compantes Act 2006 and the UK tax legisiation.

We evaluated management s incentives and cpportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the
risk of averride of controls), and determined that the princtpal risks
were related to pashing nappropriate journal entries to increase
revenue or reduce expenditure, 3nd management bias in accounting
estimales and judgmental areas of the hnancial statements such as
the valuatian of investment properties Audit procedures performed
by the Group engagement team audilors included:

- Discussions with management and internal audit, including
consideration of known or suspected instances of non-comptiance
with laws and regulations and fraud, and review of the reports
made by management and internal audit;

- Ungerstanding of management’s internal controls designed to

prevent and detectirrequlanties, risk-based monitoring of
cusiomer processes,



- Inguired of management of any instances of non-compliance with
laws and regqulattons, fraud and matters reported on the Group's
whistlebloweng helpline,

- Reviewing relevant meeting minutes,

- Review of tax compliance with the involvement of our tax

spectalists tn the audd,

Oesigning audit procedures {5 incorporate unprediciabity over

the nature, iming or exteni of our testing of expenses;

~ Procedures relating to the valuation of investment properties
described in the retated key audit matter below, and
|dentifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal
entries posted with unusual account combinations, posted by
unexpected users and posted on unexpected days.

There are inherent limitations in the audt procedures described
above and the further remaved nan-compliance wath laws and
regulations s from the events and transactions reflected in the
financial statermnents, the less likety we would become aware of st

Key audit matter

Also, the nsk of not detecting a materiat misstaterment due to fraud
15 hugher than the risk of not detecting one resutting from error, as
fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, fargery or
intentional misrepresentations, or threugh coliusion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matiers are those matters that, in the auditors
professional judgement, were of most significance in the audil of
the financial staternents of the current perrod and include the most
significant assessed risks of materal misstatement {whether or not
due to fraud] identified by the auditors, tncluding those which had
the greatest effect on. the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming eur opinion
therecn, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Ths 15 not a complete st of alt risks dentified by aur audit

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties - Group

Refer to page 82 [Report of the Audt Comeittee!, pages 12812120
[Accounting policiesl and page 131 to 166 |Noies to the Accounts)

The Group s investenent property porttolic ts sphit between othce and
residential properties in Central Lendon, retail and leisure properties
across the UK, developments and the assets at the Canada Water
site In East Lendon The valuation in the Consolidated Balance Sheel

The valuation of the Group's Investrment groperty portfolio s
inherently subjective due 1o, among other factors, the indmdual
nature of each property. its location and the expected future rentals
for that particular property. For developments, factors include
projected costs to complete and iming of prachical completion.

The valuations were carried out by third party valuers, CB Richard
Eliss, Jones Lang LaSalle, Cushman and Wakefield and Kmght Frank
{the “valuers |. The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
perfermed their work in accordance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors ["RICS) Vatuation - Professional Standards.
The valuers used by the Group have cansiderable experience of the
markets in which the Group operales

In determining a property s valuation the valuers take inlo account
property-specific information such as the current ienancy agreements
and rental sncome They apply assumptions for yietds and estimated
market rent, which are influenced by prevailing market yields and
comparable market transactions, to arrive at the final valuation For
developments, the resigual appraisal method 1s used, by estimating
the fair value of the completed project using a capttalisation method
less estimated costs to cormpletion and a risk premium

The sigmificance of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled
with the fact that only a small percentage difference in individuat
praperty vatuations, when aggregated, could result in 3 material
messiatement, warrants specific audit focus in this area

There were also certain specific factors affecting the valuations tn
the year. Properties under development, completed developments
that are now valued as standing investment properties and standing
mvestment properties that have been reclassified to development
properlies, continue to be an area of focus

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirmed
that the valuaticn approach for each was in accordance with RICS
slardards and suilabie for use In determining the carrying vaiue for
the purpose of the financial statements

We assessed the valuers’ qualifications and expertise and read their
termis of engagement wath the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have affected thewr objectivity or may
have imposed scope Limitatians upon their work We also considered
fee arrangemenis between the valuers and the Group and other
engagements which might exist between the Group and the valuers
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the valuers in
their performance of the valuations was compromised

We obtained details of each property held by the Group and set an
expected range for yield and capital value maovement, determined

by reference 1o published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market We compared the investment yrelds used
by the valuers with the range of expected yields and the year on

year capital movernent to our expected range We also considered
the reascnableness of other assumptions that are not s readily
comparable with published benchmarks, such as Estimated

Rental Value

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions theremn were discussed

Our work covered the valuation of each property in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest properties in the portfolio, properiies under development or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year on year capitat
value movement suggested a possibie outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector

Where assumptions were outside the expected range or
otherwise appeared unusual, and / or valuations showed
unexpected movements, we underlook further invesligations

and, when necessary, held further discussions with the valuers
and obtained ewdence to suppart explanations recewed. The
valuation cornimentaries provided by the valuers and supporting
evidence, enabled us io consider the property specific factors that
may have had an impact on value, including recerd comparabie
transaclicns where appropriate
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties ~ Group
continued

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, before determining
the final valuation We concluded that the assurrptions used in the
valuations were supportable in Light of available and comparable
market evidence

We perforrned testing on the standing data in the Group’s nformation
systerns concerning the valuation process. We carried out procedures,
an a sampie dasss, o satisfy ourselves of the accuracy of the
property information supphed to the valuers by management For
developments, we confirmed that the supporting information for
construction contracts and budgets, which was supplied lo the
valuers, was aiso consistent with the Group's records for example
by inspecting original construction contracts For developments,
capitalised expenditure was {ested on a sample basis to invoices,
and budgeted costs to complete compared with supporting evidence
ffor exampte construction contracts}

It was evident from our interaction with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the valuation reports, that close
attention had been paid to each property sndmdual characteristics
at a granular, tenant by tenant level, as well as constdering the
oversll quality, geographic location and desicability of the asset as
a whole. No issues were dentified i our testing.

Revenue recognition - Group

Refer to page 82 (Report of the Audit Commuttee), pages 128 to 130
{Accounting policies) and page 132 (Notes to the Accaunts)

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental income Rentat
income 1S based on tenancy agreements where there s 3 standard

process in place for recording revenue, which is system generated,

There are certan transactions within revenue that warrant
additional audit focus because of an increased inherent risk of
error due to therr nan-standard nature

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
increases - these balances require adjustments made to rental
incame o ensure revenue s recorded on a straight Line basis over
the course of the lease

We carried out tests of controls aver the cash and accounts
recewable processes and the related IT systemns to obtain ewidence
that postings to these accounts were rehiable. For rental inceme
balances, we then used data-enabled audit technigues to identify
all standard revenue journals posted using these systems

and processes

The remawning journals related to nan-standard transactions
These included reclassthications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provisigns, For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we have understood the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals being generated, and
performed substanuve lesting aver a sample of these tems. There
weren't any exceptions artsing from cur testing over non-standard
revenye transactions

For balances not included within rental income, such as service
charge income, we performed substantive testing on 3 sample
basis. Noissues were idenbified in our testing
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accounting for transactions - Group

Refer to page 82 {Report of the Audit Commuttes}, pages 128 ta 130
[Accounting pohcies] and pages 131 to 166 INotes)

There have been a number of transactions during the year These
warranted addetional audit focus due to the magnitude of the
transactians and the potential for complex contractual terms that
introduce Judgement into how they were accounted for Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus were:

- investment property acquisitions of £221m including the
acquisition of Tunbridge Weils, Royal Victoria Place {or £97m

- Investment property disposats of £664m, including the disposal of
5 Broadgate [(Group share £500m]

- Share buyback of £204m

For each transachion, we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the proposed accounting treatment in relation to the
Group’s accounting policies and retevant IFRSs

For all acquisitions and disposals, we obiained and reviewed the key
supporung documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and completion staterments. Consideration recewved or paid was
agreed to bank statemenis No malerial issues were found as a
result of these procedures.

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited the
accounting for the buyback in accordance with 1AS 32. For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent canceltation

of the shares acquired and checked the associated costs of the
transactions were carrectly recognised withun reserves [retained
earnings).No exceptions were identified i the accounting for the
share buyback programme,

Taxation

Refer to page 82 [Repart of the Audit Committeel, page 130
{Accountrng polictes] and page 134 and 148 [Notes to the Accounts|

The Growp 5 513tus 35 a Rilr gngerpins s Jusiness model and
shareholder returns For thus reasen, it warrants special audit focus
The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements to comply
with balance of business, dvidend and iIncome cover tests. The
Broadgate joint venture s also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance s also of relevance for this jont venture in addition
to the overalt Group

Tax provisions are in place te account for the risk of chatlenge of
certan of the Group's tax provisions Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, additional audit tecus was placed an tax provisions

We re-performed the Group's annual REIT compliance tests, as
well as those tests lor the Broadgate RE{T. Based on our work
performed, we agreed with management s assessment that all
REIT compliance tests had been mel to ensure that the Group and

e
Broadgate mamtain ther REIT siatus

We evatuated the tax provisions and petential exposures as at

31 March 2019 We used our knowiedge of tax circumstances and
by reading relevant correspondence between the Group and Her
Majesty's Revenue & Custamns and the Group's external tax advisars
are satished that the assumptions and judgements used by the

G:’Gup & € rEasunauie
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Reporting on other information

The other nformation comprises atl of the tnformation in the
Annual Report other than the financral statements and our
auditors’ repert thereon. The directors are responsible for

the other information. Qur opinion on the financial statements
does not caver the other informatton and, accordingly, we do
nat express an audit opimon or, except (o the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

in connection with our audit of the hinancial statements, aur
responsioility is to read the other mformation and, in doing so,
censider whether the information is materiatly inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be matenally misstated if we identify an
appacent matenal inconsistency or materal rmisstatement, we are
reguired {o pecform procedures (o conclude whether there is a
material misstatement of the financial statements or 2 matenal
misstaternent of the other information If. based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there 15 a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact We
have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and
Additional Disclosures and Corporate Governance Staternent,
Wi BL50 Consigered wnetner ihe disciosures requived by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been inctuded

Based on the responstbilities described above and our work
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006
(CAD6), ISAs IUK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA} require us also to report certain opinions and
miatiers s descrinad betow (required by 1SAs {Ur] urigss
otherwise stated}

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures
In our opiien, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information giver in the Strategic Report and Directors
Report and Additional Disctosures for the year ended 31 March 2019
15 consistent with the financiat statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legat requirements [CADS]

In kight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and thew environment obtained 1n the course of the audit,
we did not 1dentify any matenial misstatements in the Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report and Additionat Disclosures. [CAQ6)

Corporate Governance Statement N

In our opwnion, based on the work undertaken 1n 1he course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance S1atement
[on page 77 in the Governance Review| about internal controls

and sk management systems o retation to financral reporting
processes and about share capiial siructures :n compliance with
rules 7 2.5 and 7 2.6 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules sourcebook of the FCA [ DTR™ 1s consisteat wath the financial
statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
tegal requirements [CADé)

in light of the knowtedge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their ervironment obtained in the course of the
audt, we did not identity any matenal misstatements in this
nformation {CADS]

in our opiion, based on the work undertaken in Lhe course of the
audd, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
fun pages 73 to 74 in the Governance Review] with respect to the
Company s corporate governance code and practices and about

its administrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their commuttees complies with rules 7.22, 723 and 7 27 of the
DTR [CADSI

We have nothing to report ansing from our responsibility to report if
a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the
Company [CAQS)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Graup and of
the principal risks that would threaten the soivency or liguidity of
the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding-

- The directors’ confirmation on pages 56 io 37 of the Annual Report
that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group, ncluding those that would threaten its
business model, future perfermance, solvency ar liguidity

- The diselosures i the Annual Report ihat describe those risks and
explain how they are being managed or mitigated

- The directors’ explanation on page 65 of the Annual Report as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done 50 and why they consider that period to
be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue In
operation ana meet its Uatntiies as they fall due over the periwd of
thew assessment, including any retated disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the
directors statement thal they have carried ouf a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in celation to
the tonger-1erm wiability of the Group Our review was substantially
less In scope than an audit and onty consested of making Inguires
and cansidering the directors’ process supporling theie stalements,
checking that the staternents are in atignment with the relevant
prowvisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code [the "Code’), and
considering whelher the statements are consistent with the
knowtedge and understanding of the Group and Company and their
environment abtamed in the course of the audit [Listing Rules!

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to repart in respect of our responstbility to
report when

- The statement given by the directars, on page 77, that they
consiger the Annuat Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced
and understandatie, and provides the information necessary
tor the members to assess the Group's and Company's position
and performance. business model and strategy 1s materially
incensistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company
obtained in the course of performing our audit.

- The section of the Annual Report on page 80 descrnibing the work
of the Audit Commuttee does not appropnately address matters
commumcated by us to the Audit Commuttee.

- The directors’ statement relating to the Company’s comptiance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a
relevant provistan of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules,
Inr review by the auditors

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opirien, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be
audiled has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companuies Act 2008 {CAQ4)
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Respansibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibitities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more tully 1n the Direciors’ Responsibilities Statement
set out on page 113, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fawr

view The directors are aiso respansible for such mternal control

35 they determine s necessary to enable the preparation of financial
staternents that are free from material rrusstatement, whether due
to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicabie, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting untess the
directars either intend (o liquidate the Group or the Campany or to
cease operations, or have no realishic alternative but to do so

Auditors” responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are ta obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to 1ssue an auditors report that
includes our opirvon Reasonable assurance 1s a high level of
assurance, but is not 3 guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs [UK) will atways detect 3 material misstatement
when # exists Misstalements can anise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, indwiduzlly or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expecied to inliuence the economic decistons of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements

A burther doscrintinn of pur rosnonsihihitiag for the auddt of the financat
statements 1s located on the FRC s website at- www frc org uk/

auditorsresponsibilities This description forms part of our
auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This repart, including the opiniens, has been prepared for and only
for the Cornpany’s members as a body in accordance with Chapler 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We
do not. in giving these opinions, aceepl or assume responsibilety for
any ather purpose or to any other person to whom this repartis
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in wriing.
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Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report ta you If,
1N our opnig:

- we have not recewved all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company,
or returns adequale for our audit have not been received from
branches nat wisited by us; or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by {aw are
not made, or

- the Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report anising frorn this responsibility.

Appointment

Faollowing the recommendation ef the audit commitiee, we were
appointed by the mermbers on 18 July 2014 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent
financial perwds The period of total uninterrupted engagement is
five years, covening the years ended 31 March 2015 to 3% March 2019

John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behaif of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Londan

14 May 019



Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018
Capitat Capial
Undertying' and other Total Underiying’ and other Total
Note £m m £m €m tm Em
Revenue 3 554 350 04 561 78 439
Costs 3 {141} (258) (3891 [136) (64} (2000
3 £13 g2 505 428 14 439
Jaint ventures and funds |see also below] " as (791 7 119 36 151
Administrative expenses 180} - (80} {82} - 82
Valuation movement 4 - {620) (620} - 202 202
[Loss| prafit on dispesal of investment propertees
and investments - (18) 118} - 18 18
Net financing costs
- financtng Income & - - - 1 - 1
- financing charges & 167) (48} 1113] {65l (143) (228)
(67 (46} {1131 (84] {163} (227]
[Loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation 352 {471} 1315} 394 107 501
Taxation 7 - in m - & 3
[Loss] profit for the year after taxation {320} 507
Alnibolabne o non-contrathng wlerests 12 [TA L] 12%} 14 _ 1L
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 340 {631) {291 380 13 493
Earmings per share.
- basic {30.0lp 48.7p
- diluted (30.0lp 48 5p
All results derwve from continuing operatians
2019 2018
Capstal Capitat
Underlying' and pther Tatal Undertying® and alher Total
Note £m m m £m Em Em
Results of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit 86 - -1 115 - 115
Valuation movemant 4 - 1631 (631 - 52 52
Capital hnancing costs - 21 (21 - {13] (i3
Profit [loss! on disposal of snvestmeni properties,
trading properties and investments - 3 3 - {3] (3t
Taxation - 2 2 - - -
1 84 (791 7 HE 36 151

1 See delimbion in note 2
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2019 .
2019 018
tm £m
(Lossl profit for the year after taxation (320} 507
Other comprehensive income (loss}:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - 9
Valuation movements on owner-occupied properties 3 {3l
3 &
Itermns that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gains on cash flow hedges
- Group 3 12
- Joint ventures and funds - 8
1 20
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedges}
- interest rate derwatives - group - 120
- Interest rate dervatives - joint ventures' 18 -
Defarred tax on items of other comprehensive income [§H] (5]
Other comprehensive income for the year 21 141
Total comprehensive (toss) income for the year 1299 548
Attributable to non-contratling interests (29} 16
Attributable to shareholders of the Company (270) 432

1 Represents a reclassification o cumulative tosses within the group revaluation reserve 1o capital profit and lass, because the hedged itern has alfected profit or loss
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Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 March 2019

2019 2038
Nole £m fm
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment and development properties 10 8,931 2.507
Owner-occupied properties 10 73 90

¥.004 9,597

Other non-current assets

Invesiments in joent ventures and funds 1 2,540 2,822
(ther investments 12 151 174
Deferred tax assets 16 1 4
Interest rate and currency derivative assels 17 154 115

11,870 12,712

Current assets

Trading properties 10 87 328
Debtors 13 57 35
Cash and short term deposits 17 242 105
386 468
Totalassets o 12,256 13,180
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdralts 17 (99) £27)
Creditors 14 (289) {324)
Corporation tax (25) {22)
(413) (373}
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans 17 12,932) (3,101
Other non-current liabilities 15 {?2) (62]
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 17 (130} (138
13,154} (3,301
Total liabilities 13,567} 13,674}
Net assets 8,689 9.506
EQUITY
Share capial 240 2648
Share premum 1,302 1,300
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 37 33
Retained earnings 4,686 7.458
Equity attributable to sharehoiders of the Company 8,478 9,252
Non-controliing interests 211 254
Total eguity B,689 9.506
EPRA NAV pershare’ Y 2 905p 967p
i eline nu/e 2 / f 5
John Gildersleeve Simon Carter
Charman Chief Financial Officer

The financial statements on pages 123 to 166 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalt on 14 May 2019
Company aumber 621920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018

Nole £€m Em
Rentalincame recewed from tenants 449 464
Fees and other income receved &2 78
Operating expenses pad to suppliers and employees 142} 11731
Sale of trading properties 2488 77
Payments recewved i respect of future trading property sales ~ 8
Cash generated {rom operations 817 436
Interest paid 175) {73)
Interest receved 7 &
Corporation taxation repayments [payments) 5 7
Distributions and other recewvables trom joint ventures and funds n 59 78
Net cash inflow from operating activities 613 438
Cash flows from investing activities
Oevelopment and other capital expenditure (218) (190}
Purchase of investment propertes 1185) 1165)
Sale of investrnent progerties 380 135
Oisposal of joint venture held-for-sale - 568
Oisposal of Tesco joint venture - 68
Purchase ol investments 9 91
Sale of investments 13 -
indirect taxes patd in respect of Investing activities 31 (7l
Investment In and loans to joint ventures and funds (298] 1175)
Loan repayments from jomnt ventures and funds 247 7
Capital distributions from joint veniures and funds 260 29
Net cash inflow from intvesting activities 187 261
Cash flows from financing activities
tssue of ordinary shares 2 2
Uit issues attributable ta non-controlling interests ~ 2
Purchase of own shares (204) (301}
Diidends paid 19 (2981 (304}
Dividends paid ta non-controlling interests (14} (151
Acquisition of units in Hercules Unit Trust ~ i4)
Capital payments in respect of interest rate derivatves 119) (18}
Receipts on closeout of interest rate derwvative assels - 27
Decrease in bank and other barrowings [57&) 1624]
Drawdowns con bank and other borrowings 446 529
Net cash outflow from tinancing activities [663) 1708}
Net tncrease [decreasel in cash and cash equivalents 137 (91
Cash and cash equivatents at 1 Aprit 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 242 105
Cash and cash equivalents cansists of:
Cash and shorl term deposits 17 242 105
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Hedging
and Re- Non-
Share Share  transiation valuation Merger Resaned controthing Total
capital premurm reserve' reserve reserve earnings Total mieresls equity
tm fm Em im Em Em £m m £m

Balance at 1 April 2018 248 1,330 11 22 213 7.458 9,252 254 9,506
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - - 1291) {291 (29} {3209
Revaluation of owner-occupred property - - - 3 - - 3 - 3
Gains on cash flow hedges - group - - 1 - - - 1 - t
Closeaut of cash flow hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 18 - - 18 - 18
Reserves transfer - joint venture cash flow hedges - - - 117} - 17 - - -
Deferred tax an items of other comprehensive
income - - {1} - - - (1! - il
QOther comprehensive incoms - - - 4 - 17 21 - 21
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 4 - {274) (270} 1297 (2991
Share issues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - (4] (4) - {4}
Purchase of own shares {81 - - - - (196) (204} - (2z04)
Dwidends payable (n year 130 S4p per sharel - - - - - {2981 (298} - {298)
Dwidends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - [14} (14}
Balance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 1 26 213 6,686 8,478 211 8,489
Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 12 15 213 7547 9221 255 9476
Profit for the year alter taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - - {3l - - (3 - 13)
Gains on cash flow hedges - group - - 10 - - - 10 Z 12
Gawns on cash flow hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transferred to the income statement
fcash llow hedges)
- Inlerest rate derivatves - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Nei actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - - - 9 9 - g
Reserves transfer - - {2 2 - - - - -
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive
income - - [5] - - - 15} - i5)
Other comprehensive income - - 123 7 - 9 139 2 141
Tetal comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 632 14 648
Sharessues - 2 - - - - P - 2
Unitissues attributable to non-controiling interests - - - - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares 112 - - - - [289) {301 - (301)
Purchase of units from non-controlling mterests - - - - - - - {4 14)
Dundends payabte in year [29 64p per sharel - - - ~ - [302) 1302} - {302
Dradends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - [%5) (15}
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 1t 22 213 7458 9252 254 9.506

1 ¥he balange at the beginming of the current year includes €15m i retation to transtation and {E4m] in relation to hedging [2017/18 £15m and [£127mi} Openung and closing

balances i refation 10 hedging relate to cantinuing hedges only
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts

1 Basis of preparaton, significant accounting policies
and accounting judgements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have

been prepared on the lustorical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of properties, investments held for trading and dervatives The
tinancial statements have also been prepared in accordance with
nternational Financial Reporting Standards iFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations
Commutzee IFRS 1T, and theretore comply with arncle 4 of the EU
IAS regulation, and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. In
the current iinancal year the Group has adopted a number of rminor
amengments to standards etfective in the year 1ssued by the }ASB and
endorsed by the EU, none of which have had a matenal impact on the
Group The accounting pobicies used are otherwise consistent with
those contamned in the Group's previous Annuat Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

New standards effective for the current accounting period do not
have a material impact on the consoldated Tnancial statements of
the Group These are discussed in further detasl below

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments

IFRS ¢ Financial instruments, as essued by the |ASB in July 2014,
has been adopted by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019
IFRS 9 supersedes the exisbing accounting guidance in 1AS 39
Financial instruments. The standard was applied using the modified
retrospectwe approach The Group has not restated prior periods
oc recegrised any adyustonents i openung retained earnings

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial habilities

- The alignment of the classification and measuremen maodel
under IFRS ¢ results in changes in the classification of all
financial assets excluding derivatives These changes will not
have a quantitative impact an the financial statements

- IFRS 9introduces a forward looking expected credit loss model,
replacing the IAS 3% incurred foss model. The new model requires
an expected credit loss to be recognised on all financial assets held
at amorlised cost at imtial recogrition The guantitative impact for the
year ended 31 March 2019 resulis 0 the recognition of an expected
credit luss of £2m, with a corresponding reduction in financial assets
held at amortised cost of £2m. The Group has previously provided for
a materially siritar batance against trade and other recevables and
therefore the resulting reclassihication of existing provisions dees not
have a rmatenial impact on the net assets of the Group

- {FRS ¢ introduces changes to the qualifying critena for hedge
acceunting and expands the financial and non-financial
instruments which may be designated as hedged stems and
hedging instruments in order to align hedge accounting with
business slralegy The changes introduced by IFRS 9 do not have
a guantitative impact on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

IFRS 15 — Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers for the year ended 31 March 2019 The standard was
applied using the madified retrospective approach.

The new standard combines a number of previous standards, setting
ouvt 2 five step-rmodel for the recognition of revenue and establistung
principles for reporting usefut information 1o users of financial
staternents about the nature, iming and uncertainty of revenue and
wash flows ansing v an entity's contracts with custormers The new

standard does not apply to rental income, which 1s in the scope of IAS 17,

but does apply to service charge income, management and

128 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

performance fees and trading property dispasals The changes
ntroduced by IFRS 15 did not have 2 quantitative impact on the
consclidated financial statements of the Group.

The Group has considered the following amendments to standards
endarsed by the EU effective for the current accounting periad,
and determmuned that these do not have a matenial impact on the
canschidated financial statements of the Group

- Amendments to 1AS 40: Transfers of Investment Property

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and

interpretations have been issued but are not yet effective far the

current accounting period None are expecled 10 have a maleriat
impact on the consolidated financial staterments of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 3 [Business Combinations) ts effective from
the next hinancial year The amendments have no impact but will be
applied to any future business combinations

IFRS 14 [Leases]| 1s effective fram the next financiat year The Group
conducted an impact assessment based on the Group's current
activities and have guantified the impact [see belowl The results

of the assessment confirm that the new standard leads to imited
changes to presentation and disclosure.

IFRS 16 - Leases (effective year ending 31 March 2020).

~ For lessees, IFRS 16 wall result in alrmost all operating leases
being brought on balance sheet, as the distinciion between
aperating and finance leases wilt be removed The accounting
for lessors will however not significantly change On adoption of
the new standard, these changes will have an immateral impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. In the
first year of adoption as at 31 March 2020, based on current
tease infarmation, the projected impact will be an increase in
right of use assets (within the investment property balance}
of £37m and a corresponding increase in current habilities of
£7m and non-current labilittes of E38m There witt also be an
immatenal net impact on underlying profit with the reduction
0 rental expense outweighing the increase in finance costs and
depreciation in the first year of adoption

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 78.

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates {including fundsl
The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the British Land
Company PLC and all subsidiaries [entities contralled by British Land).
Control is assumed where Briish Land 1s exposed, or has the rights,
to variable returns from its invalvement with investees and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over those investees.

The results of subsidianies, joint ventures or associates acquired or
disposed of during the year are included from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal Accounting policies
of subsidiaries, joint ventures or assaciates which differ fram Group
accounting policies are adjusted on consolidation.

Business cambinations are accounted for under the acquisition
method Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon is recognised as
goodwilt. Any discount recewed s credited to the income statement
n the period of acquisition.

AlLintra-Groug transactions, balances, income and expenses
are ebminated on consolidation Joint ventures and associates,
tncludeing funds, are accounted for under the equity method, whereby



the consolidated batance sheet incorporates the Group's share
[investor’s share] of the net assets of its joint ventures and
assooiates The consolidated income statement incorporates the
Group’s share of joint venlure and associate profits after tax Thewr
profits Include revaluation movements on investmeni properties.

Dustributions and other receivables from joint ventures and
associates Iincluding fundst are classed as cash flows from
aperating activities, except where they relate to a cash flow artsing
from a capital ransaction, such as a property or nvestment dispesal
{n this case they are classed as cash flows from investing activities

Properties

FProperties are externally vatued on the basis of fair value at the
balance sheet date Investment and owner-occupied properties are
recorded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value,

Any surplus or geficit ansing on revaluing investment propertes I1s
recognised 1n the capital and other column of the income staternent

Any surplus arising on revaluing owner-occupied properiies above cost
1s recegnised in pther comprehensive income, and any defict anising In
revaluation below cost for owner-occupled and trading properties 15
recognised in the capstal and other column of the income statement

The cost of properties n the course of development includes
attributable interest and other associated oulgomngs including
attributabie development personnel costs Interest s calcutated

on the development expenditure by reference to specific borrewings,
where relevant, and otherwise on the weighted average interest rate
of British Land Company PLC borrowings [nterest ss not capitalised
where no development activity 1s taking place A praperty ceases 10
be treated as a development property on pracuical completion

Investment property disposals are recognised on completion
Protits and losses ansing are recogmsed through the capitat and
other calumn of the incosme statement. The profit on disposal s
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amgunt of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus caputal expenditure In the period

Trading properties are inttiatly recognised at cost less impairment,
and frading property disposals are recognised i line with the
revenue polictes outlined below

Where investment properties are appropniated 1o trading properttes,
they are transferred at market value. if properties held for irading are
appropnated Lo investment properties, they are transferred at book
value. In determiming whether leases and related properties
represent operating or finance leases, consideration 1s given {0
whether the tenant or landlord bears the risks and rewards of
ownership. Transfers to or from investment property occur when,
and only when, there s ewdence of change in use

Financial asséts and tiabilities

Bebtors and creditors are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost and discounted as
appropriate On gl recogrution the Group calculates the expected
credit loss for debtors based on lifetime expected credit losses under
the IFRS 9 simplified approach.

Other investments nclude investments classified as amortised

cost and investiments classitied as far value through profit or loss.
Loans and recewables classified as amortised cost are measured
using the effective interest method, iess any smpairment. Interest

1S recagnised by applying the effective interest rate. lnvestments
classified as fair value through profit or loss are initially recorded at
far vatue and are subsequently externally valued on the same basis

at the batance sheet date Any surplus or deficit arising on revatuing
investments held for trading is recognised in the capital and other
column of the income statement

Where an nvestment property 1s held under a head lease, the head
lease is imtially recognised as an asset, being the sum of the premum
pawd on acquisition plus the present vaiue of minimum ground rent
payments The corresponding rent liability to the head leaseholder

1s Included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Debt instruments are stated at their fair vatue on issue Finance
charges including premia payatle on setttement or redemption and
directissue costs are spread over the penod to redemption, using
the effective interest method Exceptionat finance charges incurred
due to early redemption including premia) are recogrised in the
income statement when they occur

Convertible bonds are designated as fair value through profit or loss
and so aremnutially recognised at far value wath all subsequent gains
and losses, including the write-off of 1Issue costs, recognised in the
capital and other column of the income statement as a compenent of
net financing costs, The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate
on the bonds s recogrsed withen the underlying compenent of net
financing costs an an accruals basis

As delingd by tFRS 9 cash fiow and faw value bedges are wubiatly
recogrised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are
entered nto, and subsequently remeasured at lair value Changes
in the fair value of derwatives that are designaied and qualify as
effective cash flow hedges are recognised directly through ather
comprehensive iIncome as a movement in the hedging and
translation reserve Changes in the fair value of dervatives that
are designated and qualily as effective fair value hedges are
recorded it the capilal and other column of the incame statement,
along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that

1s attributable to the hedged risk. Any neffective portion of alt
derivatives 15 reccgnised in the capital and other column of the
income statement. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
not In & designated hedging relationship under IFRS ¢ are recorded
directly in the capstat and other columa ef the income stalement
These derwatives are carnied at fair value on the balance sheet.

Cash equwalents are bmited to instruments with a maiurity of less
than three months

Revenue

Revenue compnises rental income and surrender premia, service
charge income, management and performance fees and praceeds
frorm the sale of trading properties

Rental \ncome and surrender prermua are recognised in accordance
with 1AS 17 Leases

Rental income, including fixed rental uplifts, from investment
property leased oul under an operaling tease Is recognsed

as revenue on a straight-line basis over the (ease term. [ease
incentives, such as rent-free perods and cash contributions to
tenant fit-out, are recognised on the same straight-line basis
bemng an integral part of the net consideration for the use of the
investment property Any rent adjustments based on open market
estimated rental values are recognised, based on management
estimates, from the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent
reviews Contingent rents, being those tease payments that are not
fixed at the inception of the {ease, including fer example turnover
rents, are recogrised in the perwod in which they are earned.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

Surrender premia far the early determination of a lease are
recognised as revenue immedately upon receipt, net of dilapidations
and non-recoverable outgoings relating to the lease concerned

The Group applies the five step-model as required by IFRS 15
in recognising its service charge mcome, management and
performance fees and proceeds from the sale of trading properties

Service charge income is recognised as revenue in the perwod 1o
which it relates

Management fees are recaognised as revenue in the period to
which they relate and relate te property management Performance
fees are recogrised at the end of the perfermance period when the
perfarmance obligations are met, the fee amount can be estimated
reliably and it 1s highly probable that the fee will be receved
Performance fees are based on preperty valuations campared to
external benchmarks at the end of the reporting period Proceeds
fram the sale of trading properties are recognised when control

has been transferred to the purchaser. This generally eccurs on
camatetian Proceeds from the sale of trading properties are
recogrised as revenue in the capstal and other column of the income
statement All other revenue described above s recegnised in the
underlying column of the income statement

Taxation

Curreat tax s based on taxable prafit for the year and 1s calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted ar substantively enacted

al the balance sheet date. Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported in the income statement because it excludes Hems

of incorne ar expense that are not taxable [or tax deducuble)

Deferred tax 1s provided on items that may become taxable in the
future, or which may be used 1o olfset agatnst taxabte profits in the
future, on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assels and lLiabilites for hnancial reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxatian purposes on an undiscounted basis

On business combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments 15 incorporated in the cansolidated batance sheet

Employee casts

The fair value of equiiy-seitled share-based payments to employees
1s determined at the date of grant and ts expensed on a straight-ling
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estirnate of
shares or options that wiil eventually vest in the case of optrons
granted, fair value 1s measured by a Black-Scholes prnicing modet
The fair value of shares granted 1s based on the market value at
grant date.

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured using fair
values Pension scheme liabilities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return of a high quality
corporate bond of eguivalent term to the scheme trabiliies, The net
surplus lwhere recoverabte by the Group) or deficit 1s recogrised in
full in the consolidated baiance sheet. Any asset resulting from the
calculation is limited to the present value of available refunds and
reductions in future contributions ta the plan. The current service cost
and gains and losses on settlement and curtailments are charged to
operating profit. Actuanal gains and losses are recogrised in full in
the period 1n which they occur and are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive iIncome.

Contributions to the Group's defined coniribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the conlracied annual contribution.
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Accounting judgements and estimates
In applying the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are required
to make judgements and estimates that affect the fnancial staterments

Sigruficant areas of esumation are:

Valuation of properties and investments held for trading The Group
uses eéxternal professional valuers to determine the relevant amounts.
The prnimary source of evidence for property valuations shoutd be recent,
comparable market transactions on an arms-length basts However,
the vatuation of the Group’s property portfolio and investments held

for trading are inherently subjective, as they are based upon valuer
assumptions which may prove to be inaccurate. Sensitivity tables are
included within note 10,

Other less significant areas af estimation include the valuation of fixed
rate debt and interest rate denvatives, the determination of share-
based payment expense, the acluarial assumptions used n catculating
the Group s rebrement benehit obligations, and taxation provisions.

The key areas of accounting (udgement are-

REIT status Brtish Land 1s a Real Estate Investrment Trust [REIT)

and does not pay tax on ils praperty tncome or gains on property sales,
provided that at least 90% of the Group's property income 1s distributed
as a dividend 1o shareholders, which becomes taxable in their hands.
In additien, the Group has to meet certain conditions such as ensuring
the property rental business represents more than 75% of total prokits
and assets. Any potential or proposed changes to the REIT legisiation
are monitored and discussed with HMRC. [t s management’s tention
that the Group will continue as 3 REIT for the foreseeable future

Accounting for roint ventures and funds In accordance with

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial staternents , IFRS 11 "Jant
arrangements’, and IFRS 12 ‘Dhsclosures of interests in other
entities an assessment IS required to determine the degree of
control or influence the Group exercises and the form of any
control to ensure that the financial staterment treatment 1s
apprapriate. The assessment undertaken by management
includes consideration of the structure, tegal form, contractual
terms and other facts and circumstances relating te the relevant
enlity. This assessment is updated annually and there have been
no changes in the judgemeni reached in relauon to the degree of
control the Group exercises within the current or prior year. Group
shares in joint ventures and funds resulting from this process are
disclosed m note 11 to the financial statements

Interest in the Group’'s joint ventures is commonly driven by the
terms of the partnership agreements which ensure that control

1s shared between the partners. Alt sigatficant joint venture
arrangements of the Group are held in structures in which the

Group has 50% of the voting rights Joint ventuces are accgunted

for under the equity method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet
incarporates the Group's share of the net assets of its jont ventures
and assaciates. The cansolidated incame statement incorporates the
Group's share of joint venture and associate profits after tax

Accounting for transactians. Property transactions are complex in
natura and can be material to the financial statements Judgements
made in relation to transactons include whether 2n acquisition 15

a business corsbinabion wi au asset; whether held for sale cniteria
have been met for transactions not yet completed; accounting for
Iransaction costs and contingent consideration; a2nd application

of the concept of linked accounting. Management consider each
transaction separately in order fo determine the most appropriate
accounting treatment, and, when considered necessary, seek
independent advice.



2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures financial performance with reference o underlying earnings per share, the European Public Real Estate Association [EPRA)
earmings per share and IFRS earnings per share The relevant earrungs and weighted average number of shares {including dilution adjustments])
for each perfermance measure are shown below, and a reconciliation between these 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures [Table B).

EPRA earmings per share is calculated using EPRA earnings, which is the IFRS loss after taxaton attributable to shareholders of the Campany
excluding investment and development property revaluatrons, gains/losses on investing and trading property disposals, changes in the fair value of
financial enstruments and assccated ctose-out costs and their refated taxation, In the current year, diluted EPRA earnings per share did not include the
ditutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond, as the Group's share price was below the current exchange price of 1007 24 pence. {IFRS diluted earnings
per share would include the dilutive impact as [AS 33 ignores this hurdle ta conversion, hawever due to the current year loss, this would be anti-ditutive
and therefore no adjustment 1s made. In the prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the
Company's share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditions attached to the bond to trgger conversion inte shares

Underlying earnings per share is calculated using Underlying Profit adjusted for underlying taxation (see nate 7] Underlying Profit is the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure, with additional Company adjustments Nc Company adjustments were made in erther the current or prior year

mmne 2018
Relevant Relevant number Earnings Relevant  Relevant aumber Earaings

. earnings of shares per share earnings of shares per share
Earnings per share Em millian penca Em miltion pence
Underlying
Underlying basic 340 LAA 35.0 380 1,013 375
Underlying diluted 340 974 34.9 380 1.016 374
EPRA
EPRA basic 340 7 350 380 1.13 379
EPRA dituted 340 974 34.9 380 1.016 374
IFRS
Basic (291} 971 (30.0) 493 1.013 487
Uiluted 12911 971 i30.01 493 1,016 483
Net asset value

The Group measures financial position with reference to EPRA net asset value [NAV) per share and EPRA triple net asset value [NNNAVY]
per share The net asse( value and number of shares for each performance measure are shown below A reconcibiation between IFRS
net assets and EPRA met assets, and the retevant number of shares for each performance measure, 15 shown within the supplementary
disclosures (Table B] EPRA net assels i1s a propartionally consolidated measure that is based on iFRS net assets excluding the mark-to-
market on derivabives and related debt adjustments, the mark-to-market on the convertible bonds, and deferred taxation on property and
derwative valuatons They include the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the dilutive impact of share gptions,

As at 31 March 2019, EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV did not include the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond, as the Group’s share price
was below the exchange price of 1007 24 pence IFRS net assets also does not inctude the convertible impact {ollowing the treatment of iIFRS
earnings per share. In the prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the Company's
share price had not exceeded the level required for the coavertible conditions attached te the bond to trigger conversion into shares.

201% 208
Relevant Retevant number  Net asset value Retevanl  Relevantnumber  Nel asset value
net assets of shares per share nel assels of shares per share
Net asset value per share im mellion pence Em rrulion pence
EPRA
EPRA NAV 8,649 956 205 2.560 89 967
EPRA NNNAV 8,161 956 854 7,044 989 914
IFRS
Basic 8,689 949 916 7,506 983 947
Oiuted 8,689 956 0% 9.506 989 941

Total accounting return
The Group also measures financial performance with reference to total accounting return This 1s calculated as the movemnent in EPRA net
asset value per share and dwidend paid in the year as a percentage of the EPRA net asset value per share al the start of the year

2019 2018
Decrease in NAY Orvidend per Total Increase in MAYV Dividend per Tolal
pPEer share share paid accounting per share share pard accounting
pence pence return pence pence return
Total accounting return f62) 30.54 13.3%} 52 29 64 8 9%

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 131



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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3 Revenue and costs

2019 2018
Caprtat Capnat

Undertying and other Tetat Underiying and other Tatal

£m £€m o fm fm £m

Rent recewvable (714 - (171 441 - 441
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases 18} - 18) 161 - {8)
Surrender prermiua 1 - 1 3 - 6
Gross rental income 439 - 439 441 - 441
Trading property sales proceeds - 350 350 - 78 78
Service charge income 76 - 76 -1 - &b
Management and performance fees [from joint ventures and funds| 7 - K ) - 6
Other fees and commissions 32 - 32 48 - 48
Revenue 554 350 904 561 78 639
Trading property cost of sales - {258} 1258| - 164) (64])
Service charge expenses {78} - 178} (e8] - 1661
Property Operating expenses (35} - (35} 29} - {291
Other fees and commissions expenses {30l - {30) {41} - 41l
Costs. (141} {258} (3991 {1361 {44] {2001
413 92 505 425 14 439

The cash elemnant of net rental income {gross rental income tess property operaiing expenses} recogmsed dunng the year ended 31 March 2019
from properties which were not subject to a secunity interest was £356m {2017/18 £301m} Property operaling expenses relating 1o investment
properties that did not generate any rental income were £1m [2017/18. £2m] Contingent rents of £3m [2017/18 £4m) were recognised in the year

4 Valuation movements on property

2019 2018
€m Em
Consolidated income statement
Revaluation of properties {620 202
Revaluation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the equity method (63) 52
1683) 254
Consotidated staternent of comprehensive income
Revatuation ot owner-occupied propertes 3 {3
{480} 251
S Auditors’ remuneration - PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.3 43
Fees payable to the Company's auditars for the audit of the Company's subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.4 0.4
Total audit fees 0.7 0.7
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 0.8
Other fees
Other services 0.1 o2
Total 0.9 1.0

in adchition to the above, PricewalerhouseCoopers LLP were remuneraled in the prior year for non-audtt fees in PREF, an equity accounted praperty

fund [see note 11). The Group's share of fees totatled £ril [2017/18- £0.1m. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are not the externat auditers to PREF.
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6 Net financing costs

19 2018
£m £m
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdrafts 21 (23
Derwatives 29 28
QOther toans (75} {74
Qbligations under head leases {3} (2
(70} {71}
Development interest capitalised 3 6
(671 {65}
Financing income
Depuosits, securittes and liquid investments - 1
- 1
Net financing charges - underlying (471 (64}
Capital and other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on translation of foreign currency net assets - 4!
Hedging reserve recycling’ - (106}
Valuahinn movernenis on far value darnwvativas? 41 (79
Vatuatton mavements on faw value debt? {3s) 80
Recycling of fair value mavement on close-out of derivatives - t14
Capital financing costs? (32} £27!
Fair value mavement on canvertible bonds (8) -
Valuation movement on non-hedge accounted dervatives (11} 16}
(46} {143}
Financing income
Fair value moverment on convertibte bonds - -
Net financing charges - capital 146} {143]
Net financing costs
Total financing Income - 1
Total inancing charges (113} (228)
Net financing costs 113) 1227}

interest payable on unsecured bank loans and related interest rate dervatives was £8m [2017/18. £9mi Interest on development expenditure is

capialised at the Graup's weighted average interest rate of 2 2% (2017/18. 2 0%] The weighted average interest rate on a proportionately

consphidated basts at 31 March 2019 was 2 9% (2017/18- 2 8%}

1. Represenis a reclassification of cumulative losses within the hedging and translabon reserve (o capital profit and loss, v relation to hedging nstruments which have been

closed out ar are no longer hedge accounted
2 Pomanly bond redemplion, tender offer and purchase casts

3 The difference between valualien movements on fair value derwatives and vatuation movemnents on farr value debt represents hedge ineffectiveness for the period
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7 Taxation

2019 2018
€m £m
Taxation lexpense} income
Current taxation:
UK corporation taxation 19% [2017/18 19%l 110} -
Adjustments in respect of prior years 13 1
Total current taxation income 3 1
Deferred 1axation on revaluations and derivatives {4) 5
Group total taxation (1} 5
Attributable to joint ventures and funds 2 -
Total taxation income 1 6
Taxation reconciliation
{Loss) proht on ordinary activities before taxation 1319] 501
Less profit attributable to joint ventures and funds! (5) (151}
Group [loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1324) 350
Taxation on profit on ordinary actwvities at UK corporation taxation rate of 19% (2017/18. 19%) 62 (67)
Effects of-
- REIT exempt income and gains 73} 7i
- Taxatton lasses 1 (4}
- Deferred laxation on revaluations and dervatives {4) S
- Adjustments in respect of prior years 13 1
Group totat taxation lexpense} income 1) )

} Acurrent faxation incame of £2m {2017/18 Eml} and a deferred taxation credit of Eni [2017/18 €rmut) arese on profils attnbutable to jont veniures and funds The tow tax

charge reflects the Group’s REIT status

Taxation expense atiributable la Underlying Proftt for the year ended 31 March 2019 was Emi {2017/18 £ny) Corporation taxaton payable at
31 March 2019 was £25m [2017/18. £22m] as shown on the balance sheet During the year to 31 March 2019 vanious tax provisions tn respect of

tistoric taxation mallers and current points of yuncertainty in the UK have been released and prowsions made The net movernent, which ts

included within the tax credd above, 1s nol material

8 Staff costs

019

7018

Staff costs {including Directors) m tm
Wages and salaries 52 70
Social security cosls 8 ?
Pensian costs 7 7
Equity-settled share-based payments i3l -

74 86

The average monthly number of employees of the Company during the year was 293 [2017/18: 245]. The average monthly number of

Group employees, including those employed directly at the Group's properties and thewr costs recharged to lenants, was 783 [2017/18 835)
The average manthly number of employees of the Company within each category of persons employed was as lollows- Retait 31, Offices. 20,

Canada Water: 14; Developments 32; Storey 8, Support Functions 188

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directeors are the key managernent personnel Their emolurnents are summarnised below and

further detail 1s disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109.

Directors’ emoluments ZT:: zg!r:
Shart term employee benelits 5.6 5.9
Service cost in relation to defined benefit pension schemes 0.1 02
Equity-setiled share-based payments 2.0} IR

3.7 4.8
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8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs
The Group s equity-settied share-based payments comprise the Long-Term incentive Plan [LTIP), the Matching Share Plan [MSP),
the Restricted Share Plan {RSP! and various savings related share oplion schemes

The Company expenses an estimate of how many shares are lkely to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance against the relevant performance targets and service penads, which are discussed in further detail in the
Remuneration Report

For ait schemes except the Company’s Long-Term incentive Plan share oguons, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date The key inputs used to value share options using a Black-Scholes modet granted under the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan
are shown below.

25 June 28 June
Long-Term Incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2019 2018 2017
Share price and exercise price at grant date &82p 417p
Expected option Ufe inyears 5 5
Risk free rate 0.8% {} 8%
Expected volatility 22% 2L%
Expected dvidend yield 5% 5%
Value per option &8p 68p

Movements in shares and options are givern in note 20

9 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Penston Scheme ('the scheme'his the principal detined benelit pension scheme in the Group. The assets
of the scheme are held in a truslee-admunistered fund and kept separate from those of the Company It is not contracted out of SERPS {State
Earnings-Related Pension Schemel and it 1s net planned to adrmit new employees to the scheme The Group has three other small defined
benefhl pension schemes There are also two Oelined Contribution Pension Schemes. Contributions to these schemes are at s ftat rate of
salary and are paud by the Company

The total net pension cost charged for the year was £7m (2017/18- £7m], of which £5m [2017/18- E5mil retates te defined contribution plans
and £2m [2017/18 E£2m) retates Lo the current service cost of the defined benefit schemes

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out at 31 March 2015 by consulting actuearies, Aon The next full actuariai valuation is
currently being carried out by First Actuanal and will be campteted by 30th June 2019 The valuations and employer s contributions {72 9% per
annum of basic salaries] in the current year are based on eslimates produced by First Acluarial The best estimate of emptoyer contnibutions
expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 2020 1s £2m. The major assumptions used for the acluarial valuation were

2019 8 2017 2018 2015
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa
Discount rate 2.4 26 2.4 32 3.1
Salary inftation 4.8 49 49 48 48
Pensions increase 33 33 33 32 32
Price mnflation 3.4 3.4 34 33 33

The assumptions are that a member currently aged 60 will live on average for a further 27.8 years i they are male and for a furiher 29 4 years
f they are female. For a member who retires in 2039 at age 40, the assumptions are that they witl Live on average for a further 29.2 years alter
retirement 1f they are male and for a further 30 B years after retirement if they are female.

Composition of scheme assets

2019 2008

£m £m

Equities &0 54
Diversihied growth funds g8 85
Other assets 12 13
Total scheme assets 160 152

97 9% of the scheme assets are quated in an active market All unquoted scheme assets sit within equities
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9 Penstons continued

The amount included in ihe balance sheet arising fram the Group's obligations it respect of its defined beneht scheme 1s as follows

2019 018 2617 084 2045

&m fm Em Em £m

Present value of defined scheme obligations {147 (147) {167] 1431 [145)
Fair vatue of scheme assels 160 152 154 137 139
Irrecoverable surplus {13} [5) - - -
Liability recagnised in the balance sheet - - 113 16) 16)

The sensitivities of the defined benefit abligation in relation to the majar actuanial assurmptions used to measure scheme Labilities are as follows.

Increasafidacreasa) in deimed
scheme gbligations

Changemn 019 2018
Assumption assurnpion €m tm
Discount rate +0 5% {151 (14)
Salary inflation +05% 2 1
RPl inflation +0 5% 12 12
Assumed life expectancy +1 year 5 4
History of experience gains and losses
017 2018 2017 2014 2015
£m Een £m Em £m
Total actuanal gain {lass) recogmised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive Income!-? - 9 (12| §]] {51
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 0.1% 61% 72% 07% 36%
1 Movements stated after adjusting for irrecoverability of any surplus
2 Cumulative logs recegrised i the statement of comprehensive income 1s £40m [2017/18; £40m)
Movements in the present value of defined benefit abligations were as follows:
219 2018
&m £m
ALY April (147 11671
Current service cost {21 12l
interest cost 3] (4]
Actuanial floss| gan
|Loss) gain from change in financial assumptions {2) 7
Gain on scheme liabiittes arising from experience 1 7
Benefiis paid é 12
At 31 March {147) [147)
Movements in the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows:
2019 018
€m Em
At 1 April 152 154
Interest income on scheme assets 4 3
Centributions by employer 2 7
Actuanal gain ] -
Benelits pad {3 [12)
At 31 March 160 152
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9 Pensions continued
Through its defined benefit plans, the Group is expesed to @ number of nsks, the most sigmibicant of which are detailed zelow

Asset volatitity

The hiabilittes are calculated using & discount rate set wath reference to corporate bond yields; if assets underperfarm this yield. this will
create a deficit The scheme holds a signdicant portion of growth assets tequities and diversified growth funds] which, atthough expected
to outperform corporate bonds in the long term, create volability and risk :n the short term. The altocation to growth assets is monitored
tc ensure it remains appropriate given the scherme s long term objectives

Changes in bond yields
A decrease (n corpocate bond yields will increase the value placed on the scheme’s liabilities for accounting purposes, although thus will
be partally oiiset by an increase in the value of the scheme’s bond hotdings

Inflation risk

The majonity of the scheme’s benefit obligations are binked to inflation, and ugher inflation walt lead to higher Wabihities {atthough, in mast
cases, caps on the level of nflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). The mayority of the assets are either
unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an «ncrease mnflation will also mncrease the deficit

Life expectancy
The majority of the scheme’s obiigations are o provide benelis for the Ufe of the member. so increases in life expectancy wili resuit

In anincrease in the labilities

10 Property

Property reconciiiation for the year ended 31 March 2019

nvesiment

Investment

Glfices and Canada develupmae':: Owener-
Retail resigenteal Water Devefopments properies Trading occupted
Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 2 properhies Level 3 Total
£m Em £m m m €m £m €m
Carrying value at 1 April 2018 5,195 3,659 298 355 9,507 328 90 9.925
Addiions
- property purchases 128 93 - - 221 - - 221
- development expenditure 2 - 19 151 172 11 - 183
- capitalised interest and staff costs - - 3 2 5 - - 5
- capital expenditure on asset
management wmubiatives 27 15 - - 42 - - [¥3
157 108 22 153 440 1" - 451
Depreciation - - - - - - (1 i1
Disposals (409} - - 3) (412} (252) - {664}
Reclassifications - 19 - - 19 - 19 -
Revaluations included in income statemert! 6213 {12) 2} 15 {620} - - {620
Revaluations inctuded 1n OCi - - - - - - 3 3
Movermnent in tenant incentives and
contracted rent uphft balances 15 2 - - (3 - - (3}
Carrying value at 31 March 2019 4,317 3,776 318 520 8,931 87 73 2,091
Head lease liatsliies {note 15] {92)
Valuation surplus on trading properlies 29
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 9.028
Non-controlling mterests {267}
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 attributable to shareholders 8.761

} Included within the offices and residennal property revaluation movement above is a £6m increase to the valuation of 10 Brock Sireet following the leasing iransaction with

Faceboek and Debenhams
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10 Property continued
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

Invesiment

Investment
and

Offices and Canada devalepment Owner-
Retad residentiad Water Developments properties Trading accupied
Level 3 fevel § Level’s Level 5 Level 3 properties Lavel 3 Totad
Em fm Em Em £m £m £m £m

Carrying vatue at 1 April 2017 5,021 KEAL 286 150 9073 334 4 9,501
Additions

- praperty purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 250

- development expenditure S 15 22 L4 86 46 - 132

- capitatised interest and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10

- caputal expenditure on asset

management initiatives 29 - - 1 30 - - 30
n 16 33 46 346 56 - 422

Depreciation - - - - - - {1} {n
Disposals (134} (21 - - (138} [62) - 11981
Reclassifications f&) (137 - 141 - - - -
Revaluatiens mcluded 1in income statement 40 165 21} 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations ncluded 0 QCH - - - - - - (3t (3t
Movement in tenant incentives and
contracted rent uplift balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5195 3.659 298 355 9.507 328 90 9.925
Head lease Liabiliies [note 15] {621
Valuation surplus on trading properiies 134
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 9.997
Non-controiling interests {315
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 2682

Property valuation
The different valuation method levels are defined below

Level 1: Quoted prices [unadjusted] in active markets for identical assets or liabitities,

Levet 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
[i.e. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices}.

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data [unobservable inputs).

These levets are specified i accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement’. Property vaiuations are tnherently subjective as they are
made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer which may not prove to be accurate. For these reasons, and consistent with EPRA’s
guidance, we have classified the valuations of our property portfolio as Level 3 as defined by IFRS 13 The inputs to the valuations are defined
as ‘unobservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed in a table on the following page. There were no transfers between tevels in the year

The Group’s total property portfolio was valued by external valuers on the basis of fair value, in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards 2014, minth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

The information provided to the valuers, and the assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property porticlio

tearn, the Head of Real Estate and the Chief Financial Gfficer The valuers meet with the external auditors and also present directly to the Audit
Committee at the interim and year end review of results. Further details of the Audit Committee s responsibitites in relation to valuations can

be found in the Report of the Audit Commuttee [on pages 80 to 85,

Investment properties, excluding properties held for development, are valued by adogpting the ‘investment method’ of valuation

This approach nwolves applying capitalisation yields ta current and {uture rental streams net of income vaids anising from vacancies or
rent-free periods and associated running costs. These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property

and leasing transactions in the market using the valuers’ professional jJudgement ano market observation Other faciors taken into account
i the vatuations include the tenure of the property, tenancy detaits and ground and structural conditions.
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10 Property continued

in the case of ongoing developments, the approach appiied 1s the ‘residual method' of valuation, which 1 the investment methed of valuation
as descrbed above, with a deduction for ali costs necessary to complete the development, including a notional finance cost, together with a

further allowance for remaining risk. Properties held for development are generally valued by adopling the higher of the residual method of
valuation, allowing for all associated risks, or the investment methaod of valuation for the existing asset

Copies of the vatuation certificates of Knight Frank LLP, CBRE, Jones Lang LaSalte and Cushman & Wakeheld can be found at
bribshiand comfreports

Abreakdown of valuations split between the Group and 1ts share of joint ventures and tunds is shown below

2019 018
Jaint Joint
veniures veniures
Group and funds Total Group and lunds Total
£€m €m Em Em £m £m
Knight Frank LLP 1,434 2,256 3,690 1.674 2.680 4.354
CBRE 2,675 21 2,906 4,511 1.403 594
Jones Lang LaSalte 1,88% 1,099 2,988 561 - 561
Cushman & Waketeld 3,030 19 3,049 3.25) 19 3.270
Total property portfolic valuation 9,028 3,605 12,633 9.997 4,102 14,099
Non-contralling interests (247) (50) (317} {315} 168) {383}
Total property portfolio valuation attributable to shareholders 8,761 3,555 12,316 9.682 4034 13.716
Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2019
Fait vatue i ERVpersqft Equivatant yield Costs to complete persq it
31 March 2019 Yatuation Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
{investment [ techmgue £ 3 € % % « € 4 3
investment
Retail 4,278 methodology 2 87 24 4 10 5 - ¥ [
Investment
Offices’ 3,769 methodology 8 145 58 4 5 4 - 465 53
Investment
Canada Water 382 methodology 15 k3| 22 2 6 4 - 1 -
[nvestment
Resdential 43 methodology 38 38 ag 4 4 4 - - -
Residual
Developments 520 methodology 47 63 55 4 5 4 - 334 228
Total 8,912
Trading properties
al faie value 116
Group property
porttolio valuation 9,028

1 Includes owner-cecupled
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

10 Property continued

Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3] for the year ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at ERVpersqf Egumvalent yeld Costs te complete per sq it
31 March 2218 Valuation Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
Investment £m technigua £ £ £ % % 4 £ E
(nvestment
Retail 5210 methodology 2 84 24 3 9 5 - 51 2
Investment
Offices’ 3,617  methodology 8 117 58 4 5 4 - 323 53
lnvestment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 38 4 4 4 - 2 {a4]
Investiment
Residential 70 methodology 15 29 22 2 é 4 - 1 1
Residual
Developmentis 355 methodology 18 66 51 2 6 5 - 614 541
Total 9,535
Trading properties
at far value 452
Group property
portfolio valuation 9.997

1 Includes owner occupied

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3) on the fair value of the Group's property portiolio for

the year ended 31 March 2019

impact en vaiuations

Impaci on valuations

Impact an valuatiang

Fair vatye at

31 March 2019 +5% ERY -5% ERY ~-256ps NEY +25bps NEY ~2% costs +5% costs

m Lm m €m tm {m m

Retall i 5,530 230 (220) 272 i251} - -
Othfices' 5,444 228 {207} 351 1313) - -
Canada Water 303 4 14) 5 14} n 130}
Residential 9 1 (§]] 2 2 - -
Developments 940 48 152} b4 (40} 24 {30)
Group property portfolio valuation 12,314 511 1484) 704 1630) 57 {60}

1. Includes trading properties at far value

information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3] on the fair value of the Group's property portfolio for the year ended

31 March 2018

impac! on valuations

impact on valuatens

Impact on vatyations

Faw value al

31 March 2018 5% ERY -5% ERV -25bgs NEY +25bps NEY -5% costs «5% costs

£m Em Em Em fm £m tm

Retal 5.210 210 (199) 269 (278} na na
Otfices! 4,079 147 {161) 244 1219) na na
Canada Water 283 4 {5) 1 1) 21 1200
Residentral 70 1 it 2 12] - -
Developmenis 355 N {31) 39 {35) 13 {13
Group property portfolio valuation 9,997 413 (397] 535 [535) 34 (33}

1 Includes trading properues at fair value
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10 Property continued

All other factors being equal

- a lugher equivatent yield or discaunt rate would lead o a decrease in the valuation of an asset

- anincrease in the current or estimalted future rental stream would have the effect of increasing the capitat value
- anncrease in the costs to compleie would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset

However, there are interrelationships belween the unobservable inputs which are partiatiy deterrmined by marke! conditions, which would
impact on these changes.

Additional property disclosures - including covenant information

At 31 March 2019, the Group property portfolio valuation of £9.028m [2017/18 £9.997m] comprises freeholds of £4,92%m [2017/18 £5717mi,
virtual freeholds of £940m [2017/18 E895m), and iong leasehalds of £3.097m (2017/18 £3,391m); and shart leaseholds of £62m {2017/18- £nll
The historical cost of properties was £5,853m [2017/18- £4,294m)

The property vatuation does not include any investment properties held under aperating leases (2017/18 Eml)
Cumulative interest capitaised against investment, development and Lrading properties amounts to £99m {2017/18: £10Tm}.

Properties valued at £1,019m {2017/18 £1,202m] were subject to a security interest and other properties of non-recourse companies amounted
10 £1,115m [2017/18 £1,245m), totatling £2,134m (2017/18 £2.447m)

included within the property valuation ts £28m [2017/18 £40m] in respect of accrued contracted rental uplift Incerne The balance anses
through the IFRS treatment of leases containing such arrangements, which requires the recognition of rental income on a straight-line basis
aver the lease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying value of the property against which
revaluations are measured

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

Jont venlures Funds Totat Equity Loans Total

£m Em £m &m Em £&m

At 1 April 2018 2,600 222 2,822 2392 430 2,822

Additions 23 38 a1 41 20 61

Disposals (2 - (21 - (2} 12

Share of prah! on ordinary activities after taxation 24 1 7 7 - 7
Destributions and dividends.

- Capita {2601 - {240) (260] - {260}

« Revenue {73) {13} [{:1] [86} - {84)

Hedging and exchange movemenlts 18 - 18 18 - 18

At 31 March 2019 2,330 230 2,560 212 448 2,540
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

The surnmarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and liabilities of

j10int ventures and funds Where necessary. these have been restated lo the Group's accounting policies
Juint ventures” and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

Broadgate MSC Property
REIT Intermesiate
Ltd Holdings Ltd

BL Sainsbury
Supersiares
Lid

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP tnvestment
Partners (GIC) Managemeni J Sainsbury plc
City Offices  Shopping Centres

Property sector Broadgate Meadowhatll Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised inccme statements £m £m fm
Revenue* 194 102 32
Costs (60} (24] -

134 78 32
Administrative expenses (1] - -
Net interest payable 71 (321 ny o
Undertying Prefit 62 4h 2t
Negi valuation movernent 17 1152 i
Caputal financing costs 137 - (3
[Loss] profit on disposal of investment properties and investments 10 - (4]
Praht {loss] on grdinary actwities before taxation 152 106} 15
Taxation 4 - -
Profit [loss) an ordinary activities after taxation 156 (108) 15
Other comprehensive Income 36 - -
Total comprehensive income (expense) 192 {108) 15
British Land share of total comprehensive income (expense) L) (53} 8
British Land share of distributions payable 275 4 20
Summarised balance sheets £m tm Em
investrnent and trading properties 4024 1,744 488
Current assets 1) 4 4
Cash and deposits 219 31 40
Gross assets 46,242 1,77% 532
Current Liabilities (831 (371 {221
Bank and securitised debt 11,442 16121 1194)
Loans fram jaink venture partners (479 (385} -
Cther non-current Liabilities - (20} -
Grass labibities {2,004) (1,054) {218}
Net assets 2,238 725 314
British Land share of net assels less shareholder loans 1119 343 157

-

USS joint ventures include the Eden Watk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership

2. Hercules Unit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the resulis of Deepdaie Co-Ownership Trust, Fort Kinnaird Lirmited Pactnership and Valenline

Co-0wnership Tryst and &1 25% of Birstalt Co-Ownership Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assels of these joinl ventures and sub-funds

3 Included n the column headed Other joint veniures and lunds’ are contribubions from the following: BL Goodman Limited Parinershup, The Aldgate Place Limited
Partnership. Bluebution Property Management UK Limited, City of London Office Unit Trust and Pilar Retait Europark Fund [PREF) The Group s ownership
share of PREF 15 65%, hawever as the Group 15 not able to exercrse control over significant decisions of the fund, the Group equaty accounts for its tnterest in PREF

4 Revenue includes gross renlal incorne al 100% share of £310m (2017/18- £385m)
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uss Hercules Unit Trust Other Totat
Joent Jainl ventures joint venteres Tatal Group share
The SouthGate Limited Parinersiip venturas® and sub-lunds? and lunds? m9 . 321
Universities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scheme Group PLC
Shopping Shopping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
0% 50% Vanous
£m £m £m Em £m £m
18 14 33 - 393 196
14} (5] 18} (1} [102) (51)
t4 9 25 i1} 291 145
- - 11 - 21 (§}]
) nroo - {1 - (114} _lsp_)
13 g 3 {1 173 84
[25% {15] {52 1 127 (63
- - [2) - {42) (21
- - (7} 5 4 3
f121 (6} (38} 3 8 5
- - - - A 2
112} (4] 138} 3 12 7
- - - - 35 18
{12) L] (38] 3 48 25
6] 13} (19} 2 25 -
5 4 13 - a -
Em tm fm Em £m £m
252 238 456 - 7.202 3,601
i 1 b 40 55 27
k4 ) 13 5 323 162
262 245 475 45 7,580 3,794
131 (4} {11] {10] (1703 {85}
- - - - [2,250) (1,125}
- {30 - (6] tg00) 1450}
{28} - - 8 140} {20)
{31 134} 1) (8] 13,360 (1,680}
231 211 464 37 4,220 2,110
116 105 232 18 2,110

The borrowings af joint ventures and funds and thewr subsidiaries are non-recourse to the Group All joint ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdom, wilh the exception
of Broadgate RE!T Limited and the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust winch are mncorporated in Jersey Of the lunds, the Hercutes Uit Trust [HUT) joint ventures and
sub-funds are (ncorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg

These linanctal stalements nctude the results and financial position of the Group’s interest in the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limiuted Fartnership, the
BL. Goedman Lirruted Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership Accordingly. advantage has been taken of the exemptions provided by Regulation 7 of the
Partnerstup (Accounts] Regulations 2008 not Lo attach the partnership accounts to these hnanctal staternents
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
The summansed income slatements and batance sheets betow and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and tabilities of
joint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group s accounting policies,

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Broadgale MSC Proparty BL Sainsbury
RE(T tlermediate Superstores
Lig! Haldngs Lid Lid

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners GIC] Management J Sainsbury ple
City Offices  Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Graup share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m £m
Revenue® 255 102 39
Costs {64) 23] -
191 79 39
Adminisirative expenses 1" _ _
Net interest payable (82} 133) [16)
Underlying Profit 108 46 23
Net valuation mavemant 105 21 (3]
Capital financing costs - - {26]
{Loss) profit on disposat of investment properties and investments {18} - 9
Profit [loss] on ardinary activities before taxation 199 67 3
Taxaton - - -
Profit {toss) on ordinary activities after taxation 195 &7 3
Cther comprehensive income [expenditure) 13 3 ~
Total comprehensive income 208 70
British Land share of total comprehensive income (expense) 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 31
Summarised palance sheets £m £m £m
Investment and trading properties 4,668 1,895 923
Current assets 3 6 -
Cash and deposits 291 39 20
Gross assets 4,965 1,940 613
Current liabsities (107] (41} (24}
Bank and securitised debt [1.744] [641] (251}
Loans from joint venture partners 1465} {364} -
Other nan-current liabiiies (&1 (20] -
Gross Labilthes {2,357] (1,068) 1275)
Net assets 2,608 874 338
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,304 437 169

included withir the Broadgate RE!T revenue is a £29m {£15m Brissh Land share] payment received in June 20117 from the Royal Bank of Scolland in relation fo ther
surrender of a lease at 135 Bishopsgate
. USS jomnt ventures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareharn Property Partnership
Hercules Unit Trust joinl ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the results of Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust, Gibraltar Limited Parinership and Valentine Co-Gwnership
Trusi and 41 25% of Birstall Ca-Ownership Trust. The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these jaint ventures and sub-funds
4 Included i the columa headed "Other joint ventures and funds’ are contributions from {he loltowing: BL Goodman Limited Partnership, The Aldgaie Piace Lirmted
Parinership, Bluebutton Property Management UK Limited, City of Londen Office Und Trust and Pillar Retail Europark Fund IPREF) The Group s ownership shace of PREF
15 65%, however as the Group 1s not able Lo exercise control over significant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts for s interest in PREF

5 Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of E385m (2017/18 €£437m]

WA
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Uss Hercules Unit Trust QOther Tatat

joint JOM YERIUTES o verures Tatal Group share
The SouthGate Limiled Partnership veniures? ang sub-funds® ___and funds 2018 2018
Universities
Aviva Superannuatign
Investors Scheme Group PLC
Shopping Shopping Retal
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
Em Em fm £m £€m €m
18 13 36 4 469 235
(4] (4] (5] (21 (102] 51)
14 9 KN 4 367 184
i - - - (2 3]
(1] - {4} - (136) [3:]]
12 9 27 4 223 115
10 - {28] - 105 52
- - - - (28) 113]
1 - - 2 (6) (3]
23 9 11} [ 02 151
23 9 11} ] 302 151
- - - - 16 B
23 9 AH & 318 159
1" 5 {1} 3 159
5 4 14 - 93
Em £m £m £m £m £Em
275 250 5% - 8,201 4,100
1 1 4 42 &0 31
% 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 404 50 8,715 4,358
(&) (5} (1 (151 (207 (105}
- - (340] - {2,778) f1,388)
- [26} - |&] {851} (FActi]]
{28] - 14] 3 (88) [43)
{32} (31) {155} {14) {3,932] 1,944)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,292
127 113 224 16 2,392

& Included in the columa headed Other joint ventures and lunds are contributions from the following BL Goadman Limited Parinership, The Aldgate Place Linited
Partnership, Bluebutton Property Management UK Limited, Ciy of Loadon Oflice Urit Trust and Pillar Relail Europark Fund [PREF| The Group s ownership share of PREF
15 65%, however as the Group (s not able to exercise control over signithcant decisions of the fund the Group equity accounts for its interest in PREF

7 Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of €385m (2016/17 £437m|

The borrowings of joint venlures and funds and thewr subsidarees are non-recourse 1o the Group All joirt venlures are mcorporated m the United Kingdom, with the excephion
of Broadgate REIT Limited and the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust whnch are incorporated m jersey Of the funds, the Hercules Uit Trust [HUTE joint ventures and
sub-Tunds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF i Luxembourg

These inancal stalements include the results and hinanciat posibion of the Group s interest in the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limued Partnership, the
BL Goodman Limited Partnershup, the Auchinlea Partnership and the Gibraltar Limiled Partnership Accardingly, advantlage has been laken of the exemplions prowided by
Regulation 7 of the Partnership (Accounts] Regulations 2008 nol {o attach the partnership accounts to these inancial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

11 .Joint ventures and funds continued
Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds [Group share)

2019 18
£€m Em

Rental mcome recewved from tenants 160 199
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees 23] {22
Cash generated from operations 137 177
Interest paid (70] 173
Interest received 1 1
UK corporation tax paid {2) {1]
Cash inflow from operating activities 11 104
Cash inflow from operating activities deployed as:
Surplus cash retained wathin joint ventures and funds 7 246
Revenue distributions per consolidated statement of cash flows 5% 78
Revenue distributions split between controlling and non-controlling interests
Attribuiable ta non-controlling mierests 3 2
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 56 76
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12 Other investments

2019 il
Fair value Prapertly, Fasr value Property,
through Amortised plant and Intangble through Amorhised plant and Intangible

prolit orloss cost aguipment assats Tolal profit or loss cost equipment assels Toiat

£m £m £m (1] £m £m £m Em £m tm

At 1 Agril 112 28 24 10 174 107 27 11 9 154
Additions - ] 4 4 14 - - 1t 4 19
Transfers / disposals - {27 - - t27) - i2) - - 12
Revaluatign 2 [4) - - (2) 5 3 - - 8
Depreciation / amortisation - - (6] (4) {10} - - 12} {3) {51
At 31 March 114 5 22 10 151 12 28 24 10 174

The mvestment at fair value through profit or loss cormnprises interests as a trust beneficiary The trust's assets comprise freehold reversions
in a pool of commercial properiies, comprising Sainsbury’s supersiores The interest is categorised as Level 31n the farr value hierarchy, 1s
subject to the same inputs as those disclosed in note 10, and its fair value was determined by the Directors, supporied by an external valuation

13 Debtors
2018 2018
£m fm
Trade and ather debtors 48 28
Prepayments and accrued tncome g 7
57 35

Trade and other deblors are shown alter deducting a provision for tenant incentives of £15m [2017/18: £14m) and a prowvision for doubtful debts
of £5m {2017/18. £5m} The prowsion for doubtful debis 1s calculated as an expected credit {oss on trade and other debtors in accerdance with
IFRS 9 [see Note 1). The charge to the income statement in relation ta the wnite off of tenant incentives was E1m (2017/18: E1m|

The Dweclors consrder that the carrymg amount of trade and other debtors 15 approximate to thewr far value There is no concentration

mrem me tha o0 Loy qloren PR Y P p—— B N s = o=

ki n [

S5 AT GTGug G5 &G gT fumoeT O CUSIGMEr st 3Te 58

14 Creditors
2019 2m8
£m €m
Trade creditors 94 146
Other taxation and secial secunty 42 30
Accryatis 82 73
Deferred income 71 75
289 324

Trade creditors are interesi-free and have settlemeni dates within one year The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other
credttors s approximate to their fair value
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

15 Other non-current liabilities

019 08
£m €m
Head leases 92 42
92 42
16 Deferred tax
The movernent on deferred tax 1s as shown helow:
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2019
¥ Aprit Debited to Credited 31 March
018 inceme 10 equity 2019
£Em £m €m £m
tnterest rate and currency derwative revaluations & (3) - 1
Gther timing differences 7 (1) - [
11 (4) - 7
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2019
m £m Em &m
Property and investment revatuations (7} - 1 &)
(7} - 1 16)
Net deferred tax assets 4 14l 1 1
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018
April Credited to DOebied 31 March
2007 incame to equuy 2018
e - fm fm Em £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revatuations 4 5 ] 4
Other tming differences 7 - - 7
1 5 ] 11
Deferred tax Liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
m Em Em Em
Property and investment revaluations {7 - - {7}
{7l - - 17)
Net deferred tax assets 4 5 (s) 4

The following carperation tax rates have been substantively enacted. 19% eflective from 1 April 2017 reducing to 17% effective from 1 April

2020. The deferred tax assets and Liabilities have been calculated al the tax rate effective in the period thal the tax 15 expected to crystallise.

The Group has recogrised a deferred 1ax asset calculated at 17% [2017/18 17%) of £6m [2017/18 £7ml tn respect of capital losses from
previous years available for offset against future capital profit Fucther unrecoghised deferred tax assets in respect of capital losses of
£123m [2017/18: £123m) ewst at 31 March 2019

The Group has recogrised deferred tax assels on dervative revaluations to the extent that future matching taxable profits are expected
lo arise.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had an unrecognised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% (2017/18: 17%) of E49m (2017/18 £43m) in respect
of UK revenue tax losses from previous years.

Under the REIT regime, development properties which are sold within three years of cempletion do not benefit from tax exemption.
At 31 March 2019, the value of such properties is £148m [2017/18: £176m) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exernption
was available, the tax arising would be £11m §2017/18 £13mi.
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17 Net debt

2019 208
Feoinme £m Em
Secured on the assets of the Group
9 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 368 359
5 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 94 95
5 357% First Martgage Debenture Bonds 2028 252 255
Bank loans 1 512
Loan notes 2
1,228 1,233
Unsecured
5.50% Senior Notes 2027 9 10D
3 895% Seruer US Dollar Notes 2018 2 - 27
4 635% Senior US Dollar Notes 2021 2 168 156
4,766% Seruor US Doliar Notes 2023 2 106 97
9 003% Senior US Oollar Notes 2026 2 &9 43
3 81% Senior Notes 2026 M 116
3 97% Senior Noles 20246 113 112
0% Convertible Bond 2020 343 337
2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 294
4 16% Senor US Doltar Notes 2025 2 78 -
2.67% Senior Notes 2025 37 -
2.75% Senior Notes 2026 37 -
Float:ng Rate Seruor Notes 2028 80 -
Bank loans and overdrafis 264 595
1,803 1.895
Gross debt 3 3,031 3,128
Interest rate and currency derivative Liabilities 130 138
Interest rate and currency derwative assets {154} {115)
Cash and short term deposits 65 (242]) 1163}
Total net debt 2,765 3.046
Net debt attributable to non-controlling interests (104) hoel
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,661 2.937
I These are nan-recourse horrowangs with no recourse for repaymaent 1o other companies or assels in the Group
W
Hercules Unit Tryst 512 512
512 512

2 Principal and interest on these barrewings were fully hedged into Sterling at a floating rale al the bime of 1ssue

3 The principal amount of gross debt at 31 March 2019 was £2.881m (201718 £3.007m] Inctuded in this 1s the principal amount of secured borrowangs and ather borrawings
of non-recourse companmes of £1,158m of which the borrowings of the partly-owned substdiary, Hercutes Unit Trust, not benekcially owned by the Group are £112m

& Included within cash and short term depostts 15 the cash and short term deposits of Hergules Lirat Trusl, of which £9mis the propartian not benelicially owned By the Group
5 Cash and deposits not subject to a securdy interest amount to £228m {2017/18 £91md
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

17 Net debt continued
Maturity analysis of net debt

2019 018

£m fm

Repayable within one year and on demand 99 27
Between- ane and two years 710 163
two and five years 644 1,194

five and ten vears 808 803

ten and hiteen years 305 305

lfteen and twenty years 4465 636

2,932 3,101

Gross debt 3,031 3,128
Interest rate and currency dervatives {24} 73
Cash and shart term deposits 1242} (185)
Net debt 2,785 3,046

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 2020)
Cn ¢ June 2015, Batish Land [White! 2015 Lirmited [the 2015 Issuerl, a whatly-owned subsidiary of the Group., issued £350 million zero coupon
guaranteed convertibte bonds due 2020 ithe 2015 bonds} at par. The 2015 Issuer is fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 (ssuer which are automatically transterred to

the Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company's election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash.,
Bondholders may exercise their conversion right at any time up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020 [the matunty date),
a bondholder may convert at any time

The wnitial exchange price was 1103.32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price 1s adjusted based on certain events {such as the Company paying
dividends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007 24 pence per ordmary share.

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company's share price has lraded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period, or at any time once 85% by nominal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled. The 2015 bonds wiil be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 [the maturity date) if they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled.

Fair value and book value of net debt

2019 2018

Fair valua Bock value Oifterence Fairvalue Book value Dillerence

Em €m £m £m Em Em

Debentures and unsecured bonds 2,034 1,910 126 1.783 1,682 101
Convertible bonds 343 343 - 337 337 -
Bank debt and other Hoating rate debt 784 778 6 1.116 1,109 7
Gross debt 3,143 3,031 132 3,236 3,128 108
interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 130 130 - 138 138 -
tnterest rate and currency dervative assets {154} (154) - 1115) [115] -
Cash and short term deposits (242} (242} - 1185) [105) -
Net debt 2,897 2,745 132 3,154 3,046 108
Net debt attributable to non-contralling inlerests {105) {104} (1} (110} {109 {1)
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,792 2,661 131 3.044 2.937 107

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by obtaining quoted market prices from
brokers. The bank debt and other flcauing rate debt has been valued assurming it could be renegotiated at contracted margins. The dervatives
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected future cash fiows, using appropriate market discount rates, by an independent
treasury adviser

Short term debtors and creditors and other investments have been excluded from the disclosures on the basis that the fair value 15 equivalent
to the book value The fair value hierarchy level of debt held at amortised cost 15 level 2 [as dehned 10 note 10),
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17 Net debt continued

Group loan to value (LTV)

2019 2018
. Em £m

Group loan to value LTV 22.2% 22.1%
Principat armount of gross debt 2,881 3,007
Less debt attributable to non-controlling interests 112 {119
Less cash and short term deposis (balance sheet) {242 {105
Plus cash attrsbutable to non-controlling interests ? 10
Total net debt for LTV catculation 2,534 2,793
Group property portfolio valuation [note 10k 9,028 2,997
investments in joint ventures and funds [note 11) 2,560 2,822
Other nwvestments {note 12 151 174
Less property and investments attributable to non-controlling interesis o {346]
Total assets for LTV calculation 11,422 12,627
Proportionally consatidated laan to vatue [LTV)
Proportionatly consotidated loan to vatue [LTV} 28.1% 28 4%
Priccipal amount of gross debt 4,007 4,399
Less debt atinbutable to non-controtling interests (112 {135)
Less cash and short lerm deposits 1402} {331]
Plus cash altributable ta nen-controlling interesis ? 10
Total net deht for proportional LTV calculation 3,502 3.943
Group property portiolio valuation [note 10} 9.028 9.997
Share of property of joint ventures and funds {note 10} 3,605 4,102
Other investments inote 12| 151 174
Less other investments altributable to joint ventures and funds - {2
Less property attributable to non-controlling inlerests {317} {383
Total assets for proportional LTV caleulation 12,467 13.888
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17 Net debt continued

British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two financial covenanis appticable to the Group unsecured debt including convertible bonds are shown below.

2019 2018

£m Em

Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 29%
Principal amouant of gross deb? 2,881 3,007
Less the relevant proporton of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controtling interests 1121 (1191
Less cash and deposits {balance sheet! (2421 {105)
Ptus the relevant proportion of cash and depasits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests 9 10
Net Borrowings 2,534 2.793
Share capital and reserves {balance sheat] 8,689 9.506
EPRA deferred tax adjusiment [EPRA Tabie A} s 5
Trading property surpluses (EPRA Table A 29 134
Excepuional refinancing charges [see below} . 216 233
Fair value adjustments of financial instruments [EPRA Table A) 113 137
Less reserves altributable to non-controlling interests {batance sheet) 211} {254]
Adjusted Capital and Reserves 8,841 9,761

In caleulating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there is an adjustment of £216m
[2017/18 €233m)] to reflect the cumulative net amortized exceplional items relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,
2006 and 2007

09 ma
£m £
Net Unsecured Barrawings nct te excesd 70% of Ynencumbered Assels 2155 23%
Principal amount of gross debt 2,881 3.007
Less cash and deposits not subject te a security interest ibeing £228m less the relevant propartion of cash and (221) [84]
deposits of the parily-owned subsidiary/non-controlling tnterests of £7m)
Less principal amount of secured and non-recourse borrowings [1,158) 11,1591
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,502 1,764
Group property porifotio valuation {note 10| 9,028 2,997
Investments in jont ventures and funds [hote 11] 2,560 2,822
Qtherinvestments [note 12| 151 124
Less investments tn joint ventures (2,560) 2.822)
Less encumbered assets [note 10] (2,134} (2,447
Unencumbered Assets 7,045 7,724
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17 Net debt continued
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2019

Arrangement
Foreign costs
2018 Cash flows Transfers? exchange Fair value amortisation 20¢
£m €m Em £m £m &m £€m
Short term borrowings 27 {25} 99 (2 - - 99
Long term orrowings 3,101 {105} {99} (22} 53 4 2,932
Derwatives' 23 2) - 24 169} - 24}
Total iabilities from financing actrities® 3,151 {132 - - (16} L 3,007
Cash and cash eguwalents (105} 137 - - - - {242)
Net debt 3,046 {269) - - (16} 4 2,765
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018
Arrangemant
Foregn Cosis
07 Cash flows Translers? exchange Fair value amortsakon 2048
£m £m Em £m £m £m Eert
Shart term barrawings 464 {458} 27 - (6l - 27
Long term borrowings 2817 361 (27 {40} {10l - 3,101
Derwatives? {73) 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total iabibities fram financing activities® 3.208 {68} - - 11 - 3,15%
Cash and cash equivalents (114) g - - - - £105)
Net debt 3.094 159 - - N - 3.046

Cash fows on derwvatives include £17m of net recerpts on dervalive interest
. Cash {lows on denvatives include £20 of net receipts on derwvalive interest
Transfers comprises debl maturing from tong Lerm to short lerm borrowengs
Lach dawe af £132m shown ahoup raprosents nat rach flaue nn ramr:i naymenis 1n racnort nf intoroet rate daneatve nf £19m
£576m and drawdowns on bank and other borrowings of £4d&m shown in the consalidated staternent of cash Hows, along wath £17m of net receipts en denvative mteresl

Cash flaws of £68m shown above represenis nel cash llows on interest rate derwalive closeouls of E9m, decrease in bank and other barrowings of £462ém and
deawdowns on bank 2nd olher borrowings of £529m shown in the consofidated statement of cash flows, along with £20m of net receipts on derwalive interest

Gy —

reaso iy hank and athor hn.rrn:usnn: ot

w

Fair value hierarchy
The table below provides an analysis of financial mstruments carried at fair value, by the valuation method The fair value hierarchy levels are
defined i note 10

201 2018
Level 1 Levet 2 Level 3 Tatal Level 1 {evel 2 Leveld Taal
£m &m im £€m £m Em €m Em
Interest rate and currency dervative assets - {154} - (154} - (115} - [115]
Other investiments - fair value through profit
or toss (14) - (100] (114} [14] - (98} {112
Assets (14) (154} (100} (258} 14} [115) {98} {227
Interest rate and currency dervative
Liabiliies - 130 - 130 - 138 - 138
Convertible bonds 343 - - 343 337 - - 337
Liabilities 343 130 - 473 337 138 - 475
Total 329 (24} {100} 205 323 23 (98] 248
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17 Net debt continued
Categories of financial instruments

019 218
£m fm
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Other investments - fair value through profit or loss 114 98
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships®? 148 1o
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships [ 5
Amortised cost
Trade and other debtors 48 28
Cash and short term deposits 242 105
Other snvestments - amortised cost 5 42
563 388
Financial Liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bond (343) (337)
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting retationships’ (FA] 1]
Derivatives not in designated accounting relationships {126} {133)
Amortised cost
Gross debt [2,688) (2,791)
Head leases payable (92} 162)
Creditors (208) [237)
(3,461) 13,545)
Total (2,898) {3,177

1. Derwatwve assets and Labilibes in designated hedge accountng retationships sit within the dervative assels and denivative liabiities balances of the consolidated
balance sheet

2 The fair value of dervalive assets :n designated hedge accounting relabionships represents the accumulated amount of {air vatue hedge adjustments on hedged ttems

Gains and losses on financial mstruments, as classed above, are disclosed in note & [net hinancing costs). note 13 {debtors). the consalidated

income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income The Oirectors conseder that the carrying amounts of other

invesiments and head leases payable are appraximale to their fawr value, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable.

Cagpital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable te the equity helders of The British Land Company PLC,
camprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings Risks relating te capital structure are addressed within Managing risk in delivering
our strategy on pages 54 1o 57. The Group s objectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out in the Financial policies and
principles on pages 51 to 53.

Interest rate risk management
The Group uses miterest rate swaps and ¢aps to hedge exposure to the variability in ¢ash flows on Hoating rate debt, such as revolving bank
facdities, caused by movements in market rates of interest.

At 37 March 2019, the fair value of these derwvatives s a net lability of £121m Interest rate swaps with a tair value of £4m have been designated
as cash How hedges under IFRS ¢

The ineffectiveness recognised in the income statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2019 was €ml (201718 End].

The cash flows occur and are charged to profit and loss untit the maturity of the hedged debt. The table below summarises variable rate debt
hedged at 31 March 2019.
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17 Net debt continued
Yariable rate debt hedged

2019 208

£m m

Outstanding. at one year 1,165 775
at twe years 1,005 400

ar five years 250 250

at ten years 250 250

Fair value hedged debt
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge exposure on fixed rate bnancial habliies caused by mavements in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2019, the fair value of these derivatives 1s a net asset of £145m Interest rate swaps with a farr value of £148m have been
designaied as fair value hedges under IFRS 9 (2017/18. asset of £110m}

The cross currency swaps of the 2021/2023/2025/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure ai an average floaling
rate of 142 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as fair vatue hedges of the US Prvate Placernents

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives

2019 2018

£m m

Frxed or capped rate 2,222 2107
Variable rate {net of cashi 543 939
2,765 3.046

All the debt 1s effectively Sterling denominated except for £3m 12017/18- £3m} of Euro debt of which £3m 15 at a varable rate (2017/18 £3m)
and £1m of USD debt of which £1m 15 8t a varable rate [2018/19- Enit ]

AL 31 March 2019 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt s 3 4% [2017/18 3 2%). The weighted average period for
which the rate < fixed 15 8 Qvears 2017718 9 1 vears]. The floating rate debt 1s set for periods of the Company’s chopsing at the refevant

LIBOR lor simdar] rate .

The proportion of net debt [an a proportianally consolidated basis] at fixed or capped rates of interest was 87% at 31 March 2019 on 2 spot
basis The proportion of net debt at fixed ar capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportionally
consolidated basis, was 63% at 31 March 2019 Based on the Group’s interest rale profile, at the balance sheet date, a 98 bps increase in
irerest rates would decresse annual profits by £9m [2017/18- £99m decrease based on a 576 bps increasel, Sirmilarly, a 85 bps reductian
would increase profits hy £9m {2017/18 £10m increase based on a 72 bps reduction] The change 1n interest rates used for this sensitivity
analysis 1s based on the largest annual change in three-moanth Sterling LIBOR over the last ten years The umpact assumes LIBOR does nol
fall below 0%

Upward movements in medium and long term ierest rates, associated with higher interest rale expectations, increase the value of the
Group s interest rate swaps and caps that prowide protection against such moves The converse s true far downward movements in the yield
curve A 173 bps shift represents the largest annual change in the seven-year Sterling swap rate over the last tenyears At 31 March 2019

a 173 bps parailet upward shit in swap rates would increase the value of cash flow hedges and dervatives that are not hedge accounted by
£65m (2017118 £68m based on a 204 bps increasel A 173 bps downward shift in swap rates would reduce the value of these derwatives by
£62m (2017/18 £81m based on a 204 bps decrease]

The 0% 2015 Convertible Bond 1s designated as fair value through profit or loss Principal components of the market vatue of this bond
include British Land’s share price and its volatility, and rmarket inlerest rates

The fair valie of the 0% 2015 Convertble Bond at 31 March 2019 was a £343m liabrlity At 31 March 2019 & 173 bps paraltel upward shift
tn iverest rates would reduce the fair value lability by £7m, and a 173 bps downward shift in inlerest rates would increase the fair value
hability by £7m
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17 Net debt continued

Foreign currency risk management

The Group's policy 1s to have no material unhedged net assets or liabrities denominzted in foreign currencies. The currency risk on
overseas investments is hedged via foreign currency denaminated borrowings and derivatives. The Group has adopted net investment
hedging tn accordance with IFRS 9 and therefare the poriron of the gain or loss on the hedging rnstrument that s determined to be an
eftective hedge 1s recogmised directly in equity The ineffective partion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recogniser
immediately 1n the income statement

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabiiities. Provided contingent tax
on overseas mvestiments is nol expected ta occur it witl be gnored for hedging purposes Based an the 31 March 2019 pasction & 26%
appreciation {largest annual change over the last ten years) in the Euro relative 1o Sterling would result wn a Enil change [2017/18: Enill
in reported profits. Based on the 31 March 2019 pesition a 27% appreciavion largest annual change over the last ten years] in the USD
relative to Sterling would resutt in a £nil change [2017/18 £nd) in reported profis

Assets Labdites
2019 208 2019 2018
£m &m £m Em
Eurc denominated 3 3 3 ]
USO denominated - - 1 -

Credit risk management

The Group's approach to credit risk management of counterparties 1s referred to1n the Financial policies and principles on pages 51 to 53 and
the risks addressed within Managing risk ¢ delivening our strategy on pages 54 to 57 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
fnanciat statements represents the Group's maximum exposure to credif aisi without taking account of the vaiue of any cotlaterat obtained.

Cash and shart term deposits at 31 March 2019 amounted to £242m (2017/18 E£105m} Deposits and interest rate deposits were placed with
financial institutions with BBB+ or better credit ratings

At 31 March 2019, the far value of all interest rate derivative assets was £154m (2017/18 €115m)

At 31 March 2019, priar to taking into account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exgosure to a single counterparty arising

c i ~= 1m0 | The reprecgn g 204 [2N17110 N a0c) ascats

s Fomm =t £ s b ants =ad dertets g s SADAT IDIZN0 FaD ) T 22 e 11 2 3 VALY mf mmmp s 5 b
, SGUS ITVESITETRS &0 GETIWI R E3 WaS LOOiTe taw i /7 10 LAV NS FEpresdmS u G isvii, rQ Uata Sy o3EE

£, srrme. meaeboas A -
Frasered !"r\ffi':'y' fErdrRet UEPT3IS
The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UX branches of international banks

Provisions are made for trade recewables taking into account historic credit tosses and the creditworthiness af debtors

Liquidity risk management
The Group's approach to liquidity nsk management 1s discussed in the Financial polictes and principles on pages 51 te 53, and the risks
addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 54 to 57.

The following table presents a maturity profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of hnancial iabibties based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest ang principal flows Where the interest payable 1s not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates implied by yietd curves at the reporting date.

For derivative financial instruments that settle an a net basts [e g interest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash flows are shown and for
derwatives that require gross settltement le.g cross currency swaps] the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented. Where payment
obligations are in foreign currencres, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 1s used. Trade creditors and amounts owed
to joint veniures, which are repayable within one year. have been excluded from the analysis

The Group expects to meet its financ:al liabibties through the various available Liquidity sources, including a secure rental income profile.
asset sales, undrawn commutted borrowing facilities and, in the longer term, debt refinancings.

The Group leases out all its investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease iength of sixyears This secure
income prafile 1s generated from upward only rent reviews, long leases and tugh eccupancy rates The future aggregate minimum rentals
recewvable under nen-cancetlable operating leases are atso shown in the lable below Income from joint ventures and funds 1s not included
below. Additional liquidity will arise from letting space in properties under construction as well as from distributions received from joint
ventures and funds
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17 Net debt continued
Liquidity risk management continued

019
within Faltowing Three to Over five
one year year five years years Totak
£€m £m £€m Em £m
Debt’ 100 703 535 1,505 2,943
Interest on debt 89 84 212 a8s m
Derwative payments 11 13 267 243 534
Head lease paymenis 3 3 ? 382 397
Total payments 203 803 1,123 2,516 4,645
Derwative receipls ’ [26) (27) (334) [180) [567)
Net payment 177 776 789 2,336 4,078
Operating leases with tenants 413 387 876 1,307 2,983
Liguidity surplus {deficit] 236 (389} 87 (1,029] 11,095]
Cumulative liquidity surplus [deficit) 235 {153} 1461 (1,095)
w018
Within Fallowing Threeto Over e
ane yaar year {ve years years Total
Em £m £m Em Em
Debt! 20 166 1173 1680 3049
interest on debt 92 94 232 475 893
Dervative payrments 34 14 182 259 &N
Head lease payments 2 2 7 267 278
Total paymenis 158 278 1,994 2,681 &,711
Derwative recerpts S I (201 (2090 {39 (4771
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2,485 4,234
Operating leases with tenants 424 39¢ 968 1.490 3,281
Liquidity surplus [deficit) 318 141 {417) {295] {953
Cumulative Liquidity surplus [deficit} 318 459 42 [953]

1 Gross debt o £3.031m [2017/18 £3.128m] represents the total of £2.943m [2017/18 €3,049m}, less unamortised issue costs of £12m (20¥7/18 £13m). plus far value
adjustments to debt of £160m [2017/18 £92m]

Any short term liquidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals recevable can be met through ather biquidity scurces available
to the Group, such as committed undrawn borrowing facilties The Group currently holds cash and short term deposits of £242m of which
£228m is not subject to a security interest [see footnote 5 to net debt table on page 149 Further Lquidity can be achieved through sales of
property assets or wnwvesiments and debt refinancings

The Group's property portfolio 15 vaiued externally at £9.028m and the share of joint ventures and funds property is valued at £3,6405m.
The comeutted undrawn borrowing facilities available to the Group are & further source of iquidity The maturity profile of commutted undrawn
borrowing facilties is shown below

Maturity of committed undrawn berrowing facilities

201y 2018

£m Em

Maturity date aver five years 275 40
between four and five years 832 20

between three and four years s 1,010

Totai facifities availabte for more than three years 1,193 1.160
Between two and three years 435 85
Between one and two years - 8é
Within cne year - -

Total 1,628 1,331

The above facilities are comprised of British Land undrawn facilities of £1,542m plus undrawn facilities of Hercules Unit Trust totatiing £86m.
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18 Leasing
Operating leases with tenants

The Group {eases out ail of its investment properties under operating ieases with 3 weighted average lease tength of six years (2017/18.
eight yearsl. The future aggregate minimurm rentats recewvabte under non-cancellable eperating leases are as follows:

201% 2018
£m £m
Less than one year 413 424
Between one and two years 387 399
Between three and five years 876 968
Between six and teq years 792 206
Between eleven and fifteen years 314 393
Belween sixieen and twenty years 11 145
After twenly years 90 4é
Total 2,983 3,281
Operating lease commitments
The future aggregate minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
019 018
&m im
{_ess than one year 8 3
Beiween one and two years 8 3
Between three and five years 15 8
Between six and ten years 20 7
Between eleven and fifteen years 7 -
Total 58 21

The Group's leasehold investment properties are typicatly under non-renewable leases without significant restrictions Finance lease liabilities
are payable as follows, no contingent rents were payable in enther period

2019 2018

Minimum Minimym

tease lease
payments Interest Principal paymenis IAlerasy Principat
£€m tm €m Em m Em

British Land Group

Less than one year 3 3 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 3 3 - 2 2 -
Between two and five years ? 9 - 7 7 -
More than five years 382 290 92 267 205 462
Total 397 305 92 278 216 42

t.ess future finance charges {305} (216

Present value of lLease obligations 92 62

More than five years 92 62

Present value of lease obligations 92 62

158 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



19 Dividends

As announced on 15 May 2019, the Board 1s recommending a hnal didend of 7 75 pence per share, totalhing £74m 12017/18 7.52 pence per
share, totaliing £74m). subject to the approval of shareholders, this 1s payahle on 2 August 2019 to shareholders on the register at the close of

business on 28 June 2019

PID dividends are paid, as required by REIT legisiation, after deduction of withholding tax a1 the basic rate [currently 20%], where appropriale

Certatn classes of sharghalders may be able to elect to receve dwidends gross. Please refer to our website dritishland.com/dmidends

for detasis.
Pence per F{d}) 20t8
Payment date Dividend share €m £€m
Current year dividends
0z 08 2019 2019 Final 779
03.05 2019 2019 3rd interim 775
08.02.2019 2019 2nd intenm 775 74
09112018 2019 ist internsm 775 76
3100
Prior year dividends
03082018 2018 4th interim 752 74
04 052018 2018 3rd interim 752 74
0902.2018 2018 2nd mterien 7.52 75
1014 2017 2018 1st sntenmn 75_2_ 77
3008
G4 08 2017 2017 &4th interim 730 75
05 05.2617 2017 3rd interim 730 75
Dwdends in consolidated staterment
of changes in equity 298 302
Dividends settied in shares - -
Dividends settled in cash 298 302
Tining difference relating to payment
of withholding tax - 2
Cividends in cash flow statement 298 304
1 Owidend spbi ha#f P, ha¥f non-Pi0
20 Share capital and reserves
2019 018
Number of ardinary shares in issue at 1 Apnil 993,857,125 1,041,035,058
Share 1ssues 404,377 429,206
Repurchased and cancelled {33,672,430) (47 607.139)
At 31 March 940,589,072 993.857,125

Of the 1ssued 25p ordinary shares, 7.376 shares were held in the ESOP trust (2017/18 7,378}, 11,266,245 shares were held as treasury shares
(201718 11,264,245 and 949,315,451 shares were in free 1ssue £2017/18 982,583,504] No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year Allssued shares are fully paid In the year ended 3t March 2019 the Company repurchased and cancelied 33,672,430 ordinary
shares at a weighted average price of 5%4 pence

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foreign currency
hedging instruments, as well as alt foreign exchange differences anising from the translation of the financial staternents of foreign operations
The fareign exchange differences also include the translation of the liabilities that hedge the Company's net investment in 3 foreign subsidiary.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to owner-occupied properties and mvestments in joint ventures and funds
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Merger reserve

This comprises the premium on the share placing in March 2013. No share premium s recorded in the Company s financial statements,
through the operation of the merger relief provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

At 31 March 2019, options over 6,308,150 ordinary shares were outstanding under employee share option plans The options had a weighted
average life of 4 4 years. Details of outstanding share optians and shares awarded to employees including Executive Directors are set out below
and on the following page:

Exercise dates

ALl April Vested but Exerciseds At 31 March Exercise

Date of grant 2018 Granted not exeroised Vesled Lapsed 2019 prrce [pencet From To
Share options Sharesave Scheme

19.80613 14,850 - - (14,2631 (5871 - 51100 61918 014319
23 0614 82512 - - (2,038 [2.664]) 77,810 574 Q0 01.91% 010320
220615 27,900 - - - 127.384] 516 697.00 019t8 010319
22.06.15 15,276 - - - (3.8721 11,404 697.00 01920 010321
20.06 16 45,926 - - (394} f13,962) Ls7 408 00 01919 010329
200616 22,003 - - - {3.256] 18,747 608 00 0192t 010322
210617 254,819 - - {5.408] 151,056 200,355 508 60 0t920 010321
21.06 17 96,540 - - {4.485] [24.212) 47,843 508 00 61922 010323
290618 - 130,903 - (109 (18,5401 112,254 549 00 a1921 010322
29.06 18 - 68,238 - - 17.103) 61,135 549 00 01923 010324

561,826 199,141 - 26,697)  (152,636) 581,634

Long-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, not exercised

P06 07 15,333 - - {7751 - 2,582 387.68 2F08i2 286ty

21.12.09 58,553 - - [1.615} - 54,938 446 00 211212 281219

110610 1,132,269 - - 120,261) - 1,112,008 447 00 11.0613 110620

141210 55,133 - - {14.557] - 40,574 51000 141213 161220

28.06 1 812.819 - - (13.5171 - 799,302 575.00 280616 280621

19.12.11 70175 - - 14,327] - 83,848 451 00 12.12 14 912N

14 0912 468,557 - - (158,974) - B0%,583 53800 140915 140922

201212 62197 - - (14,5461 (888] 46,743 563 00 201215 201222

050813 294,078 - - {96,859} [2,809) 194,410 601.00 050816 050823

05.1213 171,909 - - 110,604 16,098] 155,210 40000 451216 051223

280617 - - 26,540 - - 26,5490 §17.17 28.06.20 28.0827
3,636,023 - 26,540 (355,008] 19,795} 3,297.760

Long-Term Incentive Plan - unvested options

220615 889,122 - - - (889322} - 81317 220618 220625

220616 1,221,620 - - - 16,927 1,214,693 73050 220619 2206 26

280617 1,208,942 - - 26,5401 {52,281] 1,138,121 41717 280620 280627

26.06.18 - 83942 - - - 83,942 681.40 260621 260628
3,319,684 83942 - (26,540} 1948,330) 2,428,754

Total 7517533  283.083 26560  (408,245] {1,110,761] 4,308,150

Woeighted average exercise

price of options (pencel 607 588 617 548 768 582
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Share price
At Aprat Execcrsed/ At31 March  at grant date
Qate of grant 2018 Granled Vested Lagsed 201% {pencel Vesting date
Performance Shares Long-Term incentive Plan
220615 1,068,458 - - [1.048,458) - 81317 22046 18
220616 1,137,050 - - {65,495} 1,071,555 73050 220619
28,0617 1.897.612 - - [180.9101 1,716,702 61717 280620
260618 - 1053340 - - 1,083,340 68140 26 06.21
4,103,120 1,053,360 - 1,314,863) 3,841,817
Restricted Share Plan
260618 - 636,776 - (8,794] 427,982 681.40 260621
- 636,774 - (8,794) 627,982
Matching Share Plan
29.06.15 282170 - (141,085 [141,085) - 803.00 26.06.18
290616 313176 - - (19.444] 293,732 60400 260619
595,348 - {141,085 [160529} 293,732
Total 4,698,466 14690136  1141,085) |1.484,186! 4,763,331
Weighted average price of shares {pence} 499 481 803 781 645

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources to ivestmenit and asset management according to the seclors It expects to perform over the medium term
Its three principal sectors are Qffices, Retail and Canada Water The Relait secter includes leisure, as thus is often incorperated into Retadl
schemes The Otherfunallocated sector inctudes residential properties

The relevant gross rental sncome, net rental income. operating result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segrnent assets used by the management of the business, are set cui betow Management reviews the performance of the business
princigally on a proportionaltly consolidated basis, which includes the Group’s share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line basis and
excludes non-centrolling interests in the Group's subsidiaries The chief operating decision maker for the purpose of segment informatwon

15 the Executive Commuittee

Gross rentat ncome ss denved from the reatal of buldings Operating result 1s the net of net rentat income, fee Income and administrative
expenses, No custamer exceeded 10% of the Group's revenues in either year
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21 Segment information continued
Segment result

Oifices Retat Canada Waler Stharfunallocated Tatal
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 208 2019 2018 2019 2018
em Em £m £m tm £m £m Em [ fm
Gross rental income
British Land Group 150 139 280 273 9 8 4 14 423 424
Share of joint ventures and
funds 70 102 a3 87 - - - - 153 189
Total 220 241 343 360 9 8 4 4 576 613
Net rental income
British Land Group 139 13 238 294 9 7 4 4 390 396
Share of joint ventures and
funds 46 98 76 82 - - - - 142 180
Total 205 229 314 336 9 7 4 4 532 576
Operating result
Bnitish Land Group 132 126 235 248 4 4 1421 (42 329 338
Share of joint ventures and
tunds 81 95 A 79 - - - 121 132 172
Total 193 21 306 327 4 4 (42] {44 461 508
Reconciliation to Underlying Profit 22::: 2%:?\
Operating result 461 508
Net financing costs 21} (128]
Underlying Profit 340 380
Reconciliation to [loss} profit on ordinary activities betore taxation
Underlying Profit 340 380
Caputal and other (671} 107
Underlying Profit attnibutable to non-controlling tnterests 12 14
(Loss) pratit on ordinary activities before taxation (319] 301
Recanciliation to Group revenue
Gross rental iIncome per aperating segment resull 576 613
Less share of gross rental ncome of joint ventures and funds (1531 (1891
Plus share of gross rental income attributable 1o non-controlling interests 16 17
Gross rental income [note 3] 439 441
Trading property sales proceeds 350 78
Service charge incame 74 66
Management and performance fees {from joint ventures and fundsl 7 &
Other tees and commissions 32 48
Revenue (Consolidated Income Statementl 904 439

A reconciliation between net financing costs in the consolidated incame statement and net financing costs of £121m (2017/18: £128m) in the
segmental disclosures above can be found within Table A in the supplementary disclosures. Of the total revenues abave, £nil [2017/18 Enal}

was derived from outside the UK
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21 Segment information continued

Segment assets

Cllices Relai Canada Water Otherfunaliocated Total
2019 2018 2019 2008 2019 2018 2019 2008 2019 2018
fm Em £m £m £m Em im £€m {m Em

Property assets
Britssh Land Group 4,296 4371 4,053 4915 303 283 109 113 8,761 ?.692
Share of joint ventures and
funds 2,012 2.334 1,524 1,681 - - 19 19 3,565 4,034
Total 4,308 5,705 5,577 6,594 303 283 128 132 12,316 13716
Reconciliation to net assets
British Land Group hr Tom
Property assets 12316 13716
Other non-current assels 181 185
Non-current assets 12,467 1390
Other net current liabilities (297} [368)
Adyusted net debt {3,521  (3,973)
Other non-current liabilities - -
EPRA net assets [diluted| B,549 2.560
Non-controlling interests 21 254
EPRA adjustments {1711 (308]
Net assets 8,689 9.506

22 Capital commitments

The aggregate capital commutments to purchase. construct or develop investment property, far repairs, masntenance or enhancements, or for
the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out below

2019 208

£m £m

British Land and subsidianies 177 239
Share of joint ventures 1M1 193
Share of funds 1 -
289 432

23 Related party transactions
Details of transactons with joint ventures and funds ace givenin notes 3, 4 ang 11. During the year the Group recognised joint venture
management fees of £6m {2017/18- €6m] Details of Directors remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109
Details of transactions with key management personnel are provided i note 8 Details of transactions with The British Land Group of

Compamaes Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given in note 7

24 Contingent liabilities
Group, joint ventures and funds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent babilities in respect of legal ctaims, guarantees and warranties ar1sing 10 the ordinary

course of business 1t ts not anticipated that any materat Labilittes will anise from contingent liabilities

British Land | Annval Report and Accounts 2019 163



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is summanised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.
The information Selow 1s the amount before Intercompany eliminations, and represents the consolidated results of the Hercules Unit

Trust group.

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March

Hareules Uni Trust

219 8

£m £m

[{Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation [122) 53
Attributable to non-controtling interests 129 14
Attributable to the shareholders of the Company [93) 39

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March

Hercutes Uit Trust

2019 2038

€m Em

Total assets 1,415 1548
Total hiabilitees 15411 (565

Net assets 854 983
Non-controtling interests 21 (254)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 643 729

Summarised cash flows

Hercules Unit Trust

Net [decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equwalents at 1 Aprit

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

2019 Wig
tm £m
13} 3
43 40
40 43

The Hercutes Unut Trust is a closed-ended property Unit Trust. The uni price at 31 March 201915 £563 [2017/18. £6841. Non-controlling
interests collectively own 21 9% of units in1ssue The British Land Company PLC owns 78 1% of unuts in1ssue, each of which confer equal

voting rights, and theretore s deemed to exercise control over the trust

26 Subseqguent events

There have been no sigmificant events since year end
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries
The fallowing substdiaries are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2004 relating (o the audit of indmidual accounts by virtue of
Seclion 4794 of that Act

Companies House Companues House
Name reg number Name reg number
17 19 Bediord Street Limeted 7398971 BL Whiteley Limited 11253224
18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited 7667839 BL Whiteley Retail Limited 11254281
20 Brock Street Liruted 7401697 BLD {Ebury Gatef Lsmited 3863852
8-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited 3669490 BLD Properties Limited 0732787
Adshitta Lienited 1052683 BLU Securities Limited 3323061
Bayeast Property Co Limited 0635800 Boldswiteh Limited 2307095
BF Propco [No 1) Limited 5270158 British Land Agua Partrershup (2] Lumited 6024921
BF Propco [No 3} Limited 5270196 Brittsh Land Agua Partnership Limited 6024919
BF Propca {No 4] Lemited 5270137 British Land City Offices Lirmited 3946069
BF Propco {No 5] Limited 5270219 British Land In Town Retail Liruted 3325064
BL [Maidenhead] Company Limited 7667834 British Land Leisure Limited 5215385
8L Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited 9400407 British Land Offices INon-Cityl Limited 2740378
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited 9400541 British Land Superstores [Non Securitised]
8L Broadgate Fragment 3 Limnited 9400411 Number 2 Liruted 6514283
BL Broadgate Fragment & Limited 2400409 Canada Water Gifices Lirmied 10182462
Bl Broadgate Fragment 5 Linuted Q400413 Corrush Resdential Properties Trading Lirmted 4106134
Bl Broadgate Fragment é Limited 400414 Coraish Residential Property Investments Limnited 3523833
BL Cutton Moor Limited 7508019 Dinwell Lirrited 5035303
BL CW Developments Limited 10664198 Exchange House Holdings Lim:ted 2037407

£0s 1200

-------- VElatdcce | mind
Heidings cmelad

Bi CW Developmenis Fiot AT Limited 10782150 Hemgel i S e
BL CW Developments Plot A2 Limited 10782335 Hempel Hotels Limited 2728455
8L CW Devetopments Plot D1/2 Company Limited 10997879 Hereford Old Market Limited 10509794
BL CW Heldings Plot G1 Company Limited 10781474 Insistmetal 2 Limited 4181514
BL Cwenbran Limited 7780251 eryhdl Limited 2307407
BL Eden Walk Limited 10620935  Lonebridge UK Limited p» 3292034
BL Eurapean Holdings Limuted 3044033 Mercars Limited 0112671
BL Goodman {LP) Limited 5056962 Minhill investments Limited (823019
BL HC (DSCLI} Lirmited 4790401 Moorage [Propecty Developments) Limited 1185513
BL HC Heatth And Fitness Hotdings Limited 4374665 Osnaburgh Street Limited 5886735
8L HC lnwic Leisure Limited 2464159 Pardev [Lulon] Limited 2849784
8L HC Property Holdings Limited 6894046 PC Canal Lirmited 71ZNT
8L Health Clubs PH No 1 Linited 5643248 Piccaditly Residential Lirmnited 10525984
BL Health Ciubs PH Na 2 Limited 5643261 Pillar (Beckton} Limited 2783374
8L High Street and Shopping Centres Pillar Broadway Limited 3589116
Holding Lirnited 4002148 Pillar Estates Limited 3044028
8L Hotdings 2010 Lirmuted 7353946 Piltar Fulham No.2 Lirmited 0266246
BL Lancaster Investments Ltd 10563072 Pillar Gatlions Reach Limited 4895997
BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited 2015506 Pellar Projects Limited 2644288
BL Piccadilly Residentiat Retail Limited 9117243 Priary Park Merton Limited 4888345
BL Universal Limited 0324647 Regent's Place Helding Campany Limited 10068705
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries continued

Companies House

Companies House
Name TEg nurnber

Name reg nurger
Regents Place Management Company Limited 7136724
Regents Place Residential Limited 11241644
Rigphone Lirited 5591740
Shopping Centres bimited 2230056
St James Retail Park Northampton Limuted 5396394
Storey Offices Limited 11417071
Surrey Quays Lirited 5294243
Sydale [Untimited] 38644628
TBL [Brent Park]} Limited 3852947
TBL (Ferndown] Limuted 3854372

TBL (Lisnagelwn} Limited 3853983
TBL (Matdstonel Lirmited 3854615
T8i. Properties Limited 3863190
Teesside Letsure Park Limited 2672136
The Liverpool Exchange Company Lirmited 0490255
Topside Street Lirmnited 11253428
United Kingdom Property Company Limited 0266486
Vicimnitee Limited 4106142
Wates City Point Limited 2973114

The following partnerships are exempt from the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited indwidual accounts by wirtue of regulation 7
of The Partnerships {Accounts) Regulations 2008 The results of these partnerships are consolidated within these Group accounts

Name

Name

BL Shoreditch Limuted Parlnership

8L Chess No 1 Limited Partnership

BL CW Lower Limited Partnerstup

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership

BL Lancaster Limited Partnership

Hereford Shopping Centre Lirnited Partnership

Paddington Block A Limited Partnership
Paddington Block B Limuted Partnership
Pagdgdington Central | Limited Partnership
Paddington Centrat It Lirmited Partnership
Paddington Kiosk Limited Partnership
Power Court Luton Limited Partnershup
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 March 2019

2019 2018
Nole £m Em

Fixed assets

investments and (oans to subsithanes Q0 27,821 28,148
invesiments In joint ventures 0 397 376
Qther investments D 29 34
Interest rate derivative assets E 153 118
Deferred tax assets 7 i0
28,407 28,683
Current assets
Debtars G 5 &
Cash and short term deposits £ 182 32
187 38
Current Liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts E (99 (271
Creditars H {125) {88l
Amecunts dua ta suhsidiaries 120,784)  [20.445]
(21,011] 20,7800
Net current {iabilities 120,824} 120,722
Total assets tess current liabilities 7,583 7.961
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans E {2,075] [2,2501
Interest rate dervative liabilities E {1271 {133
(2,202 12,383
Net assets 5,381 5,578
Equity
Cailed up share capital I 240 248
Share prermium 1,302 1,300
Other reserves {5} [5]
Merger reserve 213 213
Relatned earnings 3,631 3,822
Total equity 5,381 5,578

The profit afiaedaxation for the year ended 31 March 2019 for the Company was £307m lyear ended 31 March 2018 £192m loss)

John Gildersleave Simon Carter

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

Approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
Cornpany number 621920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Share Share Other Merger  Profi and loss Total

capital premiem reserves reserve account equity

Em £m €m £m &m &m

Batance at 1 April 2018 248 1,300 [1:3] 213 3,822 5,578
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares {8} - - - {194] {204}
Dividend paid - - - - (298] (298)
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - (4] {4}
Peolit for the year after taxation - - - - 307 307
Balance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 {5} 213 3,631 5,381
Balance at 1 Apnit 2017 260 1,298 {134} 213 4,596 6.233
Share issues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares {12 ~ - - (289} (30}
Dividend pad - ~ - - (302} (302
Net actuarial gain an pension schemes - - - - 9 ¢
Loss for the year afler taxation - - - - (192 (192
Transferred to the iIncome statement [cash flow hedgesl - ~ 129 - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 (5) 213 3,822 5.578

The value of distinbutable reserves within the profit and loss account 1s £1,846m {2017/18 £2.074m
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Notes to the financial statements

(A) Accounting policies

The financial staternents for the year ended 31 March 2019 have
been prepared on the hustarical cost basis, except for the revatuation
of derivatives. These financial statemenis have also been prepared
in accordance with Financsal Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework {'FRS 1011 The amendments ta FRS 101
12015/16 Cycle) 1ssued in July 2014 and effective immmediatety have
been applied.

In prepaning these hinancial statements, the Company applies

the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
[‘Adopted IFRSs'!, but makes amendments where necessary «n order
to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and has set out belaw where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exernptions has been taken

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure
exemptions under FRS 101

the requirements of 1AS 1 to provide a balance sheet at the
beginmng of the penod n the event of a prior period adjustrment

the requirernents of 1AS 1 to provide a staternent of cash flows
for the pericd

[a

b

the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of compliance
witn 1 FRS

{c

(d

the requirements of 1AS 1 to disclose information on the
management of capital

the requirernents of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting
Pelicies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to disclose
new |IFRSs that have been 1ssued but are not yet effecuve

le

[f) the reguirements in JAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to
disclose related party transactions entered into between two or
rmore rembers of a group, provided that any subsidiary which
1s 3 party to the lransaction s whoily-owned by such a member

the requirements of paragraph 17 of 1AS 24 Related

Party Disclosures to disclose key management
personnel compensation

g

ih

1) the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement to disclose informatien of fair value valuation
techruques and mputs.

the requirements of IFRS 7 to disclose financial Instruments

New slandards effective for the current accounting pericd do not
have a material wnpact on the financial statements of the Company.
These are discussed in further detai below

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments

IFRS ¢ Financial mmstruments, as ssued by the IASB in July 2014,
has been adopted by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019
IFRS 9 supersedes the existing accounting guidance in FAS 39
Financial instruments The standard was applied using the modified
retrospective approach The Company has not restated prior periods
or recognised any adjustenents in operning retaned earnings

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of hinancial assets.

- The alignment of the classificatron and measurement model
under IFRS 9 results in changes in the classiftcation of all fnancial
asseis excluding dervatives These changes will not have a
quantitative impact on the financial statements.

IFRS 9 mntroduces a forward looking expected credit {oss model,
reptacing the IAS 39 incurred loss model The new model requires
an expecied credit loss to be recognised on all financial assets
held at amortised cost at initial recogritson The quantitatve
impact for the year ended 31 March 2019 results in the release

of an expected credit loss of £nil, with a corresponding reduction
in financial assets held at amortised cost of Entl. The Campany
has previously prowded for 3 matenally ssmilar balance against
trade and other receivables. A part of this provision has been
released 1n the year ended 31 March 2019 ta provide for the
expected credit loss recogrised v the Company’'s subsidianes
upon adoption of IFRS 9. The reclassification of existing provisions
resuits in a E2m increase i the net assets of the Company.

- IFRS 9 introduces changes 1o the quablying criteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and non-ftnancral
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging mstruments n order to aiign hedge accounting with
business strategy The changes to hedge accounting under
IFRS ¢ results in qualitative enhancements to the interest rate
and foregn currency risk management disciosures. The changes
introduced by IFRS 9 do not have a quantiiative impact on the
financial statements of the Company

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

The Company has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts wiih
customers for the year ended 31 March 2019,

- The new standard combines a number of previous standards,
selting out a five step model for the recognition of revenue and
establishing principles for reporting usetul infermation io users
of financial statements about the nature, rming and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows ansing from an entity’s contracts with
customers The changes introduced by [FRS 15 have no qualitative
or gquantitatve changes to the revenue disclosure and wilt not have
a quantitative impact on the financial statements of the Company

Going concern

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis as
explained in the corporate governance section on page 78

Investments and loans

Investments and loans in subsidianes and joint ventures are stated
at cost less an expecied credut loss an the balance in accordance
with {FRS 7 The expected credit loss on the balance 1s inmalenal

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The key source of estimation uncertainty relates lo the Company's
investments in subsidiaries and jont ventures n estimating the
requirement for impairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and judgerments on the value of these investments
using inherently subyective underlying assel valuations. supported by
independent valuers

(B) Dividends
Details of dmidends pawd and proposed are included in note 1% of the
consolidated financial staternents

(C) Employee informaton

Employee costs include wages and salaries of £38m (2017/18. £39m)],
secial secunity costs of £9m [2017/18- £5m] and pension costs of E4m
{2017/18 €£5m] Details of the Executive Directors’ remuneration arg
disclosed in the Remuneraton Repert

Audit fees in relation to the parent Company only were £0 3m
(2017/18. £0 Jm.
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(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, loans to subsidiaries and other investments

Shares in Loansto Investments in Cther

subsdiaries  subsidanes  joinl venlures invesiments Total

tm £m £m €m m

On 1 April 2018 19,703 8,445 374 34 28,558
Addinians - A77 3 5 713
Dhsposals - {1,003 (8l 14] (1,015)
Depreciation / amortisation - - - {6} 03]
Prowsion for imparment {1 - 121 - (3}
As at 31 March 201% 19,702 8119 397 29 28,247

The historecal cost of shares in subsidiaries 1s £20,025m (2017/18 £20.025m| Investments in joint ventures of £397m (2017/18 £376m) includes
£201m [2017/18: €183l of leans to joint ventures by the Company Results of the joint ventures are set out in note 11 of the consolidated

financial statements. The historical cost of other investments 15 ES1m [2017/18 £50m]

(E) Net debt

2009 018
m £€m

Secured on the assets of the Company
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 358 349
5.00%5% First Mortgage Amartising Debentures 2035 94 95
5 357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 252 255
T4 719

Unsecured

5 50% Seniar Notes 2027 99 100
3.895% Seniar US Oollar Notes 2018* - 27
4.635% Senior US Dollar Notes 2021! 148 156
4.766% Senior US Dotlar Notes 2023 104 97
5.003% Sensor US Dollar Notes 2026! 49 63
3 81% Senior Notes 2026 m 110
3 97% Seror Notes 2026 13 12
2.375% Sterting Unsecured Bond 2029 298 298
4 16% Senior US Oollar Notes 2025 78 -
2.67% Senior Notes 2025 37 -
2 75% Sentor Notes 2024 37 -
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2028 80 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 264 595
1,460 1,558
Grass debt 2,174 2,277
interest rate and currency derivative liabilitres 127 133
Interest rate and currency derivative assels {153) 1115
Cash and short term deposits (182} 132
Net debt 1,966 2,263

) Principal and interes! on these borrowings were lully hedged nte Sterling at a floating rate at the imge of 1ssue
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(E) Net debt continued

D% Convertible bond 2015 Imaturity 2020)

On ¢ June 2015, British Land [White} 2015 Limited {the 2015 Issuerl, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued £350 miltion zero
coupon guaranteed convertible bands due 2020 (the 2015 bonds| at par The 2015 Issuer is fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of the
2015 bonds.

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to the
Company 1n exchange for ordinary shares i the Company or, al the Company s election, any combnnation of ordinary shares and cash
Bondholders may exercise their conversion right at any time up to but exciuding the 7th dealing day before @ fune 2020 [the maturity datel,
a bondholder may convert at any time

The tnibial exchange price was 1103.32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price 1s adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3.418 pence per ardinary sharel. As at 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007.24 pence
per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the aption 1o redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company's share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period, or at any tme once 85% by neminal value of the 2015 bonds have been cenverted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled. The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 {the matunty datel if they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled.

The intercompany loan between the Issuer and the Company arising from the transfer of the loan proceeds was mutiaily recognised at fasr
vaiue, net of capitalised 1ssue cosls, and s accounted for useng the amortised cost method Inadditicn to the intercompany loan, the Company
has entered into a dervative contract relating to its guarantee of the obiigations of the Issuer in respect of the bonds and the ceammuiment to
pravide shares or a combmation of shares and cash on conversion of the bonds This derivative contract is included within the balance sheet as
a liability carried at fair value through profit and loss

Maturity analysis of net debt

2019 it

£m Em

Repayable within one year and on demand 97 27
GeTwEEN- GNE aNa Wo yeais i7 -
two and five years 479 506

five and ten years 808 804

ten and fifteen years 306 305

fifteen and twenty years 465 635

2,075 2,250

Gross debt 2,174 2,277
Interest rate derwvatives {26} 18
Cash and short lerm deposits (182) {32
Net debt 1,966 2,263

{F) Pension
The Britsh Land Group of Companies Penston Scheme and the Defined Contribubion Pension Scheme are the principal pension schemes of
the Company and deiails are set out In nate ¢ of the consolidated financial statements
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

(G) Debtors

2019 2018
i €m £m
Trade and other debtors 4 &
Prepayments and accrued income 1 -
5 b

(H) Creditors
2019 208
tm fm
Trade creditors &b 12
Corporation tax 25 21
Other taxation and soctal secunity 25 21
Accruals and delerred income 30 34
126 88

(I) Share capital

Ordinary shares

tm of 25p each
Issued, called and fully paid

At T Aprit 2018 248 993,857,125

Sharg issues - 404,377

Repurchased and cancelled 8l 133,472,430}
At 31 March 2019 240 960,509,072

tm e

Issued, called and fully paid

AT Aprdd 2017 260 1.041,035,058

Share 1ssues - 429,206

Repurchased and cancelled (12} [47.607.139]
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,128

(.]) Contingent liabilities, capital commitments and
related party transactions

The Company has contingent Liabiities in respect of {egat claims,
guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary course of
business il is not anticipated that any matenal tabiities will arise
from the contingent abiities.

At 31 March 2019, the Company has £nil of capitat commitments
(2017118 Enil}

Related parly transactions are the same for the Company as
for the Group For details refer to note 23 of the consolidated
financial statements.

(K) Related undertakings

Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings
The Company's subsidiaries and other related undertakings at
31 March 2019 are bisted on the next page. Companies which have

been dissolved since 31 March 2019 are marked with an asterisk {*).

Companies which are in the process of being dissotved are marked
with a double asterisk 1**) All Group entiies are included in the
consolidated hnancial results,
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Unless otherwise stated, the Company hatds 100% of the voting rights
and benehcial interests in the shares of the following subsidianes,
partnerships, asseciates and joint ventures, Unless otherwise stated,
the subsidianies and related undertakings are registered in the
United Kingdom

The share capital of each of the companies, where applicable,
comprises ordinary shares uniess otherwrse stated

The Company holds the majority of its assets in UK companies,
zlthough some are held in overseas companies. In recent years we
have reduced the number of overseas companies in the Group

Unless noted otherwise as per the following key, the registered address
of each company is York House, 45 Seymour Street, London W1H 71X,

. B85St Gearge’s Street, Douglas IM1 1AH, Isle of Man
2 47 Esplanade, SLHeleer, Jersey JEI 0BD

3 Barralt House, Cartwright Way, Forest Business Park, Bardon Hill, Coalwile,
Leicestershure LEAT IUF

4. 13-14 Esplanade, 5t Helier, Jersey JE1 1EE

5. 44 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE4 WG

6. 14 Porte de France, 4360 Esch-sur-Alzetle, Luxembourg
7

300 Meadowhall Way, Shetfield, Sarih Yarkshure, England, 57 {EA
DE 19801, USa



Direct holdings

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Stalus

Indirect holdings

Company Name

W/Qverseas Tax
Resden! Status

8L Bluebutton 2014 Lirmited

8L Dawvidson Limited

BL European Fund Management LLP

BL Guaranteeco Lemited

8L Intermediate Holding Company Limited
BLSSP [Funding] Limited

Bluebution Property Management UK
Lirnted {50% interest]

Boldswitch [Na 1} Limuted
Boldswitch Liruted

Britrsh Land MWhite) 2015 Limited [lerseyl
[Founder Shares)?

Brirsh Land City

British Land City 2005 Limnited

Brinish Land Company Secretarial Lirruted
Brinsh Land Financing Limited

Brirsh Land Froperties Limtied

Brittish Land Real Estate Limited

8ntish Land Securittes Limited

British Land Securitisation 1999
Broadgate [Funding) PLC

Broadgate Estates insurance Mediation
Services Limited

Hyileet Lirmited
Kingsmere Productions Limited
London and Hentey Holdings Limntted

Meadowhall Pensions Scheme Trustee
Limited

MSC Property intermediate Holdings
Limited {580% nterest]

Priory Park Merton Limited
Regs Property Holdings Lirmited
The British Land Corporation Limited

Vitalcreate **

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
U Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

1 & 4 & 7 Trton Limited
10 Brock Street Limited

10 Portman Square Unit Trust ersey)
fUnes)?

10 Triton Street Limited

17-19 Bedford Street Limited
18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limuted
20 Brock Street Limited

20 Triton Street Limited

338 Euslon Road Limited

350 Euston Road Lirmited

39 Victoria Street Limited

8-10 Thregmocton Avenue Lirmited
Adamant Investment Corparatien Limited
Adshilta Limited

Aldgate Piace {GP] Lirmated {50% interest]
Apartpower Limited

Ashband Lumited

8 L Unit Trust [Jersey| (Umuis)?

B L Holdings Limited

8.LCT (12697] Limited {Jerseyl?
B L C T [21500) Liruted [Jersey}**
Barnclass Lirnited

Barndntl birmuted

Bayeast Progperty Co Limited
Bexile Lirruted **

BF Propcoe {No 1} Limned

BF Propco iNo 13] Lirmited

8F Propco (No 191 Limited

BF Prapco [No 3i Limited

BF Propco iNo 41 Limited

BF Propco {No 5§ Lirmited

BF Properties INo 4] Limited

BF Properties [No 5] Limited

Birstali Co-Qwnership Trust [Member
interest] (41 25% interest]

BL [Maidenhead| Company Limited
BL [SP] Cannan Street Limited

BL [SP) Investment (1} Limited **
BL ISP) Investment (2] Limited **
BL {SP] Investrment (3] Lirmated **
BL [SP) Investment (4] Lsmuted **
Bt Bradford Forster Limited

BL Brislington Limited

8L Broadgate Fragment 1 Lemitted
8L Broadgate Fragment 2 Lerruted

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
tK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the financial statements continued

UK/Overseas Tax Uk/Qverseas Tsx
Company Name Residenl S1atus Company Name Residen! Status
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited UK Tax Resident BL Fixed Uplift General Partner Lirmted UK Tax Resident

BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited
BL Broadgate Fragment S Limited
Bl. Broadgate Fragment & Limited
BL Broadway nvestment Lirmited
BL Chess Limited

BL Chess No. 1 Limited Partnership
{Partnershup interest]

BL Cuy Oftices Holding Company Limited
8L Chfton Moor Linuted

BL CW Developments Limited

BL CW Devetopments Plot A1 Limited
8L CW Developments Plot A2 Limited

BL CW Developments Plot 01/2 Company
Lirnited

BL CW Developments Plot G1 Limited

BL CW Developments Plot K1 Campany
Lirmited

8L CW Holdings Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Campany Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Lirited

BL CW Holdings Plot B1/2 Company
Limited

BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot K1 Company Lirmited
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited

BL Cw Lower Limited Partaershup
{Partnership interest)

BL CW Lower LP Company Lirmited
BL CW Upper GP Company Limited

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership
[Partnershep interest)

BL CW Upper LP Company Limited
BL Cwmbran Lirmited
BL Debs Limited [Jersey)***

BL Department Stores Holding Company
Limited

BL Doncaster Wheatley Limited

8L Drummond Properties Limited

BL Ealing Ltrmuted

BL Eden Walk J2012 Limited {jersey)?
BL Eden Walk Limited

BL European Holdings Limited

BL Fixed Uphft Fund Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest]

BL Frxed Uplft Fund Nominee No.1
Limited {Jersey)?

BL Fixed Uplft Fund Nominee No.?
Limited {Jerseyl?

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
LJK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

tJK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Restdent
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BL Fixed Uphift Normunee 1 Limited
BL Fixed Uplift Normunee 2 Limited

BL Goodman [General Partner| Limsted
I50% interest}

BL Geodman Limited Partnership (50%
mnterest]

BL Gooedman [LP| Limited
BL GP Chess No 1 Limuted
BL HB Investments Limited
BL HC [0SEH] Lirmited

BL HC IBSCU) Lemited

BL HC Dollview Limited

BL HC Hampshire PH LLP [Member
interest}

8L HC Health And Fitness Holdings
Lirmited

BL HC Invic Leisure Lirmuted

BL HC PH CRG LLP [Member interest}
BL HC PH LLP (Member interest)

BL HC PH Ne 1 LLP (Member interest}
BL HC PH No 2 LLP (Member interest]
BL HC PH No 3 LLP {Member interest]
BL HC Property Holdings Limited

BL Health Ctubs PH No 1 Limited

BL Health Ctubs PH No 2 Lirmted

BL High Street and Shopping Centres
Holding Company Limited

8L Holdings 2010 Lumited
81 Lancaster Investments Limited

8L Lancaster Limuted Partnership
{Partnership inlerest]

BL Leisure and industrial Holding
Company birmited

BL Marble Arch House Lirmited
BL Maylair Offices Lirmited

BL Meadowhall Holdings Limited
BL Meadowhall Limited

BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited

BL Newport Limited

BL Otfice [Non-Cityl Holding Company
Limited

BL Ofice Holding Cempany Limited
BL Osnaburgh St Residential Ltd

BL Paddington Holding Company 1
Limited

BL Paddington Holding Cormnpany 2
Limited

BL Paddington Property 1 Limuted

UK Tax Resident
UK Fax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Residenit
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
JK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Res:dent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Reswdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident



Lompany Name

UK/Dverseas Tax
Resident Status

Company Name

UX/Overseas Tax
Resident Stalus

BL Paddington Property 2 Limited
8L Paddington Property 3 Linmited
BL Paddington Property & Limited
BL Niccadilty Residential Limited

BL Piccadilly Residential Management Co
Lamited

BL Piccadilly Residential Retast Lirmuted
BL Residential No 1 Limited **

BL Residentiat No.2 Lermited **

BL Residential Investment Limited

8L Residential Management Limited
BL Residuval Holding Company Limited
BL Retai Hoiding Company Lirmited
BL Retad lavestment Holdings Limited
BL Retall Investmenis Limited

BL Retarl Warehowsing Holding Company
Lirrited

BL Sainsbury Superstores Limited {50%
inierest}

BL Shareditch Development Limited
BL Shoreditch General Partner Lirmted

Bt Shoreditch Limuted Partnership
[Partnership interest)

BL Shoreditch No 1 Limited

BL Shoreditch No 2 Lumnited

BL Superstares Hotding Company Limited
BL Triton Building Residential birnuted
8L Tunbridge Wells Limited

8L Unithotder No. 1 [Jf Limited {Jersey)?
BL Unitholder Mo. 2 [J] Limited Uersey)?
BL Universal Limited

8 Wardrote Court Haldings Limited
BL West (Watling Housel Limited

8L Whiteley Limited

BL Whiteley Retail Lirnited

BL Woolwich Limited

BL Woolwich Nominee 1 Limtted

BL Woolwich Nominee 2 Limited
Blackgten Limited

Blackwatl [1)

Blaxmill (Twenty-mnel Limited

Blaxmull [Thurtyl Limited

BLD (Al Limited

BLD [Ebury Gatel Lirruted

BLD {SJ} investments Lirrted

BLD (SJ) Lirmuted

BLD Land Limited

BLD Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residenm
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
Qverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resrdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resudent
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resudent

BLO Property Holdings Lirmuted

BLU Estates Limited

BLU Property Management Limited
BLU Securittes Lirmted

British Land [Jaint Ventures| Limited
British Land Acquisittans Limited
British Land Aqua Partnership (2] Lerruted
British Land Agua Partnership Limited
Brtish Land City Offices Lirmited

Bntish Land Construction Limited
British Land Department Stores Limited
Briush Land Developments Limited
British Land Fund Management Limited
Briish Land Hercules Lirmuted

Briush Land In Town Retail Lirmited
British Land Industnal Limited

British Land Investment Managemaent
Lirsited

Briish Land tnvestrments NV
{Netherlands]

Braish Land Offices [Non-Cityl Lirnited
Brinsh L and Offices Non-Citv] Ne 2
Limited

8ritish Land Offices Limited

Briish Land Offices No 1 Linmted
British Land Property Advisers Limsted

British Land Property Management
Lirnuited

British Land Regeneration Limited **

British Land Superstares [Non
Secuntised) Number 2 Limited

Broadgate [PHC 8] Limited

Broadoate Adjoining Properties Limited
Broadgate City Limited

Broadgate Court Investments Limited
Broadgate Fstates Limited

Broadgate Estates People Management
Limited

Broadgate Exchange Square

Broadgate investment Holdings Limited
Broadgate Properties Limited
Broadgate REIT Limited {50% interest}*
Broadgale Square Limited

Broughton Retail Park Limited [Jerseyl
{Units) [39 07% interest)?

Broughton UYmit Trust (39.07% interest)?
Brunswick Park Limited
BVP Devalopments Limited

UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resiwdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UH Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Ressdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK {ax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

UK/Overseas Tax UK/Cverseas Tax
Company Name Resident Stalus Lompany Name Resident Slatus
Canada Water Offices Limited UK Tax Resident Gibraltar General Partner Limited (39 07% UK Tax Resident

Casegood Enterprises
Caseplane Limited
Cavendish Geared I Limited
Cavendish Geared Lieited
Caymali Liruted

Chantway Lirmited

Cheshine Properties Limited
Chester Lirruted?

Christlu Nominees Limited

City of London Office Una Trust ersey)
[Units) {35.94% interestj?

Clarges Estate Property Management Co
Limited

Comgemc Limited

Cormish Residential Properties Trading
Limited

Cormish Residential Property Investrenis
Lirnited

Crescent West Properties

Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust 139 07%
interest)

Derby investment Hoigmgs LaTiied
Dimnwell Limited

Drake Circus Centre Ltrnited

Drake Circus Leisure Limited

Drake Property Holdings Limited

Drake Property Norminee [No. 1] Limited
Drake Property Norminee [No. 2} Limited

Eden Walk Shepping Centre General
Partner Limited [50% interest}

Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Tryust®
(50% interest] [Jersey] lUnits|

Elementvirtue Limited

Eik Mill Cidham Limited

Estate Management [Bnck) Limited
Euston Tower Limited

Exchange House Holdings Limited
Exchange Sguare Management Limited
Fort Kinnaird GP Limited (39.07% interest)

Fart Kinnaird Lemited Partnershugp (39 07%
interesti

Fort Kinnaird Nominee Limited 39 07%
interest]

four Broadgate Limited

FRP Group Limited
Garamead Properties Limited
Gardenray Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tzx Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

PRI s

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resuder;l
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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nterest)

Gibraltar Nominees Limited {39.07%
interest)

Giitbrook Retail Park Nottingham Limided
Glenway Lirmied

Hempel Holdings Lirmited

Hempel Hotels Limited

Hercules Property UK Holdings Limited
Hercules Property UK Lirmited

Hercules Un#t Trust {78 14% interest)
{Jerseyl [Units)?

Hereford Old Market Limited
Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited
Partnership

Horndnit Limiteg

HUT investments Limited {Jersey] |78 14%
interest]?

Industrial Reat Estate Limited
insistmetal 2 Limited
ivorydell Limited

T

Lo dafd Coobo daa. ! =,
ROrytieit SUDSIGIaTy LiiThHiE

Ch

Ivoryhatl Limited

Jetbloormn Lirmited

L&H Developments Limited **
Lancaster General Partnec Lirruted
Lanestarr Limited

London and Hentey {UK] Limsted
Lendon and Henley Linmited
Lonebridge UK Limited

Longlord Street Residential Limited
Ludgate Investrent Holdings Limited
Ludgate West Limited

Mayfair Properlies

Mayflower Retail Park Basildon Limited

Meadowbank Retail Park Edinburgh
Limited

Meadowhali Centre {1999) Limited
Meadowhall Centre Limited

Meadowhall Centre Pension Scherne
Trustees Limited

Meadowhall Estates (UK] Limited
Meadowhall Group {MLP} Limited
Meadowhall Holdings Limited
Meadowhall (MLP) Lirmited

Meadowhall Opportunities Norminee 1
Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident



Company Name

UK{Overseas Tax
Residant Status

Company iName

UKfQverseas Tax
Resident Status

Meadowhall Opportunities Nominee 2
Limited

Meadowhall Shopping Centre Limited

Meadowhall Shopping Centre Property
Holdings Limitad

Meadawhall SubCo Limuted
Meadowhatt Training Limited

Mercari

Mercart Holdings Limited

Minhitl lnvestments Limited

Moorage [Property Developments) Limited
Nugent Shepping Park Limited

One Hundred Ludgate Hull

One Sheldon Square Limited {Jersey]?
Orbital Shopping Park Swindon Lurited
Osnaburgh Street Limited

Paddington Block AIGP| Ltd

Paddington Block A LP {Partnership
interest}

Paddingtan Block 8 IGP} Ltd

Paddiagton Block B LP [Partnership
interesi]

Paddington Central | [GP) Limdted

Paddington Central | LP (Partnership
interest]

Paddington Central | Nominee Limited

Paddington Centrall Unit Trust [Jersey)
{Unitsi?

Paddington Central il IGP} Lirnited

Paddington Central H LP [Partnership
snterest)

Paddmngten Centrat H Unit Trust Lterseyl
Units2

Paddington Central IV Unit Trust [Jersey)
{Umts)?

Paddington Central IV [Trustee 1) Limited?
Paddington Central IV [Trustee 2} Limited?
Paddington Kiosk [GP) Ltd

Paddington Kiosk LP {Partnership
interest

PaddingtonCentral Management Company
Limited (87 5% wnterest)

Pardev (Luton] Liruted
Parwick Holdings Limited
Parwick Investments Limited
PC Canal Lirmated

PC Lease Nominee Ltd

PC Partnershup Nominee Lid
Piccadilly Residential Limited
Pitlar iBecktonl Lrmited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resudent

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Reswdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
Qverseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Pitlar {Cricktewood] Limited
Pillar {Dartford] Liruted
Pitlar [Fulham] Limited

Pitlar Auchunlea Linnted
Pillar Broadway Limited
Pittar City Limnited

Pitar Dartford Nao 1 Limited
Pillar Denton Limued

Pittar Developments Limited
Pillar Estates Limnited

Piflar Estates No 2 Limited
Pillar Europe Management Lirmited
Piltar Farnborough Limited
Pillar Fort Limited

Prllar Fulham No 2 Limited
Pillar Gallions Reach Lunited
Pitlar Glasgow 1 Limiteo
Pitlar Glasgow 2 Lirruted
Pitlar Glasgow 3 Limuted
Pittar Hercules No 2 Limited
Pitar Kinnaird Limited

Pitiar Nugent Limited

Pillar Projects Linnited

Pillar Property Group Limited
Pillarman Lirmited {50% interest]
PeltarStore Limited
PillarStore No 3 Limited
Ptyrmouth Retail Lirmyted
Paower Court GP Limited

Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest)

Power Court Norminee Limited
Power Court Nominees No 2 Limited

PREF Management Company SA
{Luxembourg}®

Project Sunrise Investments Lirmited
Project Sunrise Limited

Project Sunrise Properties Limited
Prudential Property Investments Limited
Rebgtine Limited

Regent's Place Holding 1 Lirmuted

Regent s Place Holding 2 Limsted
Regent’s Place Holding Company Limited

Regents Place Management Company
Limuted

Regents Place Residential Limited
Rigphone Limited
Rohawk Properites Lirmited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
U Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Qverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

Company Name

UK/Qverseas Tax
Resident Status

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Salmax Properlies

Seymour Street Homes Limited
Shapping Centres Limuted
Shareditch Support Limited

Six Broadgate Lirited

Southgate Generat Partner Limited [50%
interest}

Southgate Property Unit Trust {Jersey}
[Uruts) [50% interest)?

Speke Unit Trust {67.34% interest] [Jersey]
{Units|?

Sprint 1118 Limited
St James Parade [43] Limited **

St James Retail Park Northampton
Limiteg

St Stephens Shopping Centre Limited
Stockton Retail Park Limited
Storey Qffices Limited
Storey Spaces Limited
Surrey Quays Limited
Sydale

T [Partnership) Lirnited
Talress Limited

TBL (Brent Park) Limited **
TBL Bromley) Limited

TBL {Bursteden) Limited
TBL (Buryl Limited

TBL [Ferndown] Lirmited **
TBL {Lisnageivin] Limeted
TBL {Madstone} Limited
TBL (Milton Keynes) Limited
TBL {Peterboroughl Limited
TBL Holdings Limited

TBL Properties Limuted
Teesside Leisure Park Lirmited
Ten Fleet Place

The Aldgate FPlace Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest] (50% interest)

The Dartford Partnership Member
interest] 150% interest

The Gibrattar Lyrmuted Partnership
{Partnership interest] (39 07% interest}

The Hercules Property Lirmited
Partnership {Partnership interesti
[39.07% interest)

The Leadenhali Development Company
Limited (50% interest}

The Liverpool Exchange Company Limited
The Mary Street Estate Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Res:dent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resideat
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resdent

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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The Meadowhall Education Centre
[Limited by guaranteel {50% interest]’

The Retait and Warehouse Company
Lumuted

The TBL Property Partnership
[Partnership interest)

The Whiteley Co-Ownership [Member
interest} {(50% mtecest!

Tollgate Centre Colchester Limited
Topside Street Limited

TPP Investments Limited

Tweed Prermuer 4 Lirmited

Union Property Corporation Limited
tnion Property Holdings {Londan] Limited

United Kingdom Property Company
Limited

Valentine Ca-ownershep Trust
[Member mterest] {39 07% nterest}

Valentine Unit Trust [Jersey} {Unis)
139.07% wterast]?

Viciitee Limited

Vintners' Place Limited

Wardrobe Court Limited

Wardrobe Holdings Lirmited

Wardrobe Place Limited

Wates City of London Properties Limited
Wates City Property Management Limited

Westbourne Terrace Partngrship
{Partnership interest}

Whiteley Shopping Centre Uit Trust
{Jersey] [Umts#

WK Holdings Limuted
York House W1 Limsted

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

U, Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident




Supplementary disclosures

Unaudited untess otherwise stated

Table A: Summary income statement and balance sheet {Unaudited)

Summary income statement based on proportional consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2019

The following pro forma information is unaudited and does not farm part of the consolidated primary statermnents or the notes thereto
It presents the results of the Group, with its share of the results of joint ventures and funds included on 2 line-by-line basis and excluding

nan-controlling interests

Year ended 31 March 2019

Year ended 31 March 2018

Joint Less Less
ventures non-conmtrotling Propartionally Jointvenlures  non-controtling  Proportionally
Group and funds interests consotidated Group and lunds mierests  consclidaled
£m €m &m im £m Em Em fm
Gross rental income 439 155 118) 576 441 193 121} 613
Property operating expenses (35) (10} 1 [74] (291 91 1 [37)
Net rental incame 404 145 17) 532 412 184 {20 574
Adrmunistrative expenses (80) {1} - {81} {82 {1 - 83)
Net fees and other income 9 - 1 10 13 - 2 15
Ungeared income return 333 144 [18) 481 343 183 {18 508
Net financing costs 67 {58) 4 1121) (64) (68) 4 (1281
Undertying Profit 256 86 (12} 340 779 115 {14} 380
Undertying taxation - - - - - - - -
Underlying Profit after taxation 266 84 (12} 340 279 115 (14} 380
Valuation movement [6B3) 254
Other capital and taxation [net)? 52 (141}
Result attributable to
sharehoiders of the company {Z73i 877
! Includes other comprehensive income, movement in gilution of share eplions and the mavement inilems exctuded for EPRA NAV
Summary balance sheet based on proportional consolidation as at 31 March 2019
The following pro forma snformation s unaudited and does not form part of the consctidated primary statemnents or the notes thereto
it presents the composttion of the EPRA net assets of the Group. with (Is share of the net assets of the joint venture and lund assets and
Liabilties included on a line-by-bine basis, and excluding non-controiling nterests, and assuaing full dituton.
Mark-tg-
Share ol Less markel an Valuailon EPRA Net
fant non- denvalves and sufplus on EPRA Net asseis
venlures  conirolling Share Deferred  reiat